

JOURNAL OF YEUNGNAM MEDICAL SCIENCE



page 113-224

Vol. 40 No. 2 April 2023

YEUNGNAM UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF MEDICINE

YEUNGNAM UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF MEDICAL SCIENCE eISSN 2799-8010

# Vol. 40 No. 2 April 2023

www.e-jyms.org



# Vol. 40 · No. 2 · April 2023

# Aims and scope

*Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science* is a peer-reviewed and open access journal in the medical field published in English four times a year (January 31, April 30, July 31, and October 31). The journal's publishers are the Yeungnam University College of Medicine and Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science. The abbreviated title is *J Yeungnam Med Sci (JYMS)*.

*JYMS* aims to deliver new medical information to health professionals of various disciplines as well as the general public, and to facilitate the advancement of medicine by publishing high-quality evidence-based articles.

*JYMS* covers all fields of medical science, including clinical research, basic medical science, and medical education. *JYMS* is especially interested in medical education for learners of all levels, from residents and fellows to medical students. Its regional scope is primarily Korea but we welcome submissions from researchers all over the world.

JYMS publishes editorials, review articles, original articles, case reports, image vignettes, communications, resident fellow section (RFS; clinical vignette, teaching images), and imagery. All manuscripts should be creative, informative, and helpful for the diagnosis and treatment of diseases and for the communication of valuable information about all medical fields.

JYMS was first published in 1984. The original Korean title was "Yeongnam yidae hagsulji" (print ISSN 1225-7737). The Journal was renamed "Yeungnam University Journal of Medicine" (online ISSN 2384-0293) in 2015 and "Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science" (online ISSN 2799-8010) in 2022.

JYMS is indexed/tracked/covered by KoreaMed (2004–), KoreaScience (2012–), CrossRef metadata (2013–), Google Scholar (2013–), KoreaMed Synapse (2013–), Korea Citation Index (KCI, 2016–), PubMed Central (PMC, 2019–), PubMed (2019–), Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ, 2019–), Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS, 2020–), and ScienceCentral (2022–), and Scopus (2023–).

# **Open access**

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

#### Publisher

Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

#### Editor-in-chief

So-Young Park, Yeungnam University College of Medicine

#### Editorial office

Yeungnam University College of Medicine 170 Hyeonchung-ro, Nam-gu, Daegu 42415, Korea Tel: +82-53-640-6832 • Fax: +82-53-651-0394 • E-mail: jyms@yu.ac.kr

#### Printing office

M2PI #805, 26 Sangwon 1-gil, Seongdong-gu, Seoul 04779, Korea Tel: +82-2-6966-4930 • Fax: +82-2-6966-4945 • E-mail: support@m2-pi.com

Published on April 30, 2023

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science @ This paper meets the requirements of KS X ISO 9706, ISO 9706-1994 and ANSI/NISO Z39. 48-1992 (Permanence of paper)

# **Editorial board**



### **Editor-in-chief**

So-Young Park, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea

### **Deputy editor**

Tae Gon Kim, MD Yeungnam University, Korea

#### Associate editors

Min Cheol Chang, MD Yeungnam University, Korea Du-Hyong Cho, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Hung Youl Seok, MD Neurology, Keimyung University, Korea

#### **Editorial board**

June Hong Ahn, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Kiwon Ban, MD, PhD City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Mathieu Boudier-Revéret, MD Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Canada Ramanarayana Boyapati, BDS, MDS Sibar Institute of Dental Sciences, India Ke-Vin Chang, MD, PhD National Taiwan University, Taiwan Joon Hyuk Choi, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Yoon Seok Choi, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Jinmyoung Dan, MD CHA University, Korea Jong Ryul Eun, MD Hanyang University, Korea Mi Jin Gu, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Ming-Yen Hsiao, MD, PhD National Taiwan University, Taiwan Insoo Kang, MD Yale University, USA Noriyuki Kanzaki, MD, PhD Kobe University, Japan Hye-Geum Kim, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Hyuckgoo Kim, MD Yeungnam University, Korea Jason K. Kim, PhD University of Massachusetts, USA Sang Taek Kim, MD, PhD The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, USA Won Jae Kim, MD Yeungnam University, Korea

Ung Kim, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Koreaa Hideki Koizumi, MD, PhD University of the Ryukyus, Japan Shaw Hua Anthony Kueh, MD Auckland City Hospital, New Zealand Younghoon Kwon, MD University of Washington, USA Jae Hee Lee, MD Chungbuk National University, Korea Jae-Lyun Lee, MD, PhD Ulsan University, Korea Jae Min Lee, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Sufang Liu, MD, PhD Texas A&M University, USA Yong Su Lim, MD, PhD Gachon University, Korea Chul Hyun Park, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Eun Young Park, DDS, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Jeong Hyun Park, MD, PhD Kangwon National University, Korea Ye Jee Shim, MD, PhD Keimyung University, Korea Young Beom Seo, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Phil Hyun Song, MD, PhD Yeungnam University, Korea Hoon-Ki Sung, MD, PhD University of Toronto, Canada Wei-Ting Wu, MD National Taiwan University, Taiwan Wan-Hee Yoo, MD, PhD Chonbuk National University, Korea

#### Statistical editors

Sang Won Kim, MS Yeungnam University, Korea

Keun Jung Ryu, MD Yonsei Kim & Jung Hospital, Korea

# **Managing editor**

Eun-il Lee Yeungnam University, Korea

### **Manuscript editors**

Hye-Min Cho InfoLumi, Korea Yoon Joo Seo InfoLumi, Korea

# Contents



# Vol. 40 · No. 2 · April 2023

# Imagery

i "UNESCO Global Geoparks Baekseoktan Valley in Cheongsong, Korea" Yeung Man Kim

# Editorial

113 Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science is now indexed in Scopus, a great step closer to a journal's goal So-Young Park

# **Review articles**

- **115** Hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury with respect to oxidative stress and inflammatory response: a narrative review Eun Kyung Choi, Dong Gun Lim
- **123** Home mechanical ventilation in children with chronic respiratory failure: a narrative review Soyoung Kwak
- **136** Hepatic encephalopathy on magnetic resonance imaging and its uncertain differential diagnoses: a narrative review Chun Geun Lim, Myong Hun Hahm, Hui Joong Lee

# **Original articles**

**146** Association of advanced chronic kidney disease with diabetic retinopathy severity in older patients with diabetes: a retrospective cross-sectional study

Geun Woo Lee, Chul Ho Lee, Seong Gyu Kim

**156** Pediatricians' perception of factors concerning the clinical application of blockchain technology to pediatric health care: a questionnaire survey

Yong Sauk Hau, Min Cheol Chang, Jae Chan Park, Young Joo Lee, Seong Su Kim, Jae Min Lee

**164** Effect of prehydration solution on hearing threshold after chemotherapy in patients with head and neck cancers: a retrospective study

Dongbin Ahn, Kyu-Yup Lee, Eunjung Oh, Minji Oh, Boseung Jung, Da Jung Jung

**172** Comparison of the efficacy of erector spinae plane block according to the difference in bupivacaine concentrations for analgesia after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a retrospective study

Yoo Jung Park, Sujung Chu, Eunju Yu, Jin Deok Joo

# Contents



# Vol. 40 · No. 2 · April 2023

- **179** Experience of operating a medical humanities course at one medical school during the COVID-19: a retrospective study Yu Ra Kim, Hye-won Shin, Young Hwan Lee, Seong-Yong Kim
- 187 Outcomes after repair of complete atrioventricular canal with a modified single-patch technique: a retrospective study George Samanidis, Konstantinos Kostopanagiotou, Meletios Kanakis, Georgios Kourelis, Kyriaki Kolovou, Georgios Vagenakis, Dimitrios Bobos, Nicholas Giannopoulos

# **Case reports**

- **193** Septic arthritis of the hip joint caused by *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: a case report Jeong-Bo Moon, Jun-Hwan Lee, Byung-Ju Ryu
- 198 Invasive sphenoid sinus aspergillosis with normal findings on initial diagnostic tests that mimics Tolosa-Hunt syndrome—a diagnostic dilemma: a case report Yu Hun Jeong, Jongsuk Choi, Byung-Jo Kim, Hung Youl Seok
- **202** Laparoscopic excision and repair of a cesarean scar pregnancy in a woman with uterine didelphys: a case report Seong-Eon Park, Ji-Eun Ryu, Tae-Kyu Jang
- **207** Cerebral fat embolism syndrome: diagnostic challenges and catastrophic outcomes: a case series Hussein A. Algahtani, Bader H. Shirah, Nawal Abdelghaffar, Fawziah Alahmari, Wajd Alhadi, Saeed A. Alqahtani
- **212** Transient osteoporosis of the hip with a femoral neck fracture during follow-up: a case report Yusuke Tabata, Shuhei Matsui, Masabumi Miyamoto, Koichiro Omori, Yoichiro Tabata, Tokifumi Majima

# Communication

**218** The art of diabetes care: guidelines for a holistic approach to human and social factors Muhammad Jawad Hashim

# **Resident fellow section: Teaching images**

**223** A 40-year-old man with neuropathic pain in the entire left foot Jae Hwa Bae, Mathieu Boudier-Revéret, Min Cheol Chang

# Imagery

eISSN 2799-8010 J Yeungnam Med Sci 2023;40(2):i https://doi.org/10.12701/jyms.2022.00458



# "UNESCO Global Geoparks Baekseoktan Valley in Cheongsong, Korea"



Photograph by Yeung Man Kim, Daegu, Korea

The "Imagery" section of *Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science (JYMS*) is devoted to the artistic and imaginative qualities of our readers. *JYMS* invites you to submit your drawings, illustrations, or photographs, along with appropriate explanatory information, for publication within this section. Please forward electronic images via e-mail to: jyms@yu.ac.kr.

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

# Editorial

eISSN 2799-8010 J Yeungnam Med Sci 2023;40(2):113-114 https://doi.org/10.12701/jyms.2023.00269





# *Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science* is now indexed in Scopus, a great step closer to a journal's goal

# So-Young Park<sup>®</sup>

Department of Physiology, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Daegu, Korea

Congratulations! *Journal of Yeugnam Medical Science* (JYMS) was finally accepted for indexing in Scopus. On the evening of March 11, 2023, I received a call from the managing editor of JYMS with

this great news. I checked through the e-mail and verified that the Scopus Content Selection and Advisory Board (CSAB) had reviewed the application and approved JYMS for coverage. The

Table 1. The histor	v of the <i>Journal of Yeuna</i>	anam Medical Science development
	y of the Journal of Icang	וועווו ועוכטוכטו שכוכווכב טבעכוסטווכוו

Date	Key milestones
Dec 1984	The inaugural issue was published in Korean with 15 articles, and its name was Yöngnam Üidae haksulji in Korean
Jul 1994	International standard serial number was assigned (pISSN 1225-7737)
Jun 1996	The journal joined as a member of the Korean Association of Medical Journal Editors (KAMJE)
Dec 2004	The journal was indexed in KoreaMed
Mar 2012	The journal was indexed in KoreaScience
Jun 2012	The journal's English name was added as Yeungnam University Journal of Medicine (pISSN 1225-7737, eISSN 2234-8042)
Feb 2013	The journal was indexed in KoreaMed Synapse
Jan 2014	The journal became a member of the Korean Council of Science Editors (KCSE)
Jun 2015	The journal began publishing articles online only The journal name remained the same ( <i>Yeungnam University Journal of Medicine</i> ) and a new ISSN was issued (eISSN 2384-0293)
Dec 2016	The journal was indexed as a candidate journal in Korea Citation Index (KCI)
Jun 2018	The journal adopted an English-only policy and online submission and review systems were introduced
Oct 2018	The journal was indexed as an accredited journal in KCl
Jun 2019	The journal was indexed in the Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ)
Oct 2019	The journal was indexed in PubMed Central (PMC) and became searchable through PubMed
Jan 2020	International-level manuscript editing was implemented through professional manuscript editing by InfoLumi (Seoul, Korea)
Oct 2020	The journal was indexed in Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS)
Jan 2022	The journal's name was changed to <i>Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science</i> (eISSN 2799-8010) The journal expanded the types of articles published: imagery, image vignette, and resident fellow section were launched
Dec 2022	The journal was indexed in ScienceCentral
Mar 2023	The journal was accepted to Scopus <sup>a)</sup>

<sup>a)</sup>The reviewer's comment was as follows: "This institutional English language journal from South Korea is publishing 20–30 items per annum from all health disciplines, with a substantial increase in citation activity (>600) since last reviewed. The editors have responded constructively to the previous Scopus evaluation in 2019, and on balance, there are no obvious contraindications to accession to Scopus at this point."

Received: March 20, 2023 • Revised: March 23, 2023 • Accepted: March 27, 2023

Corresponding author: So-Young Park, MD, PhD

Department of Physiology, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, 170 Hyeonchung-ro, Nam-gu, Daegu 42415, Korea

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Tel: +82-53-640-6923 • E-mail: sypark@med.yu.ac.kr

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

news was too good to believe.

Now, I am delighted to share this great news with the readers, authors, and reviewers of JYMS. This achievement would not have been possible without their contributions and help. I also thank the past and present editorial board members for their dedication to JYMS.

Since the inaugural issue of JYMS in 1984, there have been milestones that greatly contributed to the acceptance of JYMS to Scopus. The chronological details of JYMS until its indexation in Scopus are presented below to help the editors of other journals understand the process (Table 1).

JYMS is currently awaiting evaluation for Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI) listing by Clarivate Analytics. If JYMS is accepted for ESCI, Journal Citation Reports (JCR) impact factor (IF) is very important for JYMS to be listed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE). To increase the JCR IF, JYMS will try to publish high-quality articles that can be cited in SCIE-listed journals. JYMS will also recruit eminent editors from various countries to improve the quality of the journal. Our editorial team will do its best to make JYMS an internationally renowned journal.

# Notes

# **Conflicts of interest**

So-Young Park has been the editor-in-chief of *Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science* since 2021. Otherwise, no potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

# **Review article**



# Hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury with respect to oxidative stress and inflammatory response: a narrative review

# Eun Kyung Choi<sup>1</sup>, Dong Gun Lim<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Daegu, Korea <sup>2</sup>Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, School of Medicine, Kyungpook National University, Daegu, Korea

Hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury is a major complication of liver transplantation, trauma, and shock. This pathological condition can lead to graft dysfunction and rejection in the field of liver transplantation and clinical hepatic dysfunction with increased mortality. Although the pathological mechanisms of hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury are very complex, and several intermediators and cells are involved in this phenomenon, oxidative stress and inflammatory responses are the key processes that aggravate hepatic injury. This review summarizes the current understanding of oxidative stress and inflammatory responses and, in that respect, addresses the therapeutic approaches to attenuate hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury.

Keywords: Inflammation; Ischemia; Liver; Oxidative stress; Reperfusion injury

# Introduction

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is characterized by initial organ underperfusion (ischemia), followed by restoration of blood flow (reperfusion) [1]. Although restoration of oxygen delivery to an ischemic organ is needed to prevent hypoxic cellular damage, reperfusion may accentuate organ injury in excess of the stress produced by ischemia itself [1]. IRI can occur in diverse clinical settings including organ transplantation, trauma, shock, cardiopulmonary bypass, and thrombolytic therapy. Hepatic IRI is a major complication of hepatic resection surgery (e.g., the Pringle maneuver) and liver transplantation. This pathological condition can lead to liver cellular damage and clinical hepatic dysfunction, and may even predispose to distant organ failure.

# Pathophysiology

Various pathophysiological mechanisms have been proposed for hepatic IRI, but the actual mechanisms remain unclear. Hepatic IRI occurs in two main settings. First, ischemia can follow temporary vascular occlusion of the hepatic pedicle or various forms of shock and trauma, whereby hypoxic injury occurs. Second, reperfusion injury can be added to hepatic ischemic injury. This phenomenon is a dynamic process that leads to metabolic acidosis, intracellular calcium overload, mitochondrial damage, Kupffer cell

Corresponding author: Dong Gun Lim, MD, PhD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Received: January 6, 2022 • Revised: February 14, 2022 • Accepted: February 17, 2022

Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, School of Medicine, Kyungpook National University, 130 Dongdeok-ro, Jung-gu, Daegu 41944, Korea Tel: +82-53-420-5876 • Fax: +82-53-426-2760 • E-mail: dglim@knu.ac.kr

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

activation, oxidative stress, inflammatory responses, and necrotic or apoptotic cell death (Fig. 1) [2].

#### 1. Metabolic acidosis

Metabolic acidosis is the basic mechanism underlying hepatic IRI [3]. It results from anaerobic glycolysis during ischemia, which leads to depletion of adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) from organs, consequently producing lactate. During reperfusion, the tissue pH increases, leading to the activation of phospholipases and proteolytic enzymes, which in turn cause cell damage, necrosis, and apoptosis, resulting in IRI [3].

### 2. Intracellular calcium overload

Intracellular calcium homeostasis is maintained by the Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> and  $H^+/Ca^{2+}$  exchange systems. During ischemia and reperfusion, ATP depletion leads to a decrease in ATP-dependent Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase activity in the cell membrane. This results in increased intracellular Na<sup>+</sup> concentrations, leading to the inward flux of calcium ions [4]. In addition, increased ischemia-induced permeability of cell membranes causes further movement of calcium ions into the cell, and a large number of calcium ions are released from the endoplasmic reticulum and damaged mitochondria. Intracellular calcium over-

load occurs, which in turn interferes with cellular metabolic pathways [5].

### 3. Mitochondrial damage

Mitochondria act as pathological triggers, mediators, and effectors of hepatic IRI [6]. Mitochondrial functions normally involve several processes, including energy production, cell survival, and programmed cell death [7]. However, the dysfunction in pathological ischemia and reperfusion is initiated by mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) pore opening [8]. ATP depletion, calcium ion overload, and toxic oxidant release promote MPT onset, which follows depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane potential, matrix swelling, and membrane rupture [9]. Moreover, MPT opening can lead to apoptosis by mitochondrial swelling and the subsequent release of cytochrome C [10].

### 4. Oxidative stress

### 1) Reactive oxygen species

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) normally exist as by-products of cellular metabolism in proteins, lipids, nucleic acids, and other biologically active molecules. However, the nature and amount of



**Fig. 1.** Pathologic cascade contributing to ischemia and reperfusion injury. Adapted from Kalogeris et al. [2] with permission of Elsevier. ATP, adenosine 5'-triphosphate; ROS, reactive oxygen species; MPT, mitochondrial permeability transition.

ROS change during IRI. Aerobic cells use molecular oxygen to remove electrons during oxidative catabolism (from  $O_2$  to  $H_2O$ ) in the mitochondrial respiratory chain. However, small amounts of oxygen (1%–3%) are reduced through the univalent pathway, forming reactive intermediate species, including superoxide anion  $(O_2^-)$ , hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ), and hydroxyl radical ('HO) [11,12]. Metal ions such as iron and copper react with hydrogen peroxide via the Fenton reaction, producing the toxic hydroxyl radical [13]. Superoxide anion and these reactive intermediates are known as ROS [12].

Many metabolic processes, including the enzymatic activities of xanthine oxidase (XO) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase, for example, and mitochondrial respiration produce large amounts of ROS [14]. Although XO is known to be an important mediator of ROS formation, mitochondria have recently been suggested as the main production site for large amounts of superoxide, leading to the formation of MPT pores that can cause cell death [15].

#### 2) Reactive nitrogen species

Nitric oxide (NO), nitrogen dioxide, and peroxynitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>) are biologically important reactive nitrogen species (RNS), the last two of which result from the interaction of NO with molecular oxygen [16]. Among these, ONOO, a strong oxidizing agent generated from superoxide anion and NO, can attack basic cell constituents, such as DNA and proteins [17]. NO, a gaseous signaling molecule is produced by the enzymatically catalyzed reaction between L-arginine and oxygen [18]. During hepatic IRI, two main NO synthases (NOS), endothelial (eNOS) and inducible (iNOS), synthesize NO, which can either prevent or promote cell injury [19]. eNOS is constitutively expressed in sinusoidal endothelial cells, whereas iNOS is stimulated by numerous cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-1 (IL-1) [19]. NO exerts a protective effect on parenchymal hepatocytes by preventing the action of TNF-a and apoptotic factors, blocking MPT onset, and preventing sinusoidal obstruction by inducing vasodilatation, neutrophil accumulation, and platelet adhesion 20-22]. However, overproduction of NO during the late reperfusion period can result in high levels of injurious ROS and the accumulation of inflammatory cytokines by increased iNOS expression and decreased eNOS expression [18]. In addition, NO can be converted into the toxic ONOO<sup>-</sup>, which can cause tissue injury through multiple pathways, including lipid peroxidation, inhibition of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, and modification of protein nitrotyrosine levels [23-25]. Thus, NO can promote or prevent cell survival, depending on its concentration, activation time, and NO-superoxide radical ratio.

Therefore, ROS and RNS directly react with numerous biological molecules, leading to tissue toxicity. The above effects damage sinusoidal endothelial cells, increasing permeability of the microvasculature and promoting neutrophil and platelet adhesion to these cells, followed by subsequent disruption of the microcirculation [26]. Moreover, these oxygen radicals lead to hepatocellular apoptosis by influencing intracellular signaling pathways via effects on gene expression and direct oxidation of nuclear DNA structure in the hepatic parenchyma [27].

#### 3) Antioxidant systems

In contrast to the generation of ROS and RNS, the presence of endogenous antioxidant enzymes attenuates further hepatic injury. When present at low concentrations, antioxidant enzymes can prevent oxidative damage and detoxify ROS [28]. Hepatocytes contain high levels of intracellular antioxidant enzymes, including superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase, and catalase; however, during IRI, an imbalance between ROS and endogenous antioxidant enzymes occurs, consequently leading to damage to nucleic acids, proteins, and lipids [27]. SOD catalyzes the dismutation of superoxide anion to hydrogen peroxide and oxygen [27]. Hydrogen peroxide can be decomposed via three main systems. First, catalase breaks down hydrogen peroxide into oxygen and water [27]. Second, glutathione peroxidase removes hydrogen peroxide via glutathione oxidation to glutathione disulfide [27]. Finally, peroxiredoxins reduce hydrogen peroxide to water [29].

#### 5. Inflammatory responses

#### 1) Inflammatory cells

Hepatic IRI is characterized by inflammatory responses in the postischemic tissue. During ischemia, a lack of ATP causes failure of the Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase and subsequent intracellular Na<sup>+</sup> accumulation with cellular swelling in hepatocytes, Kupffer cells, and sinusoidal endothelial cells. Here, increased endothelin and decreased NO (a vasoconstrictor and vasodilator, respectively) levels induce cellular swelling, which in turn leads to sinusoidal narrowing [30]. During reperfusion, the attachment of neutrophils and platelets to the sinusoid with increased adhesion molecules leads to defects in hepatic microcirculation and even the complete absence of blood flow and reflow [26].

Kupffer cells, the resident hepatic macrophages, play a pivotal role in initiating hepatic cellular damage in IRI [31]. During ischemia and the early reperfusion period, Kupffer cells release proinflammatory mediators, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, platelet-activating factor, and ROS, which activate a cascade of inflammatory responses [32]. These inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and small mole-

cule mediators recruit neutrophils and induce ROS production and further inflammation, exacerbating tissue damage during the late reperfusion period [33]. In addition, Kupffer cells activate CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes in the early reperfusion period, preceding neutrophil accumulation induced by the chemotactic agent IL-17. Reciprocally, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells release interferon-gamma, which activates Kupffer cells to generate TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 [34,35]. Over a time scale similar to that of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, natural killer cells, another leukocyte subset, are recruited to the liver; they produce interferon-gamma, aggravating IRI [36].

#### 2) Complement and cytokines

The complement system and cytokines are important humoral factors involved in hepatic IRI. Once activated in IRI, complement can damage either directly by lysing hepatocytes through the membrane attack complex or indirectly by activating Kupffer cells and neutrophils [26]. Among the complement components, C5a is the most potent inflammatory mediator that releases proinflammatory cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, and IL-6 [37]. In addition, C5a inhibits endothelium-dependent relaxation and alters vascular tone, which further compromises the blood flow to ischemic tissues [37].

Numerous cytokines can play one of two roles, either proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory. TNF- $\alpha$  is a crucial proinflammatory cytokine in the hepatic inflammatory response during ischemia and reperfusion. Although various cells in the liver release TNF- $\alpha$ , its production by Kupffer cells is the most prominent [38]. Upregulation of TNF- $\alpha$  during ischemia and reperfusion results in ROS activation, expression of various adhesion molecules such as intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and P-selectin, and thus recruitment of neutrophils into the liver [39]. Similarly, IL-1 can induce ROS production and promote leukocyte aggregation [40]. Conversely, IL-6 produced by Kupffer cells has a protective effect that is mediated by the downregulation of oxidative stress markers and increase in glutathione, an antioxidant, thus reducing hepatocyte damage [41].

#### 3) Endogenous danger signals

One question that arises is how immune cells are stimulated by pathogens in surgical settings. The answer begins with hepatic oxidative stress. During ischemia and reperfusion, ROS and RNS generated by mitochondrial respiration threaten hepatocyte viability [42]. Damaged hepatocytes and other immune cells (e.g., Kupffer cells and neutrophils) release pathogenic endogenous molecules and danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that overactivate innate immune responses [43]. DAMPs and self-antigens are normally physiological constituents of healthy cells; however, they

become immunostimulators in the extracellular environment. Consequently, DAMPs stimulate Kupffer cells, which results in the production of inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines, chemokines, and ROS. This process induces reperfusion injury via intense neutrophil infiltration [32]. In other words, oxygen-free radicals and proinflammatory cytokines released by activated Kupffer cells can promote the infiltration of neutrophils and platelets into sinusoidal endothelium, thereby disrupting hepatic microcirculation and further aggravating hepatic injury [44]. Among the various DAMPs in hepatic IRI, high-mobility group box-1 is the best characterized. It is released by damaged hepatocytes and interacts with toll-like receptors (TLRs), particularly TLR-4 [45]. In this instance, several signaling transcription factors mediate TLR-4 activation, including nuclear factor-kappa B, activating protein-1, and mitogen-activated protein kinases (ERK, JNK, and P38), which modulate gene expression correlated with inflammatory progression [45,46]. Thus, DAMP-derived danger signals mediate the contribution of leukocytes to the severity of liver damage-induced ischemia and reperfusion.

# Protective strategies for hepatic ischemiareperfusion injury

#### 1. Modulation of oxidative stress

Oxidative stress occurs when oxidants are overproduced or antioxidant levels are reduced. Therefore, treatment strategies for oxidant modulation include the inhibition of ROS formation, scavenging of ROS, and potentiation of endogenous antioxidant capacity. As mentioned above, XO, NADPH oxidase, and MPT collectively contribute to ROS formation. Many studies have demonstrated the protective effects of inhibition of these enzymes in hepatic IRI. For example, known inhibitors are allopurinol [47] and apocynin [48] for XO and NADPH oxidase, respectively. Additionally, edaravone, a mitochondria-specific antioxidant with protective effects against hepatic IRI, has been experimentally confirmed as an MPT inhibitor. It exerts its effect by blocking the MPT and maintaining an adequate ATP concentration [49]. Moreover, cyclosporin A inhibits MPT pore opening in the mitochondrial matrix; however, its clinical use remains limited [50].

Normally, the antioxidant defense system controls ROS production. Various antioxidant defenses have been demonstrated to have beneficial effects, both experimentally and clinically, in hepatic IRI. Antioxidants are a heterogeneous family of molecules that can be classified according to their site of action as follows: intracellular, membrane, and extracellular. Representative intracellular antioxidant enzymes are SOD, glutathione peroxidase, and catalase [51-53]. Alpha-tocopherol and coenzyme Q are the main membrane antioxidants [54], whereas metal-binding proteins, such as transferrin and ceruloplasmin, are major extracellular antioxidants that sequester free iron and copper ions that can promote oxidative damage, respectively [55]. In addition, many low-molecular-weight substances that are synthesized *in vivo* [56] (e.g., melatonin, coenzyme Q, and uric acid) or dietary constituents (e.g., vitamins C and E) exert antioxidant properties [57,58]. These antioxidants have a systematic relationship in the antioxidant network, and they counteract and exhibit synergism [59].

### 1) Ischemic preconditioning

Among the many interventions against oxidative stress, ischemic preconditioning has been shown to have beneficial effects against hepatic IRI. This preconditioning requires pre-exposure of the liver to brief ischemic episodes to increase its tolerance against subsequent detrimental insults [60]. The underlying molecular mechanism of this intervention is that mild burst oxidants, especially hydrogen peroxide, generated during ischemic preconditioning trigger specific biochemical pathways that ultimately protect against further oxidative damage and lead to adaptation [61]. However, the clinical implications of ischemic preconditioning may be limited because of its invasive properties. Remote ischemic preconditioning is less invasive and more clinically relevant [62]. Remote ischemic preconditioning comprises signal generation from remote organs, signal transfer to target organs, and subsequent protective effects in the target organs. Various neural and humoral factors, such as autonomic ganglion, bradykinin, and adenosine, have been implicated in the pathophysiologic mechanisms of remote ischemic preconditioning [62]. A practical technique has been proposed, which encompasses several brief episodes of ischemia and reperfusion in a remote organ that protects distant targets.

### 2. Modulation of inflammatory response

As previously mentioned, activation of the immune system is a crucial factor in hepatic IRI, and Kupffer cells and chemoattracted neutrophils are important culprits. Consequently, the cytokine network connected to DAMP contributes to the severity of hepatic IRI via a wave of ROS generation. Consistent with this finding, anti-inflammatory therapy, through various biochemical intersections that inhibit the inflammatory cascade, can attenuate leukocyte recruitment and ROS generation. First, inhibition of DAMP can prevent inflammation and oxidative stress [63]. In addition, administration of a mitochondria-selective S-nitrosylating agent during the acute reperfusion period could prevent mitochondrial ROS bursts and the resulting DAMP release [64]. Further downstream, direct inhibition of Kupffer cells and neutrophils is a promising strategy to treat hepatic IRI [65,66]. In liver transplantation,

Kupffer cells are primed in cold ischemic solutions. Subsequently, the primed Kupffer cells exhibit progressive rounding, vacuolization, and degranulation [67]; hence, modulation of Kupffer cell activation plays an important role in reducing IRI in liver transplantation. In contrast, therapeutic modalities to prevent neutrophil recruitment are more diverse due to their multistep processes: chemokine production, expression of adhesion molecules to attach to endothelial cells, and release of effector molecules such as ROS [68]. In a similar context, inhibition of inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1) could be a worthwhile treatment option [38,67].

As TNF- $\alpha$  is a key inflammatory mediator, its neutralization with an antibody and inhibition of its production attenuate hepatic IRI involving neutrophil infiltration [38,69]. Anti-inflammation reduces oxidative stress; conversely, inhibition of ROS and RNS is also a potential therapeutic method for relieving inflammation because these oxidants can activate Kupffer cells and neutrophils, followed by a second wave of ROS and RNS generation. Moreover, inhibition of the complement cascade attenuates hepatic injury [70].

# Conclusion

Hepatic IRI occurs in various clinical settings and is a major cause of morbidity and mortality. Although numerous interactions and mediators are involved in its pathophysiology, oxidative stress and inflammatory responses are the main mechanisms. Several therapeutic methods that limit oxidative stress and inflammatory responses have been suggested and applied to attenuate hepatic IRI. If based on a basic understanding of the aforementioned main pathological mechanisms and therapeutic modalities that could improve patient care, our knowledge of these complex hepatic IRI mechanisms remains incomplete.

# Notes

### **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

### Funding

None.

# Author contributions

Conceptualization: EKC, DGL; Data curation, Methodology: EKC; Formal analysis, Supervision, Validation: DGL; Writingoriginal draft: EKC; Writing-review & editing: EKC, DGL

# ORCID

Eun Kyung Choi, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5758-6741 Dong Gun Lim, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0976-2576

# References

- Mendes-Braz M, Elias-Miró M, Jiménez-Castro MB, Casillas-Ramírez A, Ramalho FS, Peralta C. The current state of knowledge of hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury based on its study in experimental models. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012; 2012:298657.
- Kalogeris T, Baines CP, Krenz M, Korthuis RJ. Cell biology of ischemia/reperfusion injury. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 2012;298: 229–317.
- **3.** Heijnen BH, Elkhaloufi Y, Straatsburg IH, Van Gulik TM. Influence of acidosis and hypoxia on liver ischemia and reperfusion injury in an in vivo rat model. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2002;93: 319–23.
- 4. Li J, Li RJ, Lv GY, Liu HQ. The mechanisms and strategies to protect from hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2015;19:2036–47.
- Gnaiger E, Kuznetsov AV, Rieger G, Amberger A, Fuchs A, Stadlmann S, et al. Mitochondrial defects by intracellular calcium overload versus endothelial cold ischemia/reperfusion injury. Transpl Int 2000;13(Suppl 1):S555–7.
- 6. Camara AK, Bienengraeber M, Stowe DF. Mitochondrial approaches to protect against cardiac ischemia and reperfusion injury. Front Physiol 2011;2:13.
- 7. Brookes PS, Yoon Y, Robotham JL, Anders MW, Sheu SS. Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2004;287:C817-33.
- 8. Qian T, Nieminen AL, Herman B, Lemasters JJ. Mitochondrial permeability transition in pH-dependent reperfusion injury to rat hepatocytes. Am J Physiol 1997;273:C1783-92.
- **9.** Stowe DF, Camara AK. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species production in excitable cells: modulators of mitochondrial and cell function. Antioxid Redox Signal 2009;11:1373–414.
- 10. Kim JS, He L, Qian T, Lemasters JJ. Role of the mitochondrial permeability transition in apoptotic and necrotic death after ischemia/reperfusion injury to hepatocytes. Curr Mol Med 2003;3:527–35.
- Nohl H, Gille L, Kozlov A, Staniek K. Are mitochondria a spontaneous and permanent source of reactive oxygen species? Redox Rep 2003;8:135–41.
- Ischiropoulos H, Zhu L, Beckman JS. Peroxynitrite formation from macrophage-derived nitric oxide. Arch Biochem Biophys 1992;298:446–51.

- Sutton HC, Winterbourn CC. On the participation of higher oxidation states of iron and copper in Fenton reactions. Free Radic Biol Med 1989;6:53–60.
- Fan C, Zwacka RM, Engelhardt JF. Therapeutic approaches for ischemia/reperfusion injury in the liver. J Mol Med (Berl) 1999;77:577–92.
- 15. Nieminen AL, Byrne AM, Herman B, Lemasters JJ. Mitochondrial permeability transition in hepatocytes induced by t-BuOOH: NAD(P)H and reactive oxygen species. Am J Physiol 1997;272(4 Pt 1):C1286–94.
- 16. Bryan NS, Grisham MB. Methods to detect nitric oxide and its metabolites in biological samples. Free Radic Biol Med 2007;43:645–57.
- Mitrogianni Z, Barbouti A, Galaris D, Siamopoulos KC. Tyrosine nitration in plasma proteins from patients undergoing hemodialysis. Am J Kidney Dis 2004;44:286–92.
- Fondevila C, Shen XD, Tsuchihashi S, Uchida Y, Freitas MC, Ke B, et al. The membrane attack complex (C5b-9) in liver cold ischemia and reperfusion injury. Liver Transpl 2008;14:1133– 41.
- Chiang N, Gronert K, Clish CB, O'Brien JA, Freeman MW, Serhan CN. Leukotriene B4 receptor transgenic mice reveal novel protective roles for lipoxins and aspirin-triggered lipoxins in reperfusion. J Clin Invest 1999;104:309–16.
- 20. Inderbitzin D, Beldi G, Avital I, Vinci G, Candinas D. Local and remote ischemia-reperfusion injury is mitigated in mice overexpressing human C1 inhibitor. Eur Surg Res 2004;36:142–7.
- 21. Peralta C, Fernández L, Panés J, Prats N, Sans M, Piqué JM, et al. Preconditioning protects against systemic disorders associated with hepatic ischemia-reperfusion through blockade of tumor necrosis factor-induced P-selectin up-regulation in the rat. Hepatology 2001;33:100–13.
- 22. Rajesh M, Pan H, Mukhopadhyay P, Bátkai S, Osei-Hyiaman D, Haskó G, et al. Cannabinoid-2 receptor agonist HU-308 protects against hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury by attenuating oxidative stress, inflammatory response, and apoptosis. J Leukoc Biol 2007;82:1382–9.
- 23. Doulias PT, Barbouti A, Galaris D, Ischiropoulos H. SIN-1-induced DNA damage in isolated human peripheral blood lymphocytes as assessed by single cell gel electrophoresis (comet assay). Free Radic Biol Med 2001;30:679–85.
- 24. Hon WM, Lee KH, Khoo HE. Nitric oxide in liver diseases: friend, foe, or just passerby? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2002;962:275– 95.
- 25. Szabó C. Multiple pathways of peroxynitrite cytotoxicity. Toxicol Lett 2003;140-1:105–12.
- 26. Montalvo-Jave EE, Escalante-Tattersfield T, Ortega-Salgado JA,

Piña E, Geller DA. Factors in the pathophysiology of the liver ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Surg Res 2008;147:153–9.

- 27. Haddad JJ. Antioxidant and prooxidant mechanisms in the regulation of redox(y)-sensitive transcription factors. Cell Signal 2002;14:879–97.
- **28.** Gutteridge JM. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidants as biomarkers of tissue damage. Clin Chem 1995;41(12 Pt 2):1819–28.
- 29. Kang SW, Chae HZ, Seo MS, Kim K, Baines IC, Rhee SG. Mammalian peroxiredoxin isoforms can reduce hydrogen peroxide generated in response to growth factors and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Biol Chem 1998;273:6297–302.
- 30. Phillips L, Toledo AH, Lopez-Neblina F, Anaya-Prado R, Toledo-Pereyra LH. Nitric oxide mechanism of protection in ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Invest Surg 2009;22:46–55.
- **31.** Caban A, Oczkowicz G, Abdel-Samad O, Cierpka L. Influence of Kupffer cells on the early phase of liver reperfusion. Transplant Proc 2002;34:694–7.
- 32. Jaeschke H, Farhood A. Neutrophil and Kupffer cell-induced oxidant stress and ischemia-reperfusion injury in rat liver. Am J Physiol 1991;260(3 Pt 1):G355–62.
- **33.** Jaeschke H. Reactive oxygen and mechanisms of inflammatory liver injury. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2000;15:718–24.
- **34.** Hanschen M, Zahler S, Krombach F, Khandoga A. Reciprocal activation between CD4+ T cells and Kupffer cells during hepatic ischemia-reperfusion. Transplantation 2008;86:710–8.
- **35.** Caldwell CC, Tschoep J, Lentsch AB. Lymphocyte function during hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Leukoc Biol 2007;82:457–64.
- **36.** van Golen RF, van Gulik TM, Heger M. The sterile immune response during hepatic ischemia/reperfusion. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2012;23:69–84.
- **37.** Collard CD, Lekowski R, Jordan JE, Agah A, Stahl GL. Complement activation following oxidative stress. Mol Immunol 1999;36:941–8.
- 38. Colletti LM, Remick DG, Burtch GD, Kunkel SL, Strieter RM, Campbell DA Jr. Role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the pathophysiologic alterations after hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury in the rat. J Clin Invest 1990;85:1936–43.
- **39.** Schwabe RF, Brenner DA. Mechanisms of Liver Injury. I. TNF-alpha-induced liver injury: role of IKK, JNK, and ROS pathways. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006;290: G583–9.
- 40. Kato A, Gabay C, Okaya T, Lentsch AB. Specific role of interleukin-1 in hepatic neutrophil recruitment after ischemia/reperfusion. Am J Pathol 2002;161:1797–803.
- **41.** Husted TL, Blanchard J, Schuster R, Shen H, Lentsch AB. Potential role for IL-23 in hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury. In-

flamm Res 2006;55:177-8.

- **42.** Mukhopadhyay P, Horváth B, Zsengeller Z, Bátkai S, Cao Z, Kechrid M, et al. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation triggers inflammatory response and tissue injury associated with hepatic ischemia-reperfusion: therapeutic potential of mitochondrially targeted antioxidants. Free Radic Biol Med 2012;53:1123–38.
- 43. Kono H, Rock KL. How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8:279–89.
- 44. Romson JL, Hook BG, Kunkel SL, Abrams GD, Schork MA, Lucchesi BR. Reduction of the extent of ischemic myocardial injury by neutrophil depletion in the dog. Circulation 1983;67: 1016–23.
- 45. Tsung A, Sahai R, Tanaka H, Nakao A, Fink MP, Lotze MT, et al. The nuclear factor HMGB1 mediates hepatic injury after murine liver ischemia-reperfusion. J Exp Med 2005;201:1135– 43.
- 46. Zhai Y, Shen XD, O'Connell R, Gao F, Lassman C, Busuttil RW, et al. Cutting edge: TLR4 activation mediates liver ischemia/ reperfusion inflammatory response via IFN regulatory factor 3-dependent MyD88-independent pathway. J Immunol 2004;173:7115–9.
- 47. Karwinski W, Søreide O. Allopurinol improves scavenging ability of the liver after ischemia/reperfusion injury. Liver 1997;17: 139–43.
- **48.** Liu PG, He SQ, Zhang YH, Wu J. Protective effects of apocynin and allopurinol on ischemia/reperfusion-induced liver injury in mice. World J Gastroenterol 2008;14:2832–7.
- 49. Abe T, Unno M, Takeuchi H, Kakita T, Katayose Y, Rikiyama T, et al. A new free radical scavenger, edaravone, ameliorates oxidative liver damage due to ischemia-reperfusion in vitro and in vivo. J Gastrointest Surg 2004;8:604–15.
- **50.** He L, Lemasters JJ. Regulated and unregulated mitochondrial permeability transition pores: a new paradigm of pore structure and function? FEBS Lett 2002;512:1–7.
- 51. Bilzer M, Lauterburg BH. Effects of hypochlorous acid and chloramines on vascular resistance, cell integrity, and biliary glutathione disulfide in the perfused rat liver: modulation by glutathione. J Hepatol 1991;13:84–9.
- 52. Atalla SL, Toledo-Pereyra LH, MacKenzie GH, Cederna JP. Influence of oxygen-derived free radical scavengers on ischemic livers. Transplantation 1985;40:584–90.
- 53. Nordström G, Säljö A, Hasselgren PO. Studies on the possible role of oxygen-derived free radicals for impairment of protein and energy metabolism in liver ischemia. Circ Shock 1988;26: 115–26.
- 54. Marubayashi S, Dohi K, Yamada K, Kawasaki T. Changes in the

levels of endogenous coenzyme Q homologs, alpha-tocopherol, and glutathione in rat liver after hepatic ischemia and reperfusion, and the effect of pretreatment with coenzyme Q10. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984;797:1–9.

- 55. Betteridge DJ. What is oxidative stress? Metabolism 2000;49(2 Suppl 1):3–8.
- **56.** Layton ME, Wood JG, Yan ZY, Forster J. Ischemia/reperfusion alters uric acid and ascorbic acid levels in liver. J Surg Res 1996;64:1–5.
- **57.** Birlouez-Aragon I, Tessier FJ. Antioxidant vitamins and degenerative pathologies. A review of vitamin C. J Nutr Health Aging 2003;7:103–9.
- Traber MG. Determinants of plasma vitamin E concentrations. Free Radic Biol Med 1994;16:229–39.
- **59.** Vertuani S, Angusti A, Manfredini S. The antioxidants and pro-antioxidants network: an overview. Curr Pharm Des 2004; 10:1677–94.
- 60. Mallick IH, Yang W, Winslet MC, Seifalian AM. Ischemia-reperfusion injury of the intestine and protective strategies against injury. Dig Dis Sci 2004;49:1359–77.
- **61.** Carini R, Albano E. Recent insights on the mechanisms of liver preconditioning. Gastroenterology 2003;125:1480–91.
- 62. Anttila V, Haapanen H, Yannopoulos F, Herajärvi J, Anttila T, Juvonen T. Review of remote ischemic preconditioning: from laboratory studies to clinical trials. Scand Cardiovasc J 2016;50: 355–61.
- 63. Ocuin LM, Zeng S, Cavnar MJ, Sorenson EC, Bamboat ZM, Greer JB, et al. Nilotinib protects the murine liver from isch-

emia/reperfusion injury. J Hepatol 2012;57:766–73.

- 64. Prime TA, Blaikie FH, Evans C, Nadtochiy SM, James AM, Dahm CC, et al. A mitochondria-targeted S-nitrosothiol modulates respiration, nitrosates thiols, and protects against ischemia-reperfusion injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106: 10764–9.
- **65.** Shiratori Y, Kiriyama H, Fukushi Y, Nagura T, Takada H, Hai K, et al. Modulation of ischemia-reperfusion-induced hepatic injury by Kupffer cells. Dig Dis Sci 1994;39:1265–72.
- **66**. Panés J, Perry M, Granger DN. Leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion: avenues for therapeutic intervention. Br J Pharmacol 1999;126:537–50.
- Caldwell-Kenkel JC, Currin RT, Tanaka Y, Thurman RG, Lemasters JJ. Kupffer cell activation and endothelial cell damage after storage of rat livers: effects of reperfusion. Hepatology 1991;13:83–95.
- **68.** Oliveira TH, Marques PE, Proost P, Teixeira MM. Neutrophils: a cornerstone of liver ischemia and reperfusion injury. Lab Invest 2018;98:51–62.
- Yang YL, Li JP, Xu XP, Dou KF, Yue SQ, Li KZ. Protective effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha antibody and ulinastatin on liver ischemic reperfusion in rats. World J Gastroenterol 2004; 10:3161–4.
- 70. Jaeschke H, Farhood A, Bautista AP, Spolarics Z, Spitzer JJ. Complement activates Kupffer cells and neutrophils during reperfusion after hepatic ischemia. Am J Physiol 1993;264(4 Pt 1):G801–9.



# Home mechanical ventilation in children with chronic respiratory failure: a narrative review

# Soyoung Kwak

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Daegu, Korea

Advances in perinatal and pediatric intensive care and recent advances in mechanical ventilation during the last two decades have resulted in an exponential increase in the number of children undergoing home mechanical ventilation (HMV) treatment. Although its efficacy in chronic respiratory failure is well established, HMV in children is more complex than that in adults, and there are more considerations. This review outlines clinical considerations for HMV in children. The goal of HMV in children is not only to correct alveolar hypoventilation but also to maximize development as much as possible. The modes of ventilation and ventilator settings, including ventilation masks, tubing, circuits, humidification, and ventilator parameters, should be tailored to the patient's individual characteristics. To ensure effective HMV, education for the parent and caregiver is important. HMV continues to change the scope of treatment for chronic respiratory failure in children in that it decreases respiratory morbidity and prolongs life spans. Further studies on this topic with larger scale and systemic approach are required to ensure the better outcomes in this population.

Keywords: Child; Home mechanical ventilation; Long-term mechanical ventilation; Noninvasive ventilation; Respiratory insufficiency

# Introduction

Advances in perinatal and pediatric intensive care have led to an increasing number of patients with complex medical conditions surviving. For instance, the number of children with chronic respiratory failure requiring long-term mechanical ventilation has increased exponentially worldwide [1-3]. In addition, recent advances in home mechanical ventilation (HMV) during the last two decades have enabled children who would previously have been confined to living in the hospital to return home and participate in family and community activities [4-7]. Moreover, the diseases requiring long-term mechanical ventilation have expanded from respiratory diseases such as chronic lung disease to neuromuscular disease, craniofacial abnormalities, spinal cord injuries, and central hypoventilation syndromes [8,9].

There are two major types of ventilators, namely regular intensive care unit (ICU) ventilators and HMVs. While regular ICU ventilators are more powerful and have more parameters that can be controlled according to the patient's needs (e.g., trigger type, trigger sensitivity, slope of pressurization, and cycling criteria) as well as monitoring functions, they are large and expensive and require more knowledge and skills to operate. In contrast, HMVs are portable devices that are easier to use and require fewer resources but have more technical limitations because they cannot support a higher level of pressure ( > 20 cmH<sub>2</sub>O) and cannot maintain a higher oxygen fraction (FiO<sub>2</sub> of > 60%). Therefore, HMVs are more suitable for patients with chronic respiratory failure than for patients with hypoxemic respiratory failure [10]. Although HMV

Corresponding author: Soyoung Kwak, MD, MPH, PhD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Received: March 28, 2022 • Revised: April 11, 2022 • Accepted: April 15, 2022

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, 170 Hyeonchung-ro, Nam-gu, Daegu 42415, Korea Tel: +82-53-620-3270 • E-mail: sk315@ynu.ac.kr

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

is now accepted as a standard treatment option for patients with chronic respiratory failure, patient selection and HMV management vary substantially among countries [11]. Moreover, for children, HMV in children has more considerations than for adults because children are still developing physically and mentally. This review outlines patient selection and special considerations for HMV in children, its modes and technical setup, follow-ups, monitoring and weaning, and potential risks of HMV before finally describing caregiver burden and education.

# Diagnosis and patient selection for home mechanical ventilation

Cellular metabolism in humans requires continuous oxygen supply and carbon dioxide removal. The respiratory system comprises two independent subsystems: the gas exchange system (the lungs) and the ventilatory system (the respiratory pump) [12]. Respiratory failure is defined as a problem in either (or both) of these systems and often arises from an imbalance between the respiratory workload and ventilatory strength [13]. Its diagnosis is based on the arterial blood gases (ABGs), arterial partial pressure of oxygen  $(PaO_2)$  less than 60 mmHg, and alveolar partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PaCO<sub>2</sub>) greater than 50 mmHg, which correspond to the hypoxemic (or type I) respiratory failure and hypercapnic (or type II) respiratory failure, respectively [14]. Hypoxic respiratory failure is treatable with oxygen therapy, whereas hypercapnic respiratory failure requires ventilatory support. Cases of multiple disorders or many acute respiratory failures require a combination of ventilatory support and oxygen supplementation.

The respiratory pump is a complex system. Breathing is regulated by the respiratory center of the medulla oblongata. Respiratory signals are transmitted via the central and peripheral neural tracts to the neuromuscular endplate of the respiratory muscles, including the diaphragm and intercostal muscles, sternocleidomastoid, and pectoral muscles, and generate inhalation by the negative pressure in the chest wall. In contrast, exhalation is normally passive, caused by the elastic recoil of the chest wall and the lung parenchyma. As respiratory failure results from the imbalance between the respiratory workload and ventilatory strength (Fig. 1) [15], diseases for which HMV is necessary in children can be classified into three categories, according to the physiological abnormalities they cause (Table 1) [9,16].

Collecting the medical history and performing clinical examinations are the first steps in the diagnosis of chronic respiratory failure. The signs and symptoms suggestive of chronic respiratory failure include sleep disturbances such as frequent awakening during sleep, unrestful sleep, daytime somnolence, and nightmares; worsening of accompanying symptoms of the underlying disease such as weight loss, dyspnea, and decreased exercise capacity; polycythemia; signs of carbon dioxide-associated vasodilation, such as conjunctival injection, leg edema, and morning headache; tachypnea; tachycardia; and anxiety or personality change [16]. In addition, respiratory muscle strength should be measured as an instrument-based assessment; however, this is not always possible, especially in small children or older children with mental retardation. Consequently, the ventilation and gas exchange status must be directly assessed using the arterial PCO<sub>2</sub> via blood gas analysis or continuous monitoring using transcutaneous PCO<sub>2</sub> monitoring (PTcCO<sub>2</sub>), alternatively. PTcCO<sub>2</sub> better captures the complete ventilation trend, despite the possible deviation of individual values from those obtained by the ABG analysis, which is the gold-standard diagnostic test [17].

Chronic respiratory failure can only be treated with ventilator support using a mechanical ventilator, either noninvasively or invasively. Fig. 2 shows the application algorithm for noninvasive and invasive ventilation in children [11]. The goal of HMV in children with chronic respiratory failure is to correct alveolar hypoventilation and maximize development, as possible [18]. The effects of long-term mechanical ventilation, including improving alveolar ventilation, alleviating subjective symptoms of chronic respiratory failure, improving blood gases, reducing morbidity and mortality, and enhancing the quality of life of the affected children, are well established in the previous studies; however, these studies were largely observational and limited to certain disease entities (e.g., congenital central hypoventilation syndrome or progressive neuromuscular diseases such as Duchenne muscular dystrophy) [19-29]. However, in other diseases for which HMV might be required, similar effects can be expected, provided that there is no parenchymal lung disease component in the chronic respiratory failure [16].

# Special considerations for home mechanical ventilation in children

HMV in children is much more complex than that in adults. First, smaller children and older children with mental retardation might not be able to communicate or cooperate with assessment and/or treatment. In addition, there is a risk of accidental removal of the tracheostomy tubes. Second, children requiring HMV often have various comorbidities; therefore, they should ideally be cared for by a multidisciplinary team for the underlying conditions. Third, the airway diameters are smaller than those in adults, which makes children more vulnerable to airway obstruction due to secretion when airway clearance is compromised.



**Fig. 1.** Respiratory balance. (A) Normal respiratory balance, in which the load imposed on the respiratory system, the capacity of the respiratory muscles, and the central drive are in equilibrium. (B) A decrease in central drive (dotted line) causes a decrease in respiratory muscle activity and, subsequently, a reduced alveolar ventilation. (C) A weakness of the respiratory muscles or an increase in respiratory load causes an increased central drive (bold arrow). Alveolar ventilation occurs when the imbalance exceeds a specific threshold. (D) Noninvasive ventilation can correct disequilibrium in the respiratory balance by replacing the central drive, unloading (in case of an increase in respiratory load, as shown), or assisting the respiratory muscles (in case of respiratory muscle weakness). Reprinted from Amaddeo et al. [15] with permission from Elsevier.

Increased respiratory load	Ventilatory pump failure	Failure of neurologic control of breathing
Obstructive sleep apnea	Spinal muscular atrophy	Congenital central hypoventilation syndrome
Laryngomalacia	Muscular dystrophies	Acquired central hypoventilation through brain stem affection (e.g., tumor, trauma, bleeding, or encephalitis)
Mucopolysaccharidoses	Myasthenia gravis	Degenerative diseases or central nervous system tumors
Tracheobronchomalacia	Diaphragmatic dysfunction	Stenoses of the craniocervical transition (e.g., Arnold-Chiari malformation)
Bronchiectasis	Motor neuron disease	Syringomyelia
Bronchiolitis obliterans	Congenital muscular dystrophy	
Kyphoscoliosis	Metabolic myopathies	
Chest wall deformities	High-level spinal cord transection	
Lung hypoplasia		
Interstitial lung diseases		
Bronchopulmonary dysplasia		
Heart failure		
4		
Hypoxemic CRF without hypercapnia	Perioperatory ventilatory management	Acute exacerbations Hypercapnic CRF

Table 1. Diseases that may benefit from home mechanical ventilation



Fig. 2. Application algorithm for noninvasive and invasive ventilation in chronic respiratory failure (CRF) in children.

Fourth, when using noninvasive ventilation (NIV), children unable to remove the ventilation mask themselves might be endangered in cases of vomiting or equipment errors. Finally, care should be taken to ensure that the child can develop normally to the possible extent in terms of speech/language development as well as facial bone growth. Poorer developmental outcomes have been reported in children on HMV compared to those in healthy controls [30,31], which may arise from a combination of factors including skeletal muscle weakness due to underlying diseases or prolonged bed rest in the acute phases of illness, reduced functional status due to ventilator dependency, increased metabolism due to chronic respiratory distress, and prolonged supine positioning during infancy [30]. Although rehabilitation strategies have been proposed [31,32], no clinical study has examined the effectiveness of rehabilitation therapy in this population. Further studies that focus on the developmental aspect of children on HMV are warranted to facilitate the normal development of these children as far as possible. In infants and small children who have undergone tracheostomy, cannulae with adequate leakage via the glottis should be selected for vocalization, and speaking aids should be implemented where possible. A recent study conducted in a developing country setting reported that having parents as the primary caregiver was related to better speech and language skills in these children [30], which may underscore the importance of the role of primary caregivers in development. As facial bone growth occurs in the early years of life, NIV may hinder the normal facial bone growth, resulting in mid-facial deformity (flattening of mid-face and maxilla retrusion) due to the high pressure applied on the facial bone for a relatively large part of the day in young children, even though NIV is only used during sleep; to reduce this risk, alternative use of different masks that apply pressure to different parts of the face can be considered [33]. In addition, a higher contact pressure is associated with an increased risk of facial deformity, thus, masks of young children should be monitored for optimal fit.

In addition, several technical issues are associated with HMV in children. Because small children might not generate sufficient inspiratory flow to trigger a ventilator, HMV for children should have a sensitive trigger. In addition, ventilation volumes can be very low in infants and small children, and the breathing patterns of the children can be irregular in terms of the frequency and depth of breathing. Therefore, home mechanical ventilators for children should be able to generate a low tidal volume, and HMV with pressure presets may be more appropriate than HMV with volume presets because they can better adapt to irregular breathing patterns [16].

# Modes of home mechanical ventilation in children

HMV can be delivered either noninvasively or invasively. NIV uses nasal masks, oronasal masks, full-face masks, or mouthpieces, whereas invasive ventilation requires tracheostomies. The choice of these modes does not depend on a particular disease but rather on the type and severity of the respiratory failure. In general, obstructive sleep apnea syndrome, central respiratory regulation disorder, chronic alveolar hypoventilation, and other chronic respiratory failures are all candidates for NIV. Tracheostomies may result in significant complications, such as granuloma, infection, obstruction of the cannulae, and accidental decannulations, which are more common in children than in adults [34]. Moreover, tracheostomy may lead to impaired language development and negatively impact the body image of children. Therefore, NIV should always be considered before tracheostomy, as is also the case for adults. However, several conditions require tracheostomy insertion, including congenital malformation syndromes with obstruction of the upper airways, vocal cord paralysis, subglottic stenosis, tracheomalacia, progressive neurological diseases with bulbar palsy, bronchopulmonary dysplasia, pulmonary hypoplasia, and a ventilation duration of > 16 hours per day [35]. In some of these conditions, such as some of the congenital malformation syndrome, subglottic stenosis, tracheomalacia, and bronchopulmonary dysplasia, tracheostomy may be closed later in childhood [36]. The advantages and disadvantages of NIV are summarized in Table 2 [37,38]. In cases of NIV failure, tracheostomy is the only alternative and the ultimate therapeutic option [11].

	~	A I (		1. 1. 1	c .			
Lable	2	Advantac	ies and	disadvantad	ies of	noninv	asive	ventilation
iuoic	_	avancac	CJ UIIU	albuuvulluu		11011111	usive.	ventuation

Advantage	Disadvantage
Can avoid tracheostomy-related complications such as tracheostomy tube	Airway protection is suboptimal
obstruction, infection, tracheoesophageal fistula, tracheocutaneous fistula, tracheal stenosis, granuloma, dysphagia, etc.	Risk of aspiration
Preservation of communication ability	Pressure ulcers over nasal bridge
	May cause claustrophobia
	Aerophagia
	Cannot access to tracheobronchial tree (tracheal suction is not possible)

#### 1. Noninvasive ventilation

#### 1) Unintentional air leakage

While a certain degree of air leakage is inevitable in NIV because it is not a completely closed system, and it does not necessarily compromise the effectiveness of NIV if the amount of air leakage is small [37]. However, a large amount of air leakage compromises the ventilation effectiveness and may result in nasal mucosal drying and asynchrony between the patient and the ventilator as the ventilator perceives it as an attempt to inhale and continues to dispense breath even though the patient has completed inhalation and is ready to exhale [37]. Therefore, monitoring the delivered tidal volume and air leakage is important in patients undergoing NIV, and most home ventilators have leakage compensation mechanisms [39].

#### 2) Interfaces for children

Various types of ventilation masks are used for NIV, but none can be perfectly sealed, at least intermittently. Therefore, the ventilators must generate a high flow to compensate for leakage to reach preset pressure. Arguably, the most important factor determining successful NIV application is the choice of an appropriate mask that minimizes leakage and maximizes patient's comfort [40]. The masks currently being used in children include follows: nasal pillows or nasal plugs that occlude the nostrils; nasal masks, which cover the nose; oronasal masks, which cover the mouth and the nose; full-face masks, which cover the mouth, the nose, and the eyes; mouthpieces or oral masks; and the helmet, which cover the entire head. Nasal masks provide greater patient comfort and cause fewer skin injuries, making them the most commonly used masks [41]. Nasal masks are preferred in small children because there is less static dead space, they cause less claustrophobia, and they allow communication and expectoration. Oronasal masks and fullface masks must be reserved for use only when nasal masks are not effective due to oral leakage during sleep as they have potential risks of aspiration in cases of gastroesophageal reflux or nausea/ vomiting. Mouthpieces can be used for children with neuromuscular disease requiring extended ventilation support in daytime, in addition to nocturnal ventilation [42]. Helmets are effective interfaces for small children, and they are commonly used in the pediatric ICU (PICU). However, their large dead space and the risks of asphyxia in case of technical failure of the ventilator make them unsuitable for HMV [43-45]. The following should be considered when selecting an appropriate mask: (1) patient age and weight, (2) facial bone and the skull anatomy, (3) the presence of mouth breathing, (4) patient's ability to remove the mask by himself/herself, (5) patient comfort and the level of unintentional leakage, and

(6) the patient tolerance regarding skin injury or facial deformity [46].

### 2. Invasive ventilation

#### 1) Tracheostomy and tracheal cannulae

Tracheostomy should be stable when starting HMV; therefore, elective surgical tracheostomy for HMV is always preferred to percutaneous dilatational tracheostomy. Once the tracheostomy stoma is healed, it can be exchanged by a trained nurse alone and even by trained nonprofessional caregivers [47]. In cases of sudden cannulae blockage or a difficult cannulae change, spare cannulae of the same size and smaller should always be prepared. Before discharge from the hospital, parents or caregivers should learn how to manage a tracheostomy, identify complications, and perform cardiopulmonary resuscitation in case of an emergency [47].

#### 2) Humidification and warming

During invasive ventilation, humidification and warming of the inhaled air are necessary to prevent drying of the bronchial mucosa and thickening of secretions [48]. In addition, children tend to have relatively high respiratory rates and, therefore, a higher fluid loss via the airway, which increases the importance of sufficient level of humidification in this population.

Humidification and warming can be achieved either through heat and moisture exchanger (HME) filters or via active humidification. The use of HME filters has the advantage of simplicity; however, they may increase the work of breathing and negatively impact  $CO_2$  elimination. In particular, when using speaking aids, uncuffed cannulae, or fenestrated tracheal cannulae, HME filters are ineffective because air escapes to the larynx, thus requiring active humidification, although this is less convenient [49,50]. Active humidification during the night and HME filters during the day are generally considered to be acceptable [16].

# Technical setup of home mechanical ventilator

# 1. Tubings and circuits

There are two types of tube systems: single-tube systems (single-limb circuits) and double-lumen tube systems (double-limb circuits). While double-lumen tube systems (one tube for inspiration and the other for expiration) are mostly used in acute care settings, such as ICUs, single-tube systems are most commonly used in HMV because they are less cumbersome. When using single-tube systems, unintentional leaks and tidal volumes are estimated instead of measured; therefore, if it is necessary to measure expiratory volume accurately, a double-lumen tube system should be used, which is rarely the case in this population [51-53].

#### 2. Pressure versus volume preset

Pressure-preset mechanical ventilation is more widely used than volume-preset ventilation. Pressure-preset mechanical ventilation delivers airflow according to a predefined positive pressure in the airways for a given time. In contrast, volume-preset ventilation provides a fixed volume during a given time regardless of the airway pressure. The advantage of volume-preset ventilation is the delivery of a constant tidal volume, assuring that the desired minute ventilation is achieved; however, the major disadvantage of this mode is the fixed ventilatory support that does not allow changes with the varying demands of the patient. Although the two modes do not differ in terms of NIV effectiveness, pressure-preset ventilation is associated with fewer side effects, such as flatulence and gastric distension [54-56]. In addition, as stated earlier, pressure-preset ventilation is preferred in children because it can better adapt to their irregular breathing patterns.

If a patient experiences problems under a particular ventilation mode, another ventilation mode should be attempted during hospitalization and close monitoring.

#### 3. Ventilator alarms

Alarms in NIV are based on clinical practice rather than scientific evidence due to the lack of studies examining their clinical utility, especially for HMV [57]. Mask interfaces in NIV cannot be completely sealed, which may cause frequent and often spurious alarms. Therefore, careful setting of the alarm system is necessary to ensure that it functions only when there is a genuine need [57,58]. An alarm system is mandatory in invasive ventilation because the blockage of cannulae may lead to a significant risk to the patient. Patients with a speaking valve, uncuffed cannulae, or fenestrated cannulae require an alarm setting that can detect the disconnection and/or hypoventilation, as recommended in adults [58].

# Home mechanical ventilation follow-up and monitoring

### 1. Pulse oximetry

A pulse oximeter is necessary during the invasive ventilation; continuous pulse oximetry monitoring is mandatory in children with tracheostomy, as well as in children using full-face masks or oronasal masks, who cannot remove the masks by themselves. Because frequent false alarms might distract caregivers from concentrating on real alarms, the use of appropriate adhesive sensors and an oximeter with an artifact-minimizing function should be adopted to minimize false alarms.

Oxygen saturation may decrease in cases of airway infection, increased secretion, coughing, dyspnea, and enforced breathing. When the SpO<sub>2</sub> is greater than 95%, no intervention is required; for SpO<sub>2</sub> values are between 90% and 95%, readjusting interfaces and/or secretion clearance should be attempted, after which further treatment can be sought in an outpatient setting; and if SpO<sub>2</sub> is less than 90% despite HMV, immediate action must be taken (e.g., visiting emergency department or calling for the ventilation center, etc.) [16].

Of note, oxygen alone should not be used to correct decreased  $\text{SpO}_2$  values in children with alveolar hypoventilation due to neuromuscular diseases because it can worsen hypercapnia, mask the progression of underlying problems, and delay diagnosis and appropriate treatment [59,60].

### 2. Follow-ups for home mechanical ventilation in children

Regular follow-ups are required to ensure successful HMV in children as HMV treatment should be adapted to the growth of the child and the progression/improvement of the underlying disease. Despite marked heterogeneity in the provision of HMV services, costs, and healthcare system across countries as well as in the individual factors such as underlying disease, medical stability, the age of the child, and socioeconomic status, follow-up in-hospital assessment including nocturnal  $CO_2$  monitoring and synchronization of ventilation is generally recommended to be performed 1 to 3 months after commencing HMV for the first time [61]. Subsequently, repeating these assessments at 6-month intervals is recommended.

Tracheoscopy should be performed at least once annually in invasively ventilated children to adjust the tube size and assess for complications such as tracheal granuloma or ulcers [16]. The follow-up assessment of HMV should include the tests summarized in Table 3.

Any changes made to the ventilators and their setup, including ventilator machine (even from the same manufacturer), ventilation interface (masks and circuits), oxygen application system, humidification system, ventilation parameters, and tracheal cannulae models, can substantially influence ventilation efficacy and should only be performed under thorough monitoring of the attending physician in in-hospital settings [62-66].

# Weaning

A recent international consensus statement by the European Respiratory Society indicated weaning from continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) or NIV in 6% to 40% of children [10]. Suc-

Essential tests in the initial diagnosis and commencement of HMV	Additional tests that might be required in selected patients	Essential test for follow-up in-hospital assessment
Electrocardiogram	Continuous nocturnal $CO_2$ measurements (e.g., PTcCO <sub>2</sub> ) <sup>a)</sup>	Adherence to HMV
Diurnal and nocturnal arterial blood gas analysis	Change of vital capacity between sitting and supine position <sup>a)</sup>	Assessment of clinical success of HMV (e.g., alleviation of symptoms)
Pulmonary function test (spirometry, respiratory muscle function test)	Assessment of coughing ability $^{b)}$	Side effects (e.g., skin injury, mask issues, nasal mucosal problem, pneumophagia)
Basic laboratory tests	Laryngoscopy/bronchoscopy <sup>c)</sup>	Inspection of ventilator system (ventilation setting, humidification unit, ventilation interface, accessories)
Chest X-ray	Swallowing evaluation <sup>d)</sup>	Screening of nocturnal ventilation efficacy

Table 3. Tests that should be performed during the initial diagnosis, commencement of HMV, and follow-up in-hospital assessment of children undergoing HMV

HMV, home mechanical ventilation; CO<sub>2</sub>, carbon dioxide; PTcCO<sub>2</sub>, partial pressure of transcutaneous CO<sub>2</sub>.

<sup>a)</sup>Patients with neuromuscular diseases (ventilatory pump failure). <sup>b)</sup>Patients whose coughing ability might be impaired (e.g., neuromuscular diseases, cerebral palsy, traumatic brain injury, central nervous system tumor). <sup>c)</sup>Patients with possible laryngeal or bronchial pathologies (e.g., congenital anomalies of the larynx, laryngeal and/or bronchial stenosis). <sup>d)</sup>With suspected impairment of swallowing ability (e.g., clinical signs of swallowing difficulty, frequent chest infection, malnutrition).

cessful weaning is attributable to the physiological growth, weight loss, or interventions such as adenotonsillectomy, upper airway surgery, maxillofacial surgery, or orthodontic treatment [67-70]. Successful weaning in children with NMD is less common than that in children with other conditions [71-73]; however, this is expected to be changed along with the development of new therapeutic options, particularly in children with spinal muscular atrophy [11]. Currently, there are no established weaning criteria; however, a recent study by Mastouri et al. [73] proposed respiratory criteria for weaning from CPAP/NIV, including four major criteria and three minor criteria; all four major criteria must be fulfilled with at least two minor criteria for considering weaning from CPAP/NIV. The major criteria were: (1) resolution of nocturnal and daytime symptoms of sleep-disordered breathing after several nights without CPAP/NIV, (2) < 2% of the recording time spent with a SpO<sub>2</sub> of  $\leq$  90%, (3) < 2% of recording time spent with a PTcCO<sub>2</sub> of  $\geq$  50 mmHg, and (4) obstructive apnea-hypopnea index of < 10 events/hr on a polysomnography or polygraphy. The minor criteria were: (1) minimal SpO<sub>2</sub> of >90%, (2) maximal  $PTcCO_2$  of < 50 mmHg, and (3) 3% oxygen desaturation index of  $\leq$  1.4 events/hr [73]. Even after successful weaning, recurrence of chronic respiratory failure is possible, depending on the underlying condition; therefore, continuous follow-up is necessary [73].

# Potential risks of home mechanical ventilation

Despite the advances in newer ventilators and monitoring devices, children on HMV are still exposed to potential risks, with mortality in this group as high as 43% and medical complications occur-

ring in up to 70% of children [74-76]. In addition, a recent study conducted in the United States analyzing rapid-response (RR) events and code events in children on HMV via tracheostomies in a non-ICU respiratory unit found that children on invasive ventilation via tracheostomy had 8.73 RR events per 1,000 patient days compared to 4.61 RR events per 1,000 patient days in all other hospitalized children. Similarly, children on HMV had 3.14 code events per 1,000 patient days compared to 0.74 in all other hospitalized children [77]. The causes of mortality have not been evaluated systemically; however, a previous study reported that only 34% of mortalities resulted from the progression of underlying diseases and 49% of mortalities were unexpected [75]. The potential risks in children on HMV include ventilator failure, airway obstruction by secretion, tracheostomy-related complications (accidental decannulation, bleeding, infection, etc.), acute lower respiratory tract infection, feeding problems, seizures, dehydration, and electrolyte imbalance [78,79]. A retrospective study reported that children with invasive mechanical ventilation were 16 times more likely to visit hospitals before scheduled visits than children with NIV (odds ratio, 16.3; 95% confidence interval, 2.1–127.4, p = 0.008 [78]. Other risk factors for unscheduled hospital admissions were a shorter duration of caregiver education before discharge, a change in the management of the child within 7 days before discharge, and younger age [78-80]. A recent study in Germany evaluating differences in the incidences of complications between children with invasive ventilation at home and children with invasive ventilation at specialized nursing facilities found that children on invasive ventilation at home were more likely to experience tracheostomy-related incidents and infection compared to children with tracheostomy and long-term ventilation support at specialized nursing care facilities, while there was no difference in the incidence of potentially life-threatening severe adverse events with rapid deterioration of vital signs requiring immediate medical intervention, and may require resuscitation and hospital admission [81]. To reduce preventable adverse events in this population, well-organized caregiver education, providing home nursing services, and monitoring patients using telemedicine were proposed, in addition to training staff caring for children on home mechanical ventilators in the respiratory care unit [74,76-78,80,82].

# Caregiver burden and education

# 1. Caregiver burden

Although HMV allows a more normal lifestyle compared to formal institutionalized (or hospital-based) ventilation treatment, it places significant burdens on patients and their caregivers, ranging from physiological and psychological to social, and existential issues. A recent systematic review of qualitative studies on users' experiences of HMV reported that the users (namely, the patients and their caregivers) perceived that HMV increased their quality of life and permitted a more community- and home-based lifestyle. However, they also experienced continued worries and uncertainty as well as undermined autonomy and self-determinism. The caregivers also expressed difficulties in the collaboration between home-care assistants, including nurses, social-care assistants, and healthcare assistants [83]. Children on HMV and their caregivers have a significantly lower quality of life than healthy controls [30,31,84]. Nevertheless, a recent questionnaire survey revealed that although children with neuromuscular diseases on long-term ventilation treatment experienced a lower health-related quality of life and mental health, ventilator use did not show an additional negative impact on the quality of life [85]. Thus, care should be

taken to enable a patient-centered treatment and care in this population and to reduce caregiver burden.

### 2. Patient and caregiver education

To ensure effective HMV in children, education for the patients (if possible) and caregivers is of critical importance. Although HMV enables a more normal daily life for the children compared to the formal institutionalized or hospital-based ventilation treatment, HMV presents many psychological, physiological, and social challenges to children and their families. In particular, children on HMV are dependent on support for up to 24 hours a day; thus, training for the caregivers and family members is very important. The essential topics for caregiver education are summarized in Table 4 [11,58,86]. Caregiver education totaling < 14 days was associated with higher chances of nonscheduled hospital admissions in children on HMV [78]. The American Thoracic Society clinical practice guidelines recommend training periods of "several weeks before discharge" for children with invasive ventilation [86], while the Canadian Thoracic Society clinical practice guidelines recommend  $\geq$  2 weeks for patients with invasive ventilation and 48 hours for patients with NIV [87].

# Conclusion

HMV continues to change the scope of treatment for chronic respiratory failure in children in that it decreases respiratory morbidity and prolongs life span. However, there remains a gap in the clinical practice and scientific evidence regarding the validated criteria for the initiation of HMV, optimal follow-up, and monitoring, and weaning criteria in different underlying diseases. Therefore, future studies are much needed. In addition, considering that the ultimate goal of HMV in children is not only to correct alveolar hypoventi-

	1 11 11 1	1 (			
lahle 4 Essential er	ducational tonics	hetore comm	iencina home	mechanical	ventilation
	aucational topics	ocioic comm	chenny nonne	meenamear	ventilation

No	General considerations	Ventilator care	Tracheostomy care
1	Understand underlying disease	Basic knowledge of how the ventilator works	Understand basic anatomy and physiology regarding tracheostomy
2	Signs and symptoms that require immediate medical attention	How to check ventilator and humidifier	Safe performance of daily activities of living
3	Nutrition/feedings	Mask fitting and interface	Communication/speech issues
4	Chest physiotherapy techniques	Basic troubleshooting	Cleaning and sterilization of tracheostomy site and all supplies
5	Airway clearance techniques	Cleaning and sterile management of all supplies and accessories	Suction technique
6	Immunization	Safe home environment	Tracheal cannulae and tie change
7	Emergency management/cardiopulmonary resuscitation	Battery/power supply	How to respond to accidental decannulation
8	Emergency contact number	Use of self-inflating bag	Transportation
9	Follow-up appointment		

lation but also to maximize development as much as possible, future research should focus on the strategies to promote normal child development in every aspect, as well as provide optimal patient-centered care for the children and their caregivers.

Clinicians should select the best option for HMV according to the patient's age, underlying disease, and HMV tolerance. Training for parents and caregivers is an essential part of HMV, and regular follow-up and good multidisciplinary care should be ensured.

# Notes

### **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

### Funding

None.

# ORCID

Soyoung Kwak, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1031-7197

# References

- 1. Murphy J. Medically stable children in PICU: better at home. Paediatr Nurs 2008;20:14–6.
- 2. Herouvin L. From hospital to home for technology-dependent children. Paediatr Nurs 2007;19:34.
- Lloyd-Owen SJ, Donaldson GC, Ambrosino N, Escarabill J, Farre R, Fauroux B, et al. Patterns of home mechanical ventilation use in Europe: results from the Eurovent survey. Eur Respir J 2005;25:1025–31.
- 4. McKim DA, Road J, Avendano M, Abdool S, Cote F, Duguid N, et al. Home mechanical ventilation: a Canadian Thoracic Society clinical practice guideline. Can Respir J 2011;18:197–215.
- 5. Wallis C, Paton JY, Beaton S, Jardine E. Children on long-term ventilatory support: 10 years of progress. Arch Dis Child 2011; 96:998–1002.
- 6. Rose L, McKim DA, Katz SL, Leasa D, Nonoyama M, Pedersen C, et al. Home mechanical ventilation in Canada: a national survey. Respir Care 2015;60:695–704.
- 7. Goodwin S, Smith H, Langton Hewer S, Fleming P, Henderson AJ, Hilliard T, et al. Increasing prevalence of domiciliary ventilation: changes in service demand and provision in the South West of the UK. Eur J Pediatr 2011;170:1187–92.
- Amin R, Sayal P, Syed F, Chaves A, Moraes TJ, MacLusky I. Pediatric long-term home mechanical ventilation: twenty years of follow-up from one Canadian center. Pediatr Pulmonol 2014;

49:816-24.

- 9. Preutthipan A. Home mechanical ventilation in children. Indian J Pediatr 2015;82:852–9.
- Fahmy T, Salim S. Chapter 5. ICU ventilators versus BiPAP ventilators in noninvasive ventilation. In: Esquinas AM, editors. Noninvasive mechanical ventilation: theory, equipment, and clinical application. 2nd ed. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2016. p. 31–9.
- Fauroux B, Abel F, Amaddeo A, Bignamini E, Chan E, Corel L, et al. ERS Statement on pediatric long term noninvasive respiratory support. Eur Respir J 2022;59:2101404.
- Roussos C, Macklem PT. The respiratory muscles. N Engl J Med 1982;307:786–97.
- Greene KE, Peters JI. Pathophysiology of acute respiratory failure. Clin Chest Med 1994;15:1–12.
- 14. Campbell EJ. Respiratory failure. Br Med J 1965;1:1451-60.
- Amaddeo A, Frapin A, Fauroux B. Long-term non-invasive ventilation in children. Lancet Respir Med 2016;4:999–1008.
- 16. Windisch W, Geiseler J, Simon K, Walterspacher S, Dreher M; on behalf of the Guideline Commission. German National Guideline for treating chronic respiratory failure with invasive and non-invasive ventilation: revised edition 2017: part 2. Respiration 2018;96:171–203.
- Storre JH, Magnet FS, Dreher M, Windisch W. Transcutaneous monitoring as a replacement for arterial PCO(2) monitoring during nocturnal non-invasive ventilation. Respir Med 2011; 105:143–50.
- Amin RS, Fitton CM. Tracheostomy and home ventilation in children. Semin Neonatol 2003;8:127–35.
- Weese-Mayer DE, Rand CM, Zhou A, Carroll MS, Hunt CE. Congenital central hypoventilation syndrome: a bedside-tobench success story for advancing early diagnosis and treatment and improved survival and quality of life. Pediatr Res 2017;81: 192–201.
- 20. Ward S, Chatwin M, Heather S, Simonds AK. Randomised controlled trial of non-invasive ventilation (NIV) for nocturnal hypoventilation in neuromuscular and chest wall disease patients with daytime normocapnia. Thorax 2005;60:1019–24.
- Mellies U, Ragette R, Dohna Schwake C, Boehm H, Voit T, Teschler H. Long-term noninvasive ventilation in children and adolescents with neuromuscular disorders. Eur Respir J 2003;22: 631–6.
- Dohna-Schwake C, Podlewski P, Voit T, Mellies U. Non-invasive ventilation reduces respiratory tract infections in children with neuromuscular disorders. Pediatr Pulmonol 2008;43:67–71.
- 23. Dohna-Schwake C, Stehling F, Tschiedel E, Wallot M, Mellies

U. Non-invasive ventilation on a pediatric intensive care unit: feasibility, efficacy, and predictors of success. Pediatr Pulmonol 2011;46:1114–20.

- 24. Gregoretti C, Ottonello G, Chiarini Testa MB, Mastella C, Ravà L, Bignamini E, et al. Survival of patients with spinal muscular atrophy type 1. Pediatrics 2013;131:e1509–14.
- **25.** Dreyer PS, Steffensen BF, Pedersen BD. Life with home mechanical ventilation for young men with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Adv Nurs 2010;66:753–62.
- **26.** Bach JR, Martinez D. Duchenne muscular dystrophy: continuous noninvasive ventilatory support prolongs survival. Respir Care 2011;56:744–50.
- 27. Edwards EA, Nixon GM; Australasian Paediatric Respiratory Group Working Party on Home Ventilation. Paediatric home ventilatory support: changing milieu, proactive solutions. J Paediatr Child Health 2013;49:13–8.
- 28. Paulides FM, Plötz FB, Verweij-van den Oudenrijn LP, van Gestel JP, Kampelmacher MJ. Thirty years of home mechanical ventilation in children: escalating need for pediatric intensive care beds. Intensive Care Med 2012;38:847–52.
- **29.** Fauroux B, Boffa C, Desguerre I, Estournet B, Trang H. Longterm noninvasive mechanical ventilation for children at home: a national survey. Pediatr Pulmonol 2003;35:119–25.
- 30. Tan LT, Nathan AM, Jayanath S, Eg KP, Thavagnanam S, Lum LC, et al. Health-related quality of life and developmental outcome of children on home mechanical ventilation in a developing country: a cross-sectional study. Pediatr Pulmonol 2020;55: 3477–86.
- **31.** González R, Bustinza A, Fernandez SN, García M, Rodriguez S, García-Teresa MÁ, et al. Quality of life in home-ventilated children and their families. Eur J Pediatr 2017;176:1307–17.
- Dumas HM. Rehabilitation considerations for children dependent on long-term mechanical ventilation. Int Sch Res Notices 2012;2012:756103.
- **33.** Fauroux B, Lavis JF, Nicot F, Picard A, Boelle PY, Clément A, et al. Facial side effects during noninvasive positive pressure ventilation in children. Intensive Care Med 2005;31:965–9.
- 34. Dal'Astra AP, Quirino AV, Caixêta JA, Avelino MA. Tracheostomy in childhood: review of the literature on complications and mortality over the last three decades. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol 2017;83:207–14.
- **35.** Trachsel D, Hammer J. Indications for tracheostomy in children. Paediatr Respir Rev 2006;7:162–8.
- **36.** Cristea AI, Carroll AE, Davis SD, Swigonski NL, Ackerman VL. Outcomes of children with severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia who were ventilator dependent at home. Pediatrics 2013;132: e727–34.

- Hasan A. Noninvasive ventilation in acute respiratory failure. In: Hasan A, editors. Understanding mechanical ventilation. A practical handbook. 2nd ed. London, UK: Springer; 2010. p. 415–40.
- 38. Jarosz K, Kubisa B, Andrzejewska A, Mrówczyńska K, Hamerlak Z, Bartkowska-Śniatkowska A. Adverse outcomes after percutaneous dilatational tracheostomy versus surgical tracheostomy in intensive care patients: case series and literature review. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2017;13:975–81.
- **39.** Luján M, Lalmolda C, Ergan B. Basic concepts for tidal volume and leakage estimation in non-invasive ventilation. Turk Thorac J 2019;20:140–6.
- 40. Pavone M, Verrillo E, Caldarelli V, Ullmann N, Cutrera R. Non-invasive positive pressure ventilation in children. Early Hum Dev 2013;89(Suppl 3):S25–31.
- **41.** Fernandez R, Cabrera C, Rubinos G, Pando A, Galindo R, Rodríguez F, et al. Nasal versus oronasal mask in home mechanical ventilation: the preference of patients as a strategy for choosing the interface. Respir Care 2012;57:1413–7.
- 42. Pinto T, Chatwin M, Banfi P, Winck JC, Nicolini A. Mouthpiece ventilation and complementary techniques in patients with neuromuscular disease: a brief clinical review and update. Chron Respir Dis 2017;14:187–93.
- **43.** Piastra M, Antonelli M, Chiaretti A, Polidori G, Polidori L, Conti G. Treatment of acute respiratory failure by helmet-delivered non-invasive pressure support ventilation in children with acute leukemia: a pilot study. Intensive Care Med 2004;30:472–6.
- 44. Piastra M, Antonelli M, Caresta E, Chiaretti A, Polidori G, Conti G. Noninvasive ventilation in childhood acute neuromuscular respiratory failure: a pilot study. Respiration 2006;73:791–8.
- **45.** Moerer O, Fischer S, Hartelt M, Kuvaki B, Quintel M, Neumann P. Influence of two different interfaces for noninvasive ventilation compared to invasive ventilation on the mechanical properties and performance of a respiratory system: a lung model study. Chest 2006;129:1424–31.
- 46. Fauroux B, Ramirez A, Amaddeo A. Interfaces for acute and long-term noninvasive positive pressure ventilation in children: key technical elements and clinical implications. In: Esquinas A, editors. Noninvasive mechanical ventilation. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2016. p. 813–25.
- 47. Deutsch ES. Tracheostomy: pediatric considerations. Respir Care 2010;55:1082–90.
- 48. Nakagawa NK, Macchione M, Petrolino HM, Guimarães ET, King M, Saldiva PH, et al. Effects of a heat and moisture exchanger and a heated humidifier on respiratory mucus in patients undergoing mechanical ventilation. Crit Care Med 2000; 28:312–7.

- **49**. Siempos II, Vardakas KZ, Kopterides P, Falagas ME. Impact of passive humidification on clinical outcomes of mechanically ventilated patients: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Crit Care Med 2007;35:2843–51.
- 50. Lellouche F, Pignataro C, Maggiore SM, Girou E, Deye N, Taillé S, et al. Short-term effects of humidification devices on respiratory pattern and arterial blood gases during noninvasive ventilation. Respir Care 2012;57:1879–86.
- **51.** Schwarz EI, Bloch KE. Frontiers in clinical practice of long-term care of chronic ventilatory failure. Respiration 2019;98:1–15.
- 52. Rabec C, Rodenstein D, Leger P, Rouault S, Perrin C, Gonzalez-Bermejo J, et al. Ventilator modes and settings during non-invasive ventilation: effects on respiratory events and implications for their identification. Thorax 2011;66:170–8.
- 53. Luján M, Sogo A, Pomares X, Monsó E, Sales B, Blanch L. Effect of leak and breathing pattern on the accuracy of tidal volume estimation by commercial home ventilators: a bench study. Respir Care 2013;58:770–7.
- Tuggey JM, Elliott MW. Randomised crossover study of pressure and volume non-invasive ventilation in chest wall deformity. Thorax 2005;60:859–64.
- 55. Windisch W, Kostić S, Dreher M, Virchow JC Jr, Sorichter S. Outcome of patients with stable COPD receiving controlled noninvasive positive pressure ventilation aimed at a maximal reduction of Pa(CO2). Chest 2005;128:657–62.
- 56. Oscroft NS, Ali M, Gulati A, Davies MG, Quinnell TG, Shneerson JM, et al. A randomised crossover trial comparing volume assured and pressure preset noninvasive ventilation in stable hypercapnic COPD. COPD 2010;7:398–403.
- 57. Scala R. Ventilators for noninvasive mechanical ventilation: theory and technology. In: Esquinas A, editors. Noninvasive mechanical ventilation. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2016. p. 41– 54.
- 58. Windisch W, Geiseler J, Simon K, Walterspacher S, Dreher M; on behalf of the Guideline Commission. German national guideline for treating chronic respiratory failure with invasive and non-invasive ventilation: revised edition 2017: part 1. Respiration 2018;96:66–97.
- **59.** Hull J. British Thoracic Society guideline for respiratory management of children with neuromuscular weakness: commentary. Thorax 2012;67:654–5.
- 60. Balfour-Lynn IM, Field DJ, Gringras P, Hicks B, Jardine E, Jones RC, et al. BTS guidelines for home oxygen in children. Thorax 2009;64(Suppl 2):ii1–26.
- Khirani S, Amaddeo A, Griffon L, Lanzeray A, Teng T, Fauroux B. Follow-up and monitoring of children needing long term home ventilation. Front Pediatr 2020;8:330.

- **62.** Vitacca M, Barbano L, D'Anna S, Porta R, Bianchi L, Ambrosino N. Comparison of five bilevel pressure ventilators in patients with chronic ventilatory failure: a physiologic study. Chest 2002;122:2105–14.
- **63.** Navalesi P, Fanfulla F, Frigerio P, Gregoretti C, Nava S. Physiologic evaluation of noninvasive mechanical ventilation delivered with three types of masks in patients with chronic hypercapnic respiratory failure. Crit Care Med 2000;28:1785–90.
- **64.** Farré R, Giró E, Casolivé V, Navajas D, Escarrabill J. Quality control of mechanical ventilation at the patient's home. Intensive Care Med 2003;29:484–6.
- **65.** Lofaso F, Fodil R, Lorino H, Leroux K, Quintel A, Leroy A, et al. Inaccuracy of tidal volume delivered by home mechanical ventilators. Eur Respir J 2000;15:338–41.
- **66.** Haberthür C, Fabry B, Stocker R, Ritz R, Guttmann J. Additional inspiratory work of breathing imposed by tracheostomy tubes and non-ideal ventilator properties in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med 1999;25:514–9.
- **67.** McDougall CM, Adderley RJ, Wensley DF, Seear MD. Longterm ventilation in children: longitudinal trends and outcomes. Arch Dis Child 2013;98:660–5.
- **68.** Edwards EA, Hsiao K, Nixon GM. Paediatric home ventilatory support: the Auckland experience. J Paediatr Child Health 2005;41:652–8.
- **69.** Ikeda A, Tsuji M, Goto T, Iai M. Long-term home non-invasive positive pressure ventilation in children: results from a single center in Japan. Brain Dev 2018;40:558–65.
- 70. Perriol MP, Jullian-Desayes I, Joyeux-Faure M, Bailly S, Andrieux A, Ellaffi M, et al. Long-term adherence to ambulatory initiated continuous positive airway pressure in non-syndromic OSA children. Sleep Breath 2019;23:575–8.
- 71. Castro-Codesal ML, Dehaan K, Bedi PK, Bendiak GN, Schmalz L, Katz SL, et al. Longitudinal changes in clinical characteristics and outcomes for children using long-term non-invasive ventilation. PLoS One 2018;13:e0192111.
- 72. Chatwin M, Tan HL, Bush A, Rosenthal M, Simonds AK. Long term non-invasive ventilation in children: impact on survival and transition to adult care. PLoS One 2015;10:e0125839.
- **73.** Mastouri M, Amaddeo A, Griffon L, Frapin A, Touil S, Ramirez A, et al. Weaning from long term continuous positive airway pressure or noninvasive ventilation in children. Pediatr Pulmonol 2017;52:1349–54.
- 74. Kun SS, Beas VN, Keens TG, Ward SS, Gold JI. Examining pediatric emergency home ventilation practices in home health nurses: opportunities for improved care. Pediatr Pulmonol 2015;50:691–7.
- 75. Edwards JD, Kun SS, Keens TG. Outcomes and causes of death

in children on home mechanical ventilation via tracheostomy: an institutional and literature review. J Pediatr 2010;157:955–9.

- 76. Muñoz-Bonet JI, López-Prats JL, Flor-Macián EM, Cantavella T, Domínguez A, Vidal Y, et al. Medical complications in a telemedicine home care programme for paediatric ventilated patients. J Telemed Telecare 2020;26:462–73.
- 77. Kun SS, Deavenport-Saman AD, Keens TG, Ward SL, Takata GS. Rapid response and code events in hospitalized children on home mechanical ventilation. Respir Care 2019;64:1461–8.
- 78. Özcan G, Zirek F, Tekin MN, Bakirarar B, Çobanoğlu N. Risk factors for first nonscheduled hospital admissions of pediatric patients on home mechanical ventilation. Pediatr Pulmonol 2021;56:3374–9.
- **79.** Reiter K, Pernath N, Pagel P, Hiedi S, Hoffmann F, Schoen C, et al. Risk factors for morbidity and mortality in pediatric home mechanical ventilation. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2011;50:237–43.
- **80.** Kun SS, Edwards JD, Ward SL, Keens TG. Hospital readmissions for newly discharged pediatric home mechanical ventilation patients. Pediatr Pulmonol 2012;47:409–14.
- 81. Neunhoeffer F, Miarka-Mauthe C, Harnischmacher C, Engel J, Renk H, Michel J, et al. Severe adverse events in children with tracheostomy and home mechanical ventilation: comparison of pediatric home care and a specialized pediatric nursing care facility. Respir Med 2022;191:106392.
- 82. Amin R, Pizzuti R, Buchanan F, Rose L. A virtual care innova-

tion for home mechanical ventilation. CMAJ 2021;193:E607–11.

- 83. Ørtenblad L, Carstensen K, Væggemose U, Løvschall C, Sprehn M, Küchen S, et al. Users' experiences with home mechanical ventilation: a review of qualitative studies. Respir Care 2019; 64:1157–68.
- 84. Cadart M, De Sanctis L, Khirani S, Amaddeo A, Ouss L, Fauroux B. Parents of children referred to a sleep laboratory for disordered breathing reported anxiety, daytime sleepiness and poor sleep quality. Acta Paediatr 2018;107:1253–61.
- 85. Johannsen J, Fuhrmann L, Grolle B, Morgenstern L, Wiegand-Grefe S, Denecke J. The impact of long-term ventilator-use on health-related quality of life and the mental health of children with neuromuscular diseases and their families: need for a revised perspective? Health Qual Life Outcomes 2020;18: 219.
- 86. Sterni LM, Collaco JM, Baker CD, Carroll JL, Sharma GD, Brozek JL, et al. An official American Thoracic Society clinical practice guideline: pediatric chronic home invasive ventilation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2016;193:e16–35.
- 87. Amin R, MacLusky I, Zielinski D, Adderley R, Carnevale F, Chiang J, et al. Pediatric home mechanical ventilation: a Canadian Thoracic Society clinical practice guideline executive summary. Can J Respir Crit Care Sleep Med 2017;1:7–36.

# **Review article**

eISSN 2799-8010 J Yeungnam Med Sci 2023;40(2):136-145 https://doi.org/10.12701/jyms.2022.00689



# Hepatic encephalopathy on magnetic resonance imaging and its uncertain differential diagnoses: a narrative review

# Chun Geun Lim\*, Myong Hun Hahm\*, Hui Joong Lee

Department of Radiology, Kyungpook National University Hospital, School of Medicine, Kyungpook National University, Daegu, Korea

Hepatic encephalopathy (HE) is a severe neuropsychiatric abnormality in patients with either acute or chronic liver failure. Typical brain magnetic resonance imaging findings of HE are bilateral basal ganglia high signal intensities due to manganese deposition in chronic liver disease and hyperintensity in T2, fluid-attenuated inversion recovery, or diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) with hemi-spheric white matter changes including the corticospinal tract. Low values on apparent diffusion coefficient mapping of the affected area on DWI, indicating cytotoxic edema, can be observed in acute HE. However, neuropsychological impairment in HE ranges from mild deficits in psychomotor abilities affecting quality of life to stupor or coma with higher grades of hepatic dysfunction. In particular, the long-lasting compensatory mechanisms for the altered metabolism in chronic liver disease make HE imaging results variable. Therefore, the clinical relevance of imaging findings is uncertain and differentiating HE from other metabolic diseases can be difficult. The recent introduction of concepts such as "acute-on-chronic liver failure (ACLF)," a new clinical entity, has led to a change in the clinical view of HE. Accordingly, there is a need to establish a corresponding concept in the field of neuroimaging diagnosis. Herein, we review HE from a historical and etiological perspective to increase understanding of brain imaging and help establish an imaging approach for advanced new concepts such as ACLF. The purpose of this manuscript is to provide an understanding of HE by reviewing neuroimaging findings based on pathological and clinical concepts of HE, thereby assisting in neuroimaging interpretation.

Keywords: End stage liver disease; Hepatic encephalopathy; Magnetic resonance imaging

# Introduction

Hepatic encephalopathy (HE) is a severe neuropsychiatric abnormality in patients with either acute or chronic liver failure [1,2]. Typical magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings of chronic liver failure are high signal intensity in bilateral basal ganglia high signal intensities (BGH) due to manganese deposition, and high signal intensity in fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) and diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) images with hemispherical white matter changes including the corticospinal tract. In acute HE, low apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) values in the affected area reflect cytotoxic edema. However, neuropsychological im-

Corresponding author: Hui Joong Lee, MD, PhD

Tel: +82-53-420-5397 • Fax: +82-53-422-2677 • E-mail: leehuijoong@knu.ac.kr

\*These authors contributed equally to this work.

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Received: September 29, 2022 • Revised: November 4, 2022 • Accepted: November 11, 2022

Department of Radiology, Kyungpook National University Hospital, School of Medicine, Kyungpook National University, 130 Dongduk-ro, Jung-gu, Daegu 41944, Korea

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

pairment in HE manifests as a spectrum ranging from mild deficits in psychomotor abilities affecting quality of life to stupor or coma with higher grades of hepatic dysfunction [2]. In particular, the long-lasting compensatory mechanism for the altered metabolism in chronic liver disease (CLD) makes HE imaging findings very variable. Therefore, the clinical relevance of imaging findings is questionable, and it is difficult to differentiate HE from other metabolic diseases. The recent acceptance of new clinical concepts such as " acute-on-chronic liver failure (ACLF)" has led to a change in the clinical view of HE. Accordingly, there is a need to reevaluate existing paradigms in the field of neuroimaging diagnosis. The purpose of this manuscript is to provide a comprehensive review of HE through neuroimaging based on the pathological and clinical understanding of HE, thereby assisting in the interpretation of neuroimaging findings.

# Typical neuroimaging of hepatic encephalopathy

**Ethical statements:** Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this review article and any accompanying images.

MRI is a very useful tool to better understand the pathophysiology

of HE and provide direct evidence for the pathogenesis of HE due to severe liver dysfunction. In particular, magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) provides information on the pathophysiological changes in HE at the molecular level.

### 1. Basal ganglia high signal intensity

The most frequent MRI finding in the brains of patients with CLD is BGH on T1-weighted imaging without mass effect, which results from paramagnetic manganese deposition [3-5]. Manganese crosses the blood-brain barrier and accumulates in the globus pallidus in chronic liver failure, which may be the cause of extrapyramidal symptoms [6]. BGH is thought to be caused by the severity of liver dysfunction and is reversible when liver function returns to normal levels after liver transplantation [7]. Manganese plays an essential role in the normal function of several enzymes, including glutamine synthetase and mitochondrial superoxide dismutase. Manganese has a neurotoxic effect, sparing the nigrostriatal system and causing selective neuronal death in the basal ganglia, structures, and reactive gliosis. This cell death is more apparent in the globus pallidus and substantia nigra reticulata, and less apparent in the striatum and bilateral internal capsules (Fig. 1). Clinically, early gait and balance dysfunction, the relative absence of resting tremors, the presence of mild cognitive impairment at the time of presentation, and little or no response to levodopa distinguish Parkinsonian manifestations in HE from idiopathic Parkinson disease.



**Fig. 1.** A 57-year-old male with hepatic encephalopathy. (A–E) T1-weighted imaging shows high signal intensity in the basal ganglia, which is more prominent in the globus pallidus (arrows) and substantia nigra reticulata (short arrows), and to a lesser extent, striatum, portions of the bilateral internal capsules, and cerebellar peduncle (arrowhead).

The pallidal index, used as a semiquantitative parameter to evaluate manganese accumulation in the brain, is a relative value calculated as the ratio of the signal intensity in the globus pallidus to the subcortical frontal white matter in axial T1-weighted images. The pallidal index correlates with clinical indices such as whole blood manganese, Child-Pugh score, and total bilirubin level, which reveals the severity of the portal-systemic shunt [8,9].

### 2. White matter involvement

Due to minor brain edema that is beyond the threshold for detection on conventional MRI, hyperintensity along the white matter in the cerebral hemisphere or near the corticospinal tract on FLAIR or T2-weighted imaging has been described, mimicking the MRI features of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis [10] (Fig. 2). Transcallosal white matter involvement, so-called Marchiafava-Bignami disease (MBD), is a typical form of white matter involvement in patients with HE [11]. It was believed that MBD was specific to those who resided in central Italy and drank a lot of inexpensive red wine from the Chianti region. However, it is now known worldwide that the cause of MBD is closely related to alcohol consumption. The mechanism of white matter involvement in acute HE is not completely understood. The lack of integrity of the transcallosal connections between motor cortices is the consequence of axonal degeneration of transcallosal fibers. According to another hypothesis, arylsulfatase A (ASA) activity is reduced in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis similar to metachromatic leukodystrophy, which alters sphingomyelin metabolism [12].

Focal white matter T2-weighted lesions (WMLs) may also be observed in liver cirrhosis with or without overt HE. These lesions look like different types of small-vessel disease and white matter hyperintensity in healthy people who are elderly. However, focal WMLs in HE can be partially reversible with HE recovery or after liver transplantation, unlike other WMLs [13].

#### 3. Cortical changes

On T2-weighted and FLAIR images, acute HE is characterized by diffuse cortical, overt brain edema, while cortical-restricted diffusion has a high signal intensity on DWI and low signal intensity on ADC maps, indicating cytotoxic edema (Fig. 3) [14]. The cingulate gyrus and insular cortex were symmetrically involved in the brain MRIs of all patients, with additional cortical involvement being more variable and asymmetrical. However, involvement of the parietal, frontal, temporal, or occipital cortex is unusual [15].

### 4. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy

Currently, there is agreement on the characteristic triad of proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (<sup>1</sup>H-MRS) results in HE, including depletion of intracellular choline (Cho) and myoinositol (mIns) as well as accumulation of glutamine (Gln), all of which are associated with neuropsychiatric dysfunction (Fig. 4) [16]. Signals of glutamate and Gln are increased to compensate for glial Gln accumulation to maintain osmotic homeostasis [17]. However, the decompensation of these volume-regulatory mechanisms may result in neuroglial disturbance and astrocyte swelling. Among these <sup>1</sup>H-MRS variables, mIns appears to be a more sensitive biomarker in the early detection of HE [18]. Diminished mIns, which contributes to ion flux, may act as an organic osmolyte and is critical for controlling astrocyte volume. Cho is a component of phosphocholine, which is related to cell membrane activation. Cho is a necessary component in the synthesis of acetylcholine, which is a neurotransmitter associated with memory, awareness, and feelings. A reduced ratio of Cho to creatinine may underlie cognitive impairment in HE. In patients with cirrhosis, the majority of MRS studies found no significant changes in N-acetylaspartate, which may



**Fig. 2.** A 49-year-old male with general weakness. (A) Fluid-attenuated inversion recovery imaging shows diffuse high signal intensity lesions involving subcortical white matter, (B) periventricular white matter, (C) internal capsule, and (D) midbrain crus cerebri in a patient with chronic liver disease.



**Fig. 3.** A 52-year-old male with weakness of upper extremities. (A) Magnetic resonance imaging sequences of T2-weighted imaging, (B) fluid-attenuated inversion recovery, (C) diffusion-weighted imaging, and (D) apparent diffusion coefficient map show signal changes in cortex of precentral gyrus of both frontal lobes (arrows) in a patient with chronic liver disease.



**Fig. 4.** Magnetic resonance (MR) spectroscopy of a 61-year-old male with liver cirrhosis. Compared with (A) the spectrum from the relatively spared right thalamus, (B) the proton MR spectrum of a patient with hepatic encephalopathy shows significant increases (upward pointing arrows) in lipid macromolecular content (Lipid-Macro) and glutamate/glutamine (Glx), and marked decreases in choline (Cho) and myoinositol (mIns) (downward pointing arrows). (C) On a T2-weighted image, MR shows increased signal intensities at the basal ganglia and corpus callosum with periventricular white matter extension with a relatively spared thalamus. Cre, creatine; NAA, *N*-acetylaspartate.

indicate no discernible neuronal impairment as HE progressed [19]. In the past, it was believed that neuronal changes in HE were either absent or unimportant in explaining the neuropsychiatric abnormality. However, a neuropathological study subsequently showed significant neuronal cell loss in the brains of patients with HE. Dopaminergic and serotoninergic neuronal systems, as well as Purkinje cells, have also been shown to decline in HE [20].

# Pathophysiology of hepatic encephalopathy

We have summarized the pathophysiology of HE associated with neuroimaging in Fig. 5. It is essential for radiologists to understand the biological mechanisms to understand this figure. First, it is necessary to understand why patients with HE are vulnerable to osmotic damage and how metabolic changes affect magnetic resonance signals.

#### 1. Metabolites

Ammonia is believed to play an important role in the cause of HE. The liver detoxifies and converts the majority of ammonia absorbed from the small intestine through the portal vein into urea. Thus, HE may result from hepatic dysfunction, defects in urea circulation, or portocaval shunts that increase blood ammonia levels. Skeletal muscle and brain astrocytes contribute to the detoxification of ammonia by converting it to Gln in cases of hepatic dysfunction. Under the catalysis of glutamine synthase, elevated ammonia and Glu are converted to abundant levels of Gln, which contribute to elevated osmotic pressure. Although the mechanism of brain edema in acute hepatic failure is not fully understood, ammonia is generally assumed to play a critical role. In addition, reduced urea cycle activity in chronic liver dysfunction leads to an increase in cerebral Gln synthesis by brain astrocytes [21].

Hyponatremia causes not only rapid loss of intracellular electro-



**Fig. 5.** Proposed pathway of pathophysiology in hepatic encephalopathy. There are two major axes of the pathophysiology pathway: decreased protein synthesis and ammonemia in chronic liver disease. Decreased protein synthesis causes impaired manganese chelation, resulting in manganemia, manganese deposition in globus pallidus, and high T1 signal intensity (SI) observed on brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Arylsulfatase A (ASA) depletion is also believed to trigger axonal degeneration of transcallosal fibers in a metachromatic leukodystrophy-like mechanism, consequently Marchiafava-Bignami disease (MBD). On pathology, ammonemia causes Alzheimer type II astrocytes and spongiform gray matter, which cause acquired chronic hepatocerebral degeneration (ACHD) symptoms. In addition, ammonemia causes a decrease in intracerebral myoinositol, which makes brain cells, especially astrocytes, sensitive to external osmotic pressure changes, resulting in osmotic demyelinating syndrome of central pontine or extrapontine types depending on the anatomical location. Since abnormalities in ion influx eventually lead to edema and death of nerve cells, metronidazole encephalopathy occurs when drugs such as metronidazole are used in these vulnerable patients. GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; DWI, diffusion-weighted imaging; ADC, apparent diffusion coefficient.

lytes such as potassium but also low-molecular-weight organic osmolytes including mIns and Cho [22]. The decreased mIns contributing to ion flux may serve as an organic osmolyte and plays a more important role in the volume regulation of astrocytes than intracellular electrolytes in such situations [23]. During hyperglycemia in unmanaged diabetes and ethanol intoxication, extracellular osmolality may increase despite normal or decreased extracellular Na<sup>+</sup> concentrations. Astrocyte swelling may not be visible until compensatory osmoregulatory mechanisms, such as loss of intracellular osmolytes, disappear. For this reason, there were cases in which Na<sup>+</sup> concentration changes related to central pontine myelinolysis (CPM) could not be found in the presence of metabolic diseases. Since the pons and lateral geniculate body appear to be the exclusive anatomical locations associated with osmotic demyelination syndrome, deep gray matter involvement is highly likely to result in the osmotic injury related to acquired chronic hepatocerebral degeneration (ACHD). This is expected to be revealed in a detailed study on whether extrapontine myelinolysis (EPM)/ CPM-like lesions occur in patients with ACHD and those with HE.

#### 2. Pathology

Pathologically, HE may be classified into portal-systemic encephalopathy (PSE) and HE in fulminant hepatic failure (FHF) [24]. PSE is a complication of portal-systemic shunting of venous blood, which can develop either spontaneously as a result of portal hypertension or after surgical intervention. Astrocytes, a type of neural cell, are most susceptible to the effects of liver failure [25]. Critical astrocytic proteins, such as the structural glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a cytoplasmic filamentous protein that makes up a significant portion of the cellular component in mature astrocytes, are downregulated when the brain is exposed to ammonia  $\begin{bmatrix} 26 \end{bmatrix}$ . Diminished GFAP expression causes morphological changes in astrocytes that favor extracellular space diffusivity. The presence of the astrocytic pathology known as Alzheimer type II astrocytosis, in which astrocytes acquire a characteristic swollen shape with a large pale nucleus, a prominent nucleolus, and margination of the chromatin, was shown in histopathologic studies of brain sections of patients with cirrhosis [27]. At autopsy, a subset of patients with hepatocerebral degeneration may have band-like or patchy central nervous system (CNS) myelin vacuolization that is not related to

myelin breakdown or macrophage influx. In nearby astrocytes, typical changes indicative of chronic liver failure were observed [25]. Neurologically, PSE develops slowly; the onset is often insidious starting with personality changes. ACHD occurred in patients with portocaval shunts or liver cirrhosis resulting from a number of causes, but not Wilson disease [25].

Unlike PSE, cytotoxic edema rather than vasogenic edema is visible in the brain tissue of FHF, according to electron microscopic studies [28]. Characteristically cytotoxic brain edema and especially swelling of astrocytes and astrocytic endfeet, among several brain cell types, have been most frequently observed in acute liver failure [28]. Mortality rates are higher in FHF than in PSE; brainstem herniation caused by increased intracranial pressure as a consequence of brain edema is the most common cause of death. In contrast to PSE, patients with FHF progress through states of altered mental capacity and confusion to stupor and coma within a few hours or days.

### 3. Neurotransmission

Impairment of neuronal communication in HE can result from changes in numerous neurotransmitter systems. High concentrations of ammonium ions have been shown to obstruct glutamatergic excitatory transmission. Increased serotonin turnover caused by chronic hyperammonemia may be the cause of the altered sleep patterns in HE [29]. Ammonia is also known to damage brain energy metabolism and blood flow autoregulation. Recent studies have shown that ammonia exposure causes cultured astrocytes to undergo a process known as mitochondrial permeability transition, which is linked to mitochondrial failure and subsequent cellular dysfunction and has similar mechanisms to those of Wernicke encephalopathy [30].

Acute liver failure results in altered expression of several genes in brain, some of which code for proteins such as the glucose (glucose transporter 1) and glutamate (glutamate transporter-1, GLT-1) transporters, the astrocytic structural protein GFAP the "peripheral-type" benzodiazepine receptor and the water channel protein, aquaporin IV. Loss of expression of GLT-1 results in increased extracellular brain glutamate [29]. In chronic liver dysfunction, reduced urea cycle activity causes astrocytes to increase synthesis of cerebral Gln.

# **Evolution of clinical staging**

### 1. Classic staging

There are several clinical classifications and a grading system for HE according to cause and severity. According to the underlying disease, HE is subclassified into type A (acute liver failure), type B

(bypass or shunt), and type C (cirrhosis). Type C HE is subcategorized into episodic (acute), recurrent, and persistent HE, depending on the time course. According to the existence of precipitating factors, episodic HE is subdivided into spontaneous (nonprecipitated), precipitated, or recurrent HE (when two episodes of episodic HE occur in 1 year). Precipitating factors can be identified in almost all cases of episodic hepatic type C [31]. Based on the clinical severity from subclinical alterations to severe coma or death, HE may be subclassified by West Haven Criteria (WHC) into grades 0 to IV[32]. To overcome the limited interobserver reliability of the criteria, the International Society for Hepatic Encephalopathy and Nitrogen Metabolism classification was proposed. Patients with minimal HE and WHC grade I would be classified as having covert HE. Other patients with WHC grades II to IV would be classified as having overt HE, a counterpart of covert HE [33].

#### 2. Acute-on-chronic liver failure

Acutely decompensated cirrhosis and ACLF share two important clinical features: known CLD with acute decompensation. ACLF, a term proposed by Jalan and Williams [34], originated from studies that revealed a syndrome related to a high risk of short-term death (death < 4 weeks after admission) in patients with acutely decompensated cirrhosis. Three major clinical features of ACLF are intense systemic inflammation, frequent association with proinflammatory precipitating events (such as infections or alcoholic hepatitis), and single- or multi-extrahepatic organ failure (e.g., function of kidney, brain, blood coagulation, circulation, and respiration) (Fig. 6) [35,36].

# Uncertain differential diagnoses

### 1. Osmotic demyelination

A few cases of HE show T2 or diffusion high signal intensities of basal ganglia mimicking EPM, or uremic encephalopathy (Fig. 7). HE shares common clinical features with other metabolic diseases such as osmotic demyelination or uremic encephalopathy. There are two possible explanations for the symmetric and synchronous involvement of deep gray matter. One is the concept of ACHD and the other is EPM [37].

As a CPM, a symmetrical solitary, midline lesion in the basis pontis with myelin breakdown, macrophage influx, relative preservation of axis cylinders, and minimal inflammatory response was first described in 1959 as a "hitherto undescribed disease" [38]. CPM is regarded as a disease occurring in alcoholic and malnourished patients with chronic renal failure or hepatocellular dysfunction [39]. In 58 autopsy cases of CPM, EPM was observed more



**Fig. 6.** Clinical manifestation of hepatic encephalopathy. In both chronic liver disease and liver cirrhosis, residual liver function declines over time. Acute decompensation episodes occur recurrently due to the existence of precipitating factors. In the period of precirrhotic disease, reversible metabolic encephalopathy shows good prognosis due to full recovery after a temporary decrease in liver function. As residual liver function gradually declines into compensatory cirrhosis, intracellular glutamine accumulation and deficiency of choline and myoinositol are observed. When an acute decompensation episode occurs from this period onward, returning liver function to its initial state is challenging. With disease progression, basal ganglia T1 hyperintensity related to manganese accumulation is observed, and after entering decompensated cirrhosis, white matter T2 hypersensitivity is observed on magnetic resonance imaging. Finally, this damages the cortex and induces signal changes in the cortex. If organ failure is accompanied by acute decompensation episodes, it can be clinically classified as acute-on-chronic liver failure (ACLF), with increased mortality with a number of organ failures. CPM, central pontine myelinolysis; EPM, extrapontine myelinolysis; NAA, *N*-acetylaspartate; MRS, magnetic resonance spectroscopy.

frequently than a solitary pontine lesion [40]. Through clinical and experimental studies, the onset of CPM and EPM was demonstrated to occur concomitantly with a rapid correction in hyponatremia and osmotic shift. Especially with chronic liver dysfunction, the decreased urea cycle activity causes astrocytes to increase synthesis of cerebral Gln and decrease mIns, which plays an important role in the regulation of astrocytic volume [37]. Therefore, the MRI signal intensity of deep gray matter in patients with HE can be viewed as sensitive to osmotic disease based on organic changes rather than simple osmotic demyelinating disease.

### 2. Deep gray matter and connectivity

142

Bilateral involvement of the dentate nucleus was initially thought to be specific to metronidazole encephalopathy (Fig. 8) [41]. However, many case reports of metronidazole encephalopathy reported synchronous involvement of the red nucleus and dentate nucleus [41], which are components of the Guillain-Mollaret triangle [42]. In addition, there may be bilateral T2 intensities in the

https://doi.org/10.12701/jyms.2022.00689

dentate nucleus in HE related to methyl bromide poisoning, enteroviral encephalomyelitis, and maple syrup urine disease [43-45]. Therefore, there is a limit to associating the cause of metabolic brain disease with the onset of specific anatomical lesions, and understanding the functional connection between various brain responses and toxic substances is necessary.

# Conclusion

We used this review to clarify the similarities and differences between HE and lesions belonging to other similar disease entities and to address the uncertainties surrounding their potentially overlapping features by scrutinizing the literature, especially the original descriptions of these entities. We hypothesized that disease progression with varying degrees of corpus callosum and deep cerebral gray matter involvement and the worsening of HE conceptually overlapped. However, EPM and ACHD are pathologically different. EPM may show severe demyelination and macrophage-me-


**Fig. 7.** A 52-year-old male with stuporous mentality. (A–D) Extensive involvement of deep gray matter, including globus pallidus (GP), striatum (Str), thalamus (Th), and dentate nucleus (DN) as well as involvement of white matter such as periventricular white matter (PVWM), corpus callosum (CC), internal capsule (IC), tegmentum (Tg), tectum (Tc), and pons, mimicking central pontine myelinolysis and extrapontine myelinolysis.



Fig. 8. A 52-year-old male with stuporous drowsy mentality. (A–D) Fluid-attenuated inversion recovery imaging shows reported synchronous involvement of red nucleus (arrow) and dentate nucleus (arrowhead) in a patient with metronidazole encephalopathy.

diated destruction, while ACHD shows band-shaped or speckled vacuolization of CNS myelin without demyelination or macrophage influx. Therefore, the neuropsychiatric abnormality of HE originates from a combination of several synergistic facilitating factors, and CLD induces a state sensitive to injury from osmotic imbalances or external toxic substances through changes in ACHD, resulting in brain lesions similar to those diseases, such as osmotic demyelination syndrome or toxic encephalopathy. To understand the pathophysiological mechanism of HE, multimodality MRI is a useful and practical research tool. It will also become increasingly vital in the early diagnosis, prognosis, and monitoring of HE.

## Notes

#### **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

### Funding

None.

### Author contributions

Conceptualization, Resources: all authors; Data curation: CGL, MHH; Formal analysis: CGL, HJL; Investigation, Software, Vali-

dation: MHH; Supervision: HJL; Writing-original draft: CGL, MHH; Writing-review & editing: HJL.

### ORCID

Chun Geun Lim, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5876-659X Myong Hun Hahm, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9165-6117 Hui Joong Lee, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1279-3795

## References

- 1. Hazell AS, Butterworth RF. Hepatic encephalopathy: an update of pathophysiologic mechanisms. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1999;222:99–112.
- 2. Sherlock S. Hepatic encephalopathy. Br J Hosp Med 1977;17: 144-6, 151-4, 159.
- 3. Inoue E, Hori S, Narumi Y, Fujita M, Kuriyama K, Kadota T, et al. Portal-systemic encephalopathy: presence of basal ganglia lesions with high signal intensity on MR images. Radiology 1991;179:551–5.
- 4. Syh HW, Chu WK, Mar N, McConnell JR. An image analysis on MR imaging of the brain for hepatic encephalopathy. Biomed Sci Instrum 1991;27:29–33.
- Zeneroli ML, Cioni G, Crisi G, Vezzelli C, Ventura E. Globus pallidus alterations and brain atrophy in liver cirrhosis patients with encephalopathy: an MR imaging study. Magn Reson Imaging 1991;9:295–302.
- 6. Zerón HM, Rodríguez MR, Montes S, Castañeda CR. Blood manganese levels in patients with hepatic encephalopathy. J Trace Elem Med Biol 2011;25:225–9.
- Pujol A, Pujol J, Graus F, Rimola A, Peri J, Mercader JM, et al. Hyperintense globus pallidus on T1-weighted MRI in cirrhotic patients is associated with severity of liver failure. Neurology 1993;43:65–9.
- 8. Krieger D, Krieger S, Jansen O, Gass P, Theilmann L, Lichtnecker H. Manganese and chronic hepatic encephalopathy. Lancet 1995;346:270–4.
- **9.** Lee DH, Lee HJ, Hahm MH. The pallidal index in patients with acute-on-chronic liver disease: is it a predictor of severe hepatic encephalopathy? Investig Magn Reson Imaging 2017;21:125–30.
- Rovira A, Córdoba J, Sanpedro F, Grivé E, Rovira-Gols A, Alonso J. Normalization of T2 signal abnormalities in hemispheric white matter with liver transplant. Neurology 2002;59:335–41.
- 11. Gabriel S, Grossmann A, Höppner J, Benecke R, Rolfs A. Marchiafava-Bignami syndrome: extrapontine myelinolysis in chronic alcoholism. Nervenarzt 1999;70:349–56.
- 12. Alvarez-Leal M, Contreras-Hernández D, Chávez A, Diaz-Con-

treras JA, Careaga-Olivares J, Zúñiga-Charles MA, et al. Leukocyte arylsulfatase A activity in patients with alcohol-related cirrhosis. Am J Hum Biol 2001;13:297–300.

- 13. Rovira A, Alonso J, Córdoba J. MR imaging findings in hepatic encephalopathy. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2008;29:1612–21.
- Arnold SM, Els T, Spreer J, Schumacher M. Acute hepatic encephalopathy with diffuse cortical lesions. Neuroradiology 2001;43:551–4.
- 15. Matsusue E, Kinoshita T, Ohama E, Ogawa T. Cerebral cortical and white matter lesions in chronic hepatic encephalopathy: MR-pathologic correlations. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2005; 26:347–51.
- 16. Kreis R, Ross BD, Farrow NA, Ackerman Z. Metabolic disorders of the brain in chronic hepatic encephalopathy detected with H-1 MR spectroscopy. Radiology 1992;182:19–27.
- Binesh N, Huda A, Thomas MA, Wyckoff N, Bugbee M, Han S, et al. Hepatic encephalopathy: a neurochemical, neuroanatomical, and neuropsychological study. J Appl Clin Med Phys 2006; 7:86–96.
- 18. Binesh N, Huda A, Bugbee M, Gupta R, Rasgon N, Kumar A, et al. Adding another spectral dimension to 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy of hepatic encephalopathy. J Magn Reson Imaging 2005;21:398–405.
- 19. Taylor-Robinson SD, Sargentoni J, Oatridge A, Bryant DJ, Hajnal JV, Marcus CD, et al. MR imaging and spectroscopy of the basal ganglia in chronic liver disease: correlation of T1-weighted contrast measurements with abnormalities in proton and phosphorus-31 MR spectra. Metab Brain Dis 1996;11:249–68.
- 20. Butterworth R. Neuronal cell death in hepatic encephalopathy. Metab Brain Dis 2007;22:309–20.
- Norenberg MD, Bender AS. Astrocyte swelling in liver failure: role of glutamine and benzodiazepines. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien) 1994;60:24–7.
- 22. Kril JJ, Butterworth RF. Diencephalic and cerebellar pathology in alcoholic and nonalcoholic patients with end-stage liver disease. Hepatology 1997;26:837–41.
- 23. Kreis R, Farrow N, Ross BD. Localized 1H NMR spectroscopy in patients with chronic hepatic encephalopathy: analysis of changes in cerebral glutamine, choline and inositols. NMR Biomed 1991;4:109–16.
- 24. Romero-Gómez M, Montagnese S, Jalan R. Hepatic encephalopathy in patients with acute decompensation of cirrhosis and acute-on-chronic liver failure. J Hepatol 2015;62:437–47.
- 25. Victor M, Adams RD, Cole M. The acquired (non-Wilsonian) type of chronic hepatocerebral degeneration. Medicine (Baltimore) 1965;44:345–96.
- 26. Sobel RA, DeArmond SJ, Forno LS, Eng LF. Glial fibrillary

acidic protein in hepatic encephalopathy: an immunohistochemical study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1981;40:625–32.

- 27. Butterworth RF, Giguère JF, Michaud J, Lavoie J, Layrargues GP. Ammonia: key factor in the pathogenesis of hepatic encephalopathy. Neurochem Pathol 1987;6:1–12.
- Kato M, Hughes RD, Keays RT, Williams R. Electron microscopic study of brain capillaries in cerebral edema from fulminant hepatic failure. Hepatology 1992;15:1060–6.
- **29.** Desjardins P, Bélanger M, Butterworth RF. Alterations in expression of genes coding for key astrocytic proteins in acute liver failure. J Neurosci Res 2001;66:967–71.
- 30. Rama Rao KV, Chen M, Simard JM, Norenberg MD. Suppression of ammonia-induced astrocyte swelling by cyclosporin A. J Neurosci Res 2003;74:891–7.
- 31. Ferenci P, Lockwood A, Mullen K, Tarter R, Weissenborn K, Blei AT. Hepatic encephalopathy--definition, nomenclature, diagnosis, and quantification: final report of the working party at the 11th World Congresses of Gastroenterology, Vienna, 1998. Hepatology 2002;35:716–21.
- 32. Ridola L, Faccioli J, Nardelli S, Gioia S, Riggio O. Hepatic encephalopathy: diagnosis and management. J Transl Int Med 2020;8:210–9.
- Häussinger D, Schliess F, Kircheis G. Pathogenesis of hepatic encephalopathy. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002;17(Suppl 3):S256–9.
- Jalan R, Williams R. Acute-on-chronic liver failure: pathophysiological basis of therapeutic options. Blood Purif 2002;20:252– 61.
- **35.** Moreau R, Jalan R, Gines P, Pavesi M, Angeli P, Cordoba J, et al. Acute-on-chronic liver failure is a distinct syndrome that develops in patients with acute decompensation of cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2013;144:1426–37.

- Arroyo V, Moreau R, Jalan R. Acute-on-chronic liver failure. N Engl J Med 2020;382:2137–45.
- 37. Kleinschmidt-DeMasters BK, Filley CM, Rojiani AM. Overlapping features of extrapontine myelinolysis and acquired chronic (non-Wilsonian) hepatocerebral degeneration. Acta Neuropathol 2006;112:605–16.
- 38. Adams RD, Victor M, Mancall EL. Central pontine myelinolysis: a hitherto undescribed disease occurring in alcoholic and malnourished patients. AMA Arch Neurol Psychiatry 1959;81: 154–72.
- Ho VB, Fitz CR, Yoder CC, Geyer CA. Resolving MR features in osmotic myelinolysis (central pontine and extrapontine myelinolysis). AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 1993;14:163–7.
- **40.** Gocht A, Colmant HJ. Central pontine and extrapontine myelinolysis: a report of 58 cases. Clin Neuropathol 1987;6:262–70.
- 41. Kim E, Na DG, Kim EY, Kim JH, Son KR, Chang KH. MR imaging of metronidazole-induced encephalopathy: lesion distribution and diffusion-weighted imaging findings. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2007;28:1652–8.
- **42.** Behzadi F, Fiester PJ, Rao D. Bilateral hypertrophic olivary degeneration following brainstem insult: a retrospective review and examination of causative pathology. Neurosci Insights 2021;16:26331055211007445.
- 43. Jang S, Suh SI, Ha SM, Byeon JH, Eun BL, Lee YH, et al. Enterovirus 71-related encephalomyelitis: usual and unusual magnetic resonance imaging findings. Neuroradiology 2012;54:239–45.
- 44. Di Rocco M, Biancheri R, Rossi A, Allegri AE, Vecchi V, Tortori-Donati P. MRI in acute intermittent maple syrup urine disease. Neurology 2004;63:1078.
- 45. Geyer HL, Schaumburg HH, Herskovitz S. Methyl bromide intoxication causes reversible symmetric brainstem and cerebellar MRI lesions. Neurology 2005;64:1279–81.

## **Original article**



# Association of advanced chronic kidney disease with diabetic retinopathy severity in older patients with diabetes: a retrospective cross-sectional study

Geun Woo Lee<sup>1</sup>, Chul Ho Lee<sup>2</sup>, Seong Gyu Kim<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Ophthalmology, Daegu Catholic University School of Medicine, Daegu, Korea <sup>2</sup>Department of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Daegu Catholic University School of Medicine, Daegu, Korea <sup>3</sup>Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine, Daegu Catholic University School of Medicine, Daegu, Korea

**Background:** Despite the recent increasing trend in the prevalence of type 2 diabetes among older individuals, the relationship between diabetic retinopathy (DR) and chronic kidney disease (CKD) in these patients remains unclear. This study investigated the severity of renal dysfunction according to the degree of DR in older patients with type 2 diabetes.

**Methods:** A total of 116 patients with diabetes and CKD stage  $\geq$  3 who visited both the nephrology and ophthalmology outpatient departments between July 2021 and January 2022 were screened. There were 53 patients in the no DR group, 20 in the nonproliferative DR (NPDR) group, and 43 in the proliferative DR (PDR) group.

**Results:** DR severity was related to the deterioration of renal function. The proportion of patients with advanced CKD significantly increased with DR severity (*p* for trend <0.001). In the multivariate regression model adjusted for age of  $\ge$  80 years, male sex, poorly controlled diabetes, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, diabetes duration of  $\ge$  10 years, cerebrovascular accident, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and cardiovascular disease history, the odds ratio compared with the no DR group was approximately 4.6 for the NPDR group and approximately 11.8 for the PDR group, which were both statistically significant (*p*=0.025 and *p*<0.001, respectively).

**Conclusion:** DR severity in older patients with diabetes may be associated with deterioration of renal function and high prevalence of advanced CKD. Therefore, periodic examination for DR in older patients with diabetes is important for predicting renal function deterioration and CKD progression.

Keywords: Aged; Chronic renal insufficiency; Diabetes mellitus; Diabetic retinopathy

## Introduction

Diabetic nephropathy and diabetic retinopathy (DR) are major microvascular complications of diabetes mellitus (DM) with a similar pathogenesis. They also share risk factors such as smoking, poorly controlled blood glucose levels, hypertension (HTN), and hyperlipidemia [1,2]. As a microvascular complication of type 1 DM, the correlation between DR and chronic kidney disease (CKD) has been well established; however, in type 2 DM, the correlation between these two conditions remains relatively unclear [3,4].

Meanwhile, with global increases in life expectancy and long-

Corresponding author: Seong Gyu Kim, MD

Department of Internal Medicine, Daegu Catholic University School of Medicine, 33 Duryugongwon-ro 17-gil, Nam-gu, Daegu 42472, Korea Tel: +82-53-650-4275 • Fax: +82-53-623-7507 • E-mail: ksgnephro@cu.ac.kr

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Received: March 21, 2022 • Revised: April 22, 2022 • Accepted: April 29, 2022

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

term exposure to metabolic risk factors, there has been a rapid increase in the prevalence of DM among older adults [5,6]. The global prevalence of type 2 DM in this population was reported to be approximately 22% in 2017 [5]. Korea is also an aging society, and a survey conducted from 2016 to 2018 reported a DM prevalence of approximately 28% among individuals aged > 65 years, which is higher than the global average [7]. Furthermore, aging itself is associated with the pathogenesis of DM owing to a decrease in pancreatic beta cell function and impaired regulation of various hormones [8].

Despite the recent increasing trend in the prevalence of DM among older individuals, the relationship between DR and CKD in older patients with DM is still uncertain. A recent large cohort study indicated that the severity of DR is also related to CKD progression [9]. However, these large-scale studies were not conducted exclusively in older patients with DM. Therefore, to confirm the relationship between DR and CKD in this subpopulation, a follow-up analysis of older individuals in a large-scale study or additional studies tailored to those greater than a cutoff age are needed. The present study was conducted to investigate renal function and the proportion of advanced CKD cases with respect to the degree of DR in older patients with DM. The present study also examined whether there are additional factors influencing the relationship between advanced CKD and the degree of DR, and in particular, whether the degree of DR and proteinuria have an additive effect on advanced CKD.

## Methods

**Ethical statements:** This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Daegu Catholic University Hospital (IRB No: CR-22-022) with an exemption from informed consent. Personal data related to patient information were used and personally identifiable information was protected. This was a retrospective cross-sectional study that did not include personally identifiable information. All study methods were performed in compliance with relevant guidelines and regulations.

### 1. Study design

A total of 272 patients with DM and CKD stage  $\geq$  3 who visited both the nephrology and ophthalmology outpatient departments from July 2021 to January 2022 were screened. Patients with a follow-up period of fewer than 6 months and those who were not screened periodically were excluded. Patients aged < 60 years and those with overt or past cancer, autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD), or solid organ transplantation were also excluded. The World Health Organization has defined old age as  $\geq 60$  years [10]. In this study, an older patient was considered at least 60 years old; therefore, the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the study were established. Laboratory test results, such as those assessing renal function and albuminuria, were examined in all patients who met the inclusion criteria. Patients were also evaluated for DR by dilated fundus examination with wide-field fundus photography.

Basic patient information, including age, sex, insulin use, DM duration, HTN, hyperlipidemia, past cerebrovascular accident (CVA), and history of cardiovascular disease (CVD), was collected through an electronic chart review. CVD was clarified as myocardial infarction (MI), acute coronary syndrome (ACS), congestive heart failure (CHF), arrhythmia, or valvular heart disease (VHD). CVD history was diagnosed by a cardiologist. If echocardiography was performed within 6 months, relevant reports were reviewed. Data pertaining to creatinine (Cr), glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), cholesterol, and serum albumin levels and random urine albumin-Cr ratio were collected from laboratory tests. Albuminuria included both microalbuminuria (30 mg/g Cr  $\leq$  random urine albumin-Cr ratio < 300 mg/g Cr) and macroalbuminuria (random urine albumin-Cr ratio of  $\geq$  300 mg/g Cr).

We compared renal function and the distribution of CKD stages according to the degree of DR. Cr levels and the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) were used to compare renal function. eGFR was calculated using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation [11]. CKD stage was defined according to the CKD Evaluation and Management criteria reported in 2012 in the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) guidelines. Moreover, we investigated whether there were risk factors for advanced CKD, including the degree of DR. Advanced CKD was defined as CKD stages 4 and 5. To analyze the impact of DR on the prevalence of advanced CKD, we used several factors, such as very old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq 10$ years, history of CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, CVD, MI, ACS, CHF, arrhythmia, and history of VHD. In previous research, including the 2018 European Society of Cardiology/European Society of Hypertension (ESC/ESH) blood pressure guidelines, age of  $\geq$  80 years was defined as very old, and we adopted this definition in our study [12]. Although the definition of poorly controlled DM differs among studies, we defined it as an HbA1c level of  $\geq$  8% in our study.

#### 2. Fundus examination

Patients who visited the ophthalmology department underwent

wide fundus photography and fundus examination after pupil dilation. Fluorescein angiography was performed on all patients suspected of having a new vessel in the fundus examination to distinguish proliferative DR (PDR) from severe nonproliferative DR (NPDR). No DR, NPDR, and PDR were classified according to the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study severity scale, and all patients who had undergone panretinal photocoagulation or pars plana vitrectomy for treatment of PDR were included in the PDR group [13,14]. In this examination, even if one eye was normal and the contralateral eye was diagnosed with NPDR, the patient was included in the NPDR group. If only one eye was diagnosed with PDR, the patient was included in the PDR group.

#### 3. Statistical analysis

The three groups classified according to the degree of DR were compared using independent two-sample *t*-tests or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for continuous variables and chi-square or Fisher exact tests for nominal variables. Bonferroni and Tukey methods were used for post-hoc analysis of one-way ANOVA results. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis was used to confirm the cutoff value of renal function for NPDR or PDR. The cutoff value was defined as the value that maximized the sensitivity and specificity of the ROC curve (Youden index). The trend in the proportion of advanced CKD according to the degree of DR was analyzed using a linear-by-linear association. The forward conditional method and binary logistic regression analysis were used to select variables regarding risk factors to compare advanced CKD among the three groups. Very old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, past CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, CVD, MI, ACS, CHF, arrhythmia, and history of VHD were considered confounding variables in the multivariate analysis. As mentioned in the introduction, these confounding factors are widely known risk factors for diabetic nephropathy [1,2]. In the next section, we present the results of multivariate binary logistic regression using the three models. CVD is a broad term for many diseases, including MI, ACS, CHF, arrhythmia, and VHD; when CVD was used for adjustment, the individual diseases were not considered confounding factors. Even when individual CVD diseases were used as confounding factors, regression analysis was not performed by selecting duplicates because MI is a subset of ACS. In addition, a hierarchical regression analysis was conducted using Baron and Kenny method for mediation to analyze the interaction between the degree of DR and level of proteinuria in advanced CKD [15]. The level of statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS version 19.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA).

## Results

#### 1. Basic characteristics

Of the 272 patients, 33 who had a follow-up period of fewer than 6 months or for whom serial laboratory tests were not performed were excluded. Of the remaining 239 patients, 81 aged < 60 years, 14 with cancer, three with ADPKD, 15 who received liver transplantation, and 10 who received kidney transplantation were excluded, and 116 patients were finally analyzed. Based on the degree of DR, these 116 patients were classified into the no DR group (53 patients), NPDR group (20 patients), and PDR group (43 patients) (Fig. 1).

The basic characteristics of the patients included in this study are summarized in Table 1. No significant difference was observed in age and sex among the three groups classified according to the degree of DR. A significant difference was detected in the serum albumin concentration between the no DR and PDR groups. However, the respective mean levels were 4.10 and 3.95 g/dL, which were higher than the standard hypoalbuminemia cutoff level of 3.5 g/dL. The prevalence of albuminuria was significantly higher in the PDR group than in the other two groups. In particular, the prevalence of macroalbuminuria was significantly higher in the PDR group than in the other two groups, whereas that of microalbuminuria was not statistically different. Insulin use was significantly higher in the NPDR and PDR groups than in the no DR group. The NPDR group showed the highest rate, but no significant difference was observed between the NPDR and PDR groups. The duration of DM was longer in the NPDR and PDR



**Fig. 1.** Distribution of patients included in this study. DM, diabetes mellitus; CKD, chronic kidney disease; ADPKD, autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease; DR, diabetic retinopathy; NPDR, nonproliferative DR; PDR, proliferative DR.

Characteristic				<i>p</i> -value			
Characteristic	NO DA gloup	NFDK group	r Dh gioup	No DR vs. NPDR	No DR vs. PDR	NPDR vs. PDR	
No. of patients	53	20	43				
Age (yr)	71.62±8.743	70.65±8.887	68.95±8.679	0.906	0.301	0.754	
Very old age <sup>a)</sup>	12 (22.6)	5 (25.0)	7 (16.3)	>0.999	0.437	0.496	
Male sex	23 (43.4)	11 (55.0)	15 (34.9)	0.375	0.396	0.131	
HbA1c (%)	7.281±1.343	$7.660 \pm 1.515$	7.781 ± 1.934	0.645	0.290	0.958	
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	147.360±40.484	151.150±28.722	147.910±38.531	0.924	0.997	0.947	
Serum albumin (g/dL)	$4.098 \pm 0.459$	4.000±0.511	3.851±0.473	0.710	0.033	0.478	
Albuminuria <sup>b)</sup>	26 (49.1)	14 (70.0)	40 (93.0)	0.109	< 0.001	0.023	
Microalbuminuria <sup>c)</sup>	3 (5.7)	2 (10.0)	3 (7.0)	0.177	< 0.001	0.012	
Macroalbuminuria <sup>d)</sup>	23 (43.4)	12 (60.0)	37 (86.0)	0.177	< 0.001	0.012	
Insulin use	11 (20.8)	17 (85.0)	19 (44.2)	< 0.001	0.014	0.002	
DM duration (yr)	13.496±7.726	17.810±8.644	$20.230 \pm 8.320$	0.110	< 0.001	0.514	
Hypertension	39 (73.6)	18 (90.0)	36 (83.7)	0.205	0.232	0.706	
Hyperlipidemia	39 (73.6)	18 (90.0)	24 (55.8)	0.205	0.068	0.007	
Past CVA	5 (9.4)	6 (30.0)	12 (27.9)	0.060	0.018	0.864	
CVD	30 (56.6)	10 (50.0)	14 (32.6)	0.613	0.019	0.185	
MI	6 (11.3)	6 (30.0)	4 (9.3)	0.077	> 0.999	0.061	
ACS	14 (26.4)	6 (30.0)	6 (14.0)	0.759	0.135	0.172	
CHF	24 (45.3)	10 (50.0)	9 (20.9)	0.719	0.012	0.019	
Arrhythmia	9 (17.0)	2 (10.0)	4 (9.3)	0.716	0.274	>0.999	
VHD	2 (3.8)	2 (10.0)	4 (9.3)	0.301	0.403	>0.999	
CABG history	5 (9.4)	0 (0)	2 (4.7)	0.314	0.454	>0.999	

Table 1. Basic characteristics of the three groups classified according to the degree of DR

Values are expressed as number only, mean ± standard deviation, and number (%).

DR, diabetic retinopathy; NPDR, nonproliferative DR; PDR, proliferative DR; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin; DM, diabetes mellitus; CVA, cerebrovascular accident; CVD, cardiovascular disease; MI, myocardial infarction; ACS, acute coronary syndrome; CHF, congestive heart failure; VHD, valvular heart disease; CABG, coronary artery bypass graft surgery.

<sup>a)</sup>  $\geq$  80 years. <sup>b)</sup>Albuminuria includes both microalbuminuria and macroalbuminuria. <sup>c)</sup>Microalbuminuria is defined as 30 mg/g Cr  $\leq$  random urine albumin-creatinine ratio < 300 mg/g Cr. <sup>d)</sup>Macroalbuminuria is defined as random urine albumin-creatinine ratio of  $\geq$  300 mg/g Cr.

groups than in the no DR group, but the difference was significant only between the no DR and PDR groups. Past CVA incidence was significantly higher in the PDR group than in the no DR group.

# 2. Comparison of renal function according to degree of diabetic retinopathy

In the comparison of renal function among the three groups, the mean serum Cr level was 2.13 mg/dL in the no DR group, 3.19 mg/dL in the NPDR group, and 3.71 mg/dL in the PDR group. With the severity of DR, the mean serum Cr level tended to be higher, and it was significantly higher in the NPDR and PDR groups than in the no DR group. Among the three groups, the mean eGFR was 34.0 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> in the no DR group, 24.5 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> in the NPDR group. Corresponding to the trend in serum Cr levels, the mean eGFR decreased with the severity of DR, and a significant difference was observed when comparing the NPDR and

PDR groups to the no DR group. However, no significant difference was observed in the mean eGFR between the NPDR and PDR groups (Fig. 2).

## 3. Cutoff value of renal function to predict comorbidities of nonproliferative and proliferative diabetic retinopathies

In the ROC curve analysis of renal function for NPDR, the area under the curve (AUC) was statistically significant at 0.732 for Cr level and 0.716 for eGFR (p = 0.002 for Cr and p = 0.005 for eGFR). The cutoff value of Cr and eGFR predicting NPDR were 2.25 mg/dL and 27.41 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, respectively, and the sensitivity and specificity for NPDR were 70.0% and 71.7%, respectively, at a Cr level of 2.25 mg/dL and 70.0% and 73.6%, respectively, at an eGFR of 27.41 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. In the ROC curve analysis of renal function for PDR, the AUC was 0.771 for Cr level and 0.769 for eGFR, and the cutoff values were 2.65 mg/ dL and 21.27 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> for Cr and eGFR, respectively. The sensitivity and specificity for predicting PDR were 79.1% and



**Fig. 2.** Comparison of renal function according to the degree of DR in older patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. As the degree of DR progresses, the mean Cr level increases and the mean eGFR tends to decrease. However, in the *post-hoc* analysis, there is a significant difference only between the no DR and NPDR groups and between the no DR and PDR groups. Meanwhile, in the Spearman correlation analysis, Cr level and eGFR show positive and negative correlations with the degree of DR, respectively. (A) Comparison of Cr according to the degree of DR. (B) Comparison of eGFR according to the degree of DR. Cr, creatinine; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; DR, diabetic retinopathy; NPDR, nonproliferative DR; PDR, proliferative DR.

26.0%, respectively, at a Cr level of 2.65 mg/dL and 72.1% and 75.3%, respectively, at an eGFR of  $21.27 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$  (Fig. 3).

## 4. Comparison of the distribution of chronic kidney disease stages and proportion of advanced chronic kidney disease cases

Regarding the distribution of CKD stages  $\geq$  3 in the no DR group, 64.2%, 30.2%, and 5.7% of patients were categorized as stages 3, 4, and 5, respectively, with the proportions being statistically significantly different between CKD stages 3 and 5. The distribution of CKD stages in the PDR group was as follows: CKD stage 3, 14.0%; CKD stage 4, 44.2%; and CKD stage 5, 41.8%. A statistically significant difference was detected between CKD stages 3 and 5 in the PDR group, as observed in the no DR group. When the trend in the proportion of advanced CKD was analyzed according to DR severity via linear-by-linear association, the proportion of advanced CKD was found to significantly increase with the severity of DR (*p* for trend < 0.001) (Fig. 4).

## 5. Association between diabetic retinopathy degree and proportion of advanced chronic kidney disease

In the univariate binary logistic regression analysis, the proportion of patients with CKD stage  $\geq$  3 having advanced CKD was ap-

150 https://doi.org/10.12701/jyms.2022.00206

proximately 4.2 times higher in the NPDR group and approximately 11.0 times higher in the PDR group than in the no DR group, and both differences were statistically significant. Moreover, in the same analysis, the odds ratio for the advanced CKD proportion was approximately 4.4 for macroalbuminuria, 5.5 for DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, 3.0 for HTN, 5.5 for MI, and 2.3 for CHF. These results were found to be statistically significant. These results of the univariate binary logistic regression analysis of the proportion of patients with advanced CKD are summarized in Table 2.

Even in the multivariate binary logistic regression analysis, the odds ratio for advanced CKD proportion was higher than that in the no DR group as the degree of DR progressed, even after adjusting for various factors. Multivariate regression model 1 was adjusted for the following factors: very old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, past CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, and history of CVD. The odds ratio compared with the no PDR group was approximately 4.6 for the NPDR group and approximately 11.8 for the PDR group, and both differences were statistically significant. Next, multivariate regression model 2 was adjusted for the following factors: old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroproteinuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, past CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, MI, CHF, arrhythmia, and history of VHD. The odds ratio com-



**Fig. 3.** ROC curves of renal function for NPDR and PDR in older patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM). The degree of renal function deterioration in older patients with type 2 DM may be helpful in predicting the presence of NPDR or PDR. (A) ROC curve of Cr level for NPDR. (B) ROC curve of eGFR for NPDR. (C) ROC curve of Cr level for PDR. (D) ROC curve of eGFR for PDR. AUC, area under the curve; Cl, confidence interval; ROC, receiver operating characteristic; Cr, creatinine; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; NPDR, nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy; PDR, proliferative diabetic retinopathy.

pared with the no PDR group was approximately 9.4 for the NPDR group and approximately 25.7 for the PDR group, and both differences were statistically significant. Finally, multivariate regression model 3 was adjusted for the following factors: old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroproteinuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, past CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, ACS, CHF, arrhythmia, and history of VHD. The odds ratio compared with the no PDR group was approximately 5.5 for the

NPDR group and approximately 20.2 for the PDR group, and both differences were statistically significant. The results of the multivariate binary logistic regression analysis of the proportion of patients with advanced CKD are summarized in Table 3.

## Discussion

Previous studies have documented that the natural course of dia-



**Fig. 4.** Comparison of advanced CKD proportion according to the degree of DR among older patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM) and CKD stage  $\geq$  3. The proportion of advanced CKD cases among older patients with type 2 DM and CKD stage >3 increases significantly with the severity of DR. DR, diabetic retinopathy; NPDR, nonproliferative DR; PDR, proliferative DR; CKD, chronic kidney disease.

 Table 2. Univariate binary logistic regression analysis of advanced chronic kidney disease

) (a via la la	Univariate regression model					
variable	OR (95% Cl)	<i>p</i> -value				
No DR	Reference					
NPDR	4.175 (1.377–12.657)	0.012				
PDR	11.035 (3.943–30.885)	< 0.001				
Very old age <sup>a)</sup>	2.308 (0.809-6.347)	0.105				
Male sex	0.591 (0.278–1.256)	0.172				
HbA1c ≥8%	1.500 (0.671–3.353)	0.323				
Macroalbuminuria <sup>b)</sup>	4.430 (1.987–9.878)	< 0.001				
Insulin use	1.740 (0.802–3.779)	0.161				
DM duration $\geq$ 10 yr	5.454 (2.127–13.984)	< 0.001				
Hypertension	2.965 (1.158–7.594)	0.023				
Hyperlipidemia	0.721 (0.316–1.647)	0.438				
Past CVA	1.295 (0.500–3.358)	0.594				
CVD	1.421 (0.671–3.011)	0.359				
MI	5.500 (1.187–25.484)	0.029				
ACS	2.667 (0.978–7.268)	0.055				
CHF	2.252 (1.002–5.061)	0.049				
Arrhythmia	1.357 (0.435–4.293)	0.593				
VHD	1.103 (0.250–4.855)	0.897				
CABG history	1.692 (0.314–9.115)	0.540				

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; DR, diabetic retinopathy; NPDR, nonproliferative DR; PDR, proliferative DR; DM, diabetes mellitus; CVA, cerebrovascular accident; CVD, cardiovascular disease; MI, myocardial infarction; ACS, acute coronary syndrome; CHF, congestive heart failure; VHD, valvular heart disease; CABG, coronary artery bypass graft surgery. <sup>a)</sup>  $\geq$  80 years. <sup>b)</sup>Macroalbuminuria is defined as a random urine albumin-creatinine ratio of  $\geq$  300 mg/g Cr. betic nephropathy in most cases of type 1 DM is consistent and typical [16-20]. In type 1 DM that is not appropriately treated, microalbuminuria commonly appears 10 to 15 years after disease onset and overt proteinuria appears 20 years after disease onset, resulting in a decrease in glomerular filtration rate [16]. Furthermore, the natural course of DR in type 1 DM occurs in approximately half of patients 7 years after disease onset. It has also been reported that DR precedes diabetic nephropathy in most cases [21,22].

In contrast, in type 2 DM, the natural course of diabetic nephropathy is atypical and inconsistent; therefore, it is common to have a varied range of proteinuria at the time of diagnosis [17,23]. Moreover, it is controversial whether DR precedes diabetic nephropathy in type 2 DM, and in some reports, diabetic nephropathy was confirmed by renal biopsy, even in the absence of DR [24,25]. In previous large cohort studies, the overall prevalence of diabetic nephropathy in patients with type 2 DM was reported to be approximately 17% to 58% [26,27]. In particular, a multinational multicenter cohort study indicated that the prevalence of diabetic nephropathy in patients with type 2 DM tended to be higher in Asia than in Europe, and in Korea, it was 58%, the highest prevalence in Asia [27]. Furthermore, it is important to consider the significantly higher prevalence of type 2 DM than type 1 DM [5,28]. The Diabetes Prevalence Trend Report indicated that the global prevalence of DM is expected to increase from 8.4% in 2017 to 9.9% in 2045, with the prevalence of DM in older individuals reaching almost 20% as of 2017 [29]. Therefore, we focused on the correlations between various microvascular complications in older patients with type 2 DM.

In addition, studies have established that DR and diabetic nephropathy can act as risk factors for each other in patients with type 1 DM [3,18,30]. Relatively few studies have investigated the relationship between DR and diabetic nephropathy in type 2 DM, but there have been reports that the mutual effect of DR and diabetic nephropathy is small compared with that in type 1 DM [3,31,32]. El-Asrar et al. [32] reported that the risk of diabetic nephropathy was higher in patients with type 2 DM according to the severity of DR, but lower than the increased risk in patients with type 1 DM. Parving et al. [31] also reported that the rate of DR was higher in patients with overt proteinuria than in patients without proteinuria. In our study, the degree of DR was associated with deterioration of renal function in older patients with type 2 DM and CKD stage  $\geq$  3. Moreover, the proportion of patients with advanced CKD was significantly higher when the degree of DR was higher. These results are consistent with those of previous studies. Nevertheless, previous studies did not target older individuals exclusively or they set the exclusion criterion for age to  $\geq$  66 years;

Variable -	Multivariate regressio	n model 1	Multivariate regressio	n model 2	Multivariate regression model 3		
	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	
No DR	Reference		Reference		Reference		
NPDR	4.643 (1.211–17.792)	0.025	9.375 (1.514–58.048)	0.016	5.461 (1.313–22.718)	0.020	
PDR	11.479 (3.294–40.001)	< 0.001	25.668 (5.339–123.414)	< 0.001	20.228 (5.332–76.737)	< 0.001	

 Table 3. Multivariate binary logistic regression analysis of advanced chronic kidney disease

Multivariate regression model 1 is adjusted for the degree of DR, very old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, history of CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, and history of CVD. Multivariate regression model 2 is adjusted for the degree of DR, very old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, history of CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, and history of  $\geq$  10 years, history of CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, MI, CHF, arrhythmia, and history of VHD. Multivariate regression model 3 is adjusted for the degree of DR, very old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, history of CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, AI, CHF, arrhythmia, and history of VHD. Multivariate regression model 3 is adjusted for the degree of DR, very old age, male sex, poorly controlled DM, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, history of CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, ACS, CHF, arrhythmia, and history of VHD.

Poorly controlled DM is defined as an HbA1c level of  $\geq$  8.0%. Macroalbuminuria is defined as a random urine albumin-creatinine ratio of  $\geq$  300 mg/g Cr. OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; DR, diabetic retinopathy; NPDR, nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy; PDR, proliferative diabetic retinopathy; DM, diabetes mellitus; HTN, hypertension; CVA, cerebrovascular accident; CVD, cardiovascular disease; MI, myocardial infarction; CHF, congestive heart failure; VHD, valvular heart disease; ACS, acute coronary syndrome; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin.

therefore, these studies cannot explain the relationship between DR and diabetic nephropathy in older patients with type 2 DM. Our study was different from these previous studies, as we targeted older patients with type 2 DM aged  $\geq$  60 years.

Meanwhile, by analyzing 1,583 patients with CKD in the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC) Study, Grunwald et al. [9] reported that exacerbation of retinopathy was related to the severity of CKD. However, in their study, the mean age was 60 years, and there were 680 patients with DM (43.0%). Moreover, when only the patients with DM were analyzed, the exacerbation of retinopathy did not significantly affect CKD severity [9]. Although these results are inconsistent with our results, it may be essential to consider the age difference of subjects between the two studies and that their study included patients without DM. Hence, there is a need for larger, well-designed studies investigating the relationship between DR and CKD in older patients with type 2 DM in the future.

Finally, in the univariate regression analysis, we found that the degree of DR in older patients with type 2 DM was associated with a high proportion of advanced CKD cases. Interestingly, these effects were consistent even after adjusting for various factors such as very old age, sex, poorly controlled DM, macroalbuminuria, insulin use, DM duration of  $\geq$  10 years, and various underlying diseases such as past CVA, HTN, hyperlipidemia, and CVD. These are widely reported risk factors for diabetic nephropathy in several previous studies [1,2,33]. Our results suggest that DR is associated with a higher rate of advanced CKD as well as well-known risk factors in older patients with type 2 DM. It has been reported that the relationship between DR and diabetic nephropathy in patients with insulin-treated type 2 DM was similar to that in patients with type 1 DM [34,35]. Among our study participants, the rate of insulin use was 40.5%, and a higher insulin-use rate in patients with DR or advanced CKD might have affected the results of this study.

Recently, retinal vessels have been identified noninvasively in the ophthalmic field using optical coherence tomography angiography (OCTA). Studies have confirmed the relationship between retinal microvascular changes in DR and diabetic nephropathy. Cankurtaran et al. [36] reported that vessel densities in the superficial capillary plexus, whole disc, and peripapillary area were significantly different depending on the presence of diabetic albuminuria, even in the absence of DR. In other studies, patients with either type 1 or type 2 DM showed a decrease in the quantitative parameters identified by OCTA in diabetic nephropathy [37,38]. Although our study did not evaluate OCTA quantitative parameters and simply confirmed the relationship between DR severity and diabetic nephropathy, meaningful results can be expected if such OCTA parameters are used in the analysis in future studies.

This study has several limitations. First, a selection bias may have occurred. Since the participants were patients who presented at both the nephrology and ophthalmology departments at a tertiary medical institution, the basic characteristics of older patients with type 2 DM in the real world may be different, and there may be differences in treatment adherence. Second, owing to the retrospective cross-sectional study design, changes over time were not reflected. In particular, the rate of severity of DR or CKD can vary among people; therefore, even if they are classified in the same category cross-sectionally, their prognosis may vary over time. Therefore, retrospective or prospective longitudinal observational studies are required to evaluate follow-up changes. Third, this was a small-scale, single-institution study, and the results must be interpreted carefully considering the basic characteristics of the study.

In conclusion, the severity of DR in older patients with type 2 DM may be associated with deterioration of renal function and a higher proportion of advanced CKD. However, this study was small, and it is difficult to clearly elucidate the relationship between DR and CKD in older patients with DM. Therefore, larger, well-designed, longitudinal studies are needed in the future. Nevertheless, ophthalmology and renal function follow-up tests may be underestimated due to reduced mobility or lack of independence in older individuals; therefore, attention may be required to address this potential shortcoming.

## Notes

### **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

#### Funding

None.

### Author contributions

Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation: all authors; Data curation, Formal analysis, Project administration, Visualization, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation: GWL, SGK; Writing-original draft: GWL, SGK; Writing-review & editing: GWL, SGK.

#### ORCID

Geun Woo Lee, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8544-2929 Chul Ho Lee, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9139-0619 Seong Gyu Kim, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7900-7560

## References

- Klein R, Klein BE, Moss SE, Davis MD, DeMets DL. The Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy. III. Prevalence and risk of diabetic retinopathy when age at diagnosis is 30 or more years. Arch Ophthalmol 1984;102:527–32.
- Adler AI, Stevens RJ, Manley SE, Bilous RW, Cull CA, Holman RR, et al. Development and progression of nephropathy in type 2 diabetes: the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS 64). Kidney Int 2003;63:225–32.
- 3. Wolf G, Müller N, Mandecka A, Müller UA. Association of diabetic retinopathy and renal function in patients with types 1 and 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Nephrol 2007;68:81–6.
- 4. Penno G, Solini A, Zoppini G, Orsi E, Zerbini G, Trevisan R, et al. Rate and determinants of association between advanced retinopathy and chronic kidney disease in patients with type 2 diabetes: the Renal Insufficiency And Cardiovascular Events (RI-ACE) Italian multicenter study. Diabetes Care 2012;35:2317– 23.
- 5. Khan MA, Hashim MJ, King JK, Govender RD, Mustafa H, Al

Kaabi J. Epidemiology of type 2 diabetes: global burden of disease and forecasted trends. J Epidemiol Glob Health 2020; 10:107–11.

- **6.** Bellary S, Kyrou I, Brown JE, Bailey CJ. Type 2 diabetes mellitus in older adults: clinical considerations and management. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2021;17:534–48.
- 7. Jung CH, Son JW, Kang S, Kim WJ, Kim HS, Kim HS, et al. Diabetes fact sheets in Korea, 2020: an appraisal of current status. Diabetes Metab J 2021;45:1–10.
- **8.** Lee PG, Halter JB. The pathophysiology of hyperglycemia in older adults: clinical considerations. Diabetes Care 2017;40: 444–52.
- 9. Grunwald JE, Pistilli M, Ying GS, Daniel E, Maguire M, Xie D, et al. Association between progression of retinopathy and concurrent progression of kidney disease: findings from the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC) Study. JAMA Ophthalmol 2019;137:767–74.
- Beard JR, Officer A, de Carvalho IA, Sadana R, Pot AM, Michel JP, et al. The world report on ageing and health: a policy framework for healthy ageing. Lancet 2016;387:2145–54.
- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF 3rd, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med 2009;150:604–12.
- 12. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Agabiti Rosei E, Azizi M, Burnier M, et al. 2018 ESC/ESH guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens 2018;36:1953–2041.
- 13. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Grading diabetic retinopathy from stereoscopic color fundus photographs: an extension of the modified Airlie House classification: ETDRS report number 10. Ophthalmology 1991;98(5 Suppl):786–806.
- Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Fundus photographic risk factors for progression of diabetic retinopathy: ETDRS report number 12. Ophthalmology 1991; 98(5 Suppl):823–33.
- Baron RM, Kenny DA. The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. J Pers Soc Psychol 1986;51: 1173–82.
- 16. Mogensen CE, Christensen CK, Vittinghus E. The stages in diabetic renal disease: with emphasis on the stage of incipient diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes 1983;32(Suppl 2):64–78.

- Ibrahim HN, Hostetter TH. Diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol 1997;8:487–93.
- 18. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group; Lachin JM, Genuth S, Cleary P, Davis MD, Nathan DM. Retinopathy and nephropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes four years after a trial of intensive therapy. N Engl J Med 2000;342:381–9.
- 19. Williams ME. Diabetic nephropathy: the proteinuria hypothesis. Am J Nephrol 2005;25:77–94.
- 20. Lachin JM, Bebu I, Bergenstal RM, Pop-Busui R, Service FJ, Zinman B, et al. Association of glycemic variability in type 1 diabetes with progression of microvascular outcomes in the diabetes control and complications trial. Diabetes Care 2017;40: 777–83.
- Palmberg P, Smith M, Waltman S, Krupin T, Singer P, Burgess D, et al. The natural history of retinopathy in insulin-dependent juvenile-onset diabetes. Ophthalmology 1981;88:613–8.
- 22. Romero-Aroca P, Mendez-Marin I, Baget-Bernaldiz M, Fernéndez-Ballart J, Santos-Blanco E. Review of the relationship between renal and retinal microangiopathy in diabetes mellitus patients. Curr Diabetes Rev 2010;6:88–101.
- **23.** Park CW. Diabetic kidney disease: from epidemiology to clinical perspectives. Diabetes Metab J 2014;38:252–60.
- 24. Brocco E, Fioretto P, Mauer M, Saller A, Carraro A, Frigato F, et al. Renal structure and function in non-insulin dependent diabetic patients with microalbuminuria. Kidney Int Suppl 1997; 63:S40–4.
- 25. Schwartz MM, Lewis EJ, Leonard-Martin T, Lewis JB, Batlle D. Renal pathology patterns in type II diabetes mellitus: relationship with retinopathy. The Collaborative Study Group. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998;13:2547–52.
- 26. Mather HM, Chaturvedi N, Kehely AM. Comparison of prevalence and risk factors for microalbuminuria in South Asians and Europeans with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 1998; 15:672–7.
- 27. Wu AY, Kong NC, de Leon FA, Pan CY, Tai TY, Yeung VT, et al. An alarmingly high prevalence of diabetic nephropathy in Asian type 2 diabetic patients: the MicroAlbuminuria Prevalence (MAP) Study. Diabetologia 2005;48:17–26.
- 28. Mobasseri M, Shirmohammadi M, Amiri T, Vahed N, Hosseini

Fard H, Ghojazadeh M. Prevalence and incidence of type 1 diabetes in the world: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Health Promot Perspect 2020;10:98–115.

- 29. Cho NH, Shaw JE, Karuranga S, Huang Y, da Rocha Fernandes JD, Ohlrogge AW, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2018;138:271–81.
- **30.** Kramer CK, Retnakaran R. Concordance of retinopathy and nephropathy over time in type 1 diabetes: an analysis of data from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Diabet Med 2013;30:1333–41.
- Parving HH, Gall MA, Skøtt P, Jørgensen HE, Løkkegaard H, Jørgensen F, et al. Prevalence and causes of albuminuria in non-insulin-dependent diabetic patients. Kidney Int 1992;41: 758–62.
- **32**. El-Asrar AM, Al-Rubeaan KA, Al-Amro SA, Moharram OA, Kangave D. Retinopathy as a predictor of other diabetic complications. Int Ophthalmol 2001;24:1–11.
- 33. Jindal A, Garcia-Touza M, Jindal N, Whaley-Connell A, Sowers JR. Diabetic kidney disease and the cardiorenal syndrome: old disease, new perspectives. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2013;42:789–808.
- 34. Schmechel H, Heinrich U. Retinopathy and nephropathy in 772 insulin-treated diabetic patients in relation to the type of diabetes. Diabete Metab 1993;19(1 Pt 2):138–42.
- 35. Romero Aroca P, Calviño Domínguez O, Del Castillo Dejàrdin D. Epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy in a primary care unit. Arch Soc Esp Oftalmol 2000;75:147–52.
- **36.** Cankurtaran V, Inanc M, Tekin K, Turgut F. Retinal microcirculation in predicting diabetic nephropathy in type 2 diabetic patients without retinopathy. Ophthalmologica 2020;243:271–9.
- 37. da Silva MO, do Carmo Chaves AE, Gobbato GC, Dos Reis MA, Lavinsky F, Schaan BD, et al. Early neurovascular retinal changes detected by swept-source OCT in type 2 diabetes and association with diabetic kidney disease. Int J Retina Vitreous 2021;7:73.
- 38. Alé-Chilet A, Bernal-Morales C, Barraso M, Hernández T, Oliva C, Vinagre I, et al. Optical coherence tomography angiography in type 1 diabetes mellitus-report 2: diabetic kidney disease. J Clin Med 2021;11:197.

## **Original article**



# Pediatricians' perception of factors concerning the clinical application of blockchain technology to pediatric health care: a questionnaire survey

Yong Sauk Hau<sup>1,2</sup>, Min Cheol Chang<sup>2,3</sup>, Jae Chan Park<sup>1,2</sup>, Young Joo Lee<sup>4</sup>, Seong Su Kim<sup>4</sup>, Jae Min Lee<sup>2,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Business Administration, School of Business, Yeungnam University, Gyeongsan, Korea

<sup>2</sup>Medical Management Research Center, Yeungnam University, Gyeongsan, Korea

<sup>3</sup>Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Daegu, Korea

<sup>4</sup>National Information Society Agency, Daegu, Korea

<sup>5</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Daegu, Korea

**Background:** Interest in digital medical information has increased because it allows doctors to easily access a patient's medical records and provide appropriate medical care. Blockchain technology ensures data safety, reliability, integrity, and transparency by distributing medical data to all users over a peer-to-peer network. This study attempted to assess pediatricians' thoughts and attitudes toward introducing blockchain technology into the medical field.

**Methods:** This study used a questionnaire survey to examine the thoughts and attitudes of 30- to 60-year-old pediatricians regarding the introduction of blockchain technology into the medical field. Responses to each item were recorded on a scale ranging from 1 (never agree) to 7 (completely agree).

**Results:** The scores for the intentions and expectations of using blockchain technology were 4.0 to 4.6. Pediatricians from tertiary hospitals responded more positively (4.5–4.9) to the idea of using blockchain technology for hospital work relative to the general population (4.3–4.7). However, pediatricians working in primary and secondary hospitals had a slightly negative view of the application of blockchain technology to hospital work (p=0.018).

**Conclusion:** When introducing the medical records of related pediatric and adolescent patients using blockchain technology in the future, it would be better to conduct a pilot project that prioritizes pediatricians in tertiary hospitals. The cost, policy, and market participants' perceptions are essential factors to consider when introducing technology in the medical field.

Keywords: Blockchain; Pediatricians; Pediatrics; Personal health records; Tertiary care centers

## Introduction

Medical technology has facilitated remarkable advances in various fields. With the development of healthcare technology, the quality of life and longevity of humans have improved. Interest in the exchange of medical information has also increased [1].

Currently, the medical records of patients are fragmented and stored in different hospitals. Fragmented medical records lead to several problems [2,3]. First, it is difficult for a doctor to check the medical records. Second, because not all medical records are accessed

Corresponding author: Jae Min Lee, MD, PhD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Received: March 31, 2022 • Revised: May 16, 2022 • Accepted: May 26, 2022

Department of Pediatrics, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, 170 Hyeonchung-ro, Nam-gu, Daegu 42415, Korea Tel: +82-53-620-3150 • E-mail: mopic@hanmail.net

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

sible by every doctor, tests performed at another hospital may be duplicated. Third, although medical records can be digitally stored, patients or guardians copy and transport medical records to other hospitals using paper or compact disks (CDs). Fourth, the medical records stored in the hospital may be hacked or lost due to the hospital's closure. Thus, there may be unnecessary damage and a waste of time and human resources.

Blockchain technology ensures data safety, reliability, integrity, and transparency by distributing and documenting data over a peer-to-peer network [4]. This technology is different from traditional methods that store transactions on a central server [5].

Different perspectives on the application of blockchain technology in the healthcare industry are presented in this paper. Currently, the proposed clinical application will help facilitate the exchange of medical records and will be applied to the Internet of Things (IoT) system to manage patients with chronic diseases such as diabetes [6-10].

Pediatrics is also a field with many subfields that can benefit from blockchain technology. This study aims to assess pediatricians' thoughts and attitudes toward introducing blockchain technology into the medical field.

## Methods

**Ethical statements:** This study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki of 1975 and approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Yeungnam University Hospital (IRB No: YUMC 2019-04-041). At the time of receiving the questionnaire from the study participants, consent was obtained verbally, and a process was approved by the IRB.

#### 1. Survey

Based on widely used theories concerning new technology acceptance, we investigated various factors related to using new technologies, such as blockchain, in our survey. In more detail, our study's factors, such as expected performance and ease of use, theoretically stem from the technology acceptance model [11]. Intention, attitude, and perceived behavioral control of using blockchain for hospital work originate from the theory of planned behavior [12].

We conducted a questionnaire survey among pediatricians aged between 30 and 60 years. A paper questionnaire and Google questionnaire were used. Before the participants responded to the questionnaires (Supplementary material 1), they watched a video about blockchain medical applications. The authors do not have any associations or relationships with the company that produced the video [13].

The items that were used to measure intentions, attitudes toward using blockchain for hospital work, expected performance, ease of use, and perceived behavioral control were adopted from validated measures that were used in Venkatesh et al. [14]. Responses to each item were recorded on a scale that ranged from 1 (never agree) to 7 (completely agree). Higher scores were indicative of a higher degree of consent, whereas lower scores were indicative of a lower degree of consent.

The attitudes toward using blockchain technology to manage medical information were adapted from Venkatesh et al. [14] and Min and Kim [15]. Replies to these items were gauged on a 7-point scale, ranging from 1 (very negative) to 7 (very positive). Higher scores denoted more positivity, and lower scores indicated more negativity.

Based on Choi [16] and Kim et al. [17], the types of services that could be implemented through blockchain concerning hospital business were classified.

### 2. Statistical analysis

The collected data were analyzed using IBM SPSS ver. 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The demographic characteristics and attitudes of the medical doctors, stratified by their characteristics, were compared using the Mann-Whitney *U*-test. Statistical significance was denoted by p < 0.05.

## Results

#### 1. Study population

A total of 23 pediatricians were enrolled in this study (Table 1). Most of them were in their 30s (n = 16, 69.6%), five were in their 40s (21.7%), and two were in their 50s (8.7%). There were 10 men (43.5%) and 13 women (56.5%). The average career duration of the participants was  $12 \pm 9$  years (Table 1). Regarding the hospital type, two were primary hospitals (8.7%), five were secondary hospitals (21.7%), and one was tertiary hospital (65.2%). Regarding job titles, eight of the pediatricians were employed (34.8%), six were residents (26.1%), eight were university professors (34.8%), and one was allocated to the "other" category (4.3%).

#### 2. Thoughts about the use and adoption of blockchain

The participants' perspectives on the use and adoption of blockchain are shown in Table 2 and Fig. 1. The average score for the participants' intentions to use blockchain technology was 4.0 to 4.6. Those working at tertiary hospitals provided slightly more

#### Table 1. Characteristics of the study population

Variable	Data
No. of participants	23
Age (yr)	
31–40	16 (69.6)
41–50	5 (21.7)
51–60	2 (8.7)
Sex	
Male	10 (43.5)
Female	13 (56.5)
Career year (yr)	12±9
Hospital type	
Primary	2 (8.7)
Secondary	5 (21.7)
Tertiary	15 (65.2)
Others <sup>a)</sup>	1 (4.3)
Type of worker	
Employed	8 (34.8)
University professor	8 (34.8)
Resident	6 (26.1)
Others <sup>a)</sup>	1 (4.3)

Values are presented as number only or number (%).

<sup>a)</sup>One is serving as a doctor in the military.

positive answers about their attitudes toward blockchain technology.

Regarding the attitudes toward and perspectives on blockchain technology, the participants expressed only a few positive opinions about the use of blockchain for hospital work (4.3–4.7). Those working at tertiary hospitals provided slightly more positive answers related to the attitudes toward blockchain technology. However, those working in primary and secondary hospitals had slightly negative perspectives on applying blockchain technology to hospital work (p = 0.018).

The expectations of the effectiveness of blockchain technology were generally neutral. The participants in tertiary hospitals had positive expectations. Those in tertiary hospitals believed that it would improve productivity, processing speed, quality, and convenience. Participants from primary and secondary hospitals expressed neutral opinions, but these were not statistically significant.

The participants expressed neutral opinions about the ease of using blockchain technology. Participants working in primary and secondary hospitals expressed slightly more negative views regarding the ease of use and learning curve of the technology.

All participants expressed relatively negative opinions of their environment when using blockchain technology. Participants from primary and secondary hospitals expressed more negative views than those from tertiary hospitals. They thought that the information technology resources necessary to use blockchain technology were insufficient and believed they lacked knowledge of blockchain technology. They also considered blockchain incompatible with the hospital work support system they were using.

## 3. Attitudes toward using blockchain technology to manage medical information

Regarding the benefits of blockchain technology, the most preferred was exchanging medical information between hospitals (Table 3, Fig. 2).

With blockchain technology, when a patient visits another hospital, there is no need to print out the chart from the prior hospital or transfer image information to a CD and deliver it to the new hospital, thereby facilitating the exchange of medical information between the hospitals. Blockchain technology can reduce repetitive tests, thus reducing patient treatment costs and shortening treatment time. Blockchain technology makes it possible to use standardized medical big data for precision medical care and customized medical care.

In addition, the participants found that blockchain technology reduced repetitive examinations, medical expenses, and treatment hours, and it facilitated the use of standardized medical big data. However, the participants expressed neutral opinions about the inability to modify medical records without patient consent, patients managing medical information by themselves, the transmission of all patient medical information to medical staff, and patient access to medical records at any time.

## 4. Necessity and feasibility of blockchain technology related to hospital business

All participants expressed positive opinions about the need for services that could be implemented through blockchain. Regarding the feasibility of the services that could be implemented through blockchain, positive views were expressed for all services other than patient-centered medical data management services, about which the participants expressed a neutral opinion (Table 4). There were no differences according to the hospital type.

## Discussion

This study aimed to clarify the opinions and attitudes of pediatricians related to the adoption of blockchain technology in the medical field. The study findings revealed that pediatricians expressed only a few positive opinions about blockchain, and pediatricians working in tertiary medical institutions were found to have more positive attitudes toward this technology. Pediatricians working in primary and secondary hospitals expressed neutral opinions about

#### Table 2. Perspectives on the application of blockchain technology in the medical field

Demein	Quarting	S	n volvo		
Domain	Question	Total	Tertiary hospital	Others	<i>p</i> -value
Intention	to use blockchain technology				
	l intend to use blockchain technology for my hospital work	4.6±1.7	4.9±1.4	4.4±1.9	0.283
	l plan to use blockchain technology for my hospital work	4.0±1.8	4.5±1.5	3.8±1.9	0.062
	l expect to use blockchain technology for my hospital work	4.2±1.8	4.8±1.4	3.8±1.8	0.005
	I will try to use blockchain technology in my hospital work	4.2±1.7	4.7±1.5	3.9±1.9	0.036
Attitudes	toward blockchain technology				
	It is desirable for me to use blockchain technology to handle hospital work	4.6±1.7	$5.0 \pm 1.3$	4.4±1.8	0.104
	It's a good idea for me to use blockchain technology to do hospital work	4.7±1.7	$5.0 \pm 1.4$	4.5±1.8	0.154
	It is wise for me to use blockchain technology to do hospital work	4.7±1.7	$5.0 \pm 1.3$	4.5±1.8	0.099
	l like to use blockchain technology to do hospital work	4.3±1.7	4.7±1.5	3.9±1.8	0.018
Expected	performance from using blockchain				
	The use of blockchain technology will increase the productivity of my hospital business processing	4.8±1.6	5.0±1.2	4.6±1.8	0.328
	The use of blockchain technology will speed up my hospital business processing	4.8±1.6	$5.0 \pm 1.4$	4.6±1.7	0.352
	The use of blockchain technology will improve the quality of my hospital business results	4.8±1.7	5.0±1.4	4.6±1.9	0.054
	Through the use of blockchain technology, my hospital work will be handled more easily	4.7±1.8	5.0±1.5	4.5±1.9	0.166
Ease of u	se of blockchain technology				
	It will be easy for me to use blockchain technology to handle the hospital work I am currently doing	4.0±1.7	4.3±1.7	3.8±1.7	0.120
	It will be easy for me to learn how to use blockchain technology to handle my hospital business	4.0±1.7	4.2±1.7	4.0±1.7	0.511
	It will be easy for me to use blockchain technology to handle the hospital work I intend to do in the future	4.1±1.7	4.3±1.6	3.9±1.7	0.323
Perceived	l behavioral control of using blockchain technology				
	I have the information technology (IT) resources (ex: IT devices, experts) needed to use blockchain technology	2.6±1.7	2.9±1.8	2.4±1.7	0.080
	I have the necessary knowledge to use blockchain technology	$2.6 \pm 1.6$	2.7±1.7	$2.5 \pm 1.6$	0.798
	Blockchain technology is well compatible with the hospital work support information system that I am using	2.6±1.7	3.0±1.8	2.3±1.6	0.009

blockchain technology and somewhat negative opinions about its introduction into hospitals.

In our previous study, medical doctors demonstrated significantly more negative attitudes toward blockchain technology than did patients [2]. Furthermore, self-employed doctors demonstrated more negative attitudes than employed doctors and university professors [2]. We attempted to understand these findings using the expectancy theory of psychological motivation [18,19], which suggests that people are motivated to pursue positive outcomes and avoid adverse effects.

Blockchain technology has various applications in pediatrics. Even simple invasive procedures such as obtaining blood samples are often difficult to perform in infants. Using blockchain technology to deliver medical information can lower medical expenses and lessen the inconvenience for children by eliminating redundant examinations. Children may have to move frequently, sometimes against their will, depending on the circumstances of their parents. Therefore, it is highly possible that finding past records will be difficult. Although a system where the government manages vaccination records has been introduced in Korea, medical records other than vaccination records should be checked by relying on the memory of the guardian.

With blockchain technology, patients do not need to maintain their medical records. Instead of waiting to receive medical information from the guardian of a child, the hospital staff can access the medical history because the technology allows the transmission of the appropriate medical information. Additionally, there is no risk of record loss or distortion. It is essential to share the medical records of patients across different hospitals following their wishes; this is also important for the security of personal data.

In a study of medical record keeping in a summer camp setting









3

Score

4

5

6





I have the necessary knowledge to use blockchain technology

I have the IT resources needed to use blockchain technology

ò 2

Fig. 1. Perspectives on the application of blockchain technology in the medical field according to hospital type. IT, information technology.

#### Table 3. Attitudes toward using blockchain technology to manage medical information

	ς	core by hospital ty	ne	
Characteristics of blockchain technology		<i>p</i> -value		
5.	lotal	lertiary hospital	Others	'
Through blockchain technology, all the medical information of a patient can be delivered to the medical staff	4.7±1.8	5.0±1.5	4.5±2.0	0.315
Since hacking is impossible using blockchain technology, the security of the patient's medical information can be strengthened	4.6±1.8	4.8±1.7	4.5±1.9	0.561
Once entered by the doctor, the medical chart cannot be modified without the consent of the patient if blockchain technology is used	4.1±1.9	4.2±1.8	4.0±2.1	0.736
Blockchain technology allows patients to freely access their medical information anytime, anywhere	4.6±1.8	4.9±1.6	4.4±1.9	0.173
With blockchain technology, when a patient goes to another hospital, there is no need to print the chart of an existing hospital on paper or put image information on a compact disc and deliver it to other hospitals, thereby facilitating exchange of medical information between hospitals	5.2±1.8	5.5±1.3	5.0±2.0	0.418
Blockchain technology can reduce repetitive tests, thus reducing patient treatment costs and shortening treatment time	5.1±1.8	5.4±1.5	4.8±2.0	0.179
Blockchain technology makes it possible to use standardized medical big data for precision medical care and customized medical care	5.0±1.9	5.3±1.6	4.7±2.1	0.238



Blockchain technology makes it possible to use standardized medical big data for precision medical care and customized medical care

> Blockchain technology can reduce repetitive tests, thus reducing patient treatment cost and shortening treatment time

With blockchain technology, when a patient goes to another hospital, there is no need to copy and deliver existing hospital records, making it easy to exchange medical information between hospitals

Blockchain technology allows patients to freely access their medical information anytime, anywhere

Once entered by the doctor, the medical chart cannot be modified without the consent of the patient if blockchain technology is used

Since hacking is impossible using blockchain technology, the security of the patient's medical information can be strengthened

Through blockchain technology, all the medical information of a patient can be delivered to the medical staff

Fig. 2. Attitudes toward using blockchain technology to manage medical information according to hospital type.

Table 4.	Necessity	and fe	asibility	of serv	vices	related	to hospita	I
business t	that can be	e impler	nented t	through	n blocl	kchain t	echnology	

Domain	Necessity	Feasibility
Patient-centered medical data management service	4.7±1.6	4.6±1.7
Personal lifelog data integrated management service	4.5±1.7	4.6±1.6
Simplified insurance payment service	4.7 ± 1.8	4.7±1.7
Pharmaceutical safety distribution service	4.8±1.6	4.7±1.6
Integrated medical data management service	5.0±1.7	4.7±1.7
Clinical trial data sharing service	4.9±1.7	4.7±1.7
Genome analysis data safe transaction service	4.6±1.7	4.6±1.7
Integrated management of medical device licensing	4.7±1.8	4.7±1.8
Clinical research data sharing service between countries	4.8±1.6	4.5±1.7

by Kaufman et al. [20], approximately one-fifth of school-aged children were found to spend their time at residential summer camps in the United States. Many of these children had chronic medical conditions. In such a situation, the delivery of medical information for the special pediatric settings of a healthcare provider is said to be necessary. The study noted that standard software for documenting summer camp healthcare practice was needed, along with network and technical support. The delivery of medical records using blockchain technology with the approval of an authorized guardian may be helpful in this field.

The Korea Disease Control and Prevention Agency manages Korea's national immunization program, and vaccinations can be checked online [21,22]. Since a child's vaccination record is maintained from birth, this information is a good starting point for applying blockchain technology in the medical field. The immunization registration management information system may contain various errors that occurred during data entry. Owing to the nature of blockchain technology, access and modification are possible only with the individual patient's consent, and a potential solution needs to be formulated.

The study findings revealed that pediatricians in tertiary hospitals expressed more positive views about blockchain technology than those in primary and secondary hospitals. A previous study reported similar results for doctors who were not pediatricians [2], which was not related to their direct compensation; there is relatively limited information about individual income levels. The availability of information technology support in tertiary hospitals also could have led to more positive answers.

In the future, the integration of blockchain technology with the medical record systems of pediatric and adolescent patients may be preceded by a pilot project that prioritizes pediatricians in tertiary hospitals. Blockchain technology has various applications in pediatric healthcare management. First, it can be used to deliver medical information securely, transparently, and cost-effectively. For example, it can be used for a national vaccination schedule registry. Blockchain technology can also facilitate a national interoperability framework, eliminate the need to manage different immunization records for each hospital, and lower the overall cost of vaccinations in the country. Second, blockchain technology can be helpful in conducting clinical trials involving children with rare hereditary diseases. Third, blockchain can be used for data sharing without compromising or leaking personal information in big data collected by a monitoring device—a wearable device that continuously monitors medical parameters using the IoT network.

After the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak, telemedicine use has increased dramatically in the United States [23]. Telemedicine sessions increased by 683% between March and April 2020. In response to COVID-19, the virtual urgent care system has expanded. Considering the increasing attention given to "untact" technology after COVID-19, the use of blockchain technology for medical record management has garnered interest.

In addition, blockchain technology plays a role as a means of delivering medical information, but digitalization of medical care, telemedicine, and smooth information delivery cannot be fully realized with only blockchain. To use medical blockchain technology, preliminary work such as standardization of medical databases will be required. The standardization of different medical databases for each hospital will facilitate the activation of information sharing between hospitals, which will require policy support from the government.

The limitations of this study are that the survey population was

small, and patient and guardian surveys were not obtained. It seems that additional large-scale surveys are needed in this area.

It appears that there is adequate scope for the application of blockchain technology to pediatric healthcare management. With the introduction of blockchain technology to the medical industry, the technology, cost, policies, and the perception of market participants are important. We hope that the reported perceptions of pediatricians, who are important market participants in the introduction of blockchain to the medical industry, will help stimulate active discussions on the introduction of blockchain technology to the field of pediatrics in the future.

## Supplementary materials

Supplementary material 1 can be found via https://doi.org/10. 12701/jyms.2022.00241.

## Notes

### **Conflicts of interest**

Min Cheol Chang has been Associate editor of *Journal of Yeun*gnam Medical Science (JYMS) since 2021. Jae Min Lee has been editorial board member of *JYMS* since 2021. They were not involved in the review process of this manuscript. Otherwise, there is no conflict of interest to declare.

#### Funding

This work was supported by a 2021 Yeungnam University Research Grant.

#### Author contributions

Conceptualization, Methodology, Data curation, Formal analysis, Project administration: YSH, JCP, MCC, JML; Investigation, Funding acquisition: JML; Supervision: all authors; Writing-original draft: JML; Writing-review & editing: all authors.

#### ORCID

Yong Sauk Hau, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9817-4815 Min Cheol Chang, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7629-7213 Jae Chan Park, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4657-2114 Young Joo Lee, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0922-8960 Seong Su Kim, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2608-9360 Jae Min Lee, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6822-1051

## References

1. Jiang S, Cao J, Wu H, Yang Y, Ma M, He J. BlocHIE: a block-

chain-based platform for healthcare information exchange [Internet]. In: Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE). Proceedings of 2018 IEEE International Conference on Smart Computing, SMARTCOMP 2018. Taormina, Italy: IEEE Inc; 2018 [cited 2022 Mar 31]. https://doi.org/10.1109/ SMARTCOMP.2018.00073.

- 2. Hau YS, Lee JM, Park J, Chang MC. Attitudes toward blockchain technology in managing medical information: survey study. J Med Internet Res 2019;21:e15870.
- 3 Radanović I, Likić R. Opportunities for use of blockchain technology in medicine. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2018;16: 583–90.
- Bashir I. Mastering blockchain: distributed ledger technology, decentralization and smart contracts explained. 2nd ed. Birmingham: Packt Publishing; 2018.
- 5. Krawiec RJ, Housman D, White M, Filipova M, Quarre F, Barr D, et al. Blockchain: opportunities for health care [Internet]. New York: Deloitte; 2016 [cited 2022 Mar 31]. https://www2. deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/public-sector/us-blockchain-opportunities-for-health-care.pdf.
- 6. Kho W. Blockchain revolution in healthcare: the era of patient-centered dental information system. Int J Oral Biol 2018; 43:1–3.
- 7. Pirtle C, Ehrenfeld J. Blockchain for healthcare: the next generation of medical records? J Med Syst 2018;42:172.
- **8.** Cichosz SL, Stausholm MN, Kronborg T, Vestergaard P, Hejlesen O. How to use blockchain for diabetes health care data and access management: an operational concept. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2019;13:248–53.
- **9.** Tung JK, Nambudiri VE. Beyond Bitcoin: potential applications of blockchain technology in dermatology. Br J Dermatol 2018;179:1013–4.
- Chang MC, Hau YS, Park JC, Lee JM. The application of blockchain technology in stroke rehabilitation. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2019;98:e74.

- Davis FD. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly 1989;13: 319–40.
- 12. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 1991;50:179–211.
- Mediblock. [MediBloc] Reinventing the medical experience [Internet]. Seoul: Mediblock; 2018 [cited 2022 Mar 31]. https://youtu.be/c4MUhQ\_KfAw.
- Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. Mis Quarterly 2003;27:425–78.
- Min D, Kim JH. Is power powerful? Power, confidence, and goal pursuit. Int Res J Mark 2013;30:265–75.
- Choi HJ. Application of blockchain in the healthcare industry. KHIDI Brief 2017;236:1–26.
- 17. Kim H, Park S, Ahn Y. Clinical research networks for rare diseases. PHWR 2018;11:34–8.
- Champoux JE. Organizational behavior integrating individuals, groups, and organizations. 4th ed. New York: Routledge; 2010.
- Vroom VH. Work and motivation. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers; 1995.
- 20. Kaufman L, Holland J, Weinberg S, Rosenbloom ST. Medical record keeping in the summer camp setting. Appl Clin Inform 2016;7:1154–67.
- 21. Choi EH, Park SE, Kim YJ, Jo DS, Kim YK, Eun BW, et al. Recommended immunization schedule for children and adolescents: Committee on Infectious Diseases of the Korean Pediatric Society, 2018. Korean J Pediatr 2019;62:252–6.
- 22. Kim C, Park O, Kim M, Kim M, Lee S, Jung H. A study on registration data analysis of national immunization registry information system. J Korea Inst Inf Commun Eng 2015;19:1151–6.
- 23. Mann DM, Chen J, Chunara R, Testa PA, Nov O. COVID-19 transforms health care through telemedicine: evidence from the field. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020;27:1132–5.

## **Original article**



# Effect of prehydration solution on hearing threshold after chemotherapy in patients with head and neck cancers: a retrospective study

## Dongbin Ahn\*, Kyu-Yup Lee\*, Eunjung Oh, Minji Oh, Boseung Jung, Da Jung Jung

Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, School of Medicine, Kyungpook National University, Daegu, Korea

**Background:** The study aimed to evaluate the effect of prehydration solution on hearing thresholds after cisplatin chemotherapy. **Methods:** In this retrospective cohort study, we reviewed the data of patients who underwent  $\geq$  3 courses of cisplatin-based chemotherapy for locally advanced head and neck cancers at a tertiary referral center (n = 64). The dextrose solution (DW) group (n = 26) received 2 L of normal saline and 1 L of 5% dextrose. The Hartmann solution (HS) group (n = 38) received 2 L of normal saline and 1 L of HS. Hearing data were measured 1 day before starting the first course of chemotherapy, and again 20 days after the first, second, and third courses of chemotherapy. The severity of hearing loss was evaluated using the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE).

**Results:** Thresholds at all frequencies after chemotherapy were greater in the DW group than in the HS group. The increase in thresholds in 1 to 4 kHz after the third course of chemotherapy was greater in the DW group than in the HS group. CTCAE grades after the second and third courses of chemotherapy were greater in the DW group than in the HS group. Logistic regression showed that the odds ratio for CTCAE grade 3 or 4 after the third course of chemotherapy in the DW group was 4.84 on univariate analysis.

**Conclusion:** Prehydration using a solution with salt was associated with a decrease in change in hearing thresholds after cisplatin chemotherapy in patients with head and neck cancers.

Keywords: Cisplatin; Drug therapy; Hearing; Solutions

## Introduction

Cisplatin is a classic chemotherapeutic drug discovered by Rosenberg et al. [1] in 1965. It is currently one of the most commonly used chemotherapeutic drugs in locally advanced head and neck cancers. Nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity are considered the most important complications associated with cisplatin use as a chemotherapeutic drug; cisplatin induces or leads to oxidative stress, inflammation, and outer and inner hair cell apoptosis [2-4]. Consequently, cisplatin is associated with progressive and irreversible sensorineural hearing loss. Breglio et al. [4] showed that approximately 40% to 80% of patients who underwent cisplatin chemotherapy experienced permanent hearing loss. Previous studies have investigated the protective effects of several agents on cisplatin-in-

Received: April 20, 2022 • Revised: July 19, 2022 • Accepted: July 19, 2022 Corresponding author: Da Jung Jung, MD, PhD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, School of Medicine, Kyungpook National University, 130 Dongdeok-ro, Jung-gu, Daegu 41944, Korea

Tel: +82-53-420-5785 • Fax: +82-53-423-4524 • E-mail: wjddk0731@naver.com

<sup>\*</sup>These authors contributed equally to this study.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

duced ototoxicity (CIO). However, despite their promising effects in experimental studies, strong evidence regarding the favorable effects of these agents in clinical studies is scarce [5].

Nephrotoxicity is another complication of cisplatin-induced tubular injury. Clinical practice guidelines strongly recommend vigorous hydration to reduce the cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity [6]. Hydration is associated with volume expansion, leading to an increase in the rate of cisplatin excretion. In addition, the prehydration solution with salt has a high concentration of chloride and prevents the dissociation of the chloride ions from the platinum molecule, thereby reducing the formation of the reactive species of cisplatin [7,8]. Previous studies have revealed that prehydration plays a role in decreasing cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity and prehydration solutions with salts are more protective in preventing toxicity. This evidence suggests that prehydration using a salt fluid is strongly recommended to reduce nephrotoxicity. These hypotheses may be applicable to CIO, and prehydration using a salt fluid may be associated with protection of CIO. The aim of our study was to evaluate the effect of prehydration solution on hearing thresholds after cisplatin chemotherapy in patients with head and neck cancers.

## Methods

**Ethical statements:** This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Kyungpook National University Hospital (IRB No: KNUH 2020-04-009), and the requirement for informed consent was waived.

#### 1. Study population and treatment

In this retrospective cohort study, we reviewed the data of patients who underwent at least three courses of cisplatin-based chemotherapy for locally advanced head and neck cancers at a medical center between May 2014 and September 2019. Among the initial 162 patients, the exclusion criteria included the following: having chronic otitis media or otitis media effusion, or missing data for hearing thresholds at the baseline or after the first, second, or third course of chemotherapy (n = 98). None of the enrolled participants were undergoing any additional therapy associated with ototoxicity during the follow-up period. In addition, other than cisplatin, none of the chemotherapeutic drugs were associated with ototoxicity.

The dose of cisplatin was modified as described in a previous study [9]. Briefly, cisplatin was injected every 3 weeks at doses of 50 to  $100 \text{ mg/m}^2$ . The cisplatin dose administered in each cycle was determined based on individual patient conditions (age, co-

morbidities, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status, and treatment-related toxicities) and tumor status (stage and early treatment response). All patients received concomitant radiotherapy at a dose of 60 to 70 Gy; the doses of radiotherapy were similar among the patients. Prehydration solution (3 L) was administered immediately before cisplatin injection. The dextrose solution (DW) group (n = 26) received 2 L of normal saline and 1 L of 5% dextrose. The Hartmann solution (HS) group (n = 38) received 2 L of normal saline and 1 L of HS. Selection of prehydration was randomly determined regardless of the clinician's decision.

### 2. Study variables

Clinical and laboratory data collected during the examination included the following: age, sex, hemoglobin (g/dL), serum albumin (g/dL), serum creatinine (mg/dL), body mass index  $(kg/m^2)$ , location of cancer, cumulative dose of cisplatin, and hearing thresholds. Hearing data were measured 1 day before starting the first course of chemotherapy, and again at 20 days after the first, second, and third courses of chemotherapy. The hearing thresholds were measured using an automatic audiometer at 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, and 8 kHz. Hearing thresholds at each frequency were averaged using both ears of each patient. The difference after chemotherapy was defined as postchemotherapy values minus the baseline. The severity of hearing loss was evaluated using the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE, version 5.0), as previously described [10]. Briefly, grade 1 was defined as a threshold shift of 15 to 25 dB at two frequencies in at least one ear. Grade 2 was defined as a threshold shift > 25 dB at two contiguous frequencies. Grade 3 was defined as a threshold shift > 25 dB at three contiguous frequencies. Grade 4 was defined as non-serviceable hearing, > 80 dB at 2 kHz and above.

#### 3. Statistical analysis

The data were analyzed using IBM SPSS ver. 25 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Categorical variables were expressed as counts (percentage), and continuous variables were expressed as means  $\pm$  standard deviations (expressed as means  $\pm$  standard errors for multivariate analysis). Pearson chi-square or Fisher exact test was used to analyzing the categorical variables. For continuous variables, means were compared using a Student *t*-test or a paired *t*-test. Logistic regression analyses were used to estimate the odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs), which were then used to determine the correlation between prehydration solution and high CTCAE grade. Multivariate analyses were adjusted for age, sex, baseline hearing thresholds, and cumulative dose of cisplatin and performed using a forward selection method. The *p*-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

## Results

### 1. Clinical characteristics

The mean age values in the DW and HS groups were  $59.4 \pm 8.0$ and  $59.8 \pm 11.6$  years, respectively (p = 0.873) (Table 1). The proportion of male sex in the DW and HS groups was 96.2% and 81.6%, respectively. There were no significant differences in age, sex, hemoglobin, albumin, creatinine, body mass index, and location of cancer between the two groups. The cumulative dose of cisplatin was similar at the first course of chemotherapy, but the cumulative dose of cisplatin at the second and third courses was higher in the DW group than in the HS group.

## 2. Changes in hearing thresholds after chemotherapy according to prehydration solution

Fig. 1 shows the trends of hearing thresholds according to chemotherapy. Baseline 0.5 and 3 kHz values were greater in the DW group than in the HS group (p = 0.027 for 0.5 kHz and p = 0.017for 3 kHz). There were no significant differences in 1, 2, 4, 6, and 8 kHz at baseline between the two groups. However, thresholds at all frequencies after chemotherapy were greater in the DW group than in the HS group. In the DW group, the thresholds in all frequencies after the third course of chemotherapy were greater than each baseline value. In the HS group, those in 3, 4, 6, and 8 kHz after the third course of chemotherapy were greater than each baseline value, but there were no significant differences in 0.5, 1, and 2 kHz between values on baseline and after the third course of chemotherapy.

Table 2 shows the difference between values on baseline and after chemotherapy. The increase in thresholds in 0.5, 1, 2, 3, and 6 kHz after the first course of chemotherapy was greater in the DW group than in the HS group. Those in 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 kHz after the second course of chemotherapy were greater in the DW group than in the HS group. Those in 1, 2, 3, and 4 kHz after the third course of chemotherapy were greater in the DW group than in the HS group. Multivariate analysis showed the same trend for those after the first or second course of chemotherapy. Those after the third course of chemotherapy were greater in the DW group than in the HS group, but statistical significance was not obtained.

We have divided the two groups according to median cumulative dose  $(260 \text{ mg/m}^2)$  in the third chemotherapy. The numbers of patients with median cumulative dose of  $< 260 \text{ mg/m}^2$  (low dose group) were 9 and 24 in the DW and HS groups, respectively. The numbers of patients with median cumulative dose of  $\ge 260 \text{ mg/m}^2$  (high dose group) were 17 and 14 in the DW and HS groups, respectively. In the low dose group, patients with grade 3 or 4 after the third chemotherapy were 3 (33.3%) and 3 (12.5%) in the DW and HS groups, respectively (p = 0.309). In the high dose group, patients with grade 3 or 4 after the third chemotherapy were 8 (47.1%) and 2 (14.3%) in the DW and HS groups, respectively

Tabla	1 Doution	المتألم الجميم	aal alaaw	actoriction	a a a a ralina a	+	مر م الج معرام،	a a lustiana
Table	. Partici	pant cim	cal char	acteristics	according	to m	yuration	Solution

Characteristic	DW group (n = 26)	HS group (n = 38)	<i>p</i> -value <sup>a)</sup>
Age (yr)	$59.4 \pm 8.0$	59.8±11.6	0.873
Male sex	25 (96.2)	31 (81.6)	0.128
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	$13.2 \pm 1.5$	$13.4 \pm 1.9$	0.765
Albumin (g/dL)	$4.1 \pm 0.4$	4.3±0.3	0.094
Creatinine (mg/dL)	$0.9 \pm 0.3$	$0.8 \pm 0.2$	0.115
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	22.9±3.3	23.0±2.7	0.851
Location of cancer			0.955
Nasal cavity, nasopharynx	6 (23.1)	7 (18.4)	
Oral cavity (tonsil, tongue, BOT), oropharynx	8 (30.8)	11 (28.9)	
Larynx	10 (38.5)	17 (44.7)	
The others (LN, EAC, unknown primary)	2 (7.7)	3 (7.9)	
Cumulative dose of cisplatin (mg/m <sup>2</sup> )			
First chemotherapy	94.4±12.6	91.1±17.1	0.393
Second chemotherapy	182.7±23.2	168.4±28.2	0.037
Third chemotherapy	262.1±34.8	$235.0 \pm 34.5$	0.003

Values are presented as mean ± standard deviation or number (%).

DW, dextrose solution; HS, Hartmann solution; BOT, base of tongue; LN, lymph node; EAC, external auditory canal.

<sup>a)</sup>The continuous variables were compared using Student *t*-test and the categorical variables were compared using Pearson chi-square or Fisher exact tests.



Fig. 1. Hearing thresholds after CTx according to prehydration solution. The mean 0.5 kHz values at baseline, and after the first CTx, second CTx, and third CTx were 19.8±12.6, 22.5±16.3, 26.2±17.7, and 25.3±17.7 dB for the DW group and 13.0±10.0,  $11.8 \pm 9.2$ ,  $13.5 \pm 11.5$ , and  $14.5 \pm 10.7$  dB for the HS group, respectively. The mean 1 kHz values at baseline, after the first CTx, second CTx, and third CTx were  $22.9 \pm 13.5$ ,  $25.8 \pm 16.3$ ,  $29.8 \pm 19.7$ , and  $30.8 \pm 21.4$  dB for the DW group and  $17.4 \pm 10.8$ , 16.6±11.1, 17.9±13.3, and 19.0±14.3 dB for the HS group. The mean 2 kHz values at baseline, after the first CTx, second CTx, and third CTx were 27.4±19.8, 31.5±23.0, 36.9±25.9, and 35.4±23.2 dB for the DW group and 18.9±14.0, 18.9±15.1, 19.5  $\pm$  17.6, and 20.1  $\pm$  16.0 dB for the HS group. The mean 3 kHz values at baseline, after the first CTx, second CTx, and third CTx were  $40.5 \pm 21.0$ ,  $47.0 \pm 26.2$ ,  $51.4 \pm 25.4$ , and  $51.3 \pm 25.3$  dB for the DW group and  $28.0 \pm 18.1$ ,  $28.7 \pm 19.9$ ,  $30.4 \pm 20.5$ , and  $30.8 \pm 18.5$  dB for the HS group. The mean 4 kHz values at baseline, after the first CTx, second CTx, and third CTx were  $45.9 \pm 21.0$ , 52.4 ± 28.4, 57.9 ± 27.4, and 57.6 ± 26.3 dB for the DW group and 36.4 ± 19.9, 37.3 ± 21.3, 39.3 ± 22.6, and 40.9 ± 21.2 dB for the HS group. The mean 6 kHz values at baseline, after the first CTx, second CTx, and third CTx were 49.4±21.0, 57.8±23.9, 63.7±23.2, and 64.7 ± 21.0 dB for the DW group and 41.6 ± 19.6, 43.5 ± 20.8, 46.9 ± 21.7, and 50.2 ± 21.6 dB for the HS group. The mean 8 kHz values at baseline, after the first CTx, second CTx, and third CTx were 57.9±22.5, 66.6±20.6, 72.2±21.5, and 73.4±18.8 dB for the DW group and  $48.8\pm21.8$ ,  $53.3\pm22.7$ ,  $56.3\pm23.6$ , and  $59.4\pm23.3$  dB for the HS group. CTx, chemotherapy; DW, dextrose solution; HS, Hartmann solution. \*p < 0.05 vs. the value at baseline;  $p^{\dagger} < 0.05$  vs. the value after the first CTx;  $p^{\dagger} < 0.05$  vs. the value after the second CTx.

(p = 0.068). Although the differences were not statistically significant, the development of grade 3 or 4 in the HS group was lower than that in the DW group in both the low- and high-dose groups.

Lesions owing to radiotherapy can influence hearing impairment more than that with cisplatin or prehydration. In our study, there were 32 and 27 patients with nasopharyngeal or oropharyngeal cancer (NOPCa) and glottic or laryngeal cancer (GLCa), respectively. The numbers of patients with grade 3 or 4 after the third chemotherapy were 10 (31.3%) and 5 (18.5%) in the NOPCa and GLCa groups, respectively (p = 0.263). There was no significant difference in the development of grade 3 or 4 between the two

groups; however, the trend showed a greater proportion of grade 3 or 4 in patients with NOPCa than that in patients with GLCa. Patients with NOPCa were more prone to high risk for radiation than those with GLCa, which may be associated with a greater proportion of hearing impairment in patients with NOPCa.

## 3. Change in CTCAE grades after chemotherapy according to prehydration solution

CTCAE grade after the first course of chemotherapy in the DW and the HS groups was 15 (57.7%) and 29 (76.3%) in grade 0, 5 (19.2%) and 6 (15.8%) in grade 1, 1 (3.8%) and 1 (2.6%) in grade

Analysis	After the first chemotherapy from baseline			After the	After the second chemotherapy from baseline			After the third chemotherapy from baseline		
,	DW group	HS group	<i>p</i> -value <sup>a)</sup>	DW group	HS group	<i>p</i> -value <sup>a)</sup>	DW group	HS group	<i>p</i> -value <sup>a)</sup>	
Univariate										
0.5 kHz	$2.7 \pm 8.0$	$-1.3 \pm 4.5$	0.014	6.3 ± 11.1	$0.5 \pm 5.6$	0.007	$5.5 \pm 13.0$	$1.5 \pm 5.8$	0.102	
1 kHz	$2.9 \pm 8.3$	$-0.7 \pm 4.7$	0.031	$6.9 \pm 12.1$	$0.5 \pm 5.9$	0.007	$7.9 \pm 14.4$	$1.6 \pm 7.6$	0.028	
2 kHz	4.1 ± 10.1	$0.1 \pm 5.7$	0.045	$9.5 \pm 19.3$	$0.6 \pm 7.5$	0.012	8.0±17.2	$1.2 \pm 7.9$	0.036	
3 kHz	$6.5 \pm 15.0$	$0.7 \pm 7.0$	0.041	$11.0 \pm 17.8$	$2.4 \pm 6.9$	0.009	$10.8 \pm 18.4$	$2.8 \pm 8.5$	0.023	
4 kHz	$6.5 \pm 14.8$	$0.9 \pm 5.6$	0.060	$12.0 \pm 17.2$	$2.9 \pm 9.8$	0.009	11.7 ± 15.8	$4.5 \pm 12.7$	0.048	
6 kHz	$8.4 \pm 14.4$	$1.9 \pm 8.3$	0.026	$14.2 \pm 15.9$	$5.3 \pm 10.6$	0.009	15.3±15.2	$8.6 \pm 13.4$	0.069	
8 kHz	8.8±15.3	$4.5 \pm 9.6$	0.181	$14.3 \pm 15.6$	7.6±13.4	0.068	$15.5 \pm 15.7$	$10.7 \pm 16.8$	0.251	
Multivariate										
0.5 kHz	$3.2 \pm 1.3$	$-1.6 \pm 1.0$	0.009	$6.3 \pm 1.8$	$0.5 \pm 1.4$	0.018	$5.2 \pm 2.1$	$1.7 \pm 1.7$	0.221	
1 kHz	$3.4 \pm 1.2$	$-1.0 \pm 1.0$	0.010	$6.6 \pm 1.8$	$0.7 \pm 1.5$	0.019	7.0±2.3	$2.2 \pm 1.9$	0.129	
2 kHz	$4.5 \pm 1.4$	$-0.2 \pm 1.1$	0.014	$10.0 \pm 2.8$	$0.2 \pm 2.3$	0.012	$7.9 \pm 2.7$	$1.2 \pm 2.1$	0.070	
3 kHz	$6.8 \pm 2.2$	$0.6 \pm 1.8$	0.042	$10.6 \pm 2.7$	$2.7 \pm 2.2$	0.037	$9.4 \pm 2.8$	$3.8 \pm 2.3$	0.152	
4 kHz	$6.2 \pm 2.1$	$1.1 \pm 1.7$	0.078	11.1 ± 2.7	$3.5 \pm 2.2$	0.041	$10.1 \pm 2.9$	5.7 ±2.3	0.263	
6 kHz	$8.4 \pm 2.1$	$1.9 \pm 1.8$	0.026	$13.3 \pm 2.6$	$6.0 \pm 2.1$	0.038	13.4±2.8	$9.9 \pm 2.2$	0.349	
8 kHz	9.2 ± 2.3	$4.2 \pm 1.9$	0.110	$13.6 \pm 2.8$	8.1±2.2	0.143	13.7±3.0	$11.8 \pm 2.4$	0.647	

Table 2. Change in hearing thresholds after chemotherapy according to hydration solution

Values are presented as mean±standard deviation for univariate analysis and mean±standard error for multivariate analysis. Values were calculated from values obtained after each chemotherapy minus baseline.

DW, dextrose solution; HS, Hartmann solution.

<sup>a)</sup>The *p*-values were tested by Student *t*-test for univariate analysis and analysis of covariance for multivariate analysis. All regimens of chemotherapy were the same excluding doses of cisplatin and radiotherapy. Changes in hearing thresholds after the first, second, and third chemotherapy were compared between the DW and HS groups. The dependent variable was difference in hearing threshold between the baseline and after each cycle of chemotherapy. Covariates were age and baseline hearing thresholds before first chemotherapy, sex, and cumulative dose of cisplatin at the time of audiogram.

2, 2 (7.7%) and 2 (5.3%) in grade 3, and 3 (11.5%) and 0 in grade 4 (p = 0.241), respectively. CTCAE grade after the second course of chemotherapy in the DW and the HS groups was 10 (38.5%) and 27 (71.1%) in grade 0, 5 (19.2%) and 5 (13.2%) in grade 1, 0 and 1 (2.6%) in grade 2, 4 (15.4%) and 5 (13.2%) in grade 3, and 7 (26.9%) and 0 in grade 4 (p = 0.007), respectively. CTCAE grade after the third course of chemotherapy in the DW and the HS groups was 9 (34.6%) and 22 (57.9%) in grade 0, 4 (15.4%) and 7 (18.4%) in grade 1, 2 (7.7%) and 4 (10.5%) in grade 2, 5 (19.2%) and 4 (10.5%) in grade 3, and 6 (23.1%) and 1 (2.6%) in grade 4 (p = 0.007), respectively. CTCAE grades after the second and third courses of chemotherapy were greater in the DW group than in the HS group.

Logistic regression showed that the OR for CTCAE grade 3 or 4 after the third course of chemotherapy in the DW group was 4.84 (95% CI, 1.43–16.41; p = 0.011) on univariate analysis. Multivariate analysis was performed using a forward selection method with age, sex, all hearing thresholds, and cumulative dose of cisplatin. The analysis showed that, among the covariates, only prehydration solution was statistically significant. The results of multivariate analysis matched those of univariate analysis.

## Discussion

Our study showed that prehydration with a salt solution alone was more effective in protecting the increase in hearing thresholds in patients who received cisplatin chemotherapy for head and neck cancers. All hearing thresholds after cisplatin chemotherapy increased compared with values on the baseline. The amount of increase in hearing thresholds after chemotherapy was greater in the DW group than in the HS group. CTCAE grade as a categorical variable after chemotherapy was higher in the DW group than in the HS group. Logistic regression analyses showed similar trends.

CIO is a well-known complication that appeared in early clinical studies of cisplatin. Previous studies demonstrated that factors such as old age, noise exposure, male sex, hypertension, and high cumulative dose of cisplatin are associated with the incidence of hearing impairment after cisplatin chemotherapy [11]. Various experimental studies have investigated mechanisms of CIO. Previous studies showed that cochlear influx of cisplatin is developed by the copper transporter 1, which results in the production of reactive oxygen species [12-14]. These lead to injuries to various cells in the auditory systems and irreversible hearing impairment. Many

interventional drugs targeting these mechanisms have been investigated for the protection of CIO. Experimental studies have shown favorable results of sulfhydryl compounds (alpha-lipoic acid, amifostine, sodium thiosulfate) or antioxidant/anti-apoptotic agents (NOX inhibitor, allicin, epicatechin, dexamethasone, and vitamin E) for protection of CIO [5]. Meta-analysis has shown a trend toward decreased ototoxicity in patients receiving amifostine, but statistical significance was not obtained [15]. Sodium thiosulfate has shown consistently favorable results in non-metastatic hepatoblastoma, but the data were available for children or adolescents alone [16]. In addition, many clinical studies for mechanism-targeted therapies showed inconsistent results regarding the protective effect, and there is no otoprotective agent routinely recommended for the prevention of CIO [17,18].

The association between vigorous hydration and protection of nephrotoxicity is well known. Although there have been few randomized trials, vigorous hydration ( $\geq$  3 L/day) during cisplatin administration is strongly recommended to maintain a balance between benefits and risks. A previous study has shown that fluid with salt is superior to osmotic agents such as mannitol [19]. The difference between HS and 5% DW should be considered. HS or DW is the two most used crystalloid solutions. HS includes 130 mEq/L of sodium, 109 mEq/L of chloride, 28 mEq/L of bicarbonate, 4 mEq/L of potassium, and 3 mEq/L of calcium in water. The 5% DW includes 50 g/L of glucose in water. The increase in intravascular volume by 1 L supplementation was approximately 85 mL for 5% DW and 250 mL for HS, respectively. The effect of volume expansion is 2.9 times greater in HS than in the 5% DW. The renoprotective effect by volume expansion may be an extension of difference in otoprotective effect according to hydration solution. In addition, fluid therapy with salt influences chloride entrapment for platinum above volume expansion. Therefore, prehydration using fluid with salt may be superior to fluid with glucose alone. However, there are few data regarding association between fluid types and ototoxicity.

In this study, hearing thresholds in two frequencies (0.5 and 3 kHz) were greater in the DW group than in the HS group. This was an inherent limitation of our study. The changes in hearing thresholds after chemotherapy would be influenced by the sensitivity of chemotherapy beyond prehydration fluid. Therefore, our results should be carefully interpreted due to difference in baseline hearing thresholds. However, we tried to attenuate this limitation using multivariate analysis or comparison of delta values in hearing thresholds between two groups. These results revealed favorable trends for the HS group compared to that of the DW group. Our study is a pilot rather confirmative design and insufficient to confirm between prehydration solution and hearing, and the general-

ization of our results. Therefore, further studies with larger sample size and similar hearing threshold are needed to overcome this limitation. If baseline hearing was different despite large sample size, propensity score-matched cohort would be useful in matching hearing levels.

Our results showed that the change in hearing threshold was increased as frequency increased. The preservation of the hearing threshold by prehydration was better in low-frequency lesion than in high-frequency lesions. The preventive effect by prehydration was attenuated as cycles of chemotherapy increased. Cisplatin ototoxicity can cause cochlear injury. This injury initiates from outer hair cells adjacent to the cochlear base and progresses to the apical cells with increasing dose [20]. Therefore, hearing impairment progresses from high frequency to low frequency, and becomes worse with the increasing cumulative dose of cisplatin. In our study, only 1 L of the total 3 L of hydration solution was different, and this small difference may be difficult to induce a large difference in preventive effect. This small difference between the two groups would be associated with less improvement in high-frequency lesion (highly injurious lesion) than in low-frequency lesions (low injurious lesion). In addition, toxicity accumulates according to the cycle of chemotherapy, which would attenuate preventive effect.

The change in hearing thresholds after the third chemotherapy was lesser than those after the first or second chemotherapy. Two issues were associated with these changes. First, it may be associated with a decreased dose of cisplatin according to cycles of chemotherapy. The dose of cisplatin according to cycles were  $93.1 \pm 14.8 \text{ mg/m}^2$  in the first,  $83.4 \pm 15.7 \text{ mg/m}^2$  in the second, and  $73.1 \pm 16.7 \text{ mg/m}^2$  in the third cycles. The dose of cisplatin decreased as the cycles of chemotherapy increased. A decrease in the dose of chemotherapy may be associated with attenuated ototoxicity of cisplatin despite increase in cumulative dose. Second, activation of resistant mechanism would be associated with decreased ototoxicity according to the cycles of chemotherapy. Resistance can be developed by decreased influx or increased efflux of drug, activation of antioxidant mechanisms, or drug detoxification [21]. Normal hair cells after chemotherapy may have improved resistance to cisplatin compared to that before chemotherapy, although information remains limited in this regard.

Cumulative dose of cisplatin would be a confounding factor for the effect of prehydration on hearing. In our study, based on 100  $mg/m^2$  as the standard dose, the initial dose of cisplatin was modified according to a patient's performance status. The second or third doses of cisplatin were modified according to toxicity grade, changes in a patient's performance status, and tumor response. Therefore, a low cumulative dose of the HS group may be associated with higher toxicity grade, changes in a patient's performance status, and poorer tumor response during cycles compared to that in the DW group. Our study did not include these data or adjust for these variables due to limitation of sample size. Adjustment for these variables would be helpful in identifying the independent effect of prehydration on hearing.

This study had several limitations. First, it was a retrospective, single-center study. Prehydration solutions were selected without randomized controlled methods. Second, baseline characteristics, including hearing thresholds and cumulative dose of cisplatin, were different between the two groups. Third, the number of participants was small and statistical significance was weak. In addition, other modifiable factors were not considered because of the small number of participants in our study. Fourth, causal relationship was obscure. In our study, the two groups were distinguished by solution type of 1 L within total 3 L of fluid in both groups. It is not clear whether these small differences can lead to significant changes in clinical outcome. Randomized controlled studies including a larger number of participants are warranted to overcome these limitations.

In conclusion, prehydration using a solution with salt was associated with a decrease in change in hearing thresholds after cisplatin chemotherapy in patients with head and neck cancers. Therefore, vigorous prehydration with a solution of salt may be helpful to prevent CIO in patients with head and neck cancers, except in circumstances in which overhydration would be a hazard.

## Notes

#### **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

#### Funding

This work was supported by Biomedical Research Institute grant, Kyungpook National University Hospital (2020).

#### Author contributions

Conceptualization: DJJ, MO, BJ; Investigation, Resources: EO, KYL; Data curation: DJJ, DA; Methodology: EO, DJJ; Formal analysis: DJJ, BJ; Supervision, Validation: MO; Funding acquisition: BJ, DA; Writing-original draft: DJJ; Writing-review & editing: KYL,DJJ, DA.

#### ORCID

Dongbin Ahn, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4977-7406 Kyu-Yup Lee, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7170-4847 Eunjung Oh, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2334-1735 Minji Oh, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2117-8604 Boseung Jung, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7669-6575 Da Jung Jung, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6178-6113

## References

- Rosenberg B, Vancamp L, Krigas T. Inhibition of cell division in Escherichia coli by electrolysis products from a platinum electrode. Nature 1965;205:698–9.
- 2. Laurell G, Bagger-Sjöbäck D. Dose-dependent inner ear changes after i.v. administration of cisplatin. J Otolaryngol 1991;20: 158–67.
- 3. Wu X, Li X, Song Y, Li H, Bai X, Liu W, et al. Allicin protects auditory hair cells and spiral ganglion neurons from cisplatin - induced apoptosis. Neuropharmacology 2017;116:429–40.
- Breglio AM, Rusheen AE, Shide ED, Fernandez KA, Spielbauer KK, McLachlin KM, et al. Cisplatin is retained in the cochlea indefinitely following chemotherapy. Nat Commun 2017;8:1654.
- Santos NA, Ferreira RS, Santos AC. Overview of cisplatin-induced neurotoxicity and ototoxicity, and the protective agents. Food Chem Toxicol 2020;136:111079.
- **6.** Horie S, Oya M, Nangaku M, Yasuda Y, Komatsu Y, Yanagita M, et al. Guidelines for treatment of renal injury during cancer chemotherapy 2016. Clin Exp Nephrol 2018;22:210–44.
- Earhart RH, Martin PA, Tutsch KD, Ertürk E, Wheeler RH, Bull FE. Improvement in the therapeutic index of cisplatin (NSC 119875) by pharmacologically induced chloruresis in the rat. Cancer Res 1983;43:1187–94.
- **8.** Daley-Yates PT, McBrien DC. A study of the protective effect of chloride salts on cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Biochem Pharmacol 1985;34:2363–9.
- **9.** Ahn D, Lee GJ, Sohn JH, Lee JE. Phase II trial of individualized/dynamic cisplatin regimens for definitive concurrent chemoradiation therapy in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Med 2020;9:9256–65.
- Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE v5.0). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute; 2017 [cited 2022 Jun 5]. https://ctep.cancer.gov/protocoldevelopment/electronic\_applications/ctc.htm#ctc\_50.
- Trendowski MR, El Charif O, Dinh PC Jr, Travis LB, Dolan ME. Genetic and modifiable risk factors contributing to cisplatin-induced toxicities. Clin Cancer Res 2019;25:1147–55.
- More SS, Akil O, Ianculescu AG, Geier EG, Lustig LR, Giacomini KM. Role of the copper transporter, CTR1, in platinum-induced ototoxicity. J Neurosci 2010;30:9500–9.

- 13. Ciarimboli G. Membrane transporters as mediators of cisplatin side-effects. Anticancer Res 2014;34:547–50.
- 14. Karasawa T, Steyger PS. An integrated view of cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity. Toxicol Lett 2015;237:219–27.
- 15. Duval M, Daniel SJ. Meta-analysis of the efficacy of amifostine in the prevention of cisplatin ototoxicity. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2012;41:309–15.
- 16. Freyer DR, Brock PR, Chang KW, Dupuis LL, Epelman S, Knight K, et al. Prevention of cisplatin-induced ototoxicity in children and adolescents with cancer: a clinical practice guideline. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020;4:141–50.
- 17. Paken J, Govender CD, Pillay M, Sewram V. Cisplatin-associated ototoxicity: a review for the health professional. J Toxicol

2016;2016:1809394.

- Paken J, Govender CD, Pillay M, Sewram V. A review of cisplatin-associated ototoxicity. Semin Hear 2019;40:108–21.
- Santoso JT, Lucci JA 3rd, Coleman RL, Schafer I, Hannigan EV. Saline, mannitol, and furosemide hydration in acute cisplatin nephrotoxicity: a randomized trial. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2003;52:13–8.
- 20. Tang Q, Wang X, Jin H, Mi Y, Liu L, Dong M, et al. Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity: updates on molecular mechanisms and otoprotective strategies. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2021;163:60–71.
- 21. Rabik CA, Dolan ME. Molecular mechanisms of resistance and toxicity associated with platinating agents. Cancer Treat Rev 2007;33:9–23.

## **Original article**

eISSN 2799-8010 J Yeungnam Med Sci 2023;40(2):172-178 https://doi.org/10.12701/jyms.2022.00500



# Comparison of the efficacy of erector spinae plane block according to the difference in bupivacaine concentrations for analgesia after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a retrospective study

## Yoo Jung Park, Sujung Chu, Eunju Yu, Jin Deok Joo

Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, St. Vincent's Hospital, College of Medicine, The Catholic University of Korea, Suwon, Korea

**Background:** Laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC) is a noninvasive surgery, but postoperative pain is a major problem. Studies have indicated that erector spinae plane block (ESPB) has an analgesic effect after LC. We aimed to compare the efficacy of different ESPB anesthetic concentrations in pain control in patients with LC.

**Methods:** This retrospective study included patients aged 20 to 75 years scheduled for LC with the American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status classification I or II. ESPB was administered using 0.375% bupivacaine in group 1 and 0.25% in group 2. Both groups received general anesthesia. Postoperative tramadol consumption and pain scores were compared and intraoperative and postoperative fentanyl requirements in the postanesthesia care unit (PACU) were measured.

**Results:** Eighty-five patients were included in this analysis. Tramadol consumption in the first 12 hours, second 12 hours, and total 24 hours was similar between groups (p>0.05). The differences between postoperative numeric rating scale (NRS) scores at rest did not differ significantly. The postoperative NRS scores upon bodily movement were not statistically different between the two groups, except at 12 hours. The mean intraoperative and postoperative fentanyl requirements in the PACU were similar. The difference in the requirement for rescue analgesics was not statistically significant (p=0.788).

**Conclusion:** Ultrasound-guided ESPB performed with different bupivacaine concentrations was effective in both groups for LC analgesia, with similar opioid consumption. A lower concentration of local anesthetic can be helpful for the safety of regional anesthesia and is recommended for the analgesic effect of ESPB in LC.

Keywords: Analgesia; Erector spinae plane block; Laparoscopic cholecystectomy; Postoperative pain; Ultrasound

## Introduction

Although laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC) is noninvasive, pain

in the immediate postoperative period is one of the most common patient concerns [1,2]. Patients undergoing LC may experience somatic pain originating from port-entry wounds and visceral pain

Received: July 15, 2022 • Revised: July 29, 2022 • Accepted: August 4, 2022 Corresponding author: Jin Deok Joo, MD, PhD

Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, St. Vincent's Hospital, College of Medicine, The Catholic University of Korea, 93 Jungbu-daero, Paldal-gu, Suwon 16247, Korea

Tel: + 82-31-249-8446 • Fax: + 82-31-249-8441 • E-mail: joojd@catholic.ac.kr

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

caused by gallbladder resection, abdominal insufflation, and peritoneal distention and damage [3]. The multimodal analgesic approach is a balanced and effective method for perioperative pain management and is important for regional anesthesia [4]. Multimodal treatments include regional anesthesia, regional analgesia, and analgesic medications for postoperative pain relief [5]. Regional anesthesia during surgery reduces the use of systemic medications, including opioids, for postoperative pain  $\begin{bmatrix} 6 \end{bmatrix}$ . Regional anesthesia for postoperative pain in LC includes epidural, paravertebral, and fascial plane blocks [3,7-14]. However, epidural and paravertebral blocks have the potential risk of complications such as hematoma, pneumothorax, and epidural abscess [15]. Fascial plane blocks, such as the transversus abdominis plane (TAP) block, rectus sheath block, and erector spinae plane block (ESPB), can reduce postoperative pain during abdominal surgeries [3,9-14]. Sympathetic block, hypotension, and epidural hematoma in patients with coagulopathy can be avoided using fascial plane blocks instead of epidural blocks [16].

ESPB is a peri-paravertebral fascial plane block that has been demonstrated to be an effective regional anesthetic intervention for analgesia following various types of surgery. ESPB is a safe and easy-to-perform fascial plane block. Several studies have demonstrated the analgesic effect of ESPB on post-cholecystectomy pain [3,9-14]. Despite a growing number of publications related to ESPB, the appropriate dose of local anesthetics for ESPB in LC remains unclear. In the present study, we compared the efficacy of ESPB using the same volume of different bupivacaine concentrations for postoperative analgesia in patients with LC.

## Methods

**Ethical statements:** This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of St. Vincent's Hospital (IRB No: VC22RISI0096). Due to the retrospective nature of the study, informed consent was waived. All procedures involving human participants were performed according to the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

### 1. Patients

The medical records of patients who underwent LC and ESPB with different doses of bupivacaine for postoperative analgesia between March 2019 and May 2020 were retrospectively analyzed. The inclusion criteria were patients 20 to 75 years of age who underwent LC and had American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status classification I or II. The exclusion criteria were as follows: patients with cognitive impairment, allergies to anesthetic agents, coagulation disorders, renal failure, hepatic failure, chronic opioid intoxication, and body mass index of > 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

#### 2. Anesthesia

Electrocardiography, peripheral oxygen saturation, noninvasive blood pressure, and bispectral index monitoring (BIS) were performed immediately after each patient entered the operating room (OR). Intravenous propofol (2–3 mg/kg), fentanyl (1  $\mu$ g/kg), and rocuronium bromide (0.6 mg/kg) were administered for anesthesia. General anesthesia was induced with a mixture of 60% air and 4% to 6% desflurane in oxygen. The desflurane concentration was maintained at a BIS value of 40 to 60.

### 3. Block procedures

After obtaining written informed consent for the procedure, the patients in both groups were placed in a sitting position before general anesthesia. In the first group (group 1), a high-frequency linear ultrasound probe (Philips Ultrasound, Bothwell, WA, USA) was placed longitudinally at the level of the T7 spinous process by the anesthesiologist. The T7 transverse process and erector spinae muscle were confirmed. An 80-mm 21-gauge block needle (Tuohy Needle, Taechang, Gongju, Korea) was inserted using an in-plane approach at an angle of 30° to 40° in the cranial-to-caudal direction using an aseptic procedure. The needle was advanced until the tip contacted the T7 transverse process. Twenty milliliters of 0.375% bupivacaine solution was injected deep into the erector spinae muscle by the anesthesiologist. The same procedure was performed with 20-mL 0.375% bupivacaine on the opposite side. In the second group (group 2), the ESPB procedure was performed as described above with 20-mL 0.25% bupivacaine solution. The same procedure was repeated with 20-mL 0.25% bupivacaine solution on the contralateral side. After the block procedure, the patients were placed in the supine position.

#### 4. Postoperative analgesia

At the end of surgery, the patients were provided with a patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) device for postoperative pain control. The patients received a 10-mg bolus of tramadol with a lockout time of 20 minutes without basal injection by the PCA device. Numeric rating scale (NRS) scores were recorded at 15 minutes and 1, 2, 6, 12, and 24 hours postoperatively. The patients received intravenous tramadol (50 mg) as a rescue analgesic when their NRS score was  $\geq$  4.

#### 5. Outcome measures

Total tramadol consumption 24 hours postoperatively, intraoperative fentanyl requirements in the OR, postoperative fentanyl requirements in the postanesthesia care unit (PACU), NRS scores at each time point (0.5, 1, 2, 6, and 12 hours), and total rescue analgesic consumption in the first 24 hours postoperatively were included as outcome measures. Surgery time was defined as the time from the beginning of surgery to skin-suture closure. The patients were monitored for procedure-related complications such as pneumothorax, infection, hematoma, and nerve injury. We also monitored postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) and shoulder pain during the first 24 hours postoperatively.

#### 6. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS ver. 26.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Quantitative data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation and median (range), whereas qualitative data are expressed as counts (percentages). Data normality was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The Mann-Whitney U test or independent *t*-test was used to compare continuous variables in the outcomes between the groups. Categorical variables were analyzed using the chi-square test or Fisher exact test, as appropriate. A *p*-value of < 0.05 was deemed significant for all comparisons between the groups.

## Results

We identified 95 patients who underwent ESPB for pain control after LC. The medical records of six patients were insufficient, and PCA was discontinued in four patients (Fig. 1). Eighty-five patients were included in this retrospective analysis. The demographic data of the patients are presented in Table 1. There were no significant differences in age, sex, ASA score, or other demographic characteristics such as height and weight between the groups. The duration of surgery was  $42.35 \pm 6.76$  minutes in group 1 and  $42.18 \pm 7.21$  minutes in group 2 (p=0.784).

The pain scores for each group are shown in Table 2. The NRS



**Fig. 1.** Flow diagram describing patient selection. PCA, patient-controlled analgesia.

scores at rest were not significantly different at each postoperative time point between the two groups. The postoperative NRS scores upon movement were similar between the groups at 15 minutes, 1 hour, 2 hours, 6 hours, and 24 hours, but were significantly different at 12 hours. Specifically, the postoperative NRS score at 12 hours was 2 in group 1 and 3 in group 2 (p = 0.035). However, the median NRS score remained < 3 for the first 24 hours after surgery.

Table 3 shows the total analgesic use during the first 24 hours postoperatively. Although fentanyl consumption in the OR and PACU was greater in group 2 than in group 1, the difference was not significant (p = 0.291 and p = 0.841, respectively). Tramadol consumption in the first 12 hours, second 12 hours, and total 24 hours did not differ significantly between the groups (p > 0.05).

#### Table 1. Descriptive variables of groups

Variable	Group 1	Group 2	<i>p</i> -value
No. of patients	40	45	
Sex, male:female	15:25	19:26	0.825
ASA PS classification I/II	17/23	20/25	>0.999
Age (yr)	51.58±14.16	51.36±14.13	0.943
Height (cm)	163.30±7.94	162.56±9.33	0.819
Weight (kg)	65.22 ± 12.04	66.74±17.47	0.764
Surgical duration (min)	42.35±6.76	42.18±7.21	0.784

Values are presented as number or mean±standard deviation. Group 1, 0.375% bupivacaine group; group 2, 0.25% bupivacaine group. ASA, American Society of Anesthesiologists; PS, physical status.

Table 2. Average NRS scores at rest and	upon movement/coughing
during the first 24 hours after surgery	

Time often encyclicy	NRS		
Time after operation	Group 1	Group 2	<i>p</i> -value
At rest			
15 min	2 (1–2)	2 (2–2)	0.210
1 hr	2 (2–2)	2 (2–2)	0.410
2 hr	2 (2–2)	2 (2–3)	0.056
6 hr	2 (2–2)	2 (2–3)	0.135
12 hr	2 (2-3)	2 (2–3)	0.132
24 hr	2 (1–2)	2 (1–2)	0.496
On movement			
15 min	2 (2–3)	2 (2–3)	0.305
1 hr	2 (2–3)	2 (2–3)	0.395
2 hr	2 (2–3)	2 (2–3)	0.427
6 hr	2 (2–3)	3 (2–3)	0.054
12 hr	2 (2–3)	3 (2–3)	0.035
24 hr	2 (1–2)	2 (2–3)	0.090

Values are presented as median (interquartile range).

Group 1, 0.375% bupivacaine group; group 2, 0.25% bupivacaine group. NRS, numeric rating scale.

Table 3. Intraoperative and postoperative analgesic requirements

Variable	Group 1	Group 2	<i>p</i> -value
Average fentanyl use (µg)			
Operative room	91.25±45.13	93.78±31.50	0.291
Recovery room	34.38±39.50	36.11 ± 40.08	0.841
Tramadol PCA (mg)			
First 12 hr	62.38±13.40	63.11 ± 11.93	0.600
Second 12 hr	$68.63 \pm 20.19$	$70.22 \pm 14.77$	0.399
Full 24 hr	$130.88 \pm 26.33$	$133.22 \pm 19.83$	0.470
Rescue analgesic requirements (mg)			
First 12 hr	17.50±26.68	17.78±28.52	0.944
Second 12 hr	12.50±21.18	14.44±25.83	0.928
Full 24 hr	30.00±41.68	32.22±51.57	0.788

Values are presented as mean ± standard deviation.

Group 1, 0.375% bupivacaine group; group 2, 0.25% bupivacaine group. First 12 hr, 0–12 hr; second 12 hr, 12–24 hr; full 24 hr, 0–24 hr. PCA, patient-controlled analgesia.

The average tramadol consumption (mg) in the first 24 hours was  $130.88 \pm 26.33$  mg for group 1 and  $133.22 \pm 19.83$  mg for group 2 (p = 0.470). The requirement for rescue analgesics in the ward was  $32.22 \pm 51.5$  mg in group 2 and  $30.00 \pm 41.68$  in group 1 at 24 hours postoperatively; the difference was not significant (p = 0.788).

Postoperative right shoulder pain was reported in four patients in group 1 and five patients in group 2 (Table 4). The frequency of PONV was comparable between the groups. No block-related complications, such as infection, bleeding, or pleural puncture, were reported in either group. No opioid-related side effects, such as pruritus, respiratory depression, and urinary retention, were reported in either group.

## Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, the present study is the first to compare the efficacy of ESPB using two concentrations of bupivacaine (0.25% and 0.375%) in patients undergoing LC with respect to postoperative pain scores, dose of rescue analgesics required in the postoperative period, and total tramadol consumption at 24 hours postoperatively.

Tramadol consumption was similar at both lower and higher concentrations of bupivacaine. The intraoperative fentanyl requirements and rescue analgesics after surgery were comparable between the two groups. The NRS scores of group 1 were similar to those of group 2 at rest. The NRS scores during movement were similar in both groups, except at 12 hours. The NRS score at 12 hours during movement was 2 in group 1 and 3 in group 2; however, both scores are considered clinically analgesic. In our study, ul-

<b>T</b> 1 1				· ·						
Table	4	Incid	ences	ot	Shou	Ider	nain	nausea	and	vomiting
- aoic			circes	<u> </u>	51100	ind Ci	pany	naascaj	ana	vonnenng

Variable	Group 1	Group 2	<i>p</i> -value
Shoulder pain			> 0.999
Yes	4 (10.0)	5 (11.1)	
No	36 (90.0)	40 (88.9)	
Nausea			0.813
Yes	11 (27.5)	14 (31.1)	
No	29 (72.5)	31 (68.9)	
Vomiting			0.679
Yes	2 (5.0)	4 (8.9)	
No	38 (95.0)	41 (91.1)	

Values are presented as number (%).

Group 1, 0.375% bupivacaine group; group 2, 0.25% bupivacaine group.

trasound-guided ESPB with two concentrations of bupivacaine (0.25% and 0.375%) was effective for managing postoperative pain after LC.

Pain following LC includes both somatic and visceral components, and multimodal analgesic methods have been used to reduce postoperative pain. A previous study demonstrated that the development of chronic pain in LC is related to early visceral pain [17]. Several analgesic approaches, such as regional anesthesia, regional analgesia, and analgesic medications, can reduce the risk of chronic pain development and are recommended during the perioperative period [5]. Multimodal therapy has been widely used for postoperative analgesia to decrease opioid-related side effects [18]. Regional anesthetic techniques such as epidural block, paravertebral block, TAP block, quadratus lumborum block, and ESPB have been developed for analgesia after LC [3,7-14].

Since 2016, ESPB has been used for pain control in various surgeries. Several studies have examined the use of ESPB for pain control in LC. A systematic review and meta-analysis conducted by Daghmouri et al. [19] showed that bilateral ultrasound-guided ESPB could be an effective treatment to reduce opioid consumption and the time to the first use of rescue analgesia. However, the concentration and volume of local anesthetics used to perform ESPB differ among reports [9-14]. There is no consensus on the use of anesthetics. The optimum volume and concentration of local anesthetic agents for ESPB remain unclear.

Tulgar et al. [11] evaluated bilateral ultrasound-guided ESPB for postoperative analgesia in patients with LC. Twenty milliliters of 0.375% bupivacaine was injected. The procedure was repeated on the contralateral side. Altıparmak et al. [9] performed ultrasound-guided ESPB versus oblique subcostal TAP block for postoperative analgesia in LC using 20-mL 0.375% bupivacaine. The same procedure was repeated with 20-mL 0.375% bupivacaine on the contralateral side. Cesur et al. [12] compared bilateral and unilateral ESPB for postoperative analgesia in patients with LC. Twenty milliliters of 0.25% bupivacaine was injected on the right side in the unilateral group and bilaterally in the bilateral group. Postoperative analgesia after LC was more effective in bilateral ESPB than in unilateral ESPB [12]. Vrsajkov et al. [13] reported that ESPB reduces pain after LC. Bilateral ESPB was performed with 20 mL of 0.25% levobupivacaine plus 2 mg of dexamethasone per side. Aygun et al. [10] performed bilateral ESPB or bilateral quadratus lumborum block and used a local anesthetic mixture consisting of 30-mL 0.5% bupivacaine, 10-mL 2% lidocaine, and 20-mL normal saline, with half of the mixture administered to each side. Ozdemir et al. [14] compared ESPB and subcostal TAP blocks for postoperative analgesia after LC. A local anesthetic mixture (10-mL 0.25% bupivacaine and 10-mL 2% prilocaine) was administered into the target space. The same procedure was repeated on the contralateral side.

Several studies have indicated that different local anesthetics at various concentrations and doses are effective for postoperative analgesia following LC [9-14]; however, no trials have been conducted to compare the efficacy of ESPB using different concentrations of these agents in LC. The allowable dose of bupivacaine is 150 to 175 mg [20]. We determined the comparative doses of bupivacaine as 20 mL of 0.375% and 0.25% because side effects can occur with systemic absorption. The dose of local anesthetic should be chosen by carefully weighing the risks and benefits of analgesia and associated side effects. Although regional anesthesia is safer than general anesthesia, overdosage and toxicity of local anesthetics are associated with severe mortality and morbidity, occurring in approximately 1 in 1,000 patients [21]. Local anesthetic systemic toxicity (LAST) can occur when local anesthetics are administered, and is related to the serum concentration of the drug absorbed into the circulation [20]. This serum concentration is affected by the dose, site, and method of drug administration. Ultrasound has been reported to decrease the risk of LAST by 60% to 65% compared with peripheral nervous stimulation alone [22]. However, LAST continued to occur even with ultrasound, and ultrasound guidance did not affect the risk of LAST due to the systemic absorption of local agents. Advances in regional anesthesia, such as the advent of high-volume fascial plane blocks, have contributed to the continued risk of LAST [23,24]. Fascial plane blocks require large-volume (>20 mL) injections of local anesthetics into the fascial plane between muscles. Since muscles usually have abundant vascular supply, there is a significant risk of LAST due to systemic absorption of local agents [25,26]. Toju et al. [26] demonstrated that administration of ropivacaine at 3 mg/kg for subcostal TAP block rapidly increased the plasma concentration of the anesthetic during the first 2 hours after the block. The peak

plasma concentration nearly reached the threshold of systemic toxicity. Other factors, such as the patient's age and condition, including renal dysfunction, liver dysfunction, heart failure, and pregnancy, should be considered prior to regional anesthesia. Old age and renal, hepatic, and cardiac dysfunction reduce the clearance of local anesthetics from the body [6]. The metabolism and excretion of local anesthetics are important determinants of serum drug concentrations [20]. The decrease in clearance of local anesthetics associated with renal, liver, and heart diseases is the most important reason for dose reduction during repeated or continuous anesthetic administration. In hepatic or renal dysfunction, clearance is reduced with the retention of local anesthetics and certain metabolites in the body [20]. Older people have reduced organ function. Therefore, lower concentrations of regional anesthetics should be cautiously selected for older individuals. Doses should be modified according to age- and disease-related effects on the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of local anesthetics. Limiting the drug dose may contribute to a lower risk of LAST [27]. Lower concentrations and doses of local anesthetics should also be used if epinephrine is omitted [28].

In the literature, most studies did not indicate significant complications after ESPB in LC [19]. A case of pneumothorax after ESPB has been previously reported [29]. An alternative approach using a transverse view of the vertebra and an in-plane lateral-to-medial approach can reduce pneumothorax during ESPB at low thoracic level [30]. ESPB has been used for only several years. Thus, with the increased use of ultrasound-guided ESPB, more complications will occur.

With an increase in the concentration of local anesthetics in the systemic circulation, various signs and symptoms of effects on the cardiovascular and central nervous systems can occur. The immediate management of LAST includes general safety and resuscitation. Early lipid emulsion therapy, prompt seizure management, and supportive cardiovascular pharmacotherapy are necessary [27].

In this study, 0.25% bupivacaine was found to have a clinical effect on postoperative pain. Similarly, several studies have also performed ESPB using 20 mL of 0.25% bupivacaine and obtained effective postoperative analgesia after LC [12,13]. Low concentrations of local anesthetics may have a more positive effect than high concentrations. Bilateral ESPB following LC provides more effective analgesia than unilateral ESPB [12] but requires more volume due to the two sides of treatment, which can cause systemic toxicity. Therefore, the use of lower concentrations of local anesthetics can reduce the risk of systemic toxicity and potential complications of local anesthetics [31]. Furthermore, body weight is important for local anesthetic concentrations. If the body weight of a patient

receiving ESPB is low, the risk of toxicity increases [20]. The minimum dose of a local anesthetic agent with maximal effect can increase the safety of regional anesthesia [20].

PONV is one of the most common and painful postoperative adverse effects. The main risk factors for PONV are a history of motion sickness or PONV, postoperative opioids, female sex, and non-smoking status [32]. The use of regional analgesia usually reduces the need for systemic medications such as opioids [6]. In the present study, the incidence of PONV was comparable between groups.

In our study, the incidence of postoperative shoulder pain was similar between groups. However, the mechanisms underlying shoulder pain after LC remain unclear. Shoulder pain occurs because of irritation of the diaphragm and referred pain from the phrenic nerve [33]. Postoperative shoulder pain may increase with high-pressure pneumoperitoneum and has been shown to be reduced by removal of the remaining gas [34]. Cesur et al. [12] reported that bilateral ESPB decreased shoulder pain postoperatively compared to unilateral ESPB.

This study has some limitations. First, we performed block intervention while the patient was conscious before intubation for general anesthesia. Thus, we did not check the sensory dermatome of the block or risk of block failure. However, we performed ESPB to observe how the drug spreads to the erector spinae plane at the proper target area using ultrasound in real time. Second, we compared the effects of ESPB using different concentrations of local anesthetics within the first 24 hours after surgery. We were unable to study the long-term effects of each block on the chronic phase of cholecystectomy pain. Furthermore, this study did not include control or sham groups, and the placebo effect was unclear.

Ultrasound-guided ESPB using different concentrations of bupivacaine provided clinical analgesic effects and led to similar opioid consumption in both groups. A lower concentration of local anesthetic may reduce the risk of local anesthetic toxicity and can be recommended for safe postoperative analgesia during ESPB following LC.

## Notes

### **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

## Funding

None.

#### Author contributions

Conceptualization: SC, JDJ; Data curation, Investigation: SC; Formal analysis, Supervision: JDJ; Methodology: YJP; Writing-original draft: YJP; Writing-review & editing: EY.

### ORCID

Yoo Jung Park, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0152-2869 Sujung Chu, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4107-3153 Eunju Yu, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4024-3360 Jin Deok Joo, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4365-7091

## References

- 1. Alexander JI. Pain after laparoscopy. Br J Anaesth 1997;79:369–78.
- 2. Gerbershagen HJ, Aduckathil S, van Wijck AJ, Peelen LM, Kalkman CJ, Meissner W. Pain intensity on the first day after surgery: a prospective cohort study comparing 179 surgical procedures. Anesthesiology 2013;118:934–44.
- Shin HJ, Oh AY, Baik JS, Kim JH, Han SH, Hwang JW. Ultrasound-guided oblique subcostal transversus abdominis plane block for analgesia after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a randomized, controlled, observer-blinded study. Minerva Anestesiol 2014;80:185–93.
- Kehlet H. Postoperative pain, analgesia, and recovery-bedfellows that cannot be ignored. Pain 2018;159(9 Suppl 1):S11–6.
- 5. Fregoso G, Wang A, Tseng K, Wang J. Transition from acute to chronic pain: evaluating risk for chronic postsurgical pain. Pain Physician 2019;22:479–88.
- 6. Safa R, Sadovnikoff N. Anesthesia for patients with concomitant cardiac and renal dysfunction. Anesthesiol Clin 2016; 34:697–710.
- 7. Erol DD, Yilmaz S, Polat C, Arikan Y. Efficacy of thoracic epidural analgesia for laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Adv Ther 2008;25:45–52.
- Aydin G, Aydin O. The efficacy of ultrasound-guided paravertebral block in laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Medicina (Kaunas) 2018;54:75.
- 9. Altıparmak B, Korkmaz Toker M, Uysal AI, Kuşçu Y, Gümüş Demirbilek S. Ultrasound-guided erector spinae plane block versus oblique subcostal transversus abdominis plane block for postoperative analgesia of adult patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy: randomized, controlled trial. J Clin Anesth 2019;57:31–6.
- Aygun H, Kavrut Ozturk N, Pamukcu AS, Inal A, Kiziloglu I, Thomas DT, et al. Comparison of ultrasound guided erector

spinae plane block and quadratus lumborum block for postoperative analgesia in laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients; a prospective randomized study. J Clin Anesth 2020;62:109696.

- Tulgar S, Kapakli MS, Senturk O, Selvi O, Serifsoy TE, Ozer Z. Evaluation of ultrasound-guided erector spinae plane block for postoperative analgesia in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a prospective, randomized, controlled clinical trial. J Clin Anesth 2018;49:101–6.
- 12. Cesur S, Y R Ko Lu HU, Aksu C, Ku A. Bilateral versus unilateral erector spinae plane block for postoperative analgesia in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a randomized controlled study. Braz J Anesthesiol 2023;73:72-7.
- Vrsajkov V, Ilić N, Uvelin A, Ilić R, Lukić-Šarkanović M, Plećaš-Đurić A. Erector spinae plane block reduces pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Anaesthesist 2021;70(Suppl 1):48–52.
- 14. Ozdemir H, Araz C, Karaca O, Turk E. Comparison of ultrasound-guided erector spinae plane block and subcostal transversus abdominis plane block for postoperative analgesia after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a randomized, controlled trial. J Invest Surg 2022;35:870–7.
- 15. Liu H, Brown M, Sun L, Patel SP, Li J, Cornett EM, et al. Complications and liability related to regional and neuraxial anesthesia. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2019;33:487–97.
- 16. Albrecht E, Chin KJ. Advances in regional anaesthesia and acute pain management: a narrative review. Anaesthesia 2020;75 (Suppl 1):e101–10.
- Blichfeldt-Eckhardt MR, Ording H, Andersen C, Licht PB, Toft P. Early visceral pain predicts chronic pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Pain 2014;155:2400–7.
- 18. Kumar K, Kirksey MA, Duong S, Wu CL. A review of opioid-sparing modalities in perioperative pain management: methods to decrease opioid use postoperatively. Anesth Analg 2017;125:1749–60.
- 19. Daghmouri MA, Akremi S, Chaouch MA, Mesbahi M, Amouri N, Jaoua H, et al. Bilateral erector spinae plane block for postoperative analgesia in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Pain Pract 2021;21:357–65.
- 20. Rosenberg PH, Veering BT, Urmey WF. Maximum recommended doses of local anesthetics: a multifactorial concept. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2004;29:564–75.
- 21. Barrington MJ, Watts SA, Gledhill SR, Thomas RD, Said SA, Snyder GL, et al. Preliminary results of the Australasian Regional Anaesthesia Collaboration: a prospective audit of more than 7000 peripheral nerve and plexus blocks for neurologic and

other complications. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2009;34:534-41.

- 22. Barrington MJ, Kluger R. Ultrasound guidance reduces the risk of local anesthetic systemic toxicity following peripheral nerve blockade. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2013;38:289–99.
- 23. El-Boghdadly K, Pawa A. The erector spinae plane block: plane and simple. Anaesthesia 2017;72:434–8.
- 24. Forero M, Adhikary SD, Lopez H, Tsui C, Chin KJ. The erector spinae plane block: a novel analgesic technique in thoracic neuropathic pain. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2016;41:621–7.
- 25. Murouchi T, Iwasaki S, Yamakage M. Chronological changes in ropivacaine concentration and analgesic effects between transversus abdominis plane block and rectus sheath block. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2015;40:568–71.
- **26.** Toju K, Shiraishi K, Hakozaki T, Isosu T, Murakawa M. Plasma ropivacaine concentration following ultrasound-guided subcostal transversus abdominis plane block in adults. J Anesth 2015; 29:146–8.
- El-Boghdadly K, Pawa A, Chin KJ. Local anesthetic systemic toxicity: current perspectives. Local Reg Anesth 2018;11:35– 44.
- 28. Miranda P, Corvetto MA, Altermatt FR, Araneda A, Echevarría GC, Cortínez LI. Levobupivacaine absorption pharmacokinetics with and without epinephrine during TAP block: analysis of doses based on the associated risk of local anaesthetic toxicity. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2016;72:1221–7.
- 29. Hamilton DL. Pneumothorax following erector spinae plane block. J Clin Anesth 2019;52:17.
- **30.** Piraccini E, Poggi P, Maitan S. An alternative approach to reduce the risk of pneumothorax during erector spinae plane block in low thoracic vertebral levels. J Clin Anesth 2020;59:14–5.
- 31. Macfarlane AJ, Gitman M, Bornstein KJ, El-Boghdadly K, Weinberg G. Updates in our understanding of local anaesthetic systemic toxicity: a narrative review. Anaesthesia 2021;76(Suppl 1):27–39.
- 32. Apfel CC, Heidrich FM, Jukar-Rao S, Jalota L, Hornuss C, Whelan RP, et al. Evidence-based analysis of risk factors for postoperative nausea and vomiting. Br J Anaesth 2012;109: 742–53.
- 33. Lee DH, Song T, Kim KH, Lee KW. Incidence, natural course, and characteristics of postlaparoscopic shoulder pain. Surg Endosc 2018;32:160–5.
- 34. Barazanchi AW, MacFater WS, Rahiri JL, Tutone S, Hill AG, Joshi GP, et al. Evidence-based management of pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a PROSPECT review update. Br J Anaesth 2018;121:787–803.
# **Original article**



# Experience of operating a medical humanities course at one medical school during the COVID-19: a retrospective study

Yu Ra Kim<sup>1</sup>, Hye-won Shin<sup>2</sup>, Young Hwan Lee<sup>1</sup>, Seong-Yong Kim<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medical Humanities, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Daegu, Korea <sup>2</sup>Department of Medical Education, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Daegu, Korea

**Background:** This study summarizes the experience of operating a 'Medical Humanities' course, which was taught remotely to maintain activities and discussions at medical schools in Daegu, Korea during the sudden and unexpected coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).

**Methods:** The subjects of this study were 73 first- and 79 second-grade medical students who took the medical humanities (1) and (2) courses among first- and second-grade students of Yeungnam University College of Medicine in 2020. Of the 152 students who agreed to the online survey, 123 completed the survey. Self-, environmental, and program evaluations were conducted on the study subjects, and differences according to grade and gender were analyzed.

**Results:** As a result of the study, a significant difference between self-evaluation and environmental evaluation was confirmed. Self-evaluation was determined to be higher in the first grade than in the second grade. The environmental evaluation showed that male students were more satisfied than female students and students generally had difficulties in the classroom environment. Of the applications used in class, the highest satisfaction was observed with KakaoTalk (Kakao Corp.) and Zoom (Zoom Video Communications Inc.). At the end of COVID-19, the students preferred online classes.

**Conclusion:** If the learning environment for online classes is well prepared and systematic provisions are made, such as class operations that are suitable for the subject, effective education and learning can be achieved by taking advantage of both face-to-face and online classes.

Keywords: COVID-19; Medical education; Medical humanities; Medical students; Online classes

# Introduction

In 2020, the world was experiencing a pandemic due to the rapid spread of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). The COVID-19 pandemic is considered the most powerful pandemic since the Spanish flu of 1918, which was recorded as the first pandemic of humankind [1]. Outbreaks of 2002 to 2003 severe acute respiratory syndrome and 2015 Middle East respiratory syndrome showed high mortality rates, but are not considered pandemics. As the first pandemic since the 2009 swine flu, COVID-19 caused fear and

Corresponding author: Seong-Yong Kim, MD, PhD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Received: June 14, 2022 • Revised: July 29, 2022 • Accepted: August 4, 2022

Department of Medical Education, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, 170 Hyeonchung-ro, Nam-gu, Daegu 42415, Korea Tel: +82-53-640-6987 • Fax: +82-53-628-4383 • E-mail: seongyong@med.yu.ac.kr

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

confusion around the world due to its rapid infection and mortality rates.

Previous outbreaks of infectious diseases have also caused great losses to individuals, society, and the economy; however, these effects are difficult to compare with those of COVID-19. The COVID-19 pandemic is rated as the world's largest medical catastrophe, causing the largest economic loss since World War II. COVID-19 quickly spread to more than 200 countries on five continents within a few months, completely changing the lives of people around the world, including their economies, societies, and cultures [2]. One of the biggest changes was a change in communication, which appeared the fastest in the education field [3].

During COVID-19, online education, which had been provided previously by educational facilities with special purposes, such as cyber universities, was adopted by all universities across the country, and each school had no choice but to undergo trial and error to provide high-quality online education in the absence of preparation [4]. With the transition from face-to-face to online classes, both students and professors were faced with the task of adapting to online teaching and learning within a short period of time.

In particular, because of the nature of the curriculum dealing with human life, medical school education has a large number of subjects and a large amount of material to learn. Classes are centered on practice and case studies, increasing the impact of forced remote learning [4].

In the last decade, medical school education has been transforming education by implementing team-facilitated, active, and self-directed learning. In most medical schools today, discussion-oriented problem-based learning, small-group activities, clinical practice, and academic projects occupy a large part of medical school education, and the educational effectiveness of these practices has been recognized [5].

Prior to COVID-19, medical education was based on meetings in physical space, and this rapidly changed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The entire process of medical education shifted online through platforms, and this phenomenon was common in all countries, including the United States, the United Kingdom, Canada, and other countries with advanced education. Medical school students around the world had to adapt quickly to homebased learning, and some medical school students lost sight of their educational goals during the transition to online courses [6-9].

Korea was no exception to this change. Korea was classified as a country with entry restrictions by almost all other countries due to an explosive increase in the number of confirmed cases since the first confirmed case of COVID-19 in February 2020. In particular, in the Daegu and Gyeongbuk regions, the COVID-19 situation

was so serious that 82% of all confirmed cases in Korea occurred in these regions as of March 30, 2020, resulting in the declaration of a special disaster area [10]. Under these circumstances, medical colleges in Daegu and Gyeongbuk had no choice but to utilize nonface-to-face online curricula.

In Korea's medical education, medical humanities education aims to cultivate competence in affective areas necessary for future doctors, rather than to simply transfer knowledge. Activity-oriented educational methods, such as team-facilitated, active, and self-directed learning, have been widely applied for this purpose. Yeungnam University College of Medicine operates a series of subjects called 'Medical Humanities' for integrated humanities education.

This study summarizes the experience of operating the 'Medical Humanities' course, which had been operated mainly in person at a medical school in the Daegu area, in an online classes setting during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Yeungnam University College of Medicine's 'Medical Humanities' series courses are offered in all grades. The students are divided into 12 groups for each grade, and group guidance professors are assigned. This subject consists of activity-oriented topics, discussion-oriented topics, peer evaluation, and portfolio evaluation, with the guidance of professors and students at the center. This course is designed and operated as a learning method in which interactions between professors and students and between students and students are important. Before COVID-19, all class activities in the 'Medical Humanities' subject were conducted face-to-face, but due to COVID-19, all meetings and activities had to be conducted online classes. Accordingly, students' experiences with online classes medical humanities subjects were studied.

# 1. Yeungnam University College of Medicine: Medical Humanities course

Yeungnam University College of Medicine's 'Medical Humanities' course series is a unique subject of the College of Medicine for the education of integrated medical humanities. With the underlying principles of coordination and integration of basic medicine, clinical medicine, and medical humanities, currently, medical humanities (1), medical humanities (2), medical humanities (3), and medical humanities (4) courses corresponding to the first, second, third, and fourth grade of medicine are being offered, respectively.

This medical school operated a four and six grades School of Medicine in parallel, but closed the School of Medicine in 2015 and switched in 2017 to a full-scale College of Medicine system of six grades from freshmen level. Accordingly, the College tried to design a curriculum that connects the premedical department to the medical department through curriculum reform. In addition, to operate a curriculum for the harmonization and integration of basic medicine, clinical medicine, and medical humanities, medical humanities-related subjects from the second semester of the second grade of the premedical department, where the basic medical curriculum begins, to the fourth grade of the medical department, were linked and integrated.

In particular, to establish an integrated medical humanities school in the Department of Medicine, where studying as a fullfledged medical student begins, medical humanities (1), medical humanities (2), medical humanities (3), and medical humanities (4) courses correspond to the first, second, third, and fourth grades of medicine were newly established. Medical humanities courses were taught from freshmen year in 2017 and were then offered sequentially in subsequent years; currently, medical humanities (1) to (4) are offered.

Classes in medical humanities (1) and (2) consist of special lectures, discussions, and group cultural activities. In the special lecture, the same subject is taught in every other grade, and the firstand second-grade students of the medical department are required to take the same subject. The evaluation method consists of portfolio professor, peer, and absolute evaluations, and group activity experiences are shared through a comprehensive presentation at the end of the semester.

The subject of medical humanities (3) is medical humanities education within the clinical practice curriculum, and important major tasks within medical humanities are selected and experienced directly through third-grade clinical practice subjects of the medical department. Medical humanities (4) comprehensively practices previous medical humanities topics, and the Good Work Project is implemented. An outline of the 'Medical Humanities' subject series at Yeungnam University College of Medicine is shown in Table 1.

# Methods

**Ethical statements:** Prior to the survey, a consent form was provided and an online test was designed so that only students who agreed to voluntarily participate could respond. The survey was designed such that it could be stopped immediately if desired, and these matters were disclosed. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Yeungnam University Hospital (IRB No: 2020-10-037-004).

# 1. Subjects

The subjects of this study were 73 first- and 79 second-grade medical students who took the medical humanities (1) and (2) courses among the first- and second-grade medical students of Yeungnam University College of Medicine in 2020. Thus, a total of 152 students were enrolled in the study.

The first-grade medical students took the 'medical humanities' course for the first time and experienced the online classes medical humanities (1) course without having experienced the face-to-face course. The second-grade medical students had experienced the face-to-face medical humanities (1) course in 2019 and the online classes medical humanities (2) course in 2020.

## 2. Instruments

The previously developed and implemented Yeungnam University College of Medicine education program questionnaire was revised and supplemented with questions suitable for medical humanities subjects, and online classes-centered medical humanities class-related questions were developed. Three medical education experts and two pedagogical experts participated in questionnaire development. The questionnaire consisted of self-, environmental, and program evaluations. The self-evaluation consisted of participation

Cubicat name	Medical humanities course						
Subject name	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)			
Grade	Department of Medicine 1	Department of Medicine 2	Department of Medicine 3	Department of Medicine 4			
Core contents	Medical humanities in basic medical curriculum	Medical humanities in basic medical curriculum	Medical humanities in the clin- ical practice curriculum	Medical humanities as a pro- spective doctor			
Main activities	Medical humanities special lec- tures and discussions, cultural activities	Medical humanities special lec- tures and discussions, cultural activities	Important medical humanities task by clerkship	Good work project during clerk- ship			
Assessment methods	Portfolio, peer evaluation, pro- fessor evaluation	Portfolio, peer evaluation, pro- fessor evaluation	Portfolio, peer evaluation, pro- fessor evaluation	Performance plan and process evaluation, peer evaluation, professor evaluation			
	Pass/Fail	Pass/Fail	Pass/Fail	Pass/Fail			
Course duration	Semester 1, 2	Semester 1, 2	Semester 1, 2	Semester 1			

Table 1. Yeungnam University College of Medicine humanities courses outline

and sincerity components, and the environmental evaluation focused on difficulties in the class environment, discussion places in the class, satisfaction with applications used for class discussions, and satisfaction with professors in charge of each group. The program evaluation emphasized satisfaction with online classes medical humanities classes, application satisfaction, preferred teaching methods after COVID-19, and evaluation-method satisfaction.

#### 3. Data collection

From January 5, 2021 to January 30, 2021, when the medical humanifies (1) and (2) courses were completed, an online survey was conducted with the research subjects, including the announcement of research participant recruitment and the consent form. The survey site address was sent to the students' mobile phones, and the research purpose, method, and content were explained in detail in the recruitment notice prior to the survey. Then, by accessing the address of the online survey site, the students were asked to complete the online consent form and survey.

#### 4. Statistical analysis

The collected data were analyzed using IBM SPSS ver. 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) as follows. First, an independent sample t-test was conducted to verify the differences in medical school years and genders for the self-evaluation, 'classroom environment and satisfaction with the guidance of the professor in charge' for the environmental evaluation, and 'teaching method and evaluation method' for the program evaluation. Second, a cross-analysis was conducted to confirm the preference according to grade and gender for the 'discussion places in the class' and 'applications used for class discussions' in the learning environment.

# **Results**

#### 1. Characteristics of research participants

A total of 152 people who completed medical humanities (1) and medical humanities (2) were asked to respond, and 123 students (response rate, 80.9%) who agreed to participate in this study were selected as research subjects. Of the 123 final study participants, 77 (62.6%) were men and 46(37.4%) were women. There were 48first-grade medical students (40.0%) and 72 second-grade medical students (60.0%) (Table 2).

# 2. Differences in satisfaction with self-evaluation, classroom environment evaluation, and program evaluation according to gender and grade

Independent sample *t*-tests were conducted to determine whether there were differences in 'participation and sincerity' in the

3. Differences in application satisfaction levels by gender and grade To confirm the difference in satisfaction with applications used in class discussions during the COVID-19 pandemic in the classroom environmental evaluation, independent sample *t*-tests were conducted on KakaoTalk (Kakao Corp., Jeju, Korea), Zoom (Zoom Video Communications, San Jose, CA, USA), Google Classroom (Google Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA), Google Form (Google Inc.), face-to-face meetings, and others. Satisfaction

with KakaoTalk and Zoom was the highest, and satisfaction with Google Form was the lowest. A statistically significant difference was found in Google Form satisfaction according to gender (p < 0.05); female students scored 3.52, which was significantly higher than

To confirm the difference in satisfaction with the applications used during the COVID-19 pandemic according to medical school grade, independent sample t-tests were conducted on KakaoTalk, Zoom, Google Classroom, Google Form, face-to-face meetings, and others. The results showed that satisfaction with Ka-

the score of male students (2.92) (Table 4).

#### Table 2. The gender and medical course grade of the subjects

Gandar	Medical co	Total	
Genuer	1	2	TOLAT
Male	31 (40.3)	46 (59.7)	77 (100)
Female	17 (37.0)	29 (63.0)	46 (100)
Total	48 (39.0)	75 (61.0)	123 (100)

Values are presented as number (%).

self-evaluation, 'satisfaction with the classroom environment and guidance of the professor in charge' in the environmental evaluation, and 'satisfaction with the teaching method and evaluation method' in the program evaluation according to gender. A statistically significant difference was confirmed in the 'difficulty of the classroom environment' in the environmental evaluation, and it was found that male students were more satisfied than female students (2.25 vs. 1.76, *p* < 0.05) (Table 3).

To determine whether there were differences in 'degree of participation and sincerity' in the self-evaluation, 'difficulty in the class environment, satisfaction with the guidance of the professor in charge' in the class environmental evaluation, and 'online classes medical humanities class satisfaction, and satisfaction with evaluation method' in the program evaluation according to medical school grade, independent sample t-tests were performed. A statistically significant difference was found in the degree of participation and the sincerity of self-evaluation (p < 0.05). Both participation and sincerity were higher in the first grade of medical school than in the second grade of medical school (Table 4).

Self-evaluation		Classroom en	vironment evaluation	Program evaluation			
Division	Division No. Participation		Sincerity	Difficulty in the class environment	Guidance of the professor in charge	Online classes medical humanities	Evaluation method
Gender							
Male	77	$4.00 \pm 0.87$	$3.91 \pm 1.02$	$2.25 \pm 1.23$	$3.92 \pm 0.89$	$4.08 \pm 0.96$	$3.92 \pm 0.89$
Female	46	$3.80 \pm 0.81$	$4.11 \pm 0.71$	$1.76 \pm 0.99$	$4.09 \pm 0.81$	$4.33 \pm 0.73$	$4.09 \pm 0.81$
<i>p</i> -value		0.219	0.202	0.025	0.305	0.133	0.305
Grade							
1	48	$4.19 \pm 0.79$	$4.02 \pm 0.86$	$2.00 \pm 1.13$	$4.02 \pm 0.86$	$4.21 \pm 0.92$	$4.02 \pm 0.86$
2	75	$3.76 \pm 0.85$	$3.96 \pm 0.86$	$2.11 \pm 1.19$	$3.96 \pm 0.86$	4.15±0.87	$3.96 \pm 0.86$
<i>p</i> -value		0.006	0.002	0.622	0.703	0.708	0.703
Total	123	$3.93 \pm 0.85$	$3.98 \pm 0.91$	$2.07 \pm 1.16$	$4.23 \pm 0.77$	$4.17 \pm 0.88$	$3.98 \pm 0.86$

Table 3. Differences in satisfaction with self-evaluation, classroom environment evaluation, and program evaluation according to gender and medical course grade

Values are presented as mean ± standard deviation.

#### Table 4. Application satisfaction by gender

Application	Male		Fem	Female		
	No. of subjects	Mean ± SD	No. of subjects	Mean ± SD	- <i>p</i> -value	
KakaoTalk	73	$4.14 \pm 0.82$	42	$4.29 \pm 0.74$	0.335	
Zoom	65	$3.42 \pm 0.98$	33	$3.64 \pm 1.14$	0.322	
Google Classroom	48	$2.85 \pm 1.07$	24	$3.00 \pm 0.98$	0.577	
Google Form	48	$2.92 \pm 1.07$	21	$3.52 \pm 0.93$	0.027	
Face-to-face meeting	49	$2.71 \pm 1.15$	22	$2.45 \pm 1.01$	0.366	
Others	42	$3.31 \pm 0.90$	22	$3.32 \pm 0.99$	0.972	

SD, standard deviation.

KakaoTalk, Kakao Corp., Jeju, Korea; Zoom, Zoom Video Communications, San Jose, CA, USA; Google Classroom, Google Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA; Google Form, Google Inc.

kaoTalk and Zoom was the highest, and a statistically significant difference was found in satisfaction with Zoom according to the school grade level (p < 0.01). The satisfaction of first-grade students was 3.88, which was found to be significantly higher than that of second-grade students (3.20) (Table 5).

# 4. Preferred discussion places and class methods post-COVID-19 pandemic by gender and grade

To confirm the preference for discussion places that were mainly used in the medical humanities class after the COVID-19 pandemic ended, the students were allowed to choose home, cafe, reading room, or 'others.' In addition, face-to-face, online classes, or 'it does not matter' could be selected as the preferred teaching method.

Most of the students preferred to discuss at home. After the COVID-19 pandemic was over, 55 students (44.7%) preferred online classes, 48 students (39.0%) had no preference, 17 students (13.8%) preferred face-to-face classes, and three students (2.4%) preferred some other situation.

A cross-analysis was conducted to confirm the difference in the preferred discussion place and teaching method after COVID-19 by gender, but no statistically significant difference was found (p < 0.05). In addition, a cross-analysis was conducted to confirm the difference in the preferred discussion place and teaching method after COVID-19 by medical school grade, but no statistically significant difference was found (p < 0.05) (Table 6).

# Discussion

This study examined the experiences with online classes medical humanities courses of medical students who faced sudden changes due to COVID-19. Some of these students had already experienced active activity-centered medical humanities classes before COVID-19. The recommendations based on the research results are as follows.

First, despite the sudden situation caused by COVID-19, medical students were found to be highly satisfied overall with online medical humanities classes according to self-evaluation and program evaluation; however, it was found that difficulties in the class environment were great.

The difficulties in the classroom environment due to suddenly

Application	Grade 1		Grad	Grade 2		
	No. of subjects	Mean ± SD	No. of subjects	Mean ± SD	<i>p</i> -value	
KakaoTalk	45	4.36±0.77	70	$4.09 \pm 0.79$	0.075	
Zoom	42	$3.88 \pm 0.92$	56	$3.20 \pm 1.03$	0.001	
Google Classroom	29	$3.14 \pm 1.06$	43	$2.74 \pm 1.00$	0.115	
Google Form	29	$3.28 \pm 1.13$	40	$2.98 \pm 1.00$	0.247	
Face-to-face meeting	31	$2.81 \pm 1.25$	40	$2.50 \pm 0.99$	0.252	
Others	28	$3.50 \pm 0.88$	36	$3.17 \pm 0.94$	0.154	

Table 5. Application	satisfaction	according t	to medical	course	grade

SD, standard deviation.

KakaoTalk, Kakao Corp., Jeju, Korea; Zoom, Zoom Video Communications, San Jose, CA, USA; Google Classroom, Google Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA; Google Form, Google Inc.

Table 6. Preferred discussion	places and class methods after the COVID-	pandemic end accordin	ng to gender a	and medical course of	grade

Variable	Gender			Grade			Total
Variable	Male	Female	<i>p</i> -value	1	2	<i>p</i> -value	TOLAT
Discussion place							
Home	65 (60.2)	43 (39.8)	0.137	45 (41.7)	63 (58.3)	0.107	108 (100)
Others	12 (80.0)	3 (20.0)		3 (20.0)	12 (80.0)		15 (100)
Total	77 (62.6)	46 (37.4)		48 (39.0)	75 (61.0)		123 (100)
Teaching method							
Face-to-face	13 (76.5)	4 (23.5)	0.621	7 (41.2)	10 (58.8)	0.701	17 (100)
Online classes	34 (61.8)	21 (38.2)		21 (38.2)	34 (61.8)		55 (100)
Does not matter	28 (58.3)	20 (41.7)		20 (41.7)	28 (58.3)		48 (100)
Others	2 (66.7)	1 (33.3)		0 (0)	3 (100)		3 (100)
Total	77 (62.6)	46 (37.4)		48 (39.0)	75 (61.0)		123 (100)

Values are presented as number (%).

COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019.

adopting online classes can be considered to be caused by changes resulting from COVID-19. The biggest change caused by COVID-19 was a change in communication, and it first appeared in the education field [3]. As schools rapidly shifted from in-person to online classes, medical school students were reported to experience problems due to ill-prepared classes and learning environments resulting from the sudden change in online class structure [11]. Due to COVID-19, the learning space called 'school' disappeared for students, and medical students, in particular, were reported to have difficulties due to the loss of the learning space where they spent most of their time studying [12,13].

In this study, it was found that most students attended medical humanities classes and had discussions at home. In the sudden transition to online classes, despite providing the students with basics such as a medium and space for classes and learning, the students had to prepare by themselves, and there were many difficulties due to the sudden pandemic situation. In addition, medical school students had problems adjusting to online classes due to ill-prepared online education and professors who had no experience in preparing online lectures [2].

Second, when comparing various applications such as Zoom, Google Classroom, Google Forms, and face-to-face meetings, it was found that students preferred Zoom and KakaoTalk.

It has already been reported that Zoom is the application with which college students are most satisfied in practice classes because it enables instant conversation and chatting with other parties in real time [14]. Because KakaoTalk also allows real-time conversations, student satisfaction should be high. Various studies and methods have been proposed to solve the problems of real-time conversations in situations where online classes are inevitable. In online classes, a virtual whiteboard that enables mutual communication, collaborative thinking, and an interactive pad for stimulating learner participation has been developed and presented [15]. Therefore, in online classes, professors should apply a teaching method that allows interaction in various ways, and research on this topic should continue.

Students preferred Zoom or KakaoTalk to face-to-face meetings, even though face-to-face meetings are the most active way to communicate. This shows the fear of safety caused by the pandemic that students were aware of at the time [16].

Although there are many concerns about online classes, research results on positive aspects have recently been reported. One of the biggest advantages of online classes is that they can help self-directed learning and provide intrinsic motivation for learning [15]. Due to the nature of medical school education, self-directed learning and intrinsic motivation are important; therefore, it is necessary to prepare for effective learning by exploiting the advantages of online classes.

Finally, even after the COVID-19 pandemic ended, medical students preferred online medical humanities classes. It can be seen that there are several advantages if the learning environment for online classes is adequately prepared, and a positive effect has been reported, especially in activity-oriented classes [17-19]. In the lecture-centered online class, the students were passive, had reduced concentration, and experienced boredom; however, in the activity-centered online class, the students demonstrated active class participation and interest. In online classes centered on discussion and participation, students experienced more active participation and interaction than in face-to-face classes, and it was reported that the students demonstrated free expression [18]. Although there is a negative emotional impact of online classes, they have been shown to strengthen student agency and have a positive effect on cooperation and overcoming challenges [19]. As such, online classes have the advantage of improving students' self-directed learning, intrinsic learning, class participation, and interest through online teaching methods.

An opportunity arose during the COVID-19 pandemic for the development and application of online education. If one can enjoy the advantages of both online and in-person lectures, one can aim for a learning outcome that is superior to the teaching and learning that occurred before the pandemic. Now is the time to build knowhow and move beyond trying and preparing for online lectures; analyses of member perceptions and needs for online education must be continued. It is expected that the present study will serve as useful basic data to understand the perceptions of changes in the educational environment in such a situation and to improve deficiencies.

COVID-19 has also taught us about the need for flexibility and adaptability. This should be extended to governments, medical institutions, and students [20]. Our experiences from COVID-19 will undoubtedly help the education and development of medical schools. It is also necessary to reflect on how these experiences and reorganized medical education programs can be integrated [21].

In response to such a rapidly changing situation, difficulties such as adapting to different methods and learning new technologies were highlighted. In contrast, the situation can be interpreted differently in that changes that would normally be made relatively slowly were accelerated during the pandemic. In other words, it can be said that the pandemic shortened the time to change, which normally would have been delayed slightly, and thus, innovation was hastened faster than the existing speed of social change. In addition, an opportunity was provided to discuss changing teaching and learning methods and to move forward in a positive direction.

# Notes

# **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

# Funding

None.

# Author contributions

Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis: all authors; Investigation, Resources, Validation: YRK, SYK; Methodology: YRK, YHL, SYK; Project administration, Supervision: SYK; Visualization: YRK, YHL, HS; Software: YRK, HS; Writing-original draft: YRK, HS, YHL, SYK; Writing-review & editing: YRK, YHL, SYK.

# ORCID

Yu Ra Kim, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5864-267X Hye-won Shin, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4444-5963 Young Hwan Lee, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8377-5802 Seong-Yong Kim, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3419-2699

# References

- Cho YH, Cho JW, Ryoo HW, Moon S, Kim JH, Lee SH, et al. Impact of an emergency department resident strike during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in Daegu, South Korea: a retrospective cross-sectional study. J Yeungnam Med Sci 2022;39:31–8.
- 2. Bentata Y. COVID 2019 pandemic: a true digital revolution and birth of a new educational era, or an ephemeral phenomenon? Med Educ Online 2020;25:1781378.
- **3.** Mheidly N, Fares MY, Fares J. Coping with stress and burnout associated with telecommunication and online learning. Front Public Health 2020;8:574969.
- 4. Jeon SJ, Yoo HH. Relationship between general characteristics, learning flow, self-directedness and learner satisfaction of medi-

cal students in online learning environment. J Korea Contents Assoc 2020;20:65–74.

- **5.** Rose S. Medical student education in the time of COVID-19. JAMA 2020;323:2131–2.
- 6. Hickland MM, Gosney ER, Hare KL. Medical student views on returning to clinical placement after months of online learning as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Med Educ Online 2020;25:1800981.
- Byrnes YM, Civantos AM, Go BC, McWilliams TL, Rajasekaran K. Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on medical student career perceptions: a national survey study. Med Educ Online 2020;25:1798088.
- 8. Birch E, de Wolf M. A novel approach to medical school examinations during the COVID-19 pandemic. Med Educ Online 2020;25:1785680.
- **9.** Boodman C, Lee S, Bullard J. Idle medical students review emerging COVID-19 research. Med Educ Online 2020;25: 1770562.
- Seo WS, Kim SH, Song SY, Hur J, Lee J, Choi S, et al. Yeungnam University type drive-through (YU-Thru) coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) screening system: a rapid and safe screening system. Yeungnam Univ J Med 2020;37:349–55.
- 11. Park KH, Yune SJ, Jung MK, Kim Y, Lee GH, Kim SY. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on medical students of clinical clerkship in South Korea: a qualitative study exploring medical students' experiences. Pak J Med Sci 2022;38(3 Part-I):469–75.
- 12. Abbas M, Dhane M, Beniey M, Meloche-Dumas L, Eissa M, Guérard-Poirier N, et al. Repercussions of the COVID-19 pandemic on the well-being and training of medical clerks: a pan-Canadian survey. BMC Med Educ 2020;20:385.
- 13. Kim SM, Park SG, Jee YK, Song IH. Perception and attitudes of

medical students on clinical clerkship in the era of the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. Med Educ Online 2020;25: 1809929.

- 14. Ahn HK. The relationship between the degree of class satisfaction and interaction degree & methods, online education devices, in online classes due to COVID-19: for college students of beauty-related departments. Korean Beauty Manag J 2021;9: 19–26.
- Khan RA, Atta K, Sajjad M, Jawaid M. Twelve tips to enhance student engagement in synchronous online teaching and learning. Med Teach 2022;44:601–6.
- 16. Chung HJ, Kim A, Joo H. In the COVID-19 crisis, a study on the types of perceptions on online classes of college students. J Learner-Centered Curric Instr 2020;18:1359–81.
- 17. Kim G. A study on the preference for class methods and satisfaction with non-face-to-face online classes of university students due to COVID-19: focused on practical classes for hotel and tourism majors. J Tour Leis Res 2022;34:317–32.
- Song E, Kim M, Im S. Focus group interview on non-face-toface class experience due to COVID-19. J Learner-Centered Curric Instr 2021;21:531–49.
- Hernández-Hernández F, Sancho-Gil JM. Students' experiences in suddenly transformed living and educational environments by COVID-19. Front Psychol 2021;12:782433.
- 20. Arowoshola L. Medical education engagement during the COVID-19 era: a student parents perspective. Med Educ Online 2020;25:1788799.
- Watson A, McKinnon T, Prior SD, Richards L, Green CA. COVID-19: time for a bold new strategy for medical education. Med Educ Online 2020;25:1764741.

# Original article



# Outcomes after repair of complete atrioventricular canal with a modified single-patch technique: a retrospective study

George Samanidis<sup>1,2</sup>, Konstantinos Kostopanagiotou<sup>3</sup>, Meletios Kanakis<sup>2</sup>, Georgios Kourelis<sup>4</sup>, Kyriaki Kolovou<sup>5</sup>, Georgios Vagenakis<sup>6</sup>, Dimitrios Bobos<sup>2</sup>, Nicholas Giannopoulos<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Adult Cardiac Surgery, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, Athens, Greece

<sup>2</sup>Department of Paediatric and Congenital Heart Surgery, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, Athens, Greece

<sup>4</sup>Paediatric Cardiac and Adult Congenital Heart Disease Intensive Care Unit, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, Athens, Greece

<sup>5</sup>Department of Cardiac Surgery Intensive Care, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, Athens, Greece

<sup>6</sup>Department of Paediatric Cardiology and Adult Congenital Heart Disease, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, Athens, Greece

**Background:** This study aimed to present the short- and midterm outcomes after complete atrioventricular canal defect (CAVC) repair using a single-patch technique.

**Methods:** This study included 30 children who underwent surgical correction of the CAVC using a single-patch technique.

**Results:** The median age of the patients was 5.7 months (interquartile range [IQR], 5.0–7.5 months), and 23 patients (76.7%) had type A CAVC. Fourteen patients (46.7%) were female and 17 (56.7%) had been diagnosed with Down syndrome. The in-hospital mortality rate was 0%. No deaths were observed during a median follow-up of 4 years (IQR, 3.5–5.0 years). Patients without Down syndrome were associated with late moderate mitral regurgitation (MR) (p=0.02). Late MR less than moderate degree was observed in 96.6%, 78.5%, and 50% of patients after 2, 4, and 5 years of follow-up, respectively, while late tricuspid valve regurgitation less than moderate degree was observed in 96.7%, 85.9%, and 59.0% of patients after 2, 4, and 6 years of follow-up, respectively. After a median follow-up of 4 years, only one patient had required surgical repair of a left ventricular outflow tract obstruction, which occurred 26 months after the first operation. Multivariable logistic regression analysis adjusted for the type of CAVC, sex, Down syndrome, age, and weight revealed that the absence of Down syndrome was a risk factor for late moderate MR (MR-2) (odds ratio, 0.05; 95% confidence interval, 0.006–0.50; p=0.01).

**Conclusion:** A single-patch technique for CAVC surgical repair is a safe method with acceptable short- and midterm results.

Keywords: Atrioventricular canal; Congenital heart defects; Outcomes; Surgery

# Introduction

Atrioventricular (AV) septal defects include a spectrum of cardiac

malformations characterized by varying degrees of incomplete development of the inferior portion of the atrial septum, inflow portion of the ventricular septum, and AV valves. This group of defects

Received: October 17, 2022 • Revised: December 6, 2022 • Accepted: December 9, 2022

Corresponding author: George Samanidis, MD, PhD

Department of Adult Cardiac Surgery, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, 356 Leoforos Syggrou, Athens 17674, Greece

Tel: +30-21-0949-3833 • E-mail: gsamanidis@yahoo.gr

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Thoracic Surgery, Attikon University Hospital of Athens, Athens, Greece

can be further subdivided into partial, intermediate, and complete forms. In the complete AV canal (CAVC) form of AV septal defects, the key element is the presence of a single AV valve that is common to the right and left AV chambers. The central aspect of this orifice is usually contiguous, with an ostium primum type of atrial septal defect above and a defect in the ventricular septum below [1]. Rastelli et al. [2] classified complete AV septal defects into types A, B, and C and highlighted the variable degree of bridging by the left superior leaflet in a continuous spectrum of leaflet and chordal anatomies. Since the first successful repair of a complete AV septal defect by Lillehei in 1955, three different techniques have been employed. The modified single-patch technique was introduced by Wilcox et al. [3] and Nicholson et al. [4]. All techniques (double-patch, single-patch, and modified single-patch) are in use today; but, until now, there has been no comparison between them. Comparing outcomes between the modified single-patch and double-patch surgical techniques seem difficult since the disease is heterogeneous and rare, and the surgeon may have a preference for the technique used. Although the double-patch technique seems to be a more thorough anatomical repair, the modified single-patch technique has an easier and faster learning curve, and uses a simplified approach [5,6].

Patients with repaired CAVCs represent a substantial percentage of grown-up congenital heart disease cases, and the efficacy of these techniques has been verified over the years. Herein, we present the midterm results from one center after CAVC repair using the modified single-patch technique.

# Methods

**Ethical statements:** The study was performed in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board and Ethics Committee of Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center (No. 705/15.01.2021). Informed consent for surgery was obtained preoperatively from the relatives of the children.

# 1. Study population

The study included 30 children who underwent CAVC repair using the single-patch technique from 2015 to 2022 in a single cardiac surgery center. The surgical procedure was performed by three surgeons. All patients were preoperatively evaluated by a cardiologist and transthoracic echocardiography (TTE). The classification of CAVC was based on the Rastelli classification [2]. Type B CAVC was not observed in any patient. All perioperative and follow-up data were recorded in our database. Postoperative length of stay in the intensive care unit and in the hospital was recorded.

The patients were followed up in the outpatient clinic with routine clinical examinations and TTE. TTE was performed during the hospital stay, 1 week after hospital discharge, and every 6 months thereafter. AV valve function postoperative and at follow-up was evaluated using TTE. The last follow-up date was the date when TTE was performed. Currently, there are no clear criteria for grading mitral regurgitation (MR) in children. New echocardiographic indices and classification systems for semiquantitative and quantitative evaluations have been proposed for adults; however, their validity and reproducibility in children are unknown. Quantitative assessment is often important to guide the management of children with MR [7]. Postoperative MR and tricuspid valve regurgitation (TR) were initially classified as follows: without, mild, moderate, and severe [7]. Furthermore, for the purpose of this study and data analysis, the postoperative and follow-up MR and TR were divided into two groups based on degree (trivial-to-mild regurgitation MR and mild-to-moderate regurgitation MR). MR-1 and TR-1 were defined before discharge, while MR-2 and TR-2 were defined at follow-up.

## 2. Surgical technique

All patients underwent midline sternotomy. In cases of previous pulmonary artery banding (PAB), redo midline sternotomy was performed. Fresh pericardium was used in all cases. Standard aortic and bicaval venous cannulation was performed by placing the patient on cardiopulmonary bypass with the superior vena cava cannula first. A vent was placed in the left heart through the right superior pulmonary vein. The patient was cooled to 34°C. Histidine-tryptophan-ketoglutarate solution was used for cardioplegia. The modified single-patch technique was used in all cases [1,3,4]. In cases where PAB had caused pulmonary artery stricture, pulmonary artery plasty was also performed using a piece of bovine pericardium. In one case, the sternum was left open after leaving the theater and was closed the next day uneventfully.

#### 3. Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are presented as median (interquartile range [IQR]) and the rest as number (percentage). The normality of variable distribution was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test, histograms, and Q-Q plots. The Student *t*-test, Mann-Whitney test, chi-square test, or Fisher exact test were used for data analysis. Correlations between variables were examined using Spearman ( $r_s$ ) or Pearson (r) correlation coefficients. Binary logistic regression analysis was implemented to identify the possible risk factors for post-

operative MR and TR, and the effect size was presented as the odds ratio (OR). The confidence interval (CI) was set at 95%. Statistically significant differences were considered if p < 0.05. IBM SPSS ver. 25 for Windows (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) was used for data analysis.

# Results

Of the 30 patients who underwent surgery, 23 (76.7%) had type A CAVC. The median age of the patients was 5.7 months (IQR, 5.0–7.5 months). There were 14 female patients (46.7%) and 17 patients (56.7%) with Down syndrome (trisomy 21).

None of the patients had other genetic abnormalities. Regarding defect size, the ventricular component ranged from 12 to 16 mm, and the atrial component ranged from 11 to 21 mm. Previous PAB was recorded in six patients (20.0%). The median aortic crossclamp (ACC) time was 92 minutes (IQR, 74-105 minutes). Other perioperative details are listed in Table 1. No difference in cardiopulmonary bypass and ACC times was observed between patients with and without previous PAB (p > 0.05 for both; *t*-test and Mann-Whitney test, respectively) (Table 2). Postoperative MR-1 (mild-to-moderate) and TR-1 (mild-to-moderate) were not associated with the type of CAVC, previous PAB, sex, or presence of trisomy 21 (all p > 0.05) (Table 3). In addition, patient age and weight at the time of surgery were not associated with MR-1 and TR-1 (all p > 0.05) (Table 3). In contrast, patient weight at the time of surgery was closely associated with TR-1 (p = 0.06), while age was not (p = 0.27) (Table 3). In two cases, postoperative chylothorax was observed, which was treated medically. The median in-hospital length of stay was 8 days (IQR, 7–9 days), while the 30day mortality and in-hospital mortality were both 0%. Early or late pacemaker implantation was not required in any patient.

The median follow-up of patients was 48 months (IQR, 42–60 months). No deaths were observed during follow-up. The degree

Table 1. Perioperative details

Variable	Data
No. of patients	30
Type of CAVC	
A	23 (76.7)
С	7 (23.3)
Female sex	14 (46.7)
Down syndrome	17 (56.7)
Age (mo)	5.7 (5.0–7.5)
Weight (kg)	6.8 (5.8–8.2)
Previous PAB	6 (20.0)
Aortic cross-clamp time (min)	92 (74–105)
Cardiopulmonary bypass time (min)	122.5 (98–132)
Degree of postoperative AV regurgitation	
Postoperative MR	
Trivial	4 (13.3)
Mild	9 (30.0)
Moderate	17 (56.7)
Postoperative TR	
Trivial	3 (10.0)
Mild	19 (63.3)
Moderate	8 (26.7)
Postoperative chylothorax	2 (6.7)
Open chest and delayed chest closure	1 (3.3)
Intensive care unit stay (day)	2 (2–3)
Length of stay in hospital (day)	8 (7–9)
30-Day mortality and in-hospital mortality	0 (0)

Values are presented as number only, number (%), or median (interquartile range).

CAVC, complete atrioventricular canal; PAB, pulmonary artery banding; AV, atrioventricular; MR, mitral valve regurgitation; TR, tricuspid valve regurgitation.

**Table 2.** Association of cardiopulmonary bypass and aortic crossclamp time with previous pulmonary artery banding

Variable	Previous pulmona	n voluo	
Valiauic	Yes	No	p-value
Cardiopulmonary bypass time (min)	110.0±22.0	120.6±20.0	0.30
Aortic cross-clamp time (min)	78.0 (72.0–90.0)	93.5 (82.0–105.0)	0.32

Values are presented as mean ± standard deviation or median (interquartile range).

Variable	Postoperative MR			Postoperative TR		
Variable	No (n = 23)	Yes (n = 7)	<i>p</i> -value	No (n = 22)	Yes (n = 8)	<i>p</i> -value
Type of CAVC			0.70			0.14
Туре А	18	5		15	8	
Туре С	5	2		7	0	
Previous PAB	4	2	0.60	6	0	0.15
Female sex	10	4	0.67	11	3	0.68
Down syndrome	15	2	0.19	13	4	0.69
Age (mo)	5.5 (4.7–6.5)	6.1 (5.5–10.5)	0.19	5.7 (5.0–9.0)	5.7 (4.8–6.0)	0.27
Weight (kg)	6.2 (5.7–7.8)	7.2 (6.9–8.8)	0.11	6.9 (6.0-8.0)	5.8 (4.8–7.3)	0.06

Table 3. Association of preoperative characteristics of patients with postoperative mild-to-moderate MR and TR before discharge

Values are presented as number only or median (interquartile range).

MR, mitral valve regurgitation; TR, tricuspid valve regurgitation; CAVC, complete atrioventricular canal; PAB, pulmonary artery banding.

of AV valve regurgitation during follow-up was recorded by TTE. The follow-up TTE findings and data are presented in Table 4. The type of CAVC and sex were not associated with late moderate MR-2 (p > 0.05), while not having trisomy 21 was associated with late moderate MR-2 (p = 0.02, Fisher exact test) (Table 5). The type of CAVC, sex, and trisomy 21 was not associated with late moderate TR-2 (p > 0.05, Fisher exact test) (Table 5). In addition, age and weight at the date of surgery were not associated with late moderate MR-2 and TR-2 (p > 0.05, Mann-Whitney test) (Table 5). Left ventricular outflow tract (LVOT) obstruction was observed in one patient 26 months after surgery. During follow-up, MR less than moderate degree was observed in 96.6%, 78.5%, and 50% of patients at 2, 4, and 5 years, respectively (Fig. 1), while TR less than moderate degree was observed in 96.7%, 85.9%, and 59% of patients at 2, 4, and 6 years, respectively (Fig. 2). After a median follow-up of 4 years, one patient had undergone surgery for LVOT obstruction 26 months after the first operation. Multivariable lo-

Table 4. Transthoracic echocardiography follow-up details

Variable	Data
No. of patients	30
Follow-up (mo)	48 (42–60)
Degree of AV regurgitation at follow-up	
MR	
Trivial	2 (6.7)
Mild	15 (50.0)
Mild to moderate	13 (43.3)
TR	
Trivial	1 (3.3)
Mild	20 (66.7)
Mild to moderate	9 (30.0)
Reoperation for left ventricle outflow obstruction	1 (3.3)

Values are presented as number only, median (interquartile range) or number (%).

AV, atrioventricular; MR, mitral valve regurgitation; TR, tricuspid valve regurgitation.

gistic regression analysis adjusted for type of CAVC, sex, Down syndrome, age, and weight revealed that the absence of trisomy 21



**Fig. 1.** Disease free from moderate mitral valve regurgitation during follow-up.



**Fig. 2.** Disease free from moderate tricuspid valve regurgitation during follow-up.

Table 5. Association of preoperative characteristics of pat	atients with late (at follow-up) mild-to-moderate MR and TR
---	---

Variable		MR at follow-up		TR at follow-up			
Valiaule	No (n = 17)	Yes (n = 13)	<i>p</i> -value	No (n = 21)	Yes (n = 9)	<i>p</i> -value	
Type of CAVC			0.10			>0.99	
A	11	12		16	7		
С	6	1		5	2		
Female sex	8	6	>0.99	9	5	0.69	
Down syndrome	13	4	0.02*	13	4	0.44	
Age (mo)	6.0 (5.5–6.5)	5.5 (5.0–9.0)	0.99	6.0 (5.0–9.0)	5.5 (5.2–6.0)	0.26	
Weight (kg)	6.8 (5.8–7.8)	7.1 (6.8–8.2)	0.78	7.1 (6–8.2)	5.8 (5.8–6.3)	0.06	

Values are presented as number only or median (interquartile range).

MR, mitral valve regurgitation; TR, tricuspid valve regurgitation; CAVC, complete atrioventricular canal.

\*p<0.05.

**Table 6.** Multivariable logistic regression analysis of risk factors for moderate mitral regurgitation at follow-up

Variable	riable OR (95% CI)		
Type of CAVC, C	0.05 (0.003–1.26)	0.07	
Female sex	1.03 (0.08–11.90)	0.98	
Down syndrome	0.05 (0.006-0.49)	0.01*	
Age	0.92 (0.36–2.39)	0.87	
Weight	1.51 (0.42–5.48)	0.52	

OR, odds ratio; Cl, confidence interval; CAVC, complete atrioventricular canal.

\*p<0.05.

was a risk factor for late moderate MR (MR-2) (OR, 0.05; 95% CI, 0.006–0.50; *p* = 0.01) (Table 6).

# Discussion

The modified single-patch repair technique for CAVC is a well-established technique [5-8,9]. However, division of the bridging leaflets is often required, and this process may cause some issues during the long-term follow-up of these patients. Nevertheless, survival rates after CAVC repair with the modified single-patch technique have been reported to be 98.8%, 96.3%, and 96.3% at 5, 10, and, 20 years, respectively [5,10]. Our intermediate results indicated a mortality rate of 0%. Our patients were children and experienced an excellent quality of life.

AV valve function during follow-up, especially the left AV valve, has always been an issue, and the modified single-patch technique has been associated with this complication [5]. However, in a large study, moderate regurgitation of the left AV valve was reported in 15% of patients, and that finding did not correlate with trisomy 21, history of PAB, cleft management, or age [5]. Freedom from reoperation for left AV valve regurgitation has been reported to be as low as 62% after 10 years [11]. Reynen et al. [5] described reoperation for left AV valve regurgitation in 6% of cases. Most investigators did not find any relationship between left AV valve regurgitation and trisomy 21 [5]. Backer et al. [12] performed a meta-analysis of the three repair techniques and found that the rate of reoperation for left AV valve regurgitation was 2% in the modified single-patch, 7% in the two-patch, and 9.7% in the classic single-patch technique. In our study, moderate left AV valve regurgitation was observed in 23.3% of patients, but none of them required left AV valve reintervention. In addition, in our study, there was no requirement for pacemaker implantation as a postoperative procedure. Pacemaker reoperations have been described in patients previously, varying between 2% and 12% [10,13].

LVOT obstruction is a well-described mid- to long-term complication of CAVC repair [14]. In 4% to 5% of patients, LVOT obstruction may require reoperation. In our study, one patient required reoperation for LVOT obstruction, which was diagnosed 2 years after initial repair. The pathology was consistent with the development of a discrete subaortic membrane, and reoperation was successfully performed. During the latest follow-up, the patient was free of recurrence.

This study was a retrospective analysis of patients who underwent CAVC correction using the modified single-patch technique. The small number of patients in this study may have affected our analysis (short-, mid-, and long-term results). Furthermore, the patients underwent surgery in a single department of a tertiary Cardiac Surgery Hospital. This study included only infants and children. In addition, the study did not include a comparison of the two techniques (single- versus double-patch technique) to draw reliable conclusions about the effectiveness and benefits of the single-patch technique.

The single-patch technique for CAVC surgical repair is a method with acceptable short- and midterm results considering that it is a simplified approach. However, long-term assessment is warranted, and prospective randomized studies are needed to compare the advantages and disadvantages between the double-patch and modified single-patch techniques.

# Notes

## **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

## Funding

None.

## Author contributions

Conceptualization, Investigation: GS, MK, GK, K Kolovou, GV, DB, NG; Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Visualization, Validation: GS, MK; Resources: GS; Supervision: MK; Writing-original draft: GS, K Kostopanagiotou, MK, GK, K Kolovou, GV, NG; Writing-review & editing: GS.

## ORCID

George Samanidis, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6355-1932 Konstantinos Kostopanagiotou, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7460-5617

Meletios Kanakis, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9708-0523 Georgios Kourelis, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6663-7926 Kyriaki Kolovou, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4634-9868

# References

- Pacifico AD. Atrio-ventricular septal defects. In: Stark, JF, de Leval MR, Tsang VT, editors. Surgery for congenital heart defects.
   3rd ed. Chichester, UK; Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2006. p. 373–86.
- 2. Rastelli G, Kirklin JW, Titus JL. Anatomic observations on complete form of persistent common atrioventricular canal with special reference to atrioventricular valves. Mayo Clin Proc 1966;41:296–308.
- 3. Wilcox BR, Jones DR, Frantz EG, Brink LW, Henry GW, Mill MR, et al. Anatomically sound, simplified approach to repair of "complete" atrioventricular septal defect. Ann Thorac Surg 1997;64:487–94.
- Nicholson IA, Nunn GR, Sholler GF, Hawker RE, Cooper SG, Lau KC, et al. Simplified single patch technique for the repair of atrioventricular septal defect. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1999; 118:642–6.
- 5. Reynen S, Hövels-Gürich HH, Vazquez-Jimenez JF, Messmer BJ, Sachweh JS. Long-term outcome up to 40 years after single patch repair of complete atrioventricular septal defect in infancy or childhood. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2021;69(Suppl 3):e68– 75.
- 6. Stephens EH, Backer CL. Teaching the modified single-patch technique for complete atrioventricular septal defect. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg 2022;13:371–5.
- 7. Cantinotti M, Giordano R, Koestenberger M, Voges I, Santoro G, Franchi E, et al. Echocardiographic examination of mitral

valve abnormalities in the paediatric population: current practices. Cardiol Young 2020;30:1–11.

- 8. Geoffrion TR, Singappuli K, Murala JSK. A review of the Nunn modified single patch technique for atrioventricular septal defect repair. Transl Pediatr 2018;7:91–103.
- Azzab S, Samy A, Singab H, Zeinah M, Musollari G, Axiaq A, et al. The effect of surgical technique, age, and trisomy 21 on early outcome of surgical management of complete atrioventricular canal defect. Cardiol Young 2022;32:869–73.
- Ginde S, Lam J, Hill GD, Cohen S, Woods RK, Mitchell ME, et al. Long-term outcomes after surgical repair of complete atrioventricular septal defect. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015;150: 369–74.
- Houck CA, Evertz R, Teuwen CP, Roos-Hesselink JW, Kammeraad JA, Duijnhouwer AL, et al. Dysrhythmias in patients with a complete atrioventricular septal defect: from surgery to early adulthood. Congenit Heart Dis 2019;14:280–7.
- Backer CL, Kaushal S, Mavroudis C. Modified single-patch technique: repairing complete atrioventricular septal defect. Ann Pediatr Cardiol 2009;2:51–4.
- 13. Di Mambro C, Calvieri C, Silvetti MS, Tamburri I, Giannico S, Baban A, et al. Bradyarrhythmias in repaired atrioventricular septal defects: single-center experience based on 34 years of follow-up of 522 patients. Pediatr Cardiol 2018;39:1590–7.
- 14. Backer CL, Eltayeb O, Mongé MC, Wurlitzer KC, Hack MA, Boles LH, et al. Modified single patch: are we still worried about subaortic stenosis? Ann Thorac Surg 2015;99:1671–6.



# Septic arthritis of the hip joint caused by *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: a case report

Jeong-Bo Moon, Jun-Hwan Lee, Byung-Ju Ryu

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Sahmyook Medical Center, Seoul, Korea

*Klebsiella pneumoniae* is an uncommon cause of septic arthritis in adults. However, late detection can cause serious complications, including joint destruction and immobility. The purpose of this study was to report a case of successfully treated septic arthritis of the hip joint (SAHJ) caused by *K. pneumoniae*. A 49-year-old female patient presented to our hospital with fever and progressive severe pain in the right hip area. Although there was no abnormality on plain radiographs, ultrasonography revealed diffuse swelling of the right hip joint. Under ultrasonography guidance, the hip joint fluid was aspirated, and Gram staining and culturing were performed. The patient's pain was significantly reduced after the joint aspiration. The Gram staining and culturing revealed gram-negative bacilli, which were subsequently identified as *K. pneumoniae*. According to the results, systemic intravenous antibiotic (ceftriaxone) was administered without complications, and the patient was discharged on oral antibiotic (ciprofloxacin). Clinical cases of septic arthritis of the knee or sacroiliac joint have been occasionally reported in adults, but cases of SAHJ are rare. Moreover, *K. pneumonia*-induced SAHJ has not been reported to date. Therefore, we report this very rare case and its successful treatment.

Keywords: Hip; Infectious; Klebsiella pneumoniae; Septic arthritis

# Introduction

Septic arthritis is a bacterial, mycobacterial, or fungal joint infection. It is associated with significant morbidity and mortality [1,2]. Clinical cases of septic arthritis of the knee joint have occasionally been reported. However, cases of septic arthritis of the hip joint (SAHJ) are rarely reported, and all previous reports involved immunocompromised patients [2,3]. SAHJ presents a diagnostic challenge because it mimics other musculoskeletal conditions, such as degenerative hip joint disease or tendonitis (Table 1) [4]. Septic arthritis is most commonly caused by gram-positive bacteria, including *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, and streptococci [1]. *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, a gram-negative bacillus of the family Enterobacteriaceae, is an uncommon cause of septic arthritis in adults [3]. Herein, we describe a case of acute SAHJ caused by *K. pneumoniae* in a patient with no primary lesions or underlying medical conditions. Informed consent for publication of the patient's clinical details and clinical images was obtained from the patient.

# Case

**Ethical statements:** This study was exempted from review by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Sahmyook Medical Center (IRB No: 116286-202111-HR-02). Written informed consent was obtained from the patients to participate in the study.

Received: November 16, 2021 • Revised: November 19, 2021 • Accepted: November 22, 2021

Corresponding author: Byung-Ju Ryu, MD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Sahmyook Medical Center, 82 Mangu-ro, Dongdaemun-gu, Seoul 02500, Korea Tel: 82-2-2210-3133 • Fax: 82-2-2210-3133 • E-mail: btjrbj@gmail.com

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Differential diagnosis	Clinical feature					
Lumbar radiculopathy	Pain in the posterior buttock or radiating pain down the thigh, which may be a burning sensation					
Sacroiliac joint disease	Pain in the posterior buttock					
Piriformis syndrome	Pain in the posterior buttock with activity, sciatic pain radiating down the leg as a result of nerve compression, ten- derness over the piriformis tendon and muscle					
Osteonecrosis	Pain in the hip or groin, gradually progresses					
Occult femoral neck fracture	Pain in the hip or groin, can be traumatic, associated with accompanying injury, or atraumatic, resulting in a stress fracture					
Meralgia paresthetica	Pain in the hip or groin, radiating down the thigh's anterolateral side					
Psoas tendinopathy	Pain in the groin, associated with resisted hip flexion					
Trochanteric bursitis	Pain localized to greater trochanter, palpable tenderness, minimal pain in the groin					
Abductor tendon tear	Pain localized to greater trochanter, minimal pain in the groin					
Neurogenic claudication	Back pain is more severe than leg pain, radiating down the leg; it is worse when standing upright and improves when seated bent forward					
Vascular claudication	Leg pain is more severe than back pain, is aggravated by walking and any movement, and improves with rest					
lliac avulsion fracture	Pain in the hip following trauma or unexpected muscle activation					
Traumatic synovitis, hemarthrosis	Recent trauma history					
Gout	Pain caused by polyarthralgia, aggravated by particular foods					
Pseudogout	Pain caused by polyarthralgia, more prevalent among those who are elderly					
Rheumatoid arthritis flare	Pain caused by polyarthralgia, patient may be on immunosuppressive medication					
Osteoarthritis exacerbation	Pain that has recently worsened as a result of increased activity					

Table	<ol> <li>Differential</li> </ol>	diagnosis	of septic a	arthritis of	f the hip	joint and	other m	usculoskeletal	disorders	in adult	S
-------	----------------------------------	-----------	-------------	--------------	-----------	-----------	---------	----------------	-----------	----------	---

A 49-year-old housewife presented to our rehabilitation department with a 12-hour history of sudden-onset, progressively worsening pain in the right hip area, with concomitant fever that developed 2 hours after pain onset. She complained of severe pain with a numerical rating scale (NRS) score of 8 when bending her right hip and was unable to ambulate because of severe pain when bearing weight on her right leg. She had no comorbidities or history of trauma. She mentioned high levels of stress for personal reasons, which had persisted for 6 months.

Upon arrival at the hospital, her vital signs were as follows: body temperature, 37.8°C; pulse rate, 93 beats/min; respiratory rate, 20 breaths/min; and blood pressure, 128/80 mmHg. Physical examination revealed tenderness of the right medial thigh and painful limitation of movement, especially internal rotation. Laboratory tests revealed a white blood cell (WBC) count of 14,200/ $\mu$ L with neutrophilic predominance (87.6%), a hemoglobin level of 13.3 g/ dL, and a platelet count of 295,000/ $\mu$ L. Plain radiographs showed no abnormalities, except for mild degenerative changes in both hip joints. Ultrasonography revealed diffuse swelling of the right hip joint (Fig. 1A). Under ultrasonographic guidance, 12 mL of yellow, cloudy, moderately viscous fluid was aspirated from the right hip joint, and joint fluid analysis, Gram staining, and culturing were performed (Fig. 1B). The patient's hip pain was significantly reduced (4 on the NRS) after hip joint fluid aspiration; she was able to walk but had general myalgia. Since the patient's clinical signs and symptoms had improved rapidly, and the results of Gram staining and culturing were not yet available, she was discharged with an outpatient appointment scheduled for 4 days thereafter.

Four days later, the patient was admitted to the hospital. Laboratory tests showed a WBC count of 6,229/µL with neutrophilic predominance (67.5%), a hemoglobin level of 14.1 g/dL, and a platelet count of  $356,000/\mu$ L. The joint fluid showed a WBC count of  $8,979/\text{mm}^3$  with neutrophilic predominance (78%) and a red blood cell count of 1,000/mm<sup>3</sup>; septic arthritis was suspected. The Gram staining and culturing revealed gram-negative bacilli, which were subsequently identified as K. pneumoniae. Susceptibility test results indicated sensitivity to all antibiotics, including cefepime, meropenem, piperacillin/tazobactam, ceftazidime/avibactam, ceftriaxone, colistin, ertapenem, tigecycline, amikacin, ampicillin/ sulbactam, cefazolin, ceftazidime, ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, imipenem, and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole, but not ampicillin alone. The patient was hospitalized for antibiotic treatment and underwent further evaluation. Ceftriaxone (2 g, once a day) was administered intravenously for 3 days. A whole-body bone scan was performed to identify complications of SAHJ and revealed no abnormal uptake anywhere in the body, including the right hip joint (Fig. 2). Computed tomography of the abdomen and pelvis to investigate primary lesions of K. pneumoniae infection showed no specific abnormalities except for a 6-cm, unilocular, cystic lesion at the right adnexa suspected of being a benign ovarian cyst or a mucinous cystic neoplasm. The patient had no underlying medical conditions that could lead to an immunocompromised state,



**Fig. 1.** Pre- and post-aspiration ultrasonography images of the right hip joint. (A) Mild fluid collection and diffuse swelling of the right hip joint (arrows) are seen in the pre-aspiration image. (B) A decrease in the fluid collected in the right hip joint (arrow) is seen in the post-aspiration image. FH, femoral head.



**Fig. 2.** (A) Anterior and (B) posterior views of a whole-body bone scan. No abnormal findings such as hot or cold spots are observed throughout the body including the right hip joint.

such as diabetes, chronic renal failure, malignancy, alcoholism, or acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. She was uneventfully discharged 3 days later while receiving oral antibiotics (ciprofloxacin, 500 mg, twice daily for 7 days). At her 6-month follow-up, she complained of no hip pain and showed no specific features on review of systems.

# Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of a case of acute SAHJ caused by *K. pneumoniae* in a patient with no primary lesion or underlying disease.

It is difficult to estimate the incidence of SAHJ in adults, which has mostly been reported in case reports [1]. Numerous prior studies have dealt with all sites of septic arthritis collectively, despite significant variance in clinical manifestations among joints. The incidence of septic arthritis in the general population of industrialized countries is 2 to 6 cases per 100,000 people [5] and 5 to 12 cases per 100,000 children [6,7]. However, the overall incidence appears to be increasing, and this increase is associated with an aging population, an increasing number of invasive procedures being performed, and the increased use of immunosuppressive therapies [6,8].

Organisms that cause septic arthritis differ according to patient age. The most common causative agent of bacterial arthritis in adults is *S. aureus*, with an incidence between 37% and 67% [9].

Following this, 9% to 20% of bacterial arthritis is caused by gramnegative bacteria such as *Escherichia coli* [10]. In children, the most frequently observed causal organisms are methicillin-sensitive *S. aureus, Streptococcus pneumoniae*, and *Haemophilus influenzae* [11]. *K. pneumoniae* rarely causes septic arthritis in all age groups. It is known to cause septic arthritis as a secondary infection through hematogenous transmission after primary infections, such as liver abscesses, pneumonia, and urinary tract infections [12]. *K. pneumoniae* infection of other organs rarely occurs in the absence of a liver abscess, although it may occur in special clinical situations, including trauma, intravenous drug abuse, and immunosuppression following organ transplant or human immunodeficiency virus infection [2,12,13]. In this case, a 49-year-old woman with no known underlying disease developed SAHJ caused by *K. pneumoniae* in the absence of any primary lesion, such as a liver abscess.

Magnetic resonance imaging or surgical intervention was not performed to determine whether the bones and muscles surrounding the hip joint were affected. The reason for this decision was that the patient's clinical symptoms of fever and hip pain improved rapidly after hip joint fluid aspiration, and the subsequent laboratory test after 4 days also improved. In addition, a whole-body bone scan revealed no abnormal uptake throughout the body. Based on these findings, we concluded that an appropriate antibiotic was sufficient to control her SAHJ.

Generally, septic arthritis is treated with drainage, cleaning of the joint abscess, and systemic antibiotic therapy based on the results of susceptibility testing. Appropriate drainage is essential for the management of purulent infections in enclosed spaces. There have been prior cases of children undergoing high-volume lavage and irrigation, and cases of adults undergoing open arthrotomy and ultrasonography-guided irrigation. Arthroscopic lavage and debridement can be performed to drain and clean intraarticular abscesses [14]. Goldenberg et al. [15] compared needle aspiration with surgical intervention, and no evidence was available to recommend one treatment strategy over the other. In our case, the hip joint fluid was sufficiently aspirated under ultrasonographic guidance, and ceftriaxone-susceptible K. pneumoniae was identified by Gram staining and culture of the joint fluid. According to the guidelines for treating septic arthritis, it is important to immediately remove the purulent material from inside the joint and administer systemic antibiotics that are effective against the causative organism [16]. Accordingly, in this case, immediate pus aspiration and antibiotic treatment based on the results of susceptibility testing were sufficient to treat the disease and resulted in complete recovery without sequelae, such as residual impairment due to hip joint destruction.

Considering the pathophysiology of joint destruction in septic arthritis, it is known that the synovium in the joint is an abundantly

**196** https://doi.org/10.12701/yujm.2021.01613

vascularized structure without a restricting base plate, and bacteria have easy access [17]. Extracellular virulence agents produced by bacteria are critical for the progression of erosive joint destruction associated with septic arthritis [18]. As the infection progresses, an effusion forms in the joint, increasing the intraarticular pressure and preventing blood supply to the joint. The reported fatality rates for monoarticular septic arthritis vary by report, but are estimated to be ~11% [1]. Patients with acute septic arthritis often present with fatigue, erythema, edema, discomfort, and limited range of motion in a single joint over a period of 1 to 2 weeks [19].

Septic arthritis in children under the age of 2 years may go undiagnosed due to the absence of typical indications of infection; thus, caution should be exercised when examining them. Anxiety, irritability, tachycardia, and anemia are all possible clinical indications and symptoms [20].

We report a very rare case of SAHJ caused by *K. pneumoniae* that developed in a relatively young patient with no medical history. SAHJ should be considered during the differential diagnosis of patients with acute hip pain despite the absence of plain radiographic abnormalities.

# Notes

## **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

#### Funding

None.

## Author contributions

Conceptualization: BJR; Visualization: JBM, JHL; Writing-original draft: JBM; Writing-review & editing: BJR.

### ORCID

Jeong-Bo Moon, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6689-5826 Jun-Hwan Lee, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3180-2300 Byung-Ju Ryu, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0109-9885

# References

- Mathews CJ, Weston VC, Jones A, Field M, Coakley G. Bacterial septic arthritis in adults. Lancet 2010;375:846–55.
- 2. Tseng CC, Wu CD, Lin WT, Chan HT, Chen PY. Acute septic arthritis caused by Klebsiella pneumoniae. Formos J Musculoskelet Disord 2013;4:51–2.
- 3. Schelenz S, Bramham K, Goldsmith D. Septic arthritis due to

extended spectrum beta lactamase producing Klebsiella pneumoniae. Joint Bone Spine 2007;74:275–8.

- 4. Chee YC, Lim CH. Klebsiella pneumoniae sacroiliac septic arthritis: first case report. IDCases 2018;14:e00459.
- 5. Kaandorp CJ, Van Schaardenburg D, Krijnen P, Habbema JD, van de Laar MA. Risk factors for septic arthritis in patients with joint disease: a prospective study. Arthritis Rheum 1995;38: 1819–25.
- **6.** Nade S. Septic arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2003; 17:183–200.
- 7. Frank G, Mahoney HM, Eppes SC. Musculoskeletal infections in children. Pediatr Clin North Am 2005;52:1083–106.
- 8. Geirsson AJ, Statkevicius S, Víkingsson A. Septic arthritis in Iceland 1990-2002: increasing incidence due to iatrogenic infections. Ann Rheum Dis 2008;67:638–43.
- Ohl CA, Forster D. Infectious arthritis of native joints. In: Mandell GL, Bennett JE, Dolin R, editors. Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's principles and practice of infectious diseases. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2005. p. 1302–17.
- Chew LC. Septic monoarthritis and osteomyelitis in an elderly man following Klebsiella pneumoniae genitourinary infection: case report. Ann Acad Med Singap 2006;35:100–3.
- 11. Barton LL, Dunkle LM, Habib FH. Septic arthritis in childhood: a 13-year review. Am J Dis Child 1987;141:898–900.
- 12. Lee HC, Chuang YC, Yu WL, Lee NY, Chang CM, Ko NY, et al. Clinical implications of hypermucoviscosity phenotype in Klebsiella pneumoniae isolates: association with invasive syn-

drome in patients with community-acquired bacteraemia. J Intern Med 2006;259:606–14.

- Hsieh PF, Lin TL, Lee CZ, Tsai SF, Wang JT. Serum-induced iron-acquisition systems and TonB contribute to virulence in Klebsiella pneumoniae causing primary pyogenic liver abscess. J Infect Dis 2008;197:1717–27.
- Stutz G, Kuster MS, Kleinstück F, Gächter A. Arthroscopic management of septic arthritis: stages of infection and results. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2000;8:270–4.
- Goldenberg DL, Brandt KD, Cohen AS, Cathcart ES. Treatment of septic arthritis: comparison of needle aspiration and surgery as initial modes of joint drainage. Arthritis Rheum 1975;18:83–90.
- 16. Coakley G, Mathews C, Field M, Jones A, Kingsley G, Walker D, et al. BSR & BHPR, BOA, RCGP and BSAC guidelines for management of the hot swollen joint in adults. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2006;45:1039–41.
- 17. Goldenberg DL. Septic arthritis. Lancet 1998;351:197–202.
- Abdelnour A, Arvidson S, Bremell T, Rydén C, Tarkowski A. The accessory gene regulator (agr) controls Staphylococcus aureus virulence in a murine arthritis model. Infect Immun 1993; 61:3879–85.
- Shirtliff ME, Mader JT. Acute septic arthritis. Clin Microbiol Rev 2002;15:527–44.
- 20. Morgan DS, Fisher D, Merianos A, Currie BJ. An 18 year clinical review of septic arthritis from tropical Australia. Epidemiol Infect 1996;117:423–8.

# Case report



# Invasive sphenoid sinus aspergillosis with normal findings on initial diagnostic tests that mimics Tolosa-Hunt syndrome—a diagnostic dilemma: a case report

Yu Hun Jeong<sup>1</sup>, Jongsuk Choi<sup>2</sup>, Byung-Jo Kim<sup>2</sup>, Hung Youl Seok<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology, Dongsan Medical Center, Keimyung University School of Medicine, Daegu, Korea <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology, Korea University College of Medicine, Seoul, Korea

Invasive sphenoid sinus aspergillosis can mimic Tolosa-Hunt syndrome (THS), leading to frequent misdiagnoses and potentially fatal consequences. We report a case of invasive sphenoid sinus aspergillosis initially misdiagnosed as THS. A 79-year-old man presented with right periorbital pain, ophthalmoplegia, and loss of vision. Initial evaluations including magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), were normal. He was first diagnosed with THS based on clinical features. The disease progressed despite high-dose intravenous steroid treatment, and an enhancing mass-like lesion was found in the right orbital apex, cavernous sinus, and sphenoid sinus on follow-up MRI. Aspergillosis was eventually confirmed by sphenoid sinus biopsy. The patient developed cerebral infarction and finally died despite being treated with amphotericin B. Given that invasive sphenoid sinus aspergillosis may initially resemble THS, high suspicion and rapid histological examination are important for diagnosis.

Keywords: Aspergillosis; Painful ophthalmoplegia; Sphenoid sinus; Tolosa-Hunt syndrome

# Introduction

Tolosa-Hunt syndrome (THS) is characterized by painful ophthalmoplegia caused by idiopathic granulomatous inflammation in the orbit and/or cavernous sinus. However, other conditions, such as cavernous sinus lymphoma, can mimic various features of THS, resulting in misdiagnoses [1]. Therefore, repeated neuroimaging studies and histopathologic confirmation are required to exclude other possible causes of painful ophthalmoplegia, specifically when the clinical course and radiologic findings are unusual for THS. We report a case of invasive sphenoid sinus aspergillosis initially misdiagnosed as THS.

# Case

**Ethical statements:** This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the Korea University Anam Hospital (IRB No: 2022AN0044), and the requirement for informed consent from the patient was waived by the IRB.

A 79-year-old previously healthy man was experiencing periorbital pain in the right eye with visual impairment of counting fingers and binocular diplopia that worsened rapidly over the course of 7 days. He had a history of hypertension but did not have diabetes

Received: August 30, 2021 • Revised: January 29, 2022 • Accepted: January 30, 2022

Corresponding author: Hung Youl Seok, MD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Department of Neurology, Dongsan Medical Center, Keimyung University School of Medicine, 1095 Dalgubeol-daero, Dalseo-gu, Daegu 42601, Korea Tel: +82-53-258-7837 • Fax: +82-53-258-4380 • E-mail: shy2354@gmail.com

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

mellitus or thyroid disease. Nine months earlier, he had undergone craniotomy in the bilateral temporal region because of traumatic subdural hematoma from falling and had recovered without neurological sequelae. On admission, his body temperature was 36.8°C, and no jaw claudication or temporal artery tenderness were present. Neurological examination revealed ptosis and complete oph-thalmoplegia with a normal pupillary response to light in the right eye. The rest of his neurological examination was unremarkable. Initial head magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) performed 7 days after symptom onset revealed no abnormalities except for postoperative changes associated with the previous subdural hematoma in the bilateral temporal areas and evidence of left maxillary sinusitis (Fig. 1A). Visual evoked potential showed low amplitude and delayed P100 wave at 188 ms after right eye stimulation. Laboratory findings were within normal ranges, except for erythrocyte sedi-

mentation rate (32 mg/L) and C-reactive protein (82.52 mg/L). Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis revealed clear color, normal cell count, and normal protein and glucose levels. Immunologic serum markers, such as antinuclear antibody, antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody, C3, C4, immunoglobulin G (IgG), IgA, IgM, and IgE concentrations, were within the normal range.

With the provisional diagnosis of THS, the patient was treated with intravenous high-dose methylprednisolone (1,000 mg/ day) for 5 days. He experienced significant relief from orbital pain within 24 hours. On admission day 8, the patient was discharged with only mild ptosis and slight limitation of adduction in the right eye; however, he was readmitted 1 month later because the severe right-sided headache and periorbital pain recurred. Seven days after readmission, he developed a left-sided hemiparesis (Medical Research Council [MRC] grade 4) followed by mild drowsiness.



**Fig. 1.** (A) Initial gadolinium-enhanced T1-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) shows no abnormalities. (B) T2 fluid-attenuated inversion recovery and (C) T1-weighted (contrast-enhanced) imaging of follow-up gadolinium-enhanced MRI show thickening and enhancement of the right optic nerve, cavernous sinus, sphenoid sinus soft tissue with partial bony destruction, and spread of enhancing tissue into the right orbital apex (arrows). (D) The source image of magnetic resonance angiography shows encasement of the right internal carotid artery (ICA) as well as ipsilateral optic canal invasion (arrows). (E) Diffusion-weighted MRI reveals acute infarction in the right ICA territory.

Diffusion-weighted MRI (DWI) of the brain revealed acute ischemic infarcts in the borderzone of the right middle/anterior cerebral arteries. In addition, a gadolinium-enhanced follow-up brain MRI revealed a diffuse and enhancing mass-like lesion involving the right orbital apex, cavernous sinus, and sphenoid sinus (Fig. 1B, 1C). Encasement of the ipsilateral internal carotid artery (ICA) in the cavernous sinus was suspected (Fig. 1D). On readmission day 9, his mental status deteriorated to a deep drowsy state. Follow-up CSF findings revealed a white blood cell count of 330 cells/ $\mu$ L (lymphocytes 47%, neutrophils 43%), an elevated protein concentration of 96.4 mg/dL (range, < 45 mg/dL), and a reduced CSF/serum glucose ratio, suggesting central nervous system (CNS) infection. A sphenoid sinus biopsy was performed. Although direct microscopy with potassium hydroxide mount and fungal culture was negative, histopathological examination of the resected right sphenoid sinus tissue revealed inflammation and fungal balls with Aspergillus organisms (Fig. 2). The patient was treated with amphotericin B. On readmission day 21, left-sided weakness progressed (MRC grade 1), and the consciousness worsened to stupor. Repeated brain DWI revealed infarction in the right ICA territory (Fig. 1E). Brain computerized tomography on readmission day 23 showed a right-to-left shift of the hemisphere due to significant brain swelling. The patient died shortly afterward the same day.

# Discussion

Imaging, particularly MRI, and CSF studies play a crucial role in



**Fig. 2.** Histopathology of the resected tissue shows abundant *Aspergillus* organisms with typical branching septate hyphae with a bulbous appearance that branch at 45° (hematoxylin-eosin stain, × 400).

diagnosing invasive aspergillosis involving the orbit, paranasal sinus, and CNS. Our patient was initially diagnosed with THS based on clinical features of unilateral painful ophthalmoplegia and good steroid response after excluding other disease processes through normal findings in initial diagnostic tests, including MRI and CSF studies. Although decreased visual acuity observed in our patient is not a common symptom of THS, it can occur in THS if the inflammatory process extends to the orbital apex [2]. Invasive aspergillosis with normal initial MRI and CSF findings poses a diagnostic dilemma and is often confused with other diseases, as in the present case.

Aspergillosis, particularly of the sphenoid sinus, may have variable clinical manifestations mimicking THS according to the involvement of orbital apex structures and cavernous sinus. In addition, the paucity of this pathology makes diagnosis extremely difficult in a clinical setting. Aspergillosis usually occurs as an opportunistic infection in immunocompromised patients [3]. However, as in our case, orbital or CNS aspergillosis has rarely been reported in immunocompetent patients [4,5]. In addition to the fact that the initial evaluations were normal, the symptoms of invasive sphenoid sinus aspergillosis being similar to THS, the immunocompetent status of our patient, and the rarity of invasive aspergillosis were factors that made initial diagnosis difficult.

The limitations in the diagnosis of invasive fungal disease are widely recognized. Conventional methods such as direct microscopy, fungal culture, and histopathologic examination remain the gold standard for diagnosing invasive fungal diseases. However, these methods lack sensitivity and specificity, and in particular, the duration of obtaining fungal culture results is lengthy, which limits rapid decision-making in clinical practice [6]. Recent studies have suggested new noninvasive methods such as antigen detection tests (galactomannan, beta-D-glucan) and molecular amplification methods, which provide more rapid, sensitive, and accurate results [6,7]. While conventional methods are still needed for a definitive diagnosis of invasive fungal disease, new diagnostic methods facilitate the early detection of pathogenic fungi.

Aspergillus species are angioinvasive, leading to occlusive thrombosis, embolism, and eventual infarction with hemorrhagic transformation [8]. In particular, cavernous sinus invasion and consequent ICA encasement are common in aspergillosis due to concomitant paranasal sinus disease, resulting in major territorial infarcts [9,10]. The present patient also showed cavernous extension and ICA encasement that resulted in ICA thrombosis with a malignant ICA infarct. In the present case, corticosteroid therapy may have exacerbated the *Aspergillus* infection and facilitated the resulting infarction despite improving the symptoms initially.

This study emphasizes that invasive aspergillosis can occur in

immunocompetent patients with orbital or CNS involvement. The diagnosis could be delayed because initial signs, symptoms, and radiologic findings could mimic THS. Invasive sphenoid aspergillosis is a potentially fatal condition if not treated early or aggressively. A high degree of suspicion about the possibility of aspergillosis and repeated neuroimaging studies, specifically with atypical clinical course, is the only way to expect a good prognosis by early treatment after prompt histological confirmation.

# Notes

# **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

# Funding

None.

# Author contributions

Conceptualization: all authors; Investigation: JC, HYS; Data curation: YHJ, JC; Formal analysis: JC, BJK, HYS; Supervision: HYS; Writing-original draft: YHJ, JC; Writing-review & editing: BJK, HYS.

# ORCID

Yu Hun Jeong, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6220-7953 Jongsuk Choi, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0498-5401 Byung-Jo Kim, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0445-7185 Hung Youl Seok, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9938-5355

# References

1. Attout H, Rahmeh F, Ziegler F. Cavernous sinus lymphoma

mimicking Tolosa-Hunt syndrome. Rev Med Interne 2000; 21:795–8.

- 2. Amrutkar C, Burton EV. Tolosa-Hunt syndrome [updated 2021 Aug 11]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 [cited 2022 Jan 29]. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459225/.
- 3. Walsh TJ, Anaissie EJ, Denning DW, Herbrecht R, Kontoyiannis DP, Marr KA, et al. Treatment of aspergillosis: clinical practice guidelines of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 2008;46:327–60.
- Pushker N, Meel R, Kashyap S, Bajaj MS, Sen S. Invasive aspergillosis of orbit in immunocompetent patients: treatment and outcome. Ophthalmology 2011;118:1886–91.
- 5. Siddiqui AA, Shah AA, Bashir SH. Craniocerebral aspergillosis of sinonasal origin in immunocompetent patients: clinical spectrum and outcome in 25 cases. Neurosurgery 2004;55: 602–13.
- 6. El-Aal AMA, El-Mashad N, Mohamed AN. Revision on the recent diagnostic strategies of fungal infections. Open J Med Microbiol 2017;7:29–40.
- 7. Barnes RA. Early diagnosis of fungal infection in immunocompromised patients. J Antimicrob Chemother 2008;61(Suppl 1):i3–6.
- 8. Hope WW, Walsh TJ, Denning DW. The invasive and saprophytic syndromes due to Aspergillus spp. Med Mycol 2005; 43(Suppl 1):S207–38.
- 9. Kumar D, Nepal P, Singh S, Ramanathan S, Khanna M, Sheoran R, et al. CNS aspergilloma mimicking tumors: review of CNS aspergillus infection imaging characteristics in the immunocompetent population. J Neuroradiol 2018;45:169–76.
- Kim JP, Park BJ, Lee MS, Lim YJ. Occlusion of the internal carotid artery due to intracranial fungal infection. J Korean Neurosurg Soc 2011;49:186–9.

# Case report



# Laparoscopic excision and repair of a cesarean scar pregnancy in a woman with uterine didelphys: a case report

Seong-Eon Park<sup>1</sup>, Ji-Eun Ryu<sup>1</sup>, Tae-Kyu Jang<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Keimyung University Dongsan Medical Center, Daegu, Korea <sup>2</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Keimyung University School of Medicine, Daegu, Korea

Cesarean scar pregnancy (CSP) is a rare complication that occurs in less than 1% of ectopic pregnancies, and uterine didelphys is one of the rarest uterine forms. We report a successful laparoscopic excision and repair of CSP in a woman with uterine didelphys and a double vagina. A 34-year-old gravida one, para one woman with a history of low transverse cesarean section presented to our hospital with a suspected CSP. She was confirmed to have uterine didelphys with a double vagina during an infertility examination 7 years earlier. Magnetic resonance imaging showed a 2.5-cm gestational sac-like cystic lesion in the lower segment of the right uterus at the cesarean scar. We decided to perform a laparoscopic approach after informing the patient of the surgical procedure. The lower segment of the right uterus, which was evacuated using spoon forceps. The myometrium and serosa of the uterus were sutured layer-by-layer using synthetic absorbable sutures. No remnant gestational tissue was visible on follow-up ultrasonography one month after the surgery. This laparoscopic approach to CSP in a woman with uterine didelphys is an effective and safe method of treatment. In women with uterine anomalies, it is important to confirm the exact location of the gestational sac by preoperative imaging for successful surgery.

Keywords: Cesarean section; Laparoscopy; Uterine disease

# Introduction

Cesarean scar pregnancy (CSP) is a rare complication of pregnancy, occurring in less than 1% of ectopic pregnancies [1]. A CSP is defined as implantation of the blastocyst at the myometrium through dehiscence of a previous cesarean scar [2]. There are two types of CSP using imaging modalities. Type 1 (endogenic type) develops in the myometrium and progresses toward the uterine cavity, and type 2 (exogenic type) deeply invades in the scar defect and progresses toward the uterine serosa with possible uterine rupture [3]. CSPs have increased in prevalence with increasing cesarean section deliveries and advances in ultrasonography [4]. However, CSPs are not easy to diagnose, with a misdiagnosis rate of 70% to 80% during the first examination [5]. Upon ultrasonography, CSPs can be misdiagnosed as threatened and incomplete abortions and cervical pregnancies, depending on the gestational sac's location and shape. Moreover, the diagnosis of CSP may be more difficult if there is a uterine malformation, such as uterine didel-

Received: February 10, 2022 • Revised: March 24, 2022 • Accepted: April 6, 2022

Corresponding author: Tae-Kyu Jang, MD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Keimyung University School of Medicine, 1095 Dalgubeol-daero, Dalseo-gu, Daegu 42601, Korea Tel: +82-53-258-7809 • Fax: +82-53-250-7599 • E-mail: tiber0103@dsmc.or.kr

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

phys. Uterine didelphys is one of the rarest uterine forms, accounting for 8.3% of all Müllerian anomalies [6]. Uterine didelphys arises from failure of the Müllerian ducts to fuse resulting in two separate endometrial cavities, two cervices, and often a longitudinal vaginal septum. We report a successful laparoscopic treatment of a very rare case of CSP in a woman with uterine didelphys.

# Case

**Ethical statements:** This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Keimyung University Dongsan Hospital (IRB No: 2022-02-062) and written informed consent from the patient was waived by the IRB due to retrospective nature of this case study.

A 34-year-old woman, gravida two, para one, with a history of low transverse cesarean section, was initially referred to Keimyung University Dongsan Hospital for a suspected CSP at 7 weeks gestation. Her serum  $\beta$ -human chorionic gonadotropin ( $\beta$ -HCG) concentration was 30,626 mIU/mL at her first visit to our hospital. During a fertility examination performed at another hospital 7 years earlier, she was diagnosed with uterine didelphys, two cervices, and a longitudinal vaginal septum. This pregnancy was confirmed as naturally conceived without infertility procedures. Upon pelvic examination, the left vagina was narrow and inaccessible. The pelvic examination was performed entirely through the right vagina and included vaginal ultrasonography. Based on vaginal ultrasonography, a CSP with active cardiac activity was suspected in the right uterus, and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was performed for an accurate diagnosis. A fetal pole (crown-rump length, 20 mm) in a gestational sac was located at the right lower uterine segment with a 41-mm sized intramural myoma at the uterine anterior wall (Fig. 1). There was no evidence of hemorrhage in the endometrial cavity or free fluid in the cul-de-sac. The patient was counseled about the medical treatment of CSP, which had a high probability of failure based on the high level of β-HCG. Because of the risk of uterine bleeding during the pregnancy, we decided to remove only the gestational sac through laparoscopic surgery without removing the uterine myoma, with the patient's consent.

The patient underwent CSP laparoscopic excision with repair based on a stepwise approach. A uterine manipulator was used to facilitate the surgery by easily moving the uterus, which was entered through the right cervix. During the laparoscopy, it was noted that the bladder had adhered to the uterine anterior wall due to the previous cesarean section, and the focus of the ectopic pregnancy was presumed to be a lump protruding outwards from the uterine lower segment (Fig. 2). As the first step, both uterine arteries were clamped to reduce bleeding risk during the surgery. A small transverse incision was made in the lower segment of the uterus, just above the adherent bladder to differentiate it from the bladder flap after the uterus was positioned as far as possible into the abdominal cavity using the uterine manipulator. Careful dissection was performed using monopolar diathermy within the areolar tissue at the vesicouterine plane. As the second step, the focus of



**Fig. 1.** A gestational sac and intramural myoma on magnetic resonance imaging (T2, sagittal plane). It shows a 41-mm intramural myoma (arrow) at the uterine anterior wall and a 25-mm gestational sac (arrowhead) on the right lower uterine segment.



**Fig. 2.** Focus of the ectopic pregnancy (arrow) protruding outwards from the uterine lower segment.

the ectopic pregnancy was verified at the uterine lower segment and excised without residual lesion. The products of conception on the lower anterior myometrium were removed using spoon forceps (Fig. 3). No massive bleeding occurred from the implantation site while removing the gestational sac. After complete excision, clear bifurcated endocervical canals could be identified without residual lesion (Fig. 4). As a final step, the uterus was repaired layer-by-layer. The defective myometrium was sutured using VIC-RYL sutures (Ethicon, Somerville, NJ, USA) to prevent occlusion of the bifurcated endocervical canals. The uterine serosa was sutured with 2-0 barbed monofilament sutures.

The patient's postoperative condition was uneventful, and she was discharged home on day 2 after surgery. The histological analysis of the extracted tissue confirmed that it was gestational tissue. Ultrasonography was performed and  $\beta$ -HCG level was assessed 2 weeks later during her follow-up at the outpatient clinic. The ultrasonography showed that the CSP had completely resolved and en-



Fig. 3. Products of conception (arrow) on the lower anterior myometrium.



Fig. 4. Bifurcated endocervical canals. Lt, left; Rt, right.

dometrial thickness was approximately 15 mm without myometrial defect; the  $\beta$ -HCG level also decreased to 88 mIU/mL. She is currently being followed up for 28 months with no surgery-related problems noted to date.

# Discussion

We presented a 34-year-old patient who had been diagnosed with uterine didelphys during a fertility test and had previously undergone a cesarean section. She was asymptomatic at 7 weeks gestation with suspected CSP detected by imaging. Although we successfully finished the laparoscopic surgery by excising and repairing the myometrial defect, we performed the surgery under anatomical uncertainty. Moreover, as in our patient's case, CSP in patients with uterine malformations, such as uterine didelphys, can make treatment decisions more difficult. Due to limited reports and varying clinical circumstances involving CSPs, the treatment decision is made by clinical judgment and a clinician's preference among various treatment options. Options range from expectant management, medical management (systemic or gestational sac injections), and surgical approaches. Regardless, early diagnosis and treatment can provide the best outcome because delayed treatment due to misdiagnosis is associated with severe maternal morbidity and mortality due to bleeding risks [7].

Methotrexate (MTX) is a common treatment for ectopic pregnancy and has traditionally been considered an option for ectopic pregnancies with  $\beta$ -HCG values less than 10,000 mIU/mL. In a review report, systemic MTX treatment for CSPs was found to be effective when the serum  $\beta$ -HCG levels were less than 12,000 mIU/ mL and fetal cardiac activity was negative [8]. Unlike tubal pregnancies, exposure of the gestational sac to MTX is limited with CSPs due to the fibrous tissue surrounding the gestational sac. This means that local MTX injection is considered an alternative [7]. However, Peng et al. [9] reported the results of a randomized trial comparing local versus systemic injection of MTX in 104 patients with CSP, and success rates were similar for local and systemic injections (69.2% vs. 67.3%, respectively). A surgical approach was our inevitable option because the fetus had active cardiac activity and the  $\beta$ -HCG level was above 30,000 mIU/mL at the first visit. Surgical treatment with a success rate of over 95% is the most obvious option for gestational sac removal and uterine defect repair while maintaining fertility [10]. The main advantage of a surgical approach is that if the gestational sac is completely removed during surgery, the treatment itself can be terminated and the outpatient follow-up time can be shortened.

A variety of surgical methods can be performed, including laparotomy, laparoscopy, hysteroscopy, and dilation and curettage, depending on various circumstances, such as the patient's condition at the time of diagnosis, location of the gestational sac, and surgical skills of the attending physician. Hysteroscopy for gestational sac access can be considered in patients with normal anatomy, but it would have been difficult in our case with uterine anomalies. We chose the laparoscopic approach in consulting the patient, despite her having uterine didelphys. The first reason was that the patient's condition was hemodynamically stable. Second, as the gestational sac was presumed to be type 2 CSP (exogenic type), protruding into the abdominal cavity by MRI, it was thought that the gestational sac would be easily accessible through laparoscopy. In related literature, it was reported that laparoscopic surgery in CSP is suitable when the gestational sac is growing toward the abdominal cavity [11,12]. Third, surgeons are more likely to choose the procedure they are most familiar with, especially in difficult circumstances involving patients with CSP and uterine didelphys. Finally, since laparoscopic resection of CSP has been reported at up to 11 weeks gestation, the gestational sac was considered sufficiently accessible [13].

There are several case reports of laparoscopic bilateral ligation of the uterine arteries during surgical management of CSP, and we also removed the gestational sac after bilateral ligation of the uterine arteries [14,15]. Ligating both uterine arteries prior to removal of the gestational sac is a very useful procedure, as it can minimize bleeding risk and enables the surgeon to perform the operation under stable conditions. In randomized clinical trials, permanent uterine artery ligation was an effective method for blood loss reduction in surgeries for excision and myometrial defect repair [16,17]. Although there have been reports that permanent uterine artery ligation is associated with early miscarriage, intrauterine growth restriction, and preterm birth [18,19], if the patient wishes no future pregnancy, it is a surgical procedure that can be fully considered, as in our case.

As cesarean delivery increases, clinicians will have more clinical experience with CSPs, but CSPs are still rare to date and those with uterine malformations are even rarer. To our knowledge, this is the first case report of CSP in a woman with uterine didelphys in the medical literature. Therefore, it is important for clinicians to identify this rare condition, such as with uterine didelphys, and to make an accurate diagnosis for prompt treatment. The optimal management of CSP in a patient with uterine didelphys remains unclear. The choice of treatment modality can be influenced by various clinical conditions, including the type of CSP, gestational week, hemodynamic stability, level of  $\beta$ -HCG, possibility of future pregnancy, clinician expertise, and surgical proficiency. Surgical treatment has a high success rate. However, the surgeon must be skilled, especially in laparoscopic surgery, and the surgical risk itself must be

discussed with the patient.

In summary, this case is the successful treatment of a woman with CSP and uterine didelphys through a laparoscopic approach. We demonstrated that a laparoscopic stepwise approach can ensure a safe and efficient surgical treatment of CSP. Although the surgical approach selected in our report is one of various treatment methods for CSP, it can be a useful reference for similar cases in the future.

# Notes

# **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

# Funding

None.

# Author contributions

Conceptualization, Project administration: TKJ; Writing-original draft: all authors; Writing-review & editing: all authors.

# ORCID

Seong-Eon Park, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7952-8796 Ji-Eun Ryu, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8460-2628 Tae-Kyu Jang, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0886-6346

# References

- 1. Seow KM, Huang LW, Lin YH, Lin MY, Tsai YL, Hwang JL. Cesarean scar pregnancy: issues in management. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2004;23:247–53.
- 2. Moschos E, Wells CE, Twickler DM. Biometric sonographic findings of abnormally adherent trophoblastic implantations on cesarean delivery scars. J Ultrasound Med 2014;33:475–81.
- **3.** Timor-Tritsch IE, Monteagudo A, Santos R, Tsymbal T, Pineda G, Arslan AA. The diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up of cesarean scar pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2012;207:44.
- 4. Kirk E. Ultrasound in the diagnosis of ectopic pregnancy. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2012;55:395–401.
- Jurkovic D, Knez J, Appiah A, Farahani L, Mavrelos D, Ross JA. Surgical treatment of Cesarean scar ectopic pregnancy: efficacy and safety of ultrasound-guided suction curettage. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2016;47:511–7.
- 6. Rezai S, Bisram P, Lora Alcantara I, Upadhyay R, Lara C, Elmadjian M. Didelphys uterus: a case report and review of the literature. Case Rep Obstet Gynecol 2015;2015:865821.

- 7. Riaz RM, Williams TR, Craig BM, Myers DT. Cesarean scar ectopic pregnancy: imaging features, current treatment options, and clinical outcomes. Abdom Imaging 2015;40:2589–99.
- Bodur S, Özdamar Ö, Kılıç S, Gün I. The efficacy of the systemic methotrexate treatment in caesarean scar ectopic pregnancy: a quantitative review of English literature. J Obstet Gynaecol 2015;35:290–6.
- **9.** Peng P, Gui T, Liu X, Chen W, Liu Z. Comparative efficacy and safety of local and systemic methotrexate injection in cesarean scar pregnancy. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2015;11:137–42.
- **10.** Glenn TL, Bembry J, Findley AD, Yaklic JL, Bhagavath B, Gagneux P, et al. Cesarean scar ectopic pregnancy: current management strategies. Obstet Gynecol Surv 2018;73:293–302.
- Tulandi T, Cohen A. Emerging manifestations of cesarean scar defect in reproductive-aged women. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2016;23:893–902.
- 12. Zhai JF, Xu M, Zhang B, Gao JW, Chen N. Treatments of caesarean scar pregnancy and the corresponding results in ten years. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2015;19:2523–7.
- Wang YL, Su TH, Chen HS. Operative laparoscopy for unruptured ectopic pregnancy in a caesarean scar. BJOG 2006;113: 1035–8.
- 14. Wang L, Sun L, Wang L, Chen H, Ouyang X, Qiu H. Laparo-

scopic temporary bilateral uterine artery occlusion with silicone tubing to prevent hemorrhage during vacuum aspiration of cesarean scar pregnancies. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2015;41:1762– 8.

- 15. Fuchs N, Manoucheri E, Verbaan M, Einarsson JI. Laparoscopic management of extrauterine pregnancy in caesarean section scar: description of a surgical technique and review of the literature. BJOG 2015;122:137–40.
- 16. Vercellino G, Erdemoglu E, Joe A, Hopfenmueller W, Holthaus B, Köhler C, et al. Laparoscopic temporary clipping of uterine artery during laparoscopic myomectomy. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2012;286:1181–6.
- Fletcher H, Frederick J, Hardie M, Simeon D. A randomized comparison of vasopressin and tourniquet as hemostatic agents during myomectomy. Obstet Gynecol 1996;87:1014–8.
- Chen YJ, Wang PH, Yuan CC, Yen YK, Yang MJ, Ng HT, et al. Pregnancy following treatment of symptomatic myomas with laparoscopic bipolar coagulation of uterine vessels. Hum Reprod 2003;18:1077–81.
- Holub Z, Mara M, Kuzel D, Jabor A, Maskova J, Eim J. Pregnancy outcomes after uterine artery occlusion: prospective multicentric study. Fertil Steril 2008;90:1886–91.

# Case report



# Cerebral fat embolism syndrome: diagnostic challenges and catastrophic outcomes: a case series

Hussein A. Algahtani<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Bader H. Shirah<sup>4</sup>, Nawal Abdelghaffar<sup>5,6</sup>, Fawziah Alahmari<sup>5</sup>, Wajd Alhadi<sup>7</sup>, Saeed A. Alqahtani<sup>7</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Neurology Section, Department of Medicine, King Abdulaziz Medical City, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia
 <sup>2</sup>Research Office King Abdullah International Medical Research Center, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia
 <sup>3</sup>College of Medicine, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia
 <sup>4</sup>Department of Neuroscience, King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Centre, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia
 <sup>5</sup>Department of Medicine, Aseer Central Hospital, Abha, Saudi Arabia
 <sup>6</sup>Neurology Department, Kasr Al Ainy Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt
 <sup>7</sup>College of Medicine, King Khalid University, Abha, Saudi Arabia

Fat embolism syndrome is a rare but alarming, life-threatening clinical condition attributed to fat emboli entering the circulation. It usually occurs as a complication of long-bone fractures and joint reconstruction surgery. Neurological manifestations usually occur 12 to 72 hours after the initial insult. These neurological complications include cerebral infarction, spinal cord ischemia, hemorrhagic stroke, seizures, and coma. Other features include an acute confusional state, autonomic dysfunction, and retinal ischemia. In this case series, we describe three patients with fat embolism syndrome who presented with atypical symptoms and signs and with unusual neuroimaging findings. Cerebral fat embolism may occur without any respiratory or dermatological signs. In these cases, diagnosis was established after excluding other differential diagnoses. Neuroimaging using brain magnetic resonance imaging is of paramount importance in establishing a diagnosis. Aggressive hemodynamic and respiratory support from the beginning and consideration of orthopedic surgical intervention within the first 24 hours after trauma are critical to decreased morbidity and mortality.

Keywords: Brain; Fat embolism syndrome; Injuries; Trauma

# Introduction

Fat embolism syndrome is a rare but alarming, life-threatening clinical condition attributed to fat emboli entering the circulation [1]. The first animal model of this syndrome was described over 350 years ago by Lower, who intravenously injected milk into dogs. Magendie performed more elaborate studies in the early 19th century and observed that intravenous injection of oil led to pulmo-

nary edema and the mechanical obstruction of small vessels by fat globules. The first human cases of fat embolism syndrome were described by Zenker in 1862 in patients with severe traumatic crush injuries. He reported the presence of fat droplets in the lung capillaries of railroad workers who died following crush injuries [2]. Since then, fat embolism syndrome has become an interesting research topic, and theories of its pathophysiology and diagnostic criteria have been described [3]. In this case series, we describe

Corresponding author: Hussein A. Algahtani, MD, FRCPC, MMed

Neurology Section, Department of Medicine, King Abdulaziz Medical City, P.O. Box: 12723, Jeddah 21483, Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966-556633130 • E-mail: halgahtani@hotmail.com

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Received: May 3, 2022 • Revised: July 23, 2022 • Accepted: July 29, 2022

three patients with fat embolism syndrome who presented with atypical symptoms, signs, and neuroimaging findings. We also review other atypical neurological presentations of this disorder.

# Cases

**Ethical statements:** This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of King Abdullah International Medical Research Center (IRB No: NRJ22J/143/05). Informed consent was obtained according to the Declaration of Helsinki.

# 1. Case 1

A 23-year-old male presented to the emergency department with polytrauma sustained during a road traffic injury. He had a thoracic vertebral fracture (T6), left humeral shaft fracture, left femoral shaft fracture, right leg crush injury, and right comminuted femoral fracture. At presentation, his vital signs were normal, and he was awake, alert, and communicating. Two days after admission, he developed confusion, drowsiness, and altered sensorium with a drop in his Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score to 9/15. Although a detailed neurological examination was challenging due to confusion and agitation, there were no apparent focal or lateralizing signs. The patient was sedated, intubated, mechanically ventilated, and transferred to the intensive care unit. An urgent brain computed tomography (CT) scan revealed generalized edema with no signs of infarction or hemorrhage. He was administered quetiapine (150 mg twice daily) and clonazepam (0.5 mg once daily). On the sixth day of admission, urgent brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) revealed extensive bilateral symmetrical punctate foci of nearly the same size with abnormal signal intensities. These foci affected both the cerebral and cerebellar hemispheres with restricted diffusion, decreased signals in susceptibility-weighted imaging (SWI) indicative of microbleeds, and mottled fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) signals (Fig. 1). The MRI appearance suggested a diagnosis of cerebral fat embolism. The patient endured a stormy course in the intensive care unit for two additional months before being transferred to the orthopedic ward, where he underwent surgery for his fractures. The patient was discharged in a stable condition with follow-up at a multidisciplinary clinic and rehabilitation program.

# 2. Case 2

A 30-year-old male presented to the emergency department 3 hours after a road traffic injury with a right comminuted femoral fracture, left proximal tibial fracture, and left fibular fracture. A few



**Fig. 1.** Brain magnetic resonance images show extensive bilateral, symmetrical punctate foci of nearly the same size and abnormal signal intensities affecting both cerebral and cerebellar hemispheres with diffusion restriction and decreased susceptibility-weighted imaging (microbleeds) and mottled fluid-attenuated inversion recovery signals. Arrows indicate one of the foci as an example.

hours later, his level of consciousness started to decline, and he became unresponsive, with a GCS score of 8/15. He also developed oxygen desaturation ( $O_2$  of 92%) and was sedated and intubated with subsequent transfer to the intensive care unit. A plain CT scan of the brain was unremarkable, with no ischemia or hemorrhage. Three days later, the patient showed no improvement in the level of consciousness when sedation was stopped. Due to this unexplained drop in his level of consciousness, brain MRI was ordered on the fifth day of admission and revealed extensive small high-signal-intensity lesions of the whole brain, resembling a starfield pattern in T2-weighted and FLAIR images with restricted diffusion and microhemorrhages in SWI (Fig. 2). The patient endured a stormy course in which he remained in the intensive care unit for 1 month with no significant neurological improvement. He underwent orthopedic fixation surgery and was transferred with a tracheostomy to a rehabilitation floor. He continued to improve slowly with the help of a multidisciplinary team and rehabilitation.

# 3. Case 3

A 19-year-old male was admitted after a road traffic injury with multiple fractures (right proximal tibial and right femoral fractures). The patient was conscious, alert, and communicating, with



**Fig. 2.** Brain magnetic resonance images show extensive small high-signal intensity lesions involving the whole brain giving the appearance of a starfield pattern on T2-weighted images with restricted diffusion and profuse microhemorrhages in susceptibility-weighted imaging. Arrows indicate one of the lesions as an example.

a normal GCS score. A few hours later, he developed acute onset loss of consciousness (GCS score of 3/15) with subsequent sedation, intubation, and mechanical ventilation with immediate transfer to the intensive care unit. One day later, he developed convulsive status epilepticus with repeated episodes of generalized tonic-clonic seizures. He was administered phenytoin and valproic acid and maintained on maintenance therapy with three antiepileptic drugs (phenytoin, valproic acid, and levetiracetam). His electroencephalogram (EEG) showed generalized slowing of the background with frequent generalized epileptiform discharges. Despite treatment, the patient remained in refractory status epilepticus, after which he was fully sedated with midazolam. On the third day, MRI of the brain showed innumerable deep-white-matter, high-signal foci on T2-weighted images and low-signal foci on T1-weighted images showing restricted diffusion on diffusion-weighted imaging. Some foci showed blooming artifacts on SWI, consistent with multiple small infarctions, and some foci showed hemorrhagic components consistent with fat embolism (Fig. 3). The patient continued to have refractory generalized tonic-clonic seizures, and workups for other differential diagnoses, including central nervous system infection and autoimmune encephalitis, were negative. He eventually improved and was transferred



**Fig. 3.** Brain magnetic resonance images show innumerable deep-white-matter, high-signal foci on T2-weighted images and low-signal foci on T1-weighted images showing restricted diffusion on diffusion-weighted imaging. Some images show blooming artifacts on susceptibility-weighted imaging consistent with multiple small infarctions and some show hemorrhagic components consistent with fat embolism. Arrows indicate one of the foci as an example.

to the orthopedic ward, where he was managed conservatively. The patient was subsequently discharged and received multidisciplinary care, including rehabilitation.

# Discussion

Fat embolism syndrome is characterized by the classic triad of respiratory compromise, neurological impairment, and petechial skin rashes [4]. Neurological manifestations usually occur 12 to 72 hours after the initial insult. These neurological complications include cerebral infarction, spinal cord ischemia, hemorrhagic stroke, seizures, and coma. Other features include an acute confusional state, autonomic dysfunction, and retinal ischemia. These neurological symptoms and signs are usually nonlocalized with variable severity, which may present a diagnostic challenge, especially in the absence of simultaneous pulmonary and/or dermatological manifestations [5]. None of our patients had a petechial skin rash; one patient experienced oxygen desaturation but showed no radiographic lung changes. The final diagnosis was established mainly by classical neuroimaging findings and exclusion of mimickers such as brain hemorrhage or ischemia following head trauma, metabolic encephalopathy, and drug toxicity. MRI of the brain is the diagnostic modality of choice for cerebral fat embolism syndrome.

Neurological involvement occurs as a result of the migration of fat globules to the central nervous system following adipose tissue damage and the passage of fat globules into open-ended ruptured venous channels. This physical mechanism is augmented by additional biochemical mechanisms incorporating plasma intermediaries that promote fat embolization from storage, with subsequent formation of fat globules in the intravascular compartment. Severe hypoxia due to respiratory failure is another contributing factor [6].

Although neurological manifestations may occur in up to 65% of patients with fat embolism syndrome, seizures occur in only 20% of cases [7]. Seizures could be focal, with or without secondary generalization, or generalized tonic-clonic seizures from the onset. There have been only three previous reports of nonconvulsive status epilepticus secondary to fat embolism [8]. The third patient in our series appears to be the first case of super-refractory convulsive status epilepticus secondary to cerebral fat embolism reported in the literature. Seizures and status epilepticus from cerebral fat embolism are treated in the same manner as those from any other cause, utilizing the available protocols practiced in the treatment center. EEG, especially continuous EEG monitoring, is a necessary tool for the diagnosis, response to antiepileptic therapy, and detection of nonconvulsive status epilepticus.

MRI is the most sensitive tool for demonstrating changes in the brain related to fat embolism syndrome. Most lesions are distributed in specific areas of the brain, including the centrum semiovale, subcortical white matter, ganglionic regions, and thalamus. In addition, five distinct brain patterns have been reported in the literature, namely starfield-scattered cytotoxic edema, confluent cytotoxic edema in white matter, vasogenic edema lesions that may enhance, petechial hemorrhage of white matter, and chronic sequelae patterns [9]. The neuroimages in our case were fascinating; the diagnoses were suspected and confirmed based on these images. We recommend performing MRI of the brain in any patient with longbone fractures who develops unexplained deterioration in the level of consciousness and seizures.

The mainstay treatment for fat embolism syndrome is preventive and supportive measures with no specific treatment guidelines. The use of steroids is controversial, although the hypothetical benefit may be justified by their anti-inflammatory role and capacity to reduce capillary permeability [10]. Based on observations from the patients reported in our case series, early and adequate hemodynamic and respiratory support and prevention of sepsis are major steps to avoid morbidity and mortality. In addition, early surgical intervention performed within 24 hours after trauma may reduce the risk of cerebral fat embolism.

Cerebral fat embolism is a rare syndrome that is potentially devastating and has poorly elucidated pathophysiological mechanisms. It usually occurs as a complication of long-bone fractures and joint reconstruction surgery. Cerebral fat embolism may occur without any respiratory or dermatological signs. In these cases, diagnosis is established after excluding other differential diagnoses. Neuroimaging using brain MRI is of paramount importance in establishing a diagnosis. Early aggressive hemodynamic and respiratory support and consideration of orthopedic surgical intervention within the first 24 hours after trauma are critical to decreasing morbidity and mortality.

# Notes

# **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflicts of interest relevant to this article was reported.

# Funding

None.

## Author contributions

Conceptualization: HAA, SAA; Data curation: HAA, NA, FA, WA; Formal analysis: HAA, BHS, NA, FA, WA; Validation: SAA; Resources, Supervision, Project administration: HAA; Visualization: HAA, WA; Writing-original draft: all authors; Writing-review & editing: all authors.

#### ORCID

Hussein A. Algahtani, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9484-9838 Bader H. Shirah, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6493-2155 Nawal Abdelghaffar, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7153-5219 Fawziah Alahmari, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0770-1515 Wajd Alhadi, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7549-6336 Saeed A. Alqahtani, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8156-6839

# References

- 1. Rothberg DL, Makarewich CA. Fat embolism and fat embolism syndrome. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2019;27:e346–55.
- Adeyinka A, Pierre L. Fat embolism. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 [cited 2022 Jul 23]. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK499885/.
- **3.** Tzioupis CC, Giannoudis PV. Fat embolism syndrome: what have we learned over the years? Trauma 2011;13:259–81.

- 4. Newbigin K, Souza CA, Torres C, Marchiori E, Gupta A, Inacio J, et al. Fat embolism syndrome: state-of-the-art review focused on pulmonary imaging findings. Respir Med 2016;113:93–100.
- 5. Morales-Vidal SG. Neurologic complications of fat embolism syndrome. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 2019;19:14.
- 6. Scarpino M, Lanzo G, Lolli F, Grippo A. From the diagnosis to the therapeutic management: cerebral fat embolism, a clinical challenge. Int J Gen Med 2019;12:39–48.
- 7. Godoy DA, Di Napoli M, Rabinstein AA. Cerebral fat embolism: recognition, complications, and prognosis. Neurocrit Care 2018;29:358–65.
- Fernández-Torre JL, Burgueño P, Ballesteros MA, Hernández-Hernández MA, Villagrá-Terán N, de Lucas EM. Super-refractory nonconvulsive status epilepticus secondary to fat embolism: a clinical, electrophysiological, and pathological study. Epilepsy Behav 2015;49:184–8.
- 9. Kuo KH, Pan YJ, Lai YJ, Cheung WK, Chang FC, Jarosz J. Dynamic MR imaging patterns of cerebral fat embolism: a systematic review with illustrative cases. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2014;35:1052–7.
- Sen RK, Tripathy SK, Krishnan V. Role of corticosteroid as a prophylactic measure in fat embolism syndrome: a literature review. Musculoskelet Surg 2012;96:1–8.



# Transient osteoporosis of the hip with a femoral neck fracture during follow-up: a case report

Yusuke Tabata<sup>1,4</sup>, Shuhei Matsui<sup>2</sup>, Masabumi Miyamoto<sup>3</sup>, Koichiro Omori<sup>1</sup>, Yoichiro Tabata<sup>1</sup>, Tokifumi Majima<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Mitsuhashi Hospital, Chiba, Japan

<sup>2</sup>Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Musashino General Hospital, Kawagoe, Japan

<sup>3</sup>Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Sekishindo Hospital, Kawagoe, Japan

<sup>4</sup>Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Nippon Medical School Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

We report a case of transient osteoporosis of the hip with a femoral neck fracture found during follow-up. A 53-year-old man presented with left hip pain without trauma. The pain did not improve after 2 weeks and he was brought to our hospital by ambulance. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the left hip joint showed diffuse edema in the bone marrow, which was identified by low signal intensity on T1-weighted images, high signal intensity on T2-weighted images, and increased signal intensity on short tau inversion recovery. This edema extended from the femoral head and neck to the intertrochanteric area. He was diagnosed with transient osteoporosis of the left hip. Rest gradually improved his pain; however, 3 weeks later, his left hip pain worsened without trauma. X-ray, computed tomography, and MRI results of the hip joint demonstrated a left femoral neck fracture, and osteosynthesis was performed. Differential diagnoses included avascular necrosis of the femoral head, infection, complex regional pain syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis, leukemia, and other cancers. Transient osteoporosis of the hip generally has a good prognosis with spontaneous remission within a few months to 1 year. However, a sufficient length of follow-up from condition onset to full recovery is necessary to avoid all probable complications such as fractures.

Keywords: Complications; Femoral neck fractures; Magnetic resonance imaging; Surgery; Osteoporosis

# Introduction

Transient osteoporosis of the hip (TOH) is a rare disease that was first reported in 1959 in three pregnant women who had strong unilateral or bilateral hip pain [1]. TOH generally occurs in middle-aged men and pregnant women in their last trimester [2-4]. Its etiology is unknown; however, it is suspected that ischemia in the femoral head could be involved in the onset of TOH [5-7]. Differential diagnosis includes avascular necrosis of the femoral head, infection, complex regional pain syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis, leukemia, and other cancers. TOH is conventionally a disease with a good prognosis and spontaneous remission within a few months to 1 year. We report a case of TOH where a femoral neck fracture later occurred without trauma, and osteosynthesis was performed.

Corresponding author: Yusuke Tabata, MD, PhD

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Received: July 9, 2022 • Revised: July 30, 2022 • Accepted: August 7, 2022

Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Mitsuhashi Hospital, Kameicho, Chuo-ku, Chiba 260-0011, Japan

Tel: +81-432248201 • Fax: +81-432248205 • E-mail: yusuketabata3@gmail.com

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

# Case

**Ethical statements:** Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for this case report. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Musashino General Hospital (IRB No: 12).

A 53-year-old man presented with left hip pain without trauma that had persisted for 2 weeks. After the pain did not subside, he was brought to our hospital by ambulance. He had schizophrenia and epilepsy resulting from a previous head injury. He drank approximately 1.5 L of beer every day and had smoked 20 cigarettes per day for 37 years.

On the first admission, he had difficulty walking due to severe left hip pain. The blood examination was normal. His left hip joint demonstrated painful limitations in passive range of motion. Patrick's test was positive.

X-ray and computed tomography (CT) revealed no obvious fracture (Fig. 1). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed diffuse edema in the bone marrow, which was identified by low signal intensity on T1-weighted images, high signal intensity on T2-weighted images, and increased signal intensity on short tau inversion recovery (STIR). This edema extended from the femoral head and neck to the intertrochanteric area (Figs. 2, 3).

We prescribed rest and non-weight bearing for him; however, he did not follow our instructions due to his psychological condition. His pain gradually improved and he was discharged from our hospital using crutches.

Three weeks later, his left hip pain worsened without trauma and he visited our hospital again. X-ray, CT scan, and MRI of the hip joint demonstrated a left femoral neck fracture (Garden stage II) (Figs. 4–6), and osteosynthesis (Prima Hip Screw System, Japan Medical Dynamic Marketing, Inc., Tokyo, Japan) was performed (Fig. 7).

# Discussion

TOH generally affects middle-aged men and pregnant women in their last trimester [2-4]. It is usually bilateral in pregnant women and unilateral in middle-aged men [8]. The cause and pathogenesis of TOH remain unclear; however, the most dominant theory implicates femoral head ischemia due to venous obstruction as the cause [5-7]. On examination, bone biopsies of patients with TOH showed increased numbers of erythrocytes, suggesting the presence of venous stasis [5]. Furthermore, Orth and Anagnostakos [9] reported that decreased concentrations of fibrinolytic agents and increased concentrations of thrombophilia markers in TOH patients could potentially cause venous obstruction. Risk factors for TOH include trauma, a history of steroid use, consumption of







**Fig. 2.** The magnetic resonance imaging coronal views of the left transient osteoporosis of the hip. (A) Short tau inversion recovery image. (B) T2-weighted image. (C) T1-weighted image.



alcohol, smoking, low testosterone levels, low vitamin D levels, osteogenesis imperfecta, hypothyroidism, and hypophosphatasia [10-13]. In this case, smoking and alcohol were mentioned as risk factors.

MRI is the most powerful tool for the diagnosis of TOH and usually shows low signal intensity on T1-weighted images, high signal intensity on T2-weighted images, and increased signal inten-



**Fig. 3.** Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) axial view of the left transient osteoporosis of the hip. MRI shows diffuse edema in the bone marrow, extending from the femoral head and neck to the intertrochanteric area. (A) Short tau inversion recovery image. (B) T2-weighted image. (C) T1-weighted image.

sity on STIR, reflecting bone marrow edema.

TOH typically has a good prognosis with spontaneous remission occurring within a few months to 1 year. Methods for joint preservation, including restricted weight bearing, are the first-line therapy. As alternative treatments, the use of bisphosphonates to inhibit bone resorption and the use of teriparatide as an osteoanabolic agent were reported to provide successful outcomes [14-17].


Fig. 4. The left femoral neck fracture. It is difficult to find the fracture line of the femoral neck, by either X-ray or computed tomography (CT). (A) X-ray anterior view. (B) X-ray lateral view. (C) CT axial view. (D) CT coronal view.



Fig. 5. Magnetic resonance imaging coronal view of the left femoral neck fracture (arrows). (A) Short tau inversion recovery image. (B) T1-weighted image.



Fig. 6. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) axial view of the left femoral neck fracture (arrows). MRI shows a clear fracture line in the left femoral neck. (A) Short tau inversion recovery image. (B) T1-weighted image.

Additionally, hyperbaric oxygen therapy was reported to potentially accelerate recovery in TOH patients, although the effects were not statistically significant [18]. More recently, out of 15 TOH cases, 10 underwent hip drilling for core decompression while five underwent conservative therapy. An investigation of the time to full recovery revealed that hip drilling required a median of 5.8 weeks while conservative therapy required 48.3 weeks, demonstrating the validity of hip drilling as a treatment modality [19]. In the present case, regarding our recommendations to avoid bearing weight, the patient was nonadherent due to his poor mental health; therefore, it was assumed that the constant stress of weight bearing caused the femoral neck fracture. In fact, the fracture pattern in this case originated in the lower part of the femoral neck and is considered to be a pathological condition similar to insufficient fracture secondary to TOH. Interestingly, Hadji et al. [20] demonstrated that out of 52 TOH patients, 12.1% sustained a



**Fig. 7.** Osteosynthesis with three Prima Hip screws (Japan Medical Dynamic Marketing, Inc., Tokyo, Japan). (A) X-ray anterior view. (B) X-ray lateral view.

hip fracture. Therefore, for patients with a high likelihood of fracture, it is necessary to provide thorough education, such as instructions not to apply a load to the lower limbs during a specified period. Prophylactic osteosynthesis may also be considered for patients expected to have a high likelihood of fracture. Considering these factors, a sufficient follow-up period from condition onset to full recovery is necessary to avoid as many complications as possible.

## Notes

#### **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

#### Funding

None.

#### Author contributions

Conceptualization, Supervision: YT, TM; Data curation: YT, SM, MM; Formal analysis: SM, MM, KO, YT, TM; Investigation: YT; Writing-original draft: YT; Writing-review & editing: all authors.

#### ORCID

Yusuke Tabata, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0221-2042 Shuhei Matsui, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3245-9767 Masabumi Miyamoto, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5073-7508 Koichiro Omori, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5015-2278 Yoichiro Tabata, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7748-4088 Tokifumi Majima, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6774-8502

# References

- 1. Curtiss PH Jr, Kincaid WE. Transitory demineralization of the hip in pregnancy: a report of three cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1959;41-A:1327–33.
- 2. Van Wagenen K, Pritchard P, Taylor JA. Transient osteoporosis of the hip: a case report. J Can Chiropr Assoc 2013;57:116–22.
- **3.** Ma FY, Falkenberg M. Case reports: transient osteoporosis of the hip: an atypical case. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2006;445:245–9.
- **4.** Asadipooya K, Graves L, Greene LW. Transient osteoporosis of the hip: review of the literature. Osteoporos Int 2017;28:1805–16.
- 5. Rosen RA. Transitory demineralization of the femoral head. Radiology 1970;94:509–12.
- 6. Plenk H Jr, Hofmann S, Eschberger J, Gstettner M, Kramer J, Schneider W, et al. Histomorphology and bone morphometry of the bone marrow edema syndrome of the hip. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1997;(334):73–84.
- 7. Koo KH, Jeong ST, Jones JP Jr. Borderline necrosis of the femoral head. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1999;(358):158–65.
- 8. Manara M, Varenna M. A clinical overview of bone marrow edema. Reumatismo 2014;66:184–96.
- Orth P, Anagnostakos K. Coagulation abnormalities in osteonecrosis and bone marrow edema syndrome. Orthopedics 2013; 36:290–300.
- Diwanji SR, Cho YJ, Xin ZF, Yoon TR. Conservative treatment for transient osteoporosis of the hip in middle-aged women. Singapore Med J 2008;49:e17–21.
- Daniel RS, Farrar EK, Norton HR, Nussbaum AI. Bilateral transient osteoporosis of the talus in pregnancy. Osteoporos Int 2009;20:1973–5.
- 12. Jennings PE, O'Malley BP, Griffin KE, Northover B, Rosenthal FD. Relevance of increased serum thyroxine concentrations associated with normal serum triiodothyronine values in hypothyroid patients receiving thyroxine: a case for "tissue thyrotoxicosis". Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1984;289:1645–7.
- Dunstan CR, Evans RA, Somers NM. Bone death in transient regional osteoporosis. Bone 1992;13:161–5.
- 14. Flores-Robles BJ, Sanz-Sanz J, Sanabria-Sanchinel AA, Huntley-Pascual D, Andréu Sánchez JL, Campos Esteban J, et al. Zoledronic acid treatment in primary bone marrow edema syndrome. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother 2017;31:52–6.
- 15. Emad Y, Ragab Y, El-Shaarawy N, Rasker JJ. Transient osteopo-

rosis of the hip, complete resolution after treatment with alendronate as observed by MRI description of eight cases and review of the literature. Clin Rheumatol 2012;31:1641–7.

- Kibbi L, Touma Z, Khoury N, Arayssi T. Oral bisphosphonates in treatment of transient osteoporosis. Clin Rheumatol 2008; 27:529–32.
- 17. Schapira D, Braun Moscovici Y, Gutierrez G, Nahir AM. Severe transient osteoporosis of the hip during pregnancy: successful treatment with intravenous biphosphonates. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2003;21:107–10.
- 18. Yagishita K, Jinno T, Koga D, Kato T, Enomoto M, Kato T, et al. Transient osteoporosis of the hip treated with hyperbaric oxygen therapy: a case series. Undersea Hyperb Med 2016;43: 847–54.
- 19. Bashaireh KM, Aldarwish FM, Al-Omari AA, Albashaireh MA, Hajjat M, Al-Ebbini MA, et al. Transient osteoporosis of the hip: risk and therapy. Open Access Rheumatol 2020;12:1–8.
- **20.** Hadji P, Boekhoff J, Hahn M, Hellmeyer L, Hars O, Kyvernitakis I. Pregnancy-associated transient osteoporosis of the hip: results of a case-control study. Arch Osteoporos 2017;12:11.

# Communication

eISSN 2799-8010 J Yeungnam Med Sci 2023;40(2):218-222 https://doi.org/10.12701/jyms.2022.00577



# The art of diabetes care: guidelines for a holistic approach to human and social factors

#### Muhammad Jawad Hashim

Department of Family Medicine, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, UAE University, Al Ain, United Arab Emirates

A holistic approach to diabetes considers patient preferences, emotional health, living conditions, and other contextual factors, in addition to medication selection. Human and social factors influence treatment adherence and clinical outcomes. Social issues, cost of care, out-of-pocket expenses, pill burden (number and frequency), and injectable drugs such as insulin, can affect adherence. Clinicians can ask about these contextual factors when discussing treatment options with patients. Patients' emotional health can also affect diabetes self-care. Social stressors such as family issues may impair self-care behaviors. Diabetes can also lead to emotional stress. Diabetes distress correlates with worse glycemic control and lower overall well-being. Patient-centered communication can build the foundation of a trusting relationship with the clinician. Respect for patient preferences and fears can build trust. Relevant communication skills include asking open-ended questions, expressing empathy, active listening, and exploring the patient's perspective. Glycemic goals must be personalized based on frailty, the risk of hypoglycemia, and healthy life expectancy. Lifestyle counseling requires a nonjudgmental approach and tactfulness. The art of diabetes care rests on clinicians perceiving a patient's emotional state. Tailoring the level of advice and diabetes targets based on a patient's personal and contextual factors requires mindfulness by clinicians.

Keywords: Chronic disease; Communication; Diabetes mellitus; Psychology; Self-management

# A holistic approach to diabetes

As a long-term illness affected by lifestyle, diabetes requires a holistic approach [1-3]. Holistic care in clinical medicine may be defined as a focus on overall health and well-being [4]. It is humane, compassionate, service-oriented, and relationship-based. Its vision encompasses clinical, human, and societal contexts. This high-level perspective is based on the contextual mindfulness of clinicians [5].

# **Context of the illness**

Factors such as health literacy, access to care, family support, and

living conditions can influence diabetes outcomes [6]. Issues such as the availability of whole foods, home-cooked meals, and support from household members can affect nutrition [7]. Access to parks, safe walking paths, and clean neighborhoods supports an active lifestyle. Clinicians should ask about, document, and consider these nonmedical factors (social determinants of health) in treatment planning (Table 1). Children, women who are pregnant, ethnic minorities, those who are older, individuals with extreme obesity, rural residents, and those with comorbid mental health conditions require special consideration regarding these contextual factors [8,9].

Copyright © 2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

Received: August 22, 2022 • Revised: September 19, 2022 • Accepted: September 23, 2022

Corresponding author: Muhammad Jawad Hashim, MD

Department of Family Medicine, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, UAE University, Tawam Hospital Campus, Al Ain, United Arab Emirates Tel: +971-3-7137-655 • Fax: +971-3-767-2022 • E-mail: jhashim@uaeu.ac.ae, physicianthinker@gmail.com

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

# **Emotional health**

Psychosocial stress due to family dysfunction and work pressure can profoundly impact diabetes. Patients experiencing stressors may experience difficulties following diabetes self-care instructions [10]. Diabetes can cause distress, which is the emotional stress associated with living with diabetes [11]. Emotional stress is important in patients with diabetes and should be considered in clinical care. Diabetes imposes a relentless burden of daily medications and dietary restrictions. Diabetes distress is more common in patients with type 1 diabetes and insulin-treated type 2 diabetes [12]. Higher diabetes distress correlates with worse glycemic control and lower overall well-being [13]. However, a normal glycated he-

Table 1. El	liciting co	ntextual f	factors	in	diabetes
-------------	-------------	------------	---------	----	----------

moglobin (HbA1c) level does not rule it out. Diabetes distress is more common than and can be confused with depression [14].

Increasing pill burden and frequent glucose monitoring worsen distress. Clinicians should explore patients' feelings about living with diabetes.

# Patient-centered communication

Patient-centered communication is the foundation of a trust-based relationship [15]. Core skills include eliciting the patient's agenda and priorities, asking open-ended questions, active listening, responding with empathy and non-verbal gestures (concerned facial expression and head nodding), and exploring the patient's per-

Domain	Item	Clinical interview question
Social	Diabetes distress	Are you feeling overwhelmed by diabetes?
		Is it difficult to keep track of all your medicines?
		How many tablets and injections do you take in a day?
	Cost of care	Do you feel you are in financial stress?
		How much do you spend on medicines every month?
	Access to care	Is it difficult for you to come to the clinic?
	Stress	Are you under stress?
		Has something stressful happened to you recently?
	Family support	Who lives with you?
		Who do you rely on if you are sick?
Lifestyle	Physical activity	What are your options for exercise?
,		What can you do to be more active?
		What do you enjoy doing outdoors?
	Nutrition	Tell me about the food you eat.
		Do you buy food and cook for yourself?
		What can you do to eat healthier?
Patient's perspective	ldeas	What problems do you face in managing diabetes?
		What has caused you to have diabetes?
	Concerns	What are you worried about that might happen to you?
		Do you worry about blood sugar becoming very low?
	Expectations	Is there something specific that you need from us today?
		Are you satisfied with your diabetes care?
		What can we do to serve you better?
Motivational	Goal setting	Where do you see yourself five years from now?
		What are your life goals for the long term?
	Affirmation	I admire your commitment to
		Good work with sticking to your
		Nice work! I'm proud of you.
		You look younger than your age!
	Rephrasing/summarizing	So, what you're saying is
		Let me summarize
	Change talk	While you enjoy but one of your goals is to
		How do you reconcile while hoping to

spective. The patient's ideas about disease causation, concerns about the impact on daily living, and unexpressed expectations influence diabetes self-care.

Individuals with diabetes may fear its impact on their lives. Such fears include the risks of blindness, amputation, dialysis, and painful neuropathy. Initiating insulin injections is a common concern. Additionally, individuals may be worried about hypoglycemia, leading to loss of consciousness, social embarrassment, reduced mental acuity, and sudden death. They may hide these fears from health professionals because of reticence or concerns regarding restrictions on driving and independent living. It is important to alleviate a patient's fears and concerns through patient-centered communication.

# Cost burden

Physicians should be more mindful of the costs borne by patients and their healthcare systems. Overburdened care can lead to the discontinuation of essential interventions. The cumulative longterm burden can be prohibitive for many individuals [16,17]. As the diabetes care paradigm shifts from glycemic control to patient-oriented outcomes such as reducing macrovascular complications, medication selection needs to be more transparent. A thoughtful discussion on drug prices, co-pays, and the expected benefits of treatment can empower patients.

Frequent laboratory requests, such as HbA1c, electrolytes, and renal and liver function tests, may be burdensome without altering medical management. Excessive fingerstick glucose testing may be less useful in patients with stable type 2 diabetes receiving oral medication [18]. Simply informing patients about their HbA1c results, without discussing behavioral issues, does not seem to improve lifestyle choices [19]. Monitoring clinical parameters, such as blood pressure, waist circumference, vision (fundoscopy, visual acuity, and peripheral vision), and foot sensation, may be more useful in resource-constrained settings. Although less effective than an in-person interaction, follow-up via telephone can reduce the burden of clinic visits.

## **Glycemic goals**

The target HbA1c level for many individuals must be tailored according to context. Factors such as frailty (but not necessarily age), the risk of hypoglycemia, support from household family members, and food security may need to be considered. An aggressive target may not be justifiable in an individual who is frail with a limited life expectancy. A high pill burden (number and frequency per day) can negatively affect patient morale and quality of life, sometimes leading to complete nonadherence. Patients should be asked about the burden of treatment (especially insulin). Insulin treatment may become inevitable; however, it requires the patient's commitment to be safe and successful. Respect for a patient's decision to defer insulin demonstrates epistemic humility on the part of the clinician and concern for personal autonomy. To achieve a reasonable chance of treatment adherence, the patient must feel in control. Open-ended questions ("Tell me more about your...") shift the locus of control toward the patient (Table 1). Well-designed educational resources empower patients and enable richer conversations regarding diabetes goals (Table 2).

Table 2. Selected resources for diabetes care

Domain	Resource				
Websites	https://familydoctor.org/condition/diabetes/				
	https://medlineplus.gov/diabetes.html				
	https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes				
	https://www.diabetes.org.uk/diabetes-and-me				
	https://www.diabetesaustralia.com.au/				
	Korean				
	https://diabetes.or.kr/general/				
	https://www.ndss.com.au/about-diabetes/information -in-your-language/korean/				
	https://a1cguide.com/what-korean-food-can-diabetics -eat/				
Apps	A list of selected apps for use by patients				
	https://diabetesed.net/apps-for-diabetes/				
Printable	Handouts, worksheets, and self-care records				
	https://dtc.ucsf.edu/learning-library/resource-materials/				
	https://www.scripps.org/services/metabolic-conditions/ diabetes/diabetes-professional-training/handouts				
	https://integrateddiabetes.com/diabetic-logsheets/				
Videos	Videos by U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention				
	https://youtube.com/playlist?list=PLvrp9iOILTQYNH9x0hv -Oub4_5PT9JAmc				
	Animated videos about diabetes				
	https://youtube.com/playlist?list = PLST_q-QNT8SIICig- JWDOs_A8U-xnW-oEa				
Meal plans	A comprehensive set of resources on meal plans				
	https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/managing/eat-well/meal- plan-method.html				
	A useful overview of diabetic diet with examples				
	https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/diabetes/ in-depth/diabetes-diet/art-20044295				
Online	A list of forums, blogs, and shared resources				
communities	https://diatribe.org/diabetes-blogs-and-forums				
Decision aids	Medication choice				
	https://diabetesdecisionaid.mayoclinic.org/index				
Calculators	Cardiovascular risk calculator				
	https://cvdcalculator.com/				
	Unit converter for HbA1c and blood glucose				
	https://professional.diabetes.org/diapro/glucose_calc				

HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin.

# Lifestyle focus

Type 2 diabetes can be considered a lifestyle condition [20]. Despite widespread awareness, many patients are unable to adopt lifestyle recommendations [8,21]. Psychological, household, and societal obstacles form a frustrating structural barrier for these well-intentioned individuals [22]. The art of motivational interviewing lies in creating a nonthreatening space for patients to express their issues. The clinician's role mimics that of a coach. Patients' choices are not judged as good or bad but rather as congruent or in conflict with self-expressed goals. Mini-lectures on diet and exercise cannot be considered effective patient counseling. Simplistic advice disregards patients' understanding of their complex social situations and dismisses their prior attempts at change. Clinicians should avoid assigning blame for poor disease outcomes on patients. In contrast, motivational interviewing uses non-directive techniques such as patient engagement, nonjudgmental listening, exploring ambivalence about behavioral change, encouraging patient-led goal setting, and evoking patient motivation to change. Instead of a series of dreaded reminders, the clinician engages in what appears to be friendly conversation. Not all clinic visits should include lifestyle counseling. Physicians should be mindful of the patient's emotional state when handling conversations about change. Emotionally distressed patients may not be able to assimilate detailed instructions. In these situations, the physician takes a "backseat" and lets the patient express his/her ideas, fears, desires, and hopes. This awareness of the patient's emotional state and social context is based on mindfulness of the clinician [23]. The art of diabetes care relies on reflective mindfulness.

#### Notes

#### **Conflicts of interest**

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

#### Funding

None.

#### ORCID

Muhammad Jawad Hashim, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9280-9709

### References

1. Han SJ, Kim DJ. The need to improve the quality of diabetes care in Korea. J Korean Med Sci 2019;34:e210.

- 2. Jung CH, Son JW, Kang S, Kim WJ, Kim HS, Kim HS, et al. Diabetes fact sheets in Korea, 2020: an appraisal of current status. Diabetes Metab J 2021;45:1–10.
- 3. Hashim MJ. The art of healing: core values and goals of medicine, nursing and healthcare. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2019;29:299–300.
- 4. Hashim MJ. A definition of family medicine and general practice. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2018;28:76–7.
- 5. Kim SG, Lee IH. The impact of quality of life measured by WHOQOL-BREF on mortality in maintenance hemodialysis patients: a single center retrospective cross-sectional study. J Yeungnam Med Sci 2023;40:49-57.
- 6. Lee MS, Lee R, Ko CW, Moon JE. Increase in blood glucose level and incidence of diabetic ketoacidosis in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus in the Daegu-Gyeongbuk area during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: a retrospective cross-sectional study. J Yeungnam Med Sci 2022;39: 46–52.
- 7. Nam GE, Kim W, Han K, Jung JH, Han B, Kim J, et al. Association between living alone and incident type 2 diabetes among middle-aged individuals in Korea: a nationwide cohort study. Sci Rep 2021;11:3659.
- 8. Ha KH, Kim DJ. Current status of managing diabetes mellitus in Korea. Korean J Intern Med 2016;31:845–50.
- 9. Choi DW, Lee SA, Lee DW, Joo JH, Han KT, Kim S, et al. Effect of socioeconomic deprivation on outcomes of diabetes complications in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a nationwide population-based cohort study of South Korea. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care 2020;8:e000729.
- Chew BH, Shariff-Ghazali S, Fernandez A. Psychological aspects of diabetes care: effecting behavioral change in patients. World J Diabetes 2014;5:796–808.
- 11. Halliday JA, Speight J, Bennet A, Beeney LJ, Hendrieckx C. The diabetes and emotional health handbook and toolkit for health professionals supporting adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes: formative evaluation. JMIR Form Res 2020;4:e15007.
- 12. Noh JH, Park JK, Lee HJ, Kwon SK, Lee SH, Park JH, et al. Depressive symptoms of type 2 diabetics treated with insulin compared to diabetics taking oral anti-diabetic drugs: a Korean study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2005;69:243–8.
- 13. Eom YS, Park HS, Kim SH, Yang SM, Nam MS, Lee HW, et al. Evaluation of stress in Korean patients with diabetes mellitus using the problem areas in diabetes-Korea questionnaire. Diabetes Metab J 2011;35:182–7.
- Tareen RS, Tareen K. Psychosocial aspects of diabetes management: dilemma of diabetes distress. Transl Pediatr 2017;6:383– 96.

- 15. Hashim MJ. Patient-centered communication: basic skills. Am Fam Physician 2017;95:29–34.
- 16. Oh SH, Ku H, Park KS. Prevalence and socioeconomic burden of diabetes mellitus in South Korean adults: a population-based study using administrative data. BMC Public Health 2021; 21:548.
- Park J, Zhang P, Wang Y, Zhou X, Look KA, Bigman ET. High out-of-pocket health care cost burden among medicare beneficiaries with diabetes, 1999-2017. Diabetes Care 2021;44:1797– 804.
- 18. Malanda UL, Welschen LM, Riphagen II, Dekker JM, Nijpels G, Bot SD. Self-monitoring of blood glucose in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus who are not using insulin. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;1:CD005060.
- 19. Heisler M, Piette JD, Spencer M, Kieffer E, Vijan S. The relation-

ship between knowledge of recent HbA1c values and diabetes care understanding and self-management. Diabetes Care 2005; 28:816–22.

- 20. Hashim MJ. Renaming diabetes types. Turk J Endocrinol Metab 2022;26:184–6.
- 21. Hashim MJ, Nurulain SM, Riaz M, Tanveer A, Iqbal M. Diabetes Score questionnaire for lifestyle change in patients with type 2 diabetes. Clin Diabetol 2020;9:379–86.
- 22. Lim S, Oh B, Lee SH, Kim YH, Ha Y, Kang JH. Perceptions, attitudes, behaviors, and barriers to effective obesity care in South Korea: results from the ACTION-IO Study. J Obes Metab Syndr 2020;29:133–42.
- 23. Hashim MJ. Principles of family medicine and general practice: defining the five core values of the specialty. J Prim Health Care 2016;8:283–7.

JOURNAL OF YEUNGNAM MEDICAL SCIENCE

### Resident fellow section: Teaching images

# A 40-year-old man with neuropathic pain in the entire left foot

Jae Hwa Bae<sup>1,\*</sup><sup>10</sup>, Mathieu Boudier-Revéret<sup>2</sup><sup>10</sup>, Min Cheol Chang<sup>1</sup><sup>10</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Daegu, Korea <sup>2</sup>Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

Received: July 13, 2022 • Revised: July 24, 2022 • Accepted: July 31, 2022

#### Corresponding author: Min Cheol Chang, MD Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Yeungnam University College of Medicine, 170 Hyeonchung-ro, Nam-gu, Daegu 42415, Korea Tel: +82-53-620-4682 • Fax: +0504-231-8694 • E-mail: wheel633@qmail.com

\*The first author, Jae Hwa Bae, is currently in training.

J Yeungnam Med Sci 2023;40(2):223-224 https://doi.org/10.12701/jyms.2022.00486

Copyright  $\circledast$  2023 Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

A 40-year-old man with no medical history visited our clinic because of pain in the entire left foot that had persisted for 1 year. The pain was aggravated by sitting, walking, running, and climbing stairs. The pain was stabbing, burning, and tingling and was rated at 7 on a numeric rating scale. In addition to left foot pain, he reported mild left buttock pain with no history of left lower limb or pelvic injury. Physical examination revealed no motor or sensory deficits, and deep tendon reflexes were normal in all four limbs. His straight leg raise test results were negative. Tinel sign over the left tibial nerve in the tarsal tunnel was negative and his foot pain was not aggravated by ankle inversion/eversion.

Differential diagnoses included lumbosacral radicular pain due to spinal disorders, tarsal tunnel syndrome, and sciatic neuropathy. Lumbar magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed a diffuse bulging disc on L4–L5 and L5– S1 with a high-intensity zone. No pain reduction was observed on diagnostic blocks of the left L5 and S1 nerve roots and left tibial nerve within the tarsal tunnel with 1 mL of 2% lidocaine. A nerve conduction study and electromyography of the left lower limb revealed no abnormalities.

Further investigation was conducted. On pelvic axial fat-saturated T2-weighted MRI, high signal intensity was found in the left quadratus femoris muscle (Fig. 1). Additionally, the ischiofemoral space was narrower on the left than on the right side. The sciatic nerve was located over an area with high signal intensity. The patient was diagnosed with left ischiofemoral impingement. For the injection procedure, the patient was placed in a prone position, and the left buttock was scanned with a 6-MHz curved probe (LOGIQ P6, General Electric, Seoul, Korea) to acquire axial images. A mixed solution of 20-mg



**Fig. 1.** (A) Pelvic axial fat-saturated T2-weighted and (B) T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) reveal that the ischiofemoral space is narrower on the left side than on the right side. Additionally, on the pelvic axial fat-saturated T2-weighted MRI (A), high signal intensity is found on the left quadratus femoris muscle (green arrow), indicative of muscle edema. Over the area of high signal intensity in the left quadratus femoris muscle, the left sciatic nerve is visible (yellow arrow).

triamcinolone, 1-mL 1% lidocaine, and 3.5-mL normal saline was administered via ultrasound-guided injection to the left sciatic nerve and quadratus femoris muscle. The patient's pain was alleviated by 80% at the 3-week follow-up examination.

Ischiofemoral impingement is an uncommon cause of buttock pain due to impingement of the quadratus femoris muscle between the lesser trochanter and lateral border of the ischium [1-3]. Most patients with ischiofemoral impingement experience buttock pain [1-3]. Neuropathic pain radiating towards the posterior aspect, calf, and foot can occur due to irritation of the adjacent sciatic nerve. There are only a few reports on the diagnosis and treatment of this condition. When conservative treatments with activity modification, stretching of the hip muscles, and ischiofemoral space injection are ineffective, surgical treatment (resection of the lesser trochanter) can be considered [1-3].

In the present case, pain throughout the left foot was caused by ischiofemoral impingement. Clinicians should consider this possibility in patients with neuropathic pain radiating to the area innervated by the sciatic nerve, combined with buttock pain and aggravated by hip motion.

## Learning points

- Ischiofemoral impingement can cause buttock pain with or without sciatica due to irritation of the adjacent sciatic nerve, which is caused by impingement of the quadratus femoris muscle between the lesser trochanter and lateral border of the ischium.
- Edema and a narrowed ischiofemoral space identified by pelvic MRI indicate ischiofemoral impingement.
- For ischiofemoral impingement, conservative treatment with activity modification and ischiofemoral space injection can be attempted. In cases that are refractory to conservative treatment, surgical treatment should be considered.

#### Notes

#### **Ethical statements**

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Yeungnam University Hospital (IRB No: 2022-07-029). Written informed consent was obtained for the publication of this report.

#### **Conflicts of interest**

Mathieu Boudier-Revéret has been editorial board member of *Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science (JYMS)* since 2021. Min Cheol Chang has been Associate editor of *JYMS* since 2021. They were not involved in the review process of this manuscript. Otherwise, there is no conflict of interest to declare.

#### Funding

None.

#### Author contributions

Conceptualization: MBR, MCC; Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Visualization, Investigation, Resources, Supervision, Validation: MCC; Writing-original draft: all authors; Writing-review & editing: all authors.

#### References

- Lee S, Kim I, Lee SM, Lee J. Ischiofemoral impingement syndrome. Ann Rehabil Med 2013;37:143–6.
- **2.** Ulusoy OL, Tutar S, Ozturk E, Mutlu A, Mutlu H. Ischiofemoral impingement syndrome: another cause of extraspinal sciatica. Spine J 2016;16:e527.
- 3. Wilson MD, Keene JS. Treatment of ischiofemoral impingement: results of diagnostic injections and arthroscopic resection of the lesser trochanter. J Hip Preserv Surg 2016;3:146–53.

# Instructions to authors



#### **Table of Contents**

General information Copyrights and creative commons attribution license Types of publication Research and publication ethics Author qualifications, language requirement, and reporting guideline Submission and peer review process Manuscript preparation Final preparation for publication Article processing charge

#### **General information**

Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science (JYMS) is the official journal of the Yeungnam University College of Medicine and Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science. Anyone who would like to submit a manuscript is advised to carefully read the aims and scope section of this journal. Manuscripts should be prepared for submission to JYMS according to the following instructions. For issues not addressed in these instructions, the author is referred to the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) "Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals" (http://www. icmje.org). It also adheres completely to the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (joint statement by COPE, DOAJ, WAME, and OASPA; https://doaj.org/apply/ transparency/) if otherwise not described below.

# Copyrights and creative commons attribution license

A submitted manuscript, when published, will become the property of the journal. Copyrights of all published materials are owned by the Yeungnam University College of Medicine and Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science. The Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) is also in effect.

#### **Types of publication**

JYMS publishes editorials, review articles, original articles, case reports, image vignettes, communications, RFS (clinical vignette,

teaching images), and imagery.

Editorials are invited perspectives on an area of medical science, dealing with very active fields of research, current medical interests, fresh insights and debates.

Review articles provide a concise review of a subject of importance to medical researchers written by an invited expert in medical science.

Original articles are papers reporting the results of basic and clinical investigations that are sufficiently well documented to be acceptable to critical readers.

Case reports deal with clinical cases of medical interest or innovation.

Image vignettes present state-of-the-art imaging that can be used in the evaluation of unusual clinical cases.

Communications are interesting and instructive information for readers.

RFS: clinical vignette is interesting clinical cases focused on developing clinical reasoning skills of resident or fellow trainees.

RFS: teaching images are previously unpublished magnetic resonance images, computed tomography scans, ultrasound images, X-rays, patient photographs/videos, or other pictorial/videographic material.

Imagery is drawings, illustrations, or photographs of artistic and imaginative qualities of the readers.

#### **Research and publication ethics**

The journal adheres to the ethical guidelines for research and publication described in Guidelines on Good Publication (https:// publicationethics.org/resources/guidelines) and the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) Guidelines (https://www.icmje.org).

#### Authorship

Authorship credit should be based on (1) substantial contributions to the conception and design, acquisition of data, and/or analysis and interpretation of data; (2) drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content; (3) final approval of the version to be published; and (4) agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work to ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. Every author should meet all of these four conditions. After the initial submission of a manuscript, any changes whatsoever in authorship (adding author(s), deleting author(s), or re-arranging the order of authors) must be explained by a letter to the editor from the authors concerned. This letter must be signed by all authors of the paper. A copyright assignment must also be completed by every author.

- Corresponding author and first author: *JYMS* does not allow multiple corresponding authors for one article. Only one author should correspond with the editorial office and readers for one article. *JYMS* accepts notice of equal contribution for the first author when the study is clearly performed by co-first authors.
- Correction of authorship after publication:*JYMS* does not correct authorship after publication unless the editorial staff has erred. Authorship may be changed before publication but after submission when an authorship correction is requested by all of the authors involved with the manuscript.

#### Originality, plagiarism, and duplicate publication

Submitted manuscripts must not have been previously published or be under consideration for publication elsewhere. No part of the accepted manuscript should be duplicated in any other scientific journal without permission from the Editorial Board. Submitted manuscripts are screened for possible plagiarism or duplicate publication by Similarity Check using the 'Turnitin' program (iParadigms, LLC, Oakland, CA, USA). If plagiarism or duplicate publication is detected, the manuscript may be rejected, the authors will be announced in the journal, and their institutions will be informed. There will also be penalties for the authors.

A letter of permission is required for any and all materials that have been published previously. It is the responsibility of the author to request permission from the publisher for any material that is being reproduced. This requirement applies to the text, figures, and tables.

#### Secondary publication

Manuscripts can be republished if they satisfy the conditions of secondary publication in the ICMJE Recommendations (https://www.icmje.org/urm\_main.html).

#### **Conflicts of interest**

The corresponding author must inform the editor of any potential conflicts of interest that could influence the authors' interpretation of the data. Examples of potential conflicts of interest are financial support from or connections to companies, political pressure from interest groups, and academically related issues. In particular, all sources of funding applicable to the study should be explicitly stated.

#### Statement of human and animal rights

Clinical research should be done in accordance of the Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects, outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki of 1975 (revised 2013) (https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-humansubjects/). Clinical studies that do not meet the Declaration of Helsinki will not be considered for publication. Human subjects should not be identifiable, such that patients' names, initials, hospital numbers, dates of birth, or other protected healthcare information should not be disclosed. For animal subjects, research should be performed based on the National or Institutional Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and the ethical treatment of all experimental animals should be maintained.

# Statement of informed consent and Institutional Review Board approval

Copies of written informed consent documents should be kept for studies on human subjects, which includes identifiable information or sensitive information. For clinical studies of human subjects, a certificate, agreement, or approval by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the author's institution is required. If necessary, the editor or reviewers may request copies of these documents to resolve questions about IRB approval and study conduct.

#### Process for managing research and publication misconduct

When the journal faces suspected cases of research and publication misconduct, such as redundant (duplicate) publication, plagiarism, fraudulent or fabricated data, changes in authorship, an undisclosed conflict of interest, ethical problems with a submitted manuscript, a reviewer who has appropriated an author's idea or data, complaints against editors, and so on, the resolution process will follow the flowchart provided by the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE, https://publicationethics.org/resources/ flowcharts). The discussion and decision on the suspected cases are carried out by the Editorial Board.

# Process for handling cases requiring corrections, retractions, and editorial expressions of concern

Cases that require editorial expressions of concern or retraction shall follow the COPE flowcharts (https://publicationethics.org/ guidance/Flowcharts). If correction needs, it will follow the ICM-JE Recommendation for Corrections, Retractions, Republications, and Version Control (https://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/publishing-and-editorial-issues/correctionsand-version-control.html) as follows: Honest errors are a part of science and publishing and require the publication of a correction when they are detected. Corrections are needed for errors of fact. The minimum standards are as follows: (1) it shall publish a correction notice as soon as possible detailing changes from and citing the original publication on both an electronic and numbered print page that is included in an electronic or a printed Table of Contents to ensure proper indexing; (2) it shall post a new article version with details of the changes from the original version and the date(s) on which the changes were made through CrossMark; (3) it shall archive all prior versions of the article. This archive can be directly accessible to readers; (4) previous electronic versions of the article via CrossMark.

#### **Editorial responsibilities**

The Editorial Board will continuously work to monitor and safeguard publication ethics: guidelines for retracting articles; maintenance of the integrity of the academic record; preclusion of business needs from compromising intellectual and ethical standards; publishing corrections, clarifications, retractions, and apologies when needed; and excluding plagiarism and fraudulent data. The editors maintain the following responsibilities: responsibility and authority to reject and accept articles; avoiding any conflict of interest with respect to articles they reject or accept; promoting the publication of corrections or retractions when errors are found; and preservation of the anonymity of reviewers.

# Author qualifications, language requirement, and reporting guideline

#### **Author qualifications**

Any researcher throughout the world can submit a manuscript if the scope of the manuscript is appropriate.

#### Language

Manuscripts should be submitted in good scientific English.

#### Reporting guidelines for specific study designs

For specific study designs, such as randomized controlled trials, studies of diagnostic accuracy, meta-analyses, observational studies, and non-randomized studies, we strongly recommend that authors follow and adhere to the reporting guidelines relevant to their specific research design. For case reports, authors should follow the CARE guidelines (https://www.care-statement.org). Authors should upload a completed CARE checklist (https://www.care-statement.org/checklist) for the appropriate reporting guidelines during original submission. Some reliable sources of report-

ing guidelines are EQUATOR Network (https://www.equator-network.org/) and NLM (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/services/research\_report\_guide.html).

#### Submission and peer review process

#### Submission

All manuscripts should be submitted via e-submission system (https://submit.e-jyms.org). If any authors have difficulty in submitting via e-submission system, please send a manuscript to jyms@yu.ac.kr.

#### Peer review process

*JYMS* reviews all manuscripts received. A manuscript is first reviewed for its format and adherence to the aims and scope of the journal. If the manuscript meets these two criteria, it is checked for plagiarism or duplicate publication with Similarity Check. After confirming its result, it is sent to two (or more) relevant investigators available for review of the contents. The editor selects peer referees by recommendation of editorial board members or from the board's specialist database.

*JYMS* adopts a double-blind review, which means that the reviewers and authors cannot identify each other's information. The authors' names and affiliations are removed during peer review. Assuming the manuscript is sent to reviewers, *JYMS* waits to receive opinions from at least two reviewers. In addition, if deemed necessary, a review of statistics may be required. The acceptance criteria for all papers are based on the quality and originality of the research and its scientific significance. Acceptance of a manuscript is decided based on the critiques and recommended decisions of the reviewers.

An initial decision is normally made within 4 weeks of receipt of a manuscript, and the reviewers' comments are sent to the corresponding author by e-mail. The corresponding author must indicate the alterations that have been made in response to the reviewers' comments item by item. Failure to resubmit the revised manuscript within 12 weeks of the editorial decision is regarded as a withdrawal. A final decision on acceptance/rejection for publication is forwarded to the corresponding author from the editor.

We neither guarantee acceptance without review nor very short peer review times for unsolicited manuscripts. Solicited manuscripts are also reviewed before publication.

#### Peer review process for handling submissions from editors, employees, or members of the editorial board

All manuscripts from editors, employees, or members of the editorial board are processed the same way as the other unsolicited manuscripts. During the review process, submitters do not engage in the decision process. Editors will not handle their own manuscripts, although they are commissioned ones.

# **Manuscript preparation**

#### **General requirements**

The main document with manuscript text and tables should be prepared in an MS Word (docx) format.

The manuscript should be double spaced on  $21.6 \times 27.9$  cm (letter size) or  $21.0 \times 29.7$  cm (A4) paper with 3.0 cm margins at the top, bottom, right, and left margin.

All manuscript pages are to be numbered at the bottom consecutively, beginning with the Title as page 1. Neither the author's names nor their affiliations should appear on the manuscript pages.

We recommend using the manuscript template provided by *JYMS* (https://e-jyms.org/authors/authors.php).

The authors should express all measurements according to International System (SI) units with some exceptions such as seconds, mmHg, or °C.

Only standard abbreviations should be used. Abbreviations should be avoided in the title of the manuscript. Abbreviations should be spelled out when first used in the text—for example, extensible markup language (XML)—and the use of abbreviations should be kept to a minimum.

The names and locations (city, state, and country only) of manufacturers should be given.

When quoting from other sources, a reference number should be cited after the author's name or at the end of the quotation. Manuscript preparation is different according to the publication type, including editorials, review articles, original articles, case reports, image vignettes, communications, resident fellow section (RFS; clinical vignette, teaching images), and imagery.

#### **Review** article

All review articles will undergo peer review. An abstract is required whereas Methods section and a Results section are not required (no more than 250 words). The length of review articles is limited to 6,000 words with a maximum of 100 references.

#### Original article

Original articles should begin with the title page followed by an abstract; a list of key words; an Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, References (up to 40 references), and tables and/or illustrations.

### 1) Title page

The tile page should contain the following information: (1) title (less than 150 characters, including spaces); (2) author list (first name, middle name, and last name); (3) name of the institutions at which the work was performed; (4) acknowledgement of research support; (5) name, address, telephone, fax number, and e-mail address of the corresponding author; (6) running title (less than 50 characters, including spaces).

### 2) Abstract

Abstract must be organized and formatted according to the following headings: Background, Methods, Results, and Conclusion. The abstract length is typically no more than 250 words.

### 3) Keywords

List 3-6 keywords from the list provided in Index Medicus under "Medical Subject Heading (MeSH)."

#### 4) Text

The text of manuscripts must have the following sections: Introduction, Methods, Results, and Discussion. The body of the manuscript should be written as concisely as possible. All pages of the manuscript should be numbered.

#### Introduction

This should provide a context or background for the study and states the specific purpose or research objective of or hypothesis tested by the study. This may include mention of papers most closely related to the article, and of the problem.

#### Methods

Explanation of the experimental methods should be concise but sufficient to allow other workers to reproduce the results. This provides the technical information, apparatus (the manufacturer's name and brief address) and procedures. Give references and brief descriptions for the methods that have been published. Describe statistical methods with enough detail to enable a reader with access to the original data to verify the reported results. Define statistical terms, abbreviations, and most symbols.

Ensure correct use of the terms sex (when reporting biological factors) and gender (identity, psychosocial or cultural factors), and, unless inappropriate, report the sex or gender of study participants, the sex of animals or cells, and describe the methods used to determine sex or gender. If the study was done involving an exclusive population, for example in only one sex, authors should justify why, except in obvious cases (e.g., prostate cancer). Authors should define how they determined race or ethnicity and justify their relevance.

#### Results

This should include a concise textual description of the data presented in tables and figures.

#### Discussion

This section includes the new and important aspects of the study and the conclusions. The data should be interpreted concisely. Speculation is permitted, but it must be supported by the data presented by the authors.

#### References

References should be numbered consecutively in the order in which they are first mentioned in the text, with numbers in square brackets before any closing punctuation. They should be listed on a separate document under the heading "References," and double-spaced. Reference format should conform to that set forth in "Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals. 5th ed." (JAMA 1997;277:927-34). Titles of journals should be abbreviated according to the Index Medicus style.

Reference style:

#### Journal articles

- List all authors when six or less; when seven or more, list the first six and add et al. Vega KJ, Pina I. Heart transplantation is associated with an increased risk for pancreatobiliary disease. Ann Intern Med 1996;124:980-3.
- Verbalis JG. Renal physiology of nocturia. Neurourol Urodyn 2014;33(Suppl 1):S6-9.

#### Book

- Ringsven MK, Bond D. Gerontology and leadership skills for nurses. 2nd ed. Albany (NY): Delmar Publishers; 1996.
- Luzikov VN. Mitochondrial biogenesis and breakdown. Galkin AV, translator; Roodyn DB, editor. New York: Consultants Bureau; 1985. p. 362

#### Book chapter

 Phillips SJ, Whisnant JP. Hypertension and stroke. In: Laragh JH, Brenner BM, editors. Hypertension: pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management. 2nd ed. New York: Raven Press; 1995. p. 465-78.

#### Web resources

- Polgreen PM, Diekema DJ, Vandeberg J, Wiblin RT, Chen YY, David S, et al. Risk factors for groin wound infection after femoral artery catheterization: a case-control study. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2007 Jan 5];27:34-7. http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/ICHE/journal/issues/v27n1/2004069/2004069.web.pdf.
- Testa J. The Thomson Reuters journal selection process [Internet]. Philadelphia: Thomson Reuters; 2012 [cited 2013 Sep 30]. http://wokinfo.com/essays/journal-selection-process.

#### 5) Tables

Tables should fit within a single page. The Table's legend may include any pertinent notes and must include definitions of all abbreviations and acronyms that have been used in the Table. For footnotes, the following symbols should be used in this sequence: a), b), c), d), e), f), g), h), etc. Authors are obligated to indicate the significance of their observations by appropriate statistical analysis.

#### 6) Illustrations

Authors must submit illustrations as electronic files. Acceptable figure file formats are JPEG, TIFF, and PPT/PPTX. Each figure needs to be prepared in a resolution higher than 300 dpi with good contrast and sharpness. The file size of each submitted figure should not exceed 10 MB per figure. If the patient's photograph is presented in a paper, it should be manipulated to make it difficult to recognize. Patients introduced in the manuscripts should be informed and aware that their photographs, videotapes, and other images (imaging records) will be released by the authors, and the authors should attach the Authorization and Release Form available at the *JYMS* website (https://e-jyms.org/authors/ethics.php) including each patient's signature. If the patient is a minor, a written consent of the guardian must be submitted.

#### 7) Legends for tables and illustrations

Typed legends that use double-spacing should start on a separate page with Arabic numerals corresponding to the Tables or Illustrations. When symbols, arrows, numbers, or letters are used to identify parts of the Tables or Illustrations, they should be individually identified and explained clearly in the legend.

#### 8) Abbreviations

Authors should limit the use of abbreviations to an absolute

minimum. Abbreviations are not to be used in titles. Abstracts may contain abbreviations for terms mentioned many times in the abstract section, but each term must be identified the first time it is mentioned.

#### 9) Unit of measurement

Measurements of length, height, weight, and volume should be reported in metric units (meter, kilogram, or liter) or their decimal multiples. Temperature should be in degrees Celsius. Authors must consult the information for authors for the particular journal and should report laboratory information in both the local and International System of Units (SI).

#### Case report

Case reports should consist of an Abstract (no more than 250 words), Keywords, Introduction, Case, Discussion, and References (no more than 20). Case reports should have fewer than nine authors and follow the CARE guidelines.

#### Image vignette

Image vignette should be organized in the following sequence: a summary of the presentation, imaging features and discussion. No abstract is required for this manuscript. There should be no more than five references and no more than two figures. Total length should be no longer than 500 words (excluding figure legends, ethical statements, conflicts of interest, author contributions, OR-CID, and references).

#### Communications

Although communication articles are not limited in the format, they should contain a self-standing abstract and references. The abstract should be concisely written and not exceed 250 words.

#### **Resident fellow section**

RFS is designed to provide clinical cases and images that are informative for resident or fellow trainees. We encourage article submissions where the primary author(s) are prepared by trainees under the supervision of their attending physicians. We require a statement to be provided within the cover letter of any article submitted to this section that confirms the primary author(s) are residents or fellows. The following categories of articles will be included in the RFS:

#### 1) Clinical vignette

Interesting clinical cases focused on developing clinical reasoning skills of resident or fellow trainees. Authors should follow the CARE guidelines. Cases may focus on either diagnosis or management. Vignettes should progress logically and be divided into the following sections:

- Brief history and physical exam. Include pertinent history of present illness, medical history, and physical exam findings.
- Differential diagnosis or potential approaches to management. Include discussion regarding reasons for selected differential or potential management approaches.
- Diagnostic results including lab results/imaging (if relevant).
- Diagnosis and discussion of management and outcomes. Include a discussion of the relevant literature related to the vignette.

Clinical vignette should be maximum of 1,500 words, 1-2 tables or 1-2 figures and maximum of 10 references.

#### 2) Teaching images

Previously unpublished magnetic resonance images, computed tomography scans, ultrasound images, X-rays, patient photographs/videos, or other pictorial/videographic material. These pictorials should clearly demonstrate distinct examples of either rare, conventionally common, or uniquely pathognomic observations, techniques, or findings intended to further the education of the trainee audience. The title of the article should be brief and include the patient's age and sex, accompanied by a succinct 5-10 words description of the patient's presentation. Up to two labeled images or figures should be provided with a short description and/or legend. The case description should be written in 500 words or less and directly address the image provided while detailing the clinical significance of the presented findings and correlation with the patient's symptoms. Intended for trainees, teaching images should progress through a patient's history and physical exam while focusing on differential diagnoses, the clinical reasoning for selecting the particular diagnostic study, and the appropriate interpretation, subsequent treatment strategies, and achieved outcome. Finally, 2-3 bulleted learning points should accompany the submission to advance trainee knowledge (will not count toward word limit).

#### Imagery

This is a regular section of *JYMS*, featured at the beginning of issue and devoted to the artistic and imaginative qualities of the readers. *JYMS* invites your drawings, illustrations, or photographs with a brief explanation. Please send electronic images via e-mail to: jyms@yu.ac.kr. These contributions will not be returned.

### Final preparation for publication

#### **Final version**

After the paper has been accepted for publication, the author(s) should submit the final version of the manuscript. The names and affiliations of the authors should be double-checked, and if the originally submitted image files were of poor resolution, higher resolution image files should be submitted at this time. Color images must be created as CMYK files. The electronic original should be sent with appropriate labeling and arrows. The JPEG, TIFF, and PPT/PPTX formats are preferred for submission of digital files of photographic images. Symbols (e.g., circles, triangles, squares), letters (e.g., words, abbreviations), and numbers should be large enough to be legible on reduction to the journal's column widths. All of the symbols must be defined in the figure caption. If the symbols are too complex to appear in the caption, they should appear on the illustration itself, within the area of the graph or diagram, not to the side. If references, tables, or figures are moved, added, or deleted during the revision process, they should be renumbered to reflect such changes so that all tables, references, and figures are cited in numeric order.

#### **Manuscript corrections**

Before publication, the manuscript editor may correct the manuscript such that it meets the standard publication format. The author(s) must respond within 2 days when the manuscript editor contacts the author for revisions. If the response is delayed, the manuscript's publication may be postponed to the next issue.

#### **Galley proof**

The author(s) will receive the final version of the manuscript as a PDF file. Upon receipt, within 2 days, the editorial office (or printing office) must be notified of any errors found in the file. Any errors found after this time are the responsibility of the author(s) and will have to be corrected as an erratum.

### Article processing charge

No page charge or article processing charge applies. There is also no submission fee.

Enactment December 30, 1984 First revision April 20, 2011 Second revision May 22, 2012 Third revision July 17, 2013 Fourth revision April 22, 2014 Fifth revised December 23, 2014 Sixth revised April 30, 2018 Seventh revised July 7, 2021 Eighth revised December 10, 2021 Recently revised May 24, 2022

# **Research and publication ethics**



Enactment May 22, 2012

#### **Research ethics**

The journal adheres to the ethical guidelines for research and publication described in Guidelines on Good Publication (https:// publicationethics.org/resources/guidelines) and the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) Guidelines (https://www.icmje.org).

#### Authorship

Authorship credit should be based on (1) substantial contributions to the conception and design, acquisition of data, and/or analysis and interpretation of data; (2) drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content; (3) final approval of the version to be published; and (4) agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work to ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. Every author should meet all of these four conditions. After the initial submission of a manuscript, any changes whatsoever in authorship (adding author(s), deleting author(s), or re-arranging the order of authors) must be explained by a letter to the editor from the authors concerned. This letter must be signed by all authors of the paper. A copyright assignment must also be completed by every author.

- Corresponding author and first author: The *Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science (JYMS)* does not allow multiple corresponding authors for one article. Only one author should correspond with the editorial office and readers for one article. *JYMS* accepts notice of equal contribution for the first author when the study is clearly performed by co-first authors.
- Correction of authorship after publication: *JYMS* does not correct authorship after publication unless the editorial staff has erred. Authorship may be changed before publication but after submission when an authorship correction is requested by all of the authors involved with the manuscript.

#### Originality, plagiarism, and duplicate publication

Submitted manuscripts must not have been previously published or be under consideration for publication elsewhere. No part of the accepted manuscript should be duplicated in any other scientific journal without permission from the Editorial Board. Submitted manuscripts are screened for possible plagiarism or duplicate publication by Similarity Check using the 'Turnitin' program (iParadigms, LLC, Oakland, CA, USA). If plagiarism or duplicate publication is detected, the manuscript may be rejected, the authors will be announced in the journal, and their institutions will be informed. There will also be penalties for the authors.

A letter of permission is required for any and all materials that have been published previously. It is the responsibility of the author to request permission from the publisher for any material that is being reproduced. This requirement applies to the text, figures, and tables.

#### Secondary publication

Manuscripts can be republished if they satisfy the conditions of secondary publication in the ICMJE Recommendations (https://www.icmje.org/urm\_main.html).

#### **Conflicts of interest**

The corresponding author must inform the editor of any potential conflicts of interest that could influence the authors' interpretation of the data. Examples of potential conflicts of interest are financial support from or connections to companies, political pressure from interest groups, and academically related issues. In particular, all sources of funding applicable to the study should be explicitly stated.

#### Statement of human and animal rights

Clinical research should be done in accordance of the Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects, outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki of 1975 (revised 2013) (https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/). Clinical studies that do not meet the Declaration of Helsinki will not be considered for publication. Human subjects should not be identifiable, such that patients' names, initials, hospital numbers, dates of birth, or other protected healthcare information should not be disclosed. For animal subjects, research should be performed based on the National or Institutional Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and the ethical treatment of all experimental animals should be maintained.

## Statement of informed consent and Institutional Review Board approval

Copies of written informed consent documents should be kept for studies on human subjects, which includes identifiable information or sensitive information. For clinical studies of human subjects, a certificate, agreement, or approval by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the author's institution is required. If necessary, the editor or reviewers may request copies of these documents to resolve questions about IRB approval and study conduct.

# Process for managing research and publication misconduct

When the journal faces suspected cases of research and publication misconduct, such as redundant (duplicate) publication, plagiarism, fraudulent or fabricated data, changes in authorship, an undisclosed conflict of interest, ethical problems with a submitted manuscript, a reviewer who has appropriated an author's idea or data, complaints against editors, and so on, the resolution process will follow the flowchart provided by the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE, https://publicationethics.org/resources/ flowcharts). The discussion and decision on the suspected cases are carried out by the Editorial Board.

# Process for handling cases requiring corrections, retractions, and editorial expressions of concern

Cases that require editorial expressions of concern or retraction

shall follow the COPE flowcharts (https://publicationethics.org/ guidance/Flowcharts). If correction needs, it will follow the ICM-JE Recommendation for Corrections, Retractions, Republications, and Version Control (https://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/publishing-and-editorial-issues/correctionsand-version-control.html) as follows:

Honest errors are a part of science and publishing and require the publication of a correction when they are detected. Corrections are needed for errors of fact. The minimum standards are as follows: (1) it shall publish a correction notice as soon as possible detailing changes from and citing the original publication on both an electronic and numbered print page that is included in an electronic or a printed Table of Contents to ensure proper indexing; (2) it shall post a new article version with details of the changes from the original version and the date(s) on which the changes were made through CrossMark; (3) it shall archive all prior versions of the article. This archive can be directly accessible to readers; (4) previous electronic versions shall prominently note that there are more recent versions of the article via CrossMark.

### **Editorial responsibilities**

The Editorial Board will continuously work to monitor and safeguard publication ethics: guidelines for retracting articles; maintenance of the integrity of the academic record; preclusion of business needs from compromising intellectual and ethical standards; publishing corrections, clarifications, retractions, and apologies when needed; and excluding plagiarism and fraudulent data. The editors maintain the following responsibilities: responsibility and authority to reject and accept articles; avoiding any conflict of interest with respect to articles they reject or accept; promoting the publication of corrections or retractions when errors are found; and preservation of the anonymity of reviewers.

# Research and publication ethics form



Affiliation:	
Author's name (please print):	
Manuscript title:	

All authors pledges that we follow the basic standards of research and publication ethics in the submission process to *Journal of Yeun*gnam Medical Science

Check Yes if Research subject, research object and size, setting of controls, and the methods of data collection are suitable for the research ethics.	□ Yes □No
Check Yes if Authors should ensure that their submitted manuscripts are not against publication ethics such as fabrication, falsification or plagiarism.	□ Yes □No
Check Yes if In clinical research involving human, informed consent from patient should be conducted and written in the method section of the manuscript.	□ Yes □No
Check Yes if All clinical research involving human and animal subjects to be approved by the author's Institutional Review Board (IRB) or equivalent committees.	□ Yes □No
Check Yes if This study is conducted in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki and this comment is written in the method section of the manuscript.	□ Yes □No
Check Yes if All Authors must disclose all relationships that could be viewed as potential conflicts of interest. This relationship also includes any potential conflicts of interest with all material, products, and companies in the manuscript.	□ Yes □No
Check Yes if Authors should confirm that the submitted work is not under consideration or accepted for publications elsewhere, and would not be submitted in any other journals after acceptance.	□ Yes □No
Check Yes if Duplicate publication, which includes 'imalas publication', 'plagiarism', and 'salami publication', is strictly not conducted.	□ Yes □No

If the rationale provided by the authors remains unsatisfactory in the judgment of the editors, the manuscript will be rejected or retracted. The authors will not be allowed to subsequently submit their research to *Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science*. The authors should keep the above mentioned disadvantages in mind.

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Corresponding author's name:

# **Copyright transfer agreement**



The author(s) submit manuscript with the following title

In consideration of editors and publisher's effort in reviewing and editing our/my Article, the undersigned authors hereby transfer, convey, and assign all copyrights in the Article to the Editorial Board of the *Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science (JYMS)*. The copyright transfer covers the right to print, publish, distribute and sell throughout the world the said contribution and parts thereof, including all revisions or versions and future editions, in all forms and media.

The authors certify that I have participated in the intellectual content, the analysis of data, and the writing of the Article, to take public responsibility for it The authors reviewed the final version of the Article, believe it represents valid work and approve it for publication The authors certify that none of the material in the manuscript has been published previously, is included in another manuscript The authors also certify that the Article has not been accepted for publication elsewhere, nor have they assigned any right or interest in the Article to any third party. The authors will obtain and include with the manuscript written permission from any respective copyright owners for the use of any text, figures, and tables that have been previously published. The authors agree that it is their responsibility to pay fees charged for permissions.

Author's name		Signature
	•	

Copyright © Yeungnam University College of Medicine, Yeungnam University Institute of Medical Science

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

# Patient photographic and videographic consent, authorization and release form



I am informed and aware of photographs, videotapes and other images (imaging records) taken by Dr. \_\_\_\_\_\_ or his designee(s) of myself or any parts of my body regarding surgical procedures carried out by Dr. \_\_\_\_\_\_ . I understand and consent that such imaging records may and will be used by Dr. \_\_\_\_\_\_ as reference in diagnosing and treating other patients in the future. I further consent to the release and transfer of copyright ownership by Dr. to *Journal of Yeungnam Medical Science* of such imaging records.

I understand that by consenting on release of my imaging records, these may and will be used in upcoming issue or issues of the journal, as well as on the journal website, or any other print or electronic media for the purpose of informing medical professionals or other readers about surgical methods. I understand that when these imaging records are included in any articles, medical information regarding sex, age, operative date and treatment results may and will be included together. But I, nor any member of my family, will be identied by name in any publication, and any information that may aid in identifying me or my family will not be exposed. (In case of facial photographs, the photo is cropped to only necessary parts in order to make individual identication impossible.) I understand that whether I consent on this form or not, it bears no consequences whatsoever on any future actions, and that there will be no eect on the medical treatment I receive from Dr. \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ or any subordinates.

I grant this consent as a voluntary contribution in the interest of public education, and certify that I have read the above Consent, Authorization and Release form and fully understand its terms. I understand that, if I do not revoke this authorization, it will expire 10 years from the date written below.

Dr		•					
	2	20			•		
Nama	Signatures						
Name:	Signature:						
Hospital:	Department:	Department:					
Designated Doctor:	Signature:	Signature:					

I hereby transfer in above-mentioned terms, the copyright of my imaging records to